
 
 
 

 
 

Children, Adults, Health and 
Wellbeing Policy Development and 
Scrutiny Panel 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: Friday, 1st May, 2020 
Time: 11.00 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 
 
 
 

Councillors: Vic Pritchard, Michelle O'Doherty, Jess David, Ruth Malloy, 
Bharat Pankhania, Mark Roper, Andy Wait, Paul May and Liz Hardman 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mark Durnford 
Democratic Services 
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG  
Telephone: mark_durnford@bathnes.gov.uk, 01225 394458 
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk  
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 



NOTES: 
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows: 
 
Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 
 
Paper copies are available for inspection at the Guildhall - Bath. 
 
2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by 
contacting as above.  
 
3. Recording at Meetings:- 
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording 
by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control. 
 
Some of our meetings are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is to be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please 
make yourself known to the camera operators.  
 
To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or guardians 
before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to the camera 
operator. 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be available 
for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its 
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 
4. Public Speaking at Meetings 
 
The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings. 
They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. They may also 
present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a group. 
 
 Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting. This 
means that for meetings held on Thursdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday.  
 
Further details of the scheme can be found at: 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942 
 
5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated 
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted. 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 
6. Supplementary information for meetings 
 
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505


 

 

Children, Adults, Health and Wellbeing Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel - Friday, 
1st May, 2020 

 
at 11.00 pm in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 

1.   WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 

2.   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out 
under Note 6. 

 

3.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 

5.   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  

 

6.   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  

 At the time of publication no notifications had been received. 

 

7.   MINUTES - 10TH MARCH 2020 (Pages 7 - 26) 

 



8.   CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  

 The Cabinet Member(s) will update the Panel on any relevant issues. Panel members 
may ask questions on the update provided. 

 

9.   ANNUAL REPORT ON CHILDREN'S SERVICES COMPLAINTS AND 
REPRESENTATIONS PROCEDURE 2018 - 19 (Pages 27 - 48) 

 This report informs the Panel about the number of complaints and representations 
including compliments received during 2018 and 2019 and demonstrates how they 
have been managed and how they have been used to contribute to service 
improvement. 

 

10.   FOOD POVERTY ACTION PLAN (Pages 49 - 58) 

 This report puts forward a process and timeline for developing a food poverty action 
plan for B&NES and investigating the refresh of B&NES Food Strategy 

 

11.   ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SUPPORT CHARGING AND FINANCIAL 
ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK (Pages 59 - 298) 

 

12.   TRANSFORMING MATERNITY SERVICES TOGETHER (Pages 299 - 316) 

 This update provides a summary of the Maternity Service Reconfiguration programme, 
which has been running for the past three years across BaNES, Swindon and Wiltshire 
(BSW). It includes an update on the decision made by BSW Governing Body on 
January 16th 2020 and next steps. 

 

13.   PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES STRATEGIC DIRECTOR'S BRIEFING  

 The Panel will receive a verbal update on this item from the People and Communities 
Strategic Director. 

 

14.   PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 317 - 322) 

 This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel. Any suggestions for further 
items or amendments to the current programme will be logged and scheduled in 
consultation with the Panel’s Chair and supporting officers. 

 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Mark Durnford who can be contacted on  
mark_durnford@bathnes.gov.uk, 01225 394458. 
 



Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 

 

 

 
51 

 

 
CHILDREN, ADULTS, HEALTH AND WELLBEING POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held 
Tuesday, 10th March, 2020, 10.00 am 

 
Councillors: Vic Pritchard (Chair), Michelle O'Doherty (Vice-Chair), Jess David, Ruth Malloy, 
Mark Roper, Andy Wait, Paul May and Liz Hardman 
 
Co-opted Members: Chris Batten and Kevin Burnett 
 
Also in attendance: Mike Bowden (Corporate Director), Lesley Hutchinson (Director of 
Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning), Dr Ian Orpen (Clinical Chair, 
B&NES CCG), Claire Thorogood (Head of Contracting & Performance), Ian Tomlison 
(Commissioning Manager) and Robert Fortune (Avon & Somerset Police) 
 
Cabinet Member for Adult Services: Councillor Rob Appleyard 
 

 
  
43   WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 
  
 The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
  
44   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
  
 The Chairman drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure. 

  
45   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
  
 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Councillor Kevin Guy and Co-opted 

Panel Member, David Williams had sent their apologies to the Panel. 
  
46   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 Councillor Paul May declared an other interest in respect of agenda item 10 as he is 

a non-executive Sirona board member. 
  
47   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN 
  
 There was none. 
  
48   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 

STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING 

  
 There were none. 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

 
52 

 

49   MINUTES - 28TH JANUARY 2020 
  
 Councillor Jess David asked for an amendment to her comments on page 41. She 

said that it should say that she ‘understood the rationale…’. 
 
Kevin Burnett asked if any further information was yet available from the Secretary of 
State regarding the funding pressure in the education system.  
 
The Corporate Director replied that he did not think that anything had been received, 
but that he would check on behalf of the Panel. 
 
Kevin Burnett asked if he could have a response to his question from the previous 
meeting as to whether B&NES schools were yet involved in Operation Encompass. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning replied 
that Operation Encompass was not in place in B&NES. 
 
Rob Fortune, Avon & Somerset Police added that the local work force is not aligned 
currently to enable notifications to be sent into schools before they begin each day. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning assured 
the Panel though that timely notifications are being sent to schools when incidents 
occur. 
 
Rob Fortune stated that they are striving towards being able to deliver notifications in 
line with Operation Encompass. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning said that 
this remains an agenda topic for the B&NES Community Safety and Safeguarding 
Partnership. 
 
With these comments and amendment in mind the Panel confirmed the minutes of 
the previous meeting as a true record and they were duly signed by the Chairman. 

  
50   CCG UPDATE 
  
 Dr Ian Orpen addressed the Panel. A copy of the update can be found on their 

Minute Book and as an online appendix to these minutes, a summary of the update 
is set out below. 
 
Working together in B&NES, Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW) – CCG Merger 
Update 
  
As previously reported, NHS England and Improvement approved in principle our 
application to merge with Swindon and Wiltshire CCGs on 14 October 2019. This 
was following support from each CCG Board to merge, stakeholder engagement and 
communication, and a member practice vote.  
 
The three CCG’s Governing Bodies are currently meeting in common, but from 1 
April 2020 there will be single a Governing Body for BSW CCG.  
 
Dr Ruth Grabham took up the position of Medical Director for BSW CCG on 1 March 

Page 6



 

 
53 

 

2020. 
 
Locality Clinical Chairs for B&NES (Dr Bryn Bird – who will take on my role for the 
Panel) and Swindon (Dr Amanda Webb) will join Dr Grabham on the Governing 
Body from 1 April, and voting is currently underway for the Wiltshire role. Five 
Locality GPs have also been appointed to the Governing Body, with Dr Tim Sephton 
representing B&NES. Corinne Edwards is also a local key lead officer. 
 
We are still in the process of recruiting for the registered nurse role. A fully 
constituted Board is a condition of merger.  We anticipate all posts will be filled by 
the end of March. 
 
Release of the Five-Year Plan for BSW 
 
The BSW Partnership will be publishing a draft public-facing version of its Five-Year 
Plan for BSW this week, which sets out how health and care services across the 
region will be organised between now and 2024. 
 
The priorities have been drawn up by health and care organisations from across 
BSW and include feedback gained from an extensive public engagement campaign 
carried out last summer.  
 
The priorities set out to: 
• Address the problems posed by an increasingly elderly population by helping 
people to age well, stay well at home and improve how community services can help 
them  
• Help to improve the quality of life for people with learning disabilities and 
autism and their families by improving access to services 
• Help to deliver the best mental health support for local people, regardless of 
personal circumstances, age or individual need 
 
The full version of the plan will be available later in the Spring. 
 
Coronavirus planning across B&NES 
 
Nationally, the NHS and Public Health England (PHE) are well prepared for 
outbreaks of new infectious diseases.   
 
Locally, we are working extensively with our partners and providers in B&NES and 
across Swindon and Wiltshire to ensure the safety of our patients and colleagues 
while also ensuring services are available to the public as normal. 
 
Testing of suspected coronavirus cases is carried out in line with strict regulations. 
This means that suspected cases are kept in isolation, away from public areas. Any 
equipment that comes into contact with suspected cases is thoroughly cleaned as 
appropriate. Specific guidance has also been shared with NHS staff to help 
safeguard them and others. Members of the public can be reassured that their safety 
is a top priority, and we encourage them to attend all appointments as usual. 
 
More information can be found here: gov.uk/coronavirus 
 
 

Page 7



 

 
54 

 

Our Health, Our Future Panel 
 
Recruitment continues for people to join the Our Health Our Future panel – a new 
way of engaging with the public in B&NES, Swindon and Wiltshire to get their views 
on health and care issues.  
 
After four weeks of recruitment activity, we have signed up around 400 panel 
members, well on the way to our target of 1000 members. 
 
The Our Health Our Future Panel is an online panel made up of a representative 
sample of the population from across our region. Panel members will take part in 
regular surveys throughout the year as well as form focus groups from time-to-time. 
The option of hard copy surveys and telephone interviews will be offered to people 
who are not able to access the survey online.  
 
We are keeping the Get Involved section of our website up to date with details of 
recruitment activity – visit www.wiltshireccg.nhs.uk for locations, dates and times. 
 
If you would like to know more about the Our Health Our Future Panel or would like 
to join, please get in touch with the communications team 
communications.wiltshireccg@nhs.net  
 
 
Year of the Nurse and Midwife 
 
To celebrate the World Health Organisation-designated ‘Year of the Nurse and 
Midwife’, BSW CCG will be supporting local and national plans as well as running 
our own campaign. Our campaign will focus on recognising the contribution and 
skills of general practice and community nurses.  
 
Many of the planned events and actions to celebrate the Year of the Nurse and 
Midwife will happen on 12 May, which is the 200th anniversary of Florence 
Nightingale’s birth. We will also release our BSW campaign materials on that date, 
and then re-use them throughout the remainder of 2020 under the umbrella of the 
main campaign. 
 
 
BSW CCG online 
 
As we head towards the merger with Wiltshire CCG and Swindon CCG in April 2020, 
we are consolidating our online presence. 
  
Our Twitter accounts have already merged – you can follow us @NHSBSWCCG. 
Our Facebook and Instagram accounts can also be found at @NHSBSWCCG. 
 
We are on LinkedIn as NHS BSW Clinical Commissioning Group. 
By 1 April 2020 we will have a new website in place – this will be bswccg.nhs.uk   
 
Kevin Burnett asked in terms of the BSW Five-Year Plan how will the CCG ‘Help to 
improve the quality of life for people with learning disabilities and autism and their 
families by improving access to services’? 
 

Page 8

http://www.wiltshireccg.nhs.uk/
mailto:communications.wiltshireccg@nhs.net


 

 
55 

 

Dr Orpen replied that it is recognised that this is an area of unmet need and that 
individual constraints can be a factor. He added that the assumption must not be 
made that a disability is a barrier and that there are good services in place locally. 
He added that AWP have been involved in the draft of the Plan. 
 
The Chairman asked if an example could be given of how the BSW Partnership is 
working together. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning replied 
that the Autism Partnership Group was a good example in her opinion and that a 
presentation was due to be given to the next meeting of the Health & Wellbeing 
Board. 
 
The Chairman asked for this presentation to be added to the Panel’s workplan. 
 
Councillor Paul May asked for reassurance that there will be no adverse effect to 
local services following the CCG Merger. 
 
Dr Orpen replied that none were anticipated. 
 
Councillor Paul May stated that he would like to see the public be included in the 
consultation on the Government’s review of Social Care. 
 
Dr Orpen replied that he believed that a cross party conversation had begun but 
added that the Green Paper had been pending for some time. 
 
Councillor May wished to thank Dr Orpen personally for his work for the Panel and 
the area as a whole over many years. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked for confirmation as to whether maternity services in 
Paulton would cease in April. 
 
Corinne Edwards replied that she would find out that information for the Panel. 
 
Councillor Jess David asked if support was in place across the BSW health services 
in respect of Covid -19. 
 
Dr Orpen replied that a great deal of work was ongoing, and that information was 
being received regularly from Government. He stated that the NHS and Social Care 
were already under pressure. He added that it was vital that we make sure that the 
people who need help receive it. 
 
He said that the NHS 111 telephone service had seen a huge rise in calls and 
wished to remind people that there was a 111 online service also available. 
https://111.nhs.uk/  
 
He stated that he felt that services were as well prepared as they can be and at this 
point in time it was believed that infections would start to decline in April / May. 
 
The Chairman explained that today marks the last scrutiny meeting for Dr Orpen and 
that he wanted to acknowledge his contribution to improving the health and care of 

Page 9

https://111.nhs.uk/


 

 
56 

 

local people and their communities. 

• Ian came to Bath in 1986 

• He was a GP at St James’s Surgery, Bath from 1991 until last June 

• He has been Clinical Chair of the CCG from when it was established in April 
2013 and he led on the preparation of that on behalf of B&NES  

• He has had a number of leadership roles including co-chair of Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Board member of West of England Academic Health 
Science Network and Associate member of Local Government Association 

• He has played a key role in ensuring that GPs’ insight and expertise informs 
decisions about how we design and deliver services locally. 

The Chairman said that it had been a privilege to work with Dr Orpen for many years 
and that on behalf of the Panel he wished him well in all that he does in the future. 

Dr Orpen said that he had enjoyed his time working with the Council in this capacity 
and that he respected the roles that the Councillors have played in the local 
decision-making process. 

  
  
51   CABINET MEMBER UPDATE 
  
 Councillor Rob Appleyard, Cabinet Member for Adult Services addressed the Panel. 

A copy of the update can be found on their Minute Book and as an online appendix 
to these minutes, a summary of the update is set out below.  
 
He wished to give his thanks to Dr Orpen for the work and support he has given the 
area over many years. 
 
Autism Partnership 
 
The Terms of Reference have been agreed and a number of workstreams are 
ongoing. 

Outbreak of novel Coronavirus – Covid 19 

Public Information is being routinely provided by Public Health England. Councillors 
are also receiving regular updates from our Public Health team.  
 
He thanked everyone involved so far for their hard work. 

Suicide Prevention Strategy launch 

The proposed Suicide Prevention Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset 2020-
2023 was launched with partners including Bath Mind at a suicide prevention 
stakeholder event on 6 February. 

The strategy commits partners across Bath & North East Somerset to: 

• Reducing suicide and self-harm 

Page 10



 

 
57 

 

• Ensuring that no resident will think that suicide is their only option 

• Tackling the stigma associated with suicide and developing community 
conversations about suicide 

• Building community resilience 

• Supporting those who are affected by suicide 

Preventative Initiative 

A new film that aims to help more women with learning disabilities to access breast 
screening has been made featuring women who live locally to Bath and North East 
Somerset. The film is based on real experiences of women with learning disabilities 
told from their own point of view and hopes to give more information to people with 
learning disabilities and their families and carers about this important NHS breast 
screening programme. 

The film has been produced by Biggerhouse Film in a partnership with Bath and 
North East Somerset Council, NHS England & NHS Improvement, the Avon Breast 
Screening Programme and North Bristol Trust. The women were supported 
throughout the making of the film by Virgin Care Services, Learning Disability 
Primary Care Liaison Nurses. It is aimed at women with learning disabilities who are 
eligible for the NHS breast screening programme aged from 50 to their 71st birthday. 
 
The Chairman said that he was passing on information that he receives about Covid-
19 to the local Parish Councils. 
 
The Corporate Director replied that it would be preferable to signpost people to the 
Public Health England website as that would always have the most up to date 
advice.  ( https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england ) 
 
Councillor Michelle O’Doherty asked if organisations such as Julian House were 
receiving relevant advice in their role for assisting homeless people. 
 
The Corporate Director replied that they were in receipt of the same information as 
the Council. 
 
Dr Ian Orpen added that medical support provision is already in place for homeless 
people. 
 
Councillor O’Doherty asked how a rough sleeper diagnosed with Covid-19 self-
isolate. 
 
The Corporate Director replied that further discussion would be required with Julian 
House as to how they could accommodate people in this scenario. 
 
Councillor Ruth Malloy asked how we can check if public buildings and schools are 
displaying posters that contain information about the virus. 
 
The Corporate Director replied that the Council has no capacity to check on that 
scale. 
 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england


 

 
58 

 

Councillor Jess David asked with regard to Residential Social Care whether the 
appropriate action will be to contain the individual if they are diagnosed with having 
the virus. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning replied 
that discussions were due to take place on Thursday afternoon for a system wide 
approach to be sought. 
 
Kevin Burnett asked if schools have been made aware of the Suicide Prevention 
Strategy. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning replied 
that the strategy has been discussed with schools and that information is available 
on the Council’s website. 
 
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/public-health/guide-programmes-strategies-
and-policies/suicide-prevention-strategy-2012  
 
Councillor Paul May welcomed the preventative work that had been highlighted and 
asked how this information will be used. 
 
Councillor Appleyard replied that even though the film has been made for a specific 
group it was hoped that the message will be spread as wide as possible. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman commented that it was welcoming to see that nine out of ten 
families in Bath and North East Somerset have been offered a place at their first 
choice of secondary school. She asked how many of the 28 pupils whose allocated 
school was their third preference and the 37 pupils that have not been offered a 
place at any of their preferences and have instead been offered a place at their next 
nearest school with a place available live in Twerton. 
 
The Corporate Director replied that these numbers are spread across the city with 
possibly a higher proportion in Twerton. He added that overall the figures are an 
improvement on last year and that it was still important for parents to use all five 
preferences when applying as a significant number were still using just one 
preference. He stated that all schools within B&NES were full apart from St. Mark’s. 
 
Councillor Andy Wait asked if allocating places was more of a problem due to 
schools now being independent of the Council. 
 
The Corporate Director replied that the Council has less levers now that schools 
have become academies as each one can set their own admissions criteria and can 
breach that if they wish. He added that the Council does have a positive relationship 
with the local academies and that transport would be supplied if required for pupils 
living far enough away from their allocated school. 
 
Councillor Paul May commented that it should be acknowledged that St. Mark’s is 
rated as Good by Ofsted. 
 
The Chairman thanked Councillor Appleyard for his update on behalf of the Panel. 

  
 

Page 12

https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/public-health/guide-programmes-strategies-and-policies/suicide-prevention-strategy-2012
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/public-health/guide-programmes-strategies-and-policies/suicide-prevention-strategy-2012


 

 
59 

 

  
52   VIRGIN CARE - INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONERS PERFORMANCE REPORT 
  
 The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning and the 

Head of Contracting & Performance introduced this report to the Panel. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning explained 
that the report was intentionally long and sought to address the queries raised 
previously by Protect our NHS BANES. 
 
She summarised the following points from the report. 
 
Between January and December 2015, BaNES Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) and B&NES Council carried out a review of community heath and care 
services for children, young people and adults.  The review, known as Your Care, 
Your Way, looked at the wide range of services providing care and support in 
people’s homes and communities. 
 
The top five priorities identified through the engagement process with our residents 
were: 
1. A person not a condition 
2. A single plan 
3. Invest in the workforce 
4. Join up the information 
5. Focus on prevention 
 
Over 200 different community services were within the scope of the Your Care, Your 
Way review which were provided by over 60 different organisations.  The 
commissioning and contract management of these services were at the time of the 
review all carried out by the CCG and Council.  
 
Following the identification of the priorities of our local population, a new approach to 
contracting community services was identified as being required. A detailed 
assessment was undertaken and legal guidance sought; this resulted in the ‘prime 
provider model’ being chosen as the best contracting method for delivering the 
community’s priorities.  Under this model, the CCG and Council would enter into a 
contract with a single prime provider and this organisation would have responsibility 
for the delivery and coordination of services, they would also have sub-contracting 
responsibility for some specialist, third sector provider and small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SME’s). 
 
In addition to the five priorities (listed above) identified through public consultation 
the following three areas also formed part of the assessment used during the 
procurement: 
 
1. Social value 
2. Value for money and affordability 
3. Delivering transformational change 
 
The Virgin Care contract is a seven-year contract which commenced from 1st April 
2017 to 31st March 2024 with the option to extend the contract term by three years 
(2024/2025, 2025/2026 and 2026/2027).    

Page 13



 

 
60 

 

 
The Council have the co-ordinating commissioning role for the contract and currently 
the contract is made up of a total of 56 community services: 
 
• 36 delivered directly by Virgin Care 
• 14 services are sub-contracted 
• 6 services are delivered by both Virgin Care and a sub-contractor 
  
Three of the 36 services directly delivered by Virgin Care cannot be sub-contracted 
at any point whereas the other 33 can be via negotiation in line with contract 
regulations. The three which must be delivered by Virgin Care (referred to as 
delegated functions) are: 
 
• PD1 Adult Social Care Statutory Services  
• PD2 Continuing Healthcare  
• PD3 Children’s Health Statutory Services 
 
The Virgin Care contract is organised through the following contract governance 
structure: 
 
Contract Quality Performance Meeting (CQPM) – Bi-monthly 
Finance and Information Group (FIG) – Bi-monthly 
The Quality Subgroup (QSG) – 6 weekly 
Service Level Performance Meetings (SLPM) (9) – Range from monthly to quarterly 
 
Under the current governance arrangements, QSG, FIG, SLPMs and the Sub 
Contracted Services are all reported into the CQPM.  
 
Other standard items for the CQPM meeting include reporting on transformation, 
other deep dives eg workforce, key areas of risk/assurance, contract management 
and forward work plan.  
 
The Council and CCG auditors routinely undertake audits of services. Currently 
Council auditors, Audit West, are auditing the contract governance management 
arrangements for Virgin Care and sub-contracted services including their 
performance and financial management information and how this is presented to 
CQPM and FIG. This audit commenced in Quarter 3 2019/20. The findings and 
recommendations of this audit are expected in Spring 2020. Audit West are also 
conducting a Community Care Data Management audit which is focusing on the 
project governance of the Integrated Care Record.  
 
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) appointed auditors, KPMG 
(Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler), have jointly agreed to undertake an audit of the 
governance arrangements in place for the Virgin Care contract across new Bath, 
Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW) CCG. This is being led by KPMG and commences 
March 2020. This audit also will focus on stakeholders and the role of Virgin Care as 
a prime provider; the auditors will visit a number of sub-contractors to inform the 
audit process. 
 
The outcomes and resulting recommendations of each of these audits will be 
considered and implemented.  
 

Page 14



 

 
61 

 

The latest financial position at December 2019 is that the contract is overspent by 
£584k with a forecast over-performance of up to £700k by the end of March 2020.  
The original bid indicated that losses were expected in the early years of the contract 
and transformation benefits estimated by Virgin Care in their growth bid at circa £3m 
per year were expected to be realised from year 4. The current financial risk is 
currently absorbed by Virgin Care.  
 
The Chairman commented that the Panel had flagged this as a concern at their 
October 2019 meeting where Kirsty Matthews, Managing Director, BANES Bath and 
North East Somerset Community Health and Care Services said they would be in 
balance by the end of this financial year. 
 
Virgin Care are still to complete their full transformation programme as a result of 
delays in some enablers.  The move to mobile working for example took a year 
longer to implement given the base line found in year 1 and the Integrated Care 
Record (ICR) project experienced delays outside of their control.  We should see 
these fully implemented in year 4 (2020/21) and it is anticipated that this in turn will 
return a balanced budget by the end of year 4.  
 
A new platform has now been secured for the ICR. 
 
Dr Ian Orpen said that the new platform was robust, user friendly and live across 23 
out of 24 practices. He added that the RUH and AWP were not yet included. He said 
that AWP were experiencing some technical issues and that it was hoped that the 
RUH would be ready within the next month. 
 
The Chairman commented that he felt that given the length of time the project had 
been ongoing that both the RUH and AWP should have been ready with their 
information. 
 
Dr Orpen replied that unfortunately IT systems don’t always talk to each other in the 
same way. 
 
Councillor Michelle O’Doherty asked for future reports to include matters such as 
timescales, risks and priorities. 
 
Councillor Andrew Wait asked for a year on year breakdown of their budget balance. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning replied 
that she would research that information for the Panel. 
 
Kirsty Matthews said that Virgin Care will aim to achieve a balanced budget in future 
years and cited agency costs as a contributing factor. 
 
Councillor Jess David asked if agency costs could increase because of the Covid-19 
virus outbreak. 
 
Dr Orpen replied that the Chancellor has stated that the Government will make 
resources available to assist with matters associated with Covid-19. 
 
Councillor Paul May said that it was positive to see that Community Paediatrics and 
Paediatric Audiology routinely perform well in terms of access to treatment. 

Page 15



 

 
62 

 

 
B&NES’ Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) performance is derived 
from a statutory submission of key activity data, the Short and Long Term (SALT) 
return and responses from service users and carers to annual and biennial surveys 
respectively.   
 
In general, B&NES’ performance against ASCOF measures is good. Of the 29 
measures reported in the 2018/19 ASCOF B&NES was: 
 
• Better than the national average in 23 measures  
• Better than the regional average for 21 measures 
• In the top quartile of all local authorities for 11 measures 
 
Conversely there are three measures for which B&NES is in the bottom quartile of all 
authorities, though this is not wholly attributable to Virgin Care. 
 
• Delayed transfers of care (DTOC) per 100,000 population 
• DTOC attributable to adult social care per 100,000  
• The proportion of people who don’t require long-term funded services after 

receiving short-term services such as reablement.  
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked for further information on these measures to be 
shared with the Panel. 
 
Social Care Assessments: Significant work has been undertaken over the term of 
the contract to date to reduce the waiting list for people awaiting social care 
assessment. The waiting list was high at contract commencement, peaked in the 
early months of the contract, and the scale of reduction has been significant since 
the start of year 2. The improvement in this area has continued on the whole. 
 
Annual Social Care Reviews: The proportion of Virgin Care service users with up-to-
date reviews remains high. While national benchmarking isn’t available for this 
measure, anecdotal discussions indicate that B&NES is performing well relative to its 
peers. It is anticipated that the improvement will continue as the benefits of the 
establishment of the Adult Care Social Care, which expanded from the Learning 
Disability Reviewing Team, are realised. Further action is required to capture the 
work undertaken through ‘unscheduled reviews. 
 
The national Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC) is the source of benchmarking for 
Safeguarding Adults. B&NES is performing better than the national average in many 
areas:  
 

• Identifying risk and taking action to address - performance at 92% against the 
national average of 68.5%  

 

• Individuals (or their representative) asked what their desired outcome was - 
72% achieved against the 63% national average 

 
Alongside nationally benchmarked data, B&NES has a range of additional local 
measures to provide assurance that enquiries and concerns are managed 
effectively. 
 

Page 16



 

 
63 

 

• 86.2% of decisions for new concerns made within 4 days continues to be 
good for Virgin Care  

 

• 79.8% of Planning meetings for new enquiries are held within the 10 days 
procedural timescale 

 
Virgin Care contributes positively to a number of national targets for health services. 
 

• Referral to Treatment Time - Virgin Care provides Consultant-led services 
which are subject to the 18-week Referral To Treatment (RTT) target: 
Orthopaedic Interface Service, Falls and Movement services (Clara Cross), 
Community Paediatrics and Paediatric Audiology. RTT performance is 
significantly above the target of 92% at 99.2% for January 2020.  

 

• Length of stay in community hospitals - particular area of improvement has 
been seen in community hospitals. Length of stay has improved from an 
average of 36 days in the first year of the contract to a year-to-date position of 
29 days in 2019/20. The current pilot for offering therapy-led beds in 
community hospitals, to facilitate reablement, is having a positive impact on 
length of stay as well, while promoting independence for patients.  

 

• Children’s Speech and Language Therapy access times are generally good, 
with 92% of children seen within 16 weeks in the latest results, against the 18-
week target.  

 
Virgin Care delivers a range of Health and Wellbeing services aimed at improving 
the physical and mental health of the B&NES population.  
 

• The B&NES Stop Smoking service supported over 500 people to set a ‘quit 
date’ in 18/19 and of these 68% successfully quit smoking at 4 weeks. 
Smoking prevalence in B&NES is 11.7%, significantly better than regional or 
national prevalence and smoking in pregnancy is the lowest in the region at 
6.8%. 

 

• The wellbeing services support over 1,500 adults a year to access services to 
help them lose weight. During 18/19 over 800 people took part in either a 
structured 12-week weight management programme or 1-1 weight 
management support via the wellbeing service. The average weight loss on 
the 12-week programme so far in 19/20 is 4.8Kg. 
 

The Contract requires a Service Development Improvement Plan (SDIP) to be 
agreed, monitored and delivered annually. Updates on progress are provided at the 
CQPM meetings. The 2019/20 SDIP has been reviewed on a quarterly basis to 
monitor the transformation progress in year three of the Virgin Care contract.  
 
By the end of December 2019 Virgin Care had achieved 77% of the milestone and a 
further 12.5% partially achieved in the intended period. The significant number of 
SDIP milestones achieved in contract year 2019/20 have included activity across a 
number of key workstreams. 
 
The Quarter 4 (January to March 2020) progress report is due on 6th May 2020 with 

Page 17



 

 
64 

 

11 milestones in scope for review as well as updated assurance on completion of 
any milestones that were reported as partially or not achieved throughout the year. 
Once the full year SDIP review is complete a full assurance report will be submitted 
to CQPM in June 2020. 
 
Under the Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints 
(England) Regulations 2009 the Council and CCG must have a process for handling 
feedback about adult social care services and adult and children’s community health 
care services from servicer users, families and carers which is received in the form 
of complaints, concerns and compliments.  
The majority of this feedback is dealt with in the first instance by Virgin Care.  
 
Of the social care complaints (10) two were substantiated and had learning 
outcomes which have been actioned; two exceeded the expected response time. 
The number of social care complaints dealt with by Virgin Care remains consistent 
with previous years.  In 2018/19 there were 12 complaints of which three were 
escalated to the Council for review.  The review is undertaken under the supervision 
of the Principal Social Worker (PSW). 
 
Health and Social Care Compliments – April to December 2019: Health Care 314 / 
Social Care 151 
 
Virgin Care are required to produce information on their Workforce as part of the 
Quality Schedule; below highlights some of the key information. 
 
Head count at the start of the Virgin Care contract: 915 FTE (1315 staff) at 
01.04.2018 
 
Current head count: 820 FTE (1215 staff) key areas of reduction have been in active 
ageing, district nursing, administration and reablement at 30.01.2020  
 
Current vacancies: 43 FTE (mainly wards, reablement, physiotherapy / Orthopaedic 
Interface Service, social care) as at 30.01.2020 
 
Leavers in the last 12 months: 152 of which 31 have retired as at 30.01.2020 
 
The recruitment of Social Workers continues to be a challenge, replicated across 
social care nationally.  Virgin Care, in considering workforce sustainability, 
acknowledged their need to place themselves more competitively in the market and 
reviewed the pay and management post structure across the organisation, resulting 
in adjusted pay scales and a structure that has attracted a greater number of Social 
Workers. 
 
To address vacancy rates, Virgin Care has held a number of recruitment days for the 
following areas; Community Hospital wards, Social Care including Learning 
Disabilities, Therapists and District Nursing. Each of these service areas has a 
bespoke recruitment plan in place and agency and bank staff is being used to 
ensure service requirements are met. 
 
Councillor Michelle O’Doherty asked what impact the recruitment days have had. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care, Complex and Specialist Commissioning replied 

Page 18



 

 
65 

 

that they would look to include this information in a future report. 
 
Highlights from the most recent annual Have Your Say staff survey (carried out in 
May 2019) are as follows:  
 

• An increase from 67% to 79% of staff reported they are enthusiastic about 
coming to work 

• An increase from 80% to 93% in performance appraisals on the previous year 
for all staff 

• Increase from 72% to 93% of staff reported that their manager had supported 
them to receive some learning and development 

 

• Only 12% of staff identified that the performance appraisal had helped them 
improve how they would do their role. This has decreased from 22% in the 
previous year 

• 74% of staff reported that someone at work cares about their mental and 
physical health – this has remained the same as last year 

• Only 10% of staff reported they were confident things would change as a 
result of the survey findings 

 
Virgin Care have shared a detailed action plan with commissioners about steps they 
are taking to improve staff survey results to yield improvements next year.  
 
Councillor Paul May commented that he felt that there was a good team of officers in 
place within the Council that will check on the contract status. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman welcomed the thoroughness of the report. She asked for the 
issues relating to staff dissatisfaction, the appraisal system and staff recruitment / 
retention to covered in a future report. 
 
Kevin Burnett asked for the Audit West report to be shared when it has been 
completed. 
 
The Panel RESOLVED to; 
 
(i) Note the report and agree that an update report be issued to the Panel in six 
months’ time and include the following information: 

• Performance and activity data (comparator benchmarks) 

• Workforce data 

• Complaints information 

• Financial update 

• Transformation update 
 
And additionally: 

• Delayed transfers of care 

• Staff dissatisfaction  

• The appraisal system   

• Staff recruitment / retention 

  
 
 

Page 19



 

 
66 

 

53   EXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN & ADULTS 
  
 Rob Fortune, Avon & Somerset Police introduced this report to the Panel and 

summarised some key points from within it. 
 
Child sexual exploitation involves situations, contexts or relationships in which a 
person under 18 is given something, such as food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, 
cigarettes, affection, gifts or money in return for performing sexual activities or 
having sexual activities performed on them. It can also involve violence, coercion 
and intimidation, with threats of physical harm or humiliation 
 
Avon and Somerset Constabulary response to Child sexual exploitation is Operation 
Topaz. Topaz is a perpetrator disruption team enabling the Force to proactively 
protect the highest risk child sexual exploitation victims by developing opportunities 
to disrupt suspects. Topaz recognises that disrupting suspects is often the most 
effective way of safeguarding victims of child sexual exploitation. 
 
The Topaz Victim Contact / Engagement Officer works alongside victims to build 
relationships and gather information to enable well-informed safeguarding and 
disruption. The focus is on supporting victims to enable the capture of an evidential 
account, intelligence gathering and safeguarding; working alongside the Topaz 
Disruption Officer to disrupt perpetrators and locations.  
 
Across Bristol, B&NES and South Gloucestershire about 150 perpetrators are 
flagged to Topaz and potentially posing a risk of CSE and about 200 children are 
flagged as being at risk.  
 
The current figures for children and young people that are at risk of or are being 
criminally exploited in B&NES is 69 and children and young people at risk of or are 
being sexually exploited is 57; there is some overlap with these figures as some 
children will appear in both groups.  
 
As a result of some of the findings from Operation Button it was agreed that 
Requests for Service pertaining to CSE would be referred to our MASH (Multi- 
Agency Safeguarding Hub) this enables a more integrated approach and a greater 
understanding of the risks. 13 young people have been progressed through our 
MASH processes to ensure that their needs are being adequately met.  
 
B&NES has developed a frontline response for young people who are at risk and 
victims of CSE. Through the development of the Willow Project CSE victims are 
offered support dependent on their level of need. The Willow Project is a multi-
agency/multi-disciplinary virtual made up of professionals who have been trained to 
work with young people at risk of or involved in lower level CSE. 
  
The professionals within the team remain employed within their substantive post and 
then commit half a day per week to working within the Willow Project. The aim of the 
project is to support, advocate and provide time to potential victims of CSE. 
 
The Modern Slavery Act 2015 define the criminal offence of slavery servitude and 
forced or compulsory labour (section 1) and the separate criminal offence of human 
trafficking. This might include labour exploitation, sexual exploitation, criminal 
exploitation, organ trafficking and forced marriage. Modern Slavery is not the same 

Page 20



 

 
67 

 

as illegal immigration or people smuggling. It is characterised by elements of 
violence, intimidation, deception, coercion, abduction and threat.  
 
Avon and Somerset Constabulary work hard to safeguard vulnerable individuals and 
or children suspected of being victims of slavery. In 2017 an investigation by Avon 
and Somerset Constabulary and Staffordshire Police unravelled a human trafficking 
operation in the city of Bath. Young Vietnamese teenagers were shipped across the 
country and forced to work without wages, in poor conditions in nail bars. Three 
people – including a woman from Bath – were jailed in January 2018 following the 
first successful prosecution in the UK for exploitation and enforced child labour, 
under the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 
County Lines National Definition - a term used to describe gangs and organised 
criminal networks involved in exporting illegal drugs into one or more importing areas 
(within the UK), using dedicated mobile phone lines or other form of “deal line”. They 
are likely to exploit children and vulnerable adults to move (and store) the drugs and 
money and they will often use coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual 
violence) and weapons. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman said that this section of the report was very much focussed 
on Bath.  She commented that she was aware of two drugs raids in Paulton and of 
County Lines, yet paragraph 3.4.2 makes no mention of this.  She asked what was 
happening in North East Somerset. 
 
Rob Fortune apologised and said the heading for that section should have read Bath 
& North East Somerset. 
 
Not all Lines are active at any given time; the business model they use enables them 
to be very adaptable and fluid in nature.  At present the number of County Lines 
operating in B&NES is lower than Avon and Somerset Constabulary have previously 
seen and Avon and Somerset Constabulary believe this is a reflection of the targeted 
work that the local Neighbourhood Policing Team and Intelligence teams have 
conducted. 
 
Ongoing operations to tackle County Line issues are continually taking place and 
disruption and enforcement with partners are continually being advanced. Positive 
action has had a considerable impact on the communities of B&NES and has 
safeguarded countless persons being exploited.  
 
Kevin Burnett stated that he felt that this report should be shared with all Corporate 
Parents. 
 
The Corporate Director agreed with this proposal. 
 
The Panel RESOLVED to note the content of the report which provided assurance 
that the B&NES Community Safety and Safeguarding Partnership have a clear focus 
and overview of exploitation activity in its broadest sense across B&NES and have 
policies and procedures in place. 
 
The Chairman thanked Rob Fortune for his attendance on behalf of the Panel. 

  
 

Page 21



 

 
68 

 

54   UNREGULATED PLACEMENTS 
  
 The Commissioning Manager introduced this report to the Panel and highlighted 

some key points from within it. 
 
Not all settings in which ‘looked after’ children live are subject to regulation. To 
understand what constitutes an unregulated setting it is useful to understand what a 
regulated residential setting is.  The Care Standards Act 2000 defines a regulated 
residential children’s home as an establishment that provides ‘care and 
accommodation’ ‘wholly or mainly’ for children.  The only other form of regulated 
setting in addition to children’s homes are foster placements. 
 
Therefore, an unregulated setting provides accommodation and support but not 
care.  The law does not set out what care is, but there are some simple rules to 
apply.  Administering medication, cooking for young people and shopping for them 
will constitute care.  Whereas assisting young people to learn these skills will 
constitute support. If a provider crosses the line and provides care on an ongoing 
basis, the accommodation will become an unregistered children’s home and will be 
illegal. Unregulated supported ‘living’ accommodation comes in all sort of shapes 
and sizes and are places where young people (usually 16 and 17-year-olds) can live 
and receive support as part of transition to full independence. 
 
Parliament has currently determined that some services should sit outside that 
regulatory framework. As from the 12th February 2020 OFTED are undertaking an 
open consultation regarding ‘Unregulated provision for children in care and care 
leavers. 
 
Five years ago the Council was contacted by a service provider in Bristol. 
 
In B&NES we currently have 3 young people placed in unregulated placements, all 
of whom are between the ages of 16-18 years and have an allocated social worker.  
This number can sometimes change daily, depending on the needs of children within 
the service.  Historical data shows; March 2019 – 6, June 2019 – 8, and December 
2019 – 3.   
 
It is important to note that our aspiration in B&NES is that no child will be placed in 
an unregulated placement.  However, at times these placements are a necessity due 
to the young person’s needs and specific circumstances, i.e. risks presented and 
their wishes and feelings. 
 
It is recognised that some of our most vulnerable and high-risk young people in 
B&NES are sometimes best supported in this type of provision.  These decisions are 
not taken lightly, and agreement must always be sought from Head of Service, with 
Agency Decision Maker sign off.  
 
The Placements, Commissioning and Contracts Team (PCCT) have a preferred 
provider list for 16+ accommodation and support providers that has been tendered 
through a dynamic purchasing system, in partnership with three other local 
authorities.  All providers have been checked in terms of policies, finances and 
quality, and references have taken.  In all there are 33 providers who have qualified 
to be on the list. From the list B&NES tend to purchase services from less than four 
of the providers with whom we have built up a trusting relationship. 

Page 22



 

 
69 

 

 
Councillor Jess David asked what steps are being taken to attempt to have the 
placements regulated. 
 
The Commissioning Manager replied that he had pursued this issue with Ofsted on 
many occasions and that a review was about to take place. 
 
The Corporate Director added that a debate was ongoing nationally. 
 
The Panel RESOLVED to note the report which detailed the current approach to 
placements and included those which are unregulated across B&NES. 
 
 

  
55   CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PEOPLE) BRIEFING 
  
 The Corporate Director (People) addressed the Panel. He stated that primarily his 

recent workload had been focussed on the Council’s budget and plans surrounding 
the impact of Covid-19. 
 
He spoke briefly about the Bath Community Academy (BCA) site to say that 
consultants had been engaged to offer a view of what options could be pursued. He 
added that a public consultation would take place on this matter in the future. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked if an update was available regarding a local 
Alzheimer’s Centre that she had raised at a previous meeting. 
 
The Corporate Director (People) replied that he had had some further discussions 
and would update Councillor Hardman offline from this meeting. 
 
Councillor Paul May commented that he would be keen to see the BCA site used for 
a wide skill set of people as it was still seen as a valuable site for the community. 
 
 

  
56   PANEL WORKPLAN 
  
 The Chairman introduced this item and asked Panel members for their comments or 

suggestions for the workplan. 
 
Kevin Burnett recalled they had earlier in the meeting agreed to receive a 
presentation on the Autism Partnership Group. 
 
Councillor Paul May asked for a further discussion by the Panel on the budget 
following the debate that had been held by Council. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman stated that they had agreed to receive a further report 
relating to Virgin Care in six months’ time.  
 
The Chairman thanked them for their comments. 

 
 

Page 23



 

 
70 

 

The meeting ended at 1.05 pm  
 

Chair  

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 

Page 24



Printed on recycled paper 

 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER: 

Children, Adults, Health and Wellbeing Policy Development and 
Scrutiny Panel 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

01 October 2019 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE: 

  

TITLE: 
Annual Report on Children’s Services Complaints and 
Representations Procedure 2018 - 19 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

Children’s Services Complaints and Representations Procedure Annual Report 

2018 – 19  

 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 This report informs the Panel about the number of complaints and representations 
including compliments received during 2018 and 2019 and demonstrates how they have 
been managed and how they have been used to contribute to service improvement.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The content of this report is noted.  

3 THE REPORT  

3.1 The attached report covers compliments, complaints and representations 
received between April 2018 and March 2019.  

3.2 During the year a total of 102 complaints concerning Children’s Services were 
registered at Stages 1, 2 or 3 of the statutory Complaints Procedure or under the 
Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.  Four complaints were referred to 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.  

3.3 The report details the outcomes of the complaints and the actions the Service is 
taking to ensure it learns from the complaints.   

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



Printed on recycled paper 

4.1 Provides  assurance that the Council is meeting the regulatory standards and time 
frame for Children’s Services Complaints and is proactive where it is judged we could 
have done better.  

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 N/A 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been undertaken, in 
compliance with the Council's decision making risk management guidance. 

7 CLIMATE CHANGE 

7.1 There are no direct impacts on climate change linked to the subject of this report. 
Wherever possible we signpost potential complainants to on-line resources and where 
acceptable to them we will communicate electronically but this is not always possible or 
appropriate. We hold face-to-face meetings as part of the resolution process, we aim to 
use a convenient Council venue with good public transport links. 

 

8 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

8.1 None 

9 CONSULTATION 

9.1 None 

 

 

 

Contact person  Sarah Watts, Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 

Sarah_watts@bathnes.gov.uk   01225 477931 

Background 
papers 

None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 26

mailto:Sarah_watts@bathnes.gov.uk


                                                                                         
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Children’s Service 
Complaints and Representations Procedure 

 
 
 

Annual Report 2018 – 2019 
 
 

Author:  Sarah Watts 
Council Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

2 

 

 
1.   Summary 
 
1.1 This Report is produced in accordance with the statutory guidance for the 

Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 as 
amended by the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, Adoption and Children Act 
2002, the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 
2003.  
 

1.2 The report considers compliments, complaints and representations received 
between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019.  It also provides an analysis of 
outcomes, trends and learning from complaints which can be used by the 
service for planning and improved service delivery.   
 

1.3 Complaints against schools are governed by different legislation.  Each school 
is required to have its own complaints procedure and complaints about 
schools are not therefore included in this report. 
 

1.4 During the year a total of 106 complaints were processed under the Children’s 
Social Care statutory complaints procedure or the Council’s Corporate 
Complaints Procedure.  The report explains how the complaints were resolved 
under the procedures.  There were four referrals to complaints the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman.   
 

1.5 In addition, 36 compliments were recorded.   
 
 

2. The Procedure 
 
2.1 The report considers complaints and representations received about 

Children’s Social Care Service; the Children’s Safeguarding and Quality 
Assurance Service; and the Education Inclusion Service.   

 
2.2 Complaints about Children’s Social Care and the Safeguarding and Quality 

Assurance Service are dealt with under the Children Act 1989 
Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 and accompanying 
statutory guidance ‘Getting the Best from Complaints’.  A summary of the 
procedure can be found at Appendix 1. 

 
2.3 Complaints about the Education Inclusion Service and Local Authority 

Designated Officer fall outside the scope of the statutory complaints 
procedure and are dealt with under the Council’s Corporate Complaints 
Procedure.  Information about this procedure can be found at 
www.bathnes.gov.uk 

 
2.4 The feedback received is recorded against one of the following headings: 

compliment, complaint or representation.   

Page 28

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/


Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

3 

o A complaint can generally be defined as an expression of dissatisfaction 
or disquiet, which requires a response. 

 
o A representation is feedback which does not need a formal response or 

where the person concerned does not want it to be recorded as a 
complaint.   Children and young people often chose to raise a concern in 
this way as they do not want to enter the formal complaints procedure. 
 

o A compliment is positive feedback about the service or an individual 
member of staff.  Compliments from service users and other agencies are 
recorded.   

 
2.5  The key principles of the Complaints Procedure are: 
 

• People who use services are able to tell the Council about their good and 
bad experiences of the service.  

• People who complain have their concerns resolved swiftly and, wherever 
possible, by the people who provide the service locally. 

• The procedure is a positive aid to inform and influence service 
improvements, not a negative process to apportion blame. 

• The Service has a ‘listening and learning culture’ where learning is fed 
back to people who use services – and fed into internal systems for driving 
improvement. 

 
2.6 Children’s Social Care has set out its commitment to responding to  the 

concerns of children and young people who are in care in the Care Pledge.  
The Pledge has been endorsed by the Council’s Corporate Parenting Group.   

 

  

 

 

 
 
3. Complaints and Compliments – analysis of the data 
 
3.1 Through induction and training all staff are advised of their responsibilities 

under the Complaints Procedure and are equipped to receive complaints and 
compliments when working with young people, families and carers.   Staff are 
aware of the importance of sharing all complaints and potential complaints 
with the Complaints and Data Protection Team to ensure the complaint is 
correctly recorded and monitored in accordance with the statutory guidance or 
corporate procedure.   

 

We will work hard to sort out any problems or worries you have.  

If we can’t do what you ask, we will explain the reasons why.  

We will make sure you know how to get an independent advocate - that’s 

someone who will listen to you and work with you to get things changed.  

We will make sure you have all the information you need to make a complaint. 

We promise to always take your complaints seriously. 

Page 29



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

4 

3.2 Table 2:  Numbers of complaints received and resolved 
  

 

 C
a
rr

ie
d

 o
v

e
r 

 

2
0

1
7

 –
 1

8
 

R
e
c

e
iv

e
d

 

2
0

1
8

 -
 1

9
 

R
e
s

o
lv

e
d

 

N
o

t 
p

u
rs

u
e

d
 

C
a
rr

ie
d

 

fo
rw

a
rd

  

2
0

1
8

 –
 1

9
 

Representation 
 

1 6 5 2 0 

Stage 1  
(Statutory Procedure) 

8 67 60 12 3 

Stage 1  
(Corporate Procedure) 

2 19 17   1 3 

Stage 2  
(Statutory Procedure) 

4 3 5 0 2 

Stage 2 
(Corporate Procedure) 

0 5* 4 0 1 

Stage 3  
(Statutory Procedure only) 

1 2 3 0 0 

Referral to Ombudsman  
 

2 4 5 0 1 

Total 18 106 99 15 10 
*requests for investigation which did not progress to full investigation 

 
3.3 Table 3: Comparison with previous years  
 

 
3.5 The total number of complaints received across the service has decreased 

during the year but not significantly. 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2014 -15 2015 -16 2016 - 17 2017 -18 2018-19

LGSCO

Stage 3

Stage 2

Stage 1

Representations

Page 30



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

5 

3.6 The distribution of complaints across the three stages and referrals to the 
Ombudsman remain consistent.  

 
3.7 Table 4: breakdown of Stage 1 complaints received by Children Social Care 

Teams.   
 

 
 
3.8  As might be expected the Children’s Social Care teams receive the highest 

number of complaints as they provide frontline services.  A full list of team 
names is given at Appendix 2.  

 
3.9  Table 5 illustrates the broader themes drawn from the complaints and gives 

the number of upheld or partially upheld complaints in each category.   These 
categories are taken from the statutory guidance.  

 

 
 
Category 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

S
ta

g
e

 1
 

c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 

%
  
 

S
ta

g
e

 1
 

c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 

U
p

h
e

ld
 o

r 

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

U
p

h
e

ld
  

Attitude or behaviour of staff includes 
issues with poor communication 

18 21% 4 

Assessment, care management or review 
includes delays in completing an 
assessment and perceived bias in an 
assessment 

12 14% 3 

Application of policy includes the impact 
this has on a young person 

1 1% 1 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Page 31



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

6 

Quality of the service Where the service 
did not meet service user expectations  

13 15% 4 

Delay in making a decision or providing a 
service 

11 13% 2 

Unwelcome or disputed decision 13 15% 2 

Appropriateness of service includes 
disagreement with the involvement of the 
service or the service failing to be involved 
with a family.  

17 20% 3 

Application of eligibility / assessment 
criteria includes disagreement with the 
outcome of an assessment 

1 1% 1 

 
3.12 Unusually there is a reasonably even spread of complaints across the 
 categories. There has been a noticeable increase in the number of complaints 
 in the categories of ‘Unwelcome or disputed decision’ and ‘Appropriateness of 
 Service’ and a significant drop in the number of complaints in the category of 
 ‘Attitude or behaviour of staff’.  
 
3.13 This suggests more complainants are challenging the decisions taken and 
 recognise these are decisions taken by the service as opposed to ‘blaming’ 
 staff for the decisions.   
 
3.14 The examples below illustrate the type of complaints received in the key 

categories and the responses provided by the manager.  All complaints were 
upheld: 

 

Complaint recorded under ‘attitude or behaviour of staff’ – A care leaver 
complained about her Personal Adviser saying that he was supposed to contact her 
and hasn’t. He missed a core group meeting and a few other meetings he was 
supposed to support her in.   He has not helped or supported me.  
 
Response – The manager found the Personal Adviser made an initial attempt to 
contact her but he didn’t reach her and did not make efforts by following up with 
further calls.  He did not leave a message and as a result a substantial amount of 
time passed before contact was made.  The manager apologised on behalf of the 
team for the distress this caused and said the young person was to contact her 
direct if this happened again.  

 

Complaint recorded under Assessment, Care Management or Review – the 
complainant (a father) said that he had not been informed that his children had 
been on a Child in Need plan or the reason why.  
 
Response – The manager found that the social work team had focused attention 

Page 32



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

7 

on events which affected the children’s half-siblings and their mother and the 
unintended consequence was that the team failed involve their father in their 
communications and planning.   The manager apologised for this and reassured the 
father he would be informed, consulted and involved in future.   

 

 
4. Learning from complaints 
 
4.1  The primary purpose of the Complaints Procedure is to allow the service the 

opportunity to put things right for the individual complainant when they have 
gone wrong.  The statutory guidance also states that: 

 
 All local authorities should provide a system for: 

o The dissemination of learning from complaints to line managers; 
o The use of complaints procedure as a measure of performance and 

means of quality control; and 
o Information derived from complaints to contribute to practice development, 

commissioning and service planning.  
 

To achieve this there are systems in place to collate and then disseminate 
information gathered at the conclusion of each stage of the procedure.  

 
Stage 1 complaints 
 
4.2 In 2018 -19, 23% of Stage 1 complaints were either upheld or partially upheld.  

Although the number of complaints that were upheld is lower than in previous 
years the information will provide valuable insight into areas where 
improvements can be made.  (See section 3.14 above). 

  
4.3 A quarterly report is prepared for senior managers which draws together the 

themes from complaints and the actions that have been taken in response to 
the complaints.  The quarterly reports are also available to all managers 
responsible for service and team plans.    

 
4.4 As numbers of complaints are relatively small and are spread across a 

number of service areas it is difficult to identify trends in the data, however, a 

Complaint recorded under Concern about Quality of Service -  There were 
several elements to this complaint, an example of one element is: 

• My granddaughter had benefitted greatly from play therapy when she lived 
with us and it was agreed that this would be arranged once she had settled 
with her new family – the social worker was actioned to sort this out and to 
date this has never happened.  
 

Response – The manager identified that it is difficult when there are a number of 
workers and teams involved without clear understanding of their roles and who is 
doing what tasks.  She said she would particularly address the issue of the social 
worker sharing information and outcomes form her tasks so that foster carers and 
kinship carers are reassured they are being done and followed up.  

Page 33



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

8 

small number of complaints have been received from fathers who do not feel 
they have been appropriately involved by the service.  This has been raised 
with managers and the Service Improvement Board will be considering this as 
an area of work which requires further consideration.  

 
Stage 2 complaint investigations 
 
4.5 Between April 2018 and March 2019, three requests for Stage 2 complaint 

investigations under the statutory complaints procedure were received.  Four 
investigations were on–going from the previous year.   

 
4.6 Five investigations were concluded during the year and 2 were on-going at the 

end of the year.  
 
4.7 In addition, 5 requests for Stage 2 investigations were received under the 

Corporate Complaints procedure.   These were reviewed by the Corporate 
Complaints Team.   Of these requests, 3 were referred back to the service for 
further work, 1 was closed with no further action and 1 complaint was on-
going at the end of the financial year.   

 
4.8  The number of complaints progressing to Stage 2 under the statutory 

complaints procedure is in line with previous years (6% of Stage 1 complaints 
progressed to Stage 2 compared to 8.5% of in 2017 -18).  Many complainants 
say they escalate their complaint because they feel the Stage 1 response has 
not fully addressed their concerns or it has ‘missed the point’.  Timescales are 
also a factor.  This is considered further in Section 5, however, evidence has 
shown that those complaints which took in excess of 30 working days to 
respond to are more likely to progress to Stage 2.  Timeliness of responses is 
therefore very important.  

 
4.9 Each complaint investigation report makes recommendations for action or 

improvement to the service.  The recommendations are passed to the Head of 
Service in the form of an action plan. The completion of the action plan is 
monitored by the Complaints and Data Protection Team and feedback is given 
through the quarterly report.  

 
 4.10 Some actions are relatively straight forward to complete or are specific to the 

individual case, others require longer to address and embed within the 
service.  

 
 Examples of recommendations for action include:  
 

• Information on the B&NES website regarding eligibility for the Short 
Breaks scheme should be updated and clarification should be provided 
about which elements of the EHCP is relevant to the provision.   
Confirmed as completed by the Commissioning Team.  

• Thought should be given by the Duty Team as to how best to meet the 
needs of children and young people who have particular communication 

Page 34



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

9 

needs.  This may include considering specialist workers from across the 
department, training and development or accessing support from outside 
the department as and when needed.   
Shared with Team Managers and Deputy Team Managers through the 
management meeting.  

• The Council should remind Children’s Social Care Team Managers and 
social workers about the importance of: 

o Regular management oversight of cases; 
o Placing supervision notes on case files; 
o Ensuring important decisions, and the process for reaching those 

decisions, are clearly recorded on a young person’s case file; 
o Ensuring all contacts, e.g. telephone calls, are recorded on case 

files; 
o Involving parents in the assessment process; 
o Keeping parents informed of significant events in the lives of 

children whilst they are in the care of the local authority.  
 
This longer term piece of work will be addressed through team and 
management meetings and individual supervision.  
 

 The above is not an exhaustive list of the recommended actions but examples 
of the areas for improvement identified during the course of complaint 
investigations. 

 
 
Stage 3 Complaints 
 
4.11  Three Stage 3 Review Panels were held during the year.   Complainants can 

ask the Panel to consider complaints which were not upheld at Stage 2 or 
where they have not achieved the remedy they were looking for.   The 
majority of the recommendations of the Panel relate to the specific 
circumstances of the complainant.  However, examples of more general 
recommendations include: 

 

• The service should introduce a monthly letter to parents in prison.   The 
Panel recommended that BANES should consider a publication by 
Barnardo’s ‘Working with children with a parent in prison.  Messages from 
practice’; 

• Practitioners and managers in social care to access the in-house training 
and guidance regarding cultural awareness;  

• For Children’s Social Care and Youth Connect Services to identify ways of 
understanding how the other service works and recognising the differing 
demands and pressures on each service in order to assist and improve 
communication.  

 
Complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman (LGSCO) 
 

Page 35



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

10 

4.12 The LGSCO considered 6 complaints about Children’s Services.   Two of 
these complaints were carried over from the previous year and four new 
complaints were made to the Ombudsman.   The Council was required to 
respond to the Ombudsman’s enquiries on three of these complaints.    

 
 
4.13 The outcomes were: 
 

• One complaint remained open at the end of the year; 

• One complaint was referred back to the Council without investigation as it was 
considered ‘premature’ i.e. it had not exhausted the Council’s complaints 
procedure.   

• One complaint was not investigated by the Ombudsman because the key 
issues had been considered in court and are out of jurisdiction for the 
Ombudsman; 

• The investigation of one complaint was discontinued because the 
Ombudsman cannot investigate what happens in schools and cannot 
investigate when someone has appealed to a tribunal: 

• The Council was found at fault in two cases: 
 

• The Council failed to follow the instructions of a Stage 3 Review Panel on 
the content of a letter it was told to write to remedy a complaint.  The 
Council was told to revise the letter in line with the Ombudsman’s findings; 
and 

• The Council was at fault in the way it dealt with the provision of alternative 
education.   To remedy the complaint the Council agreed to a payment for 
missed education and reimbursement of the cost of on-line learning 
 

The Council completed both remedies to the satisfaction of the Ombudsman. 

 
Compliments  
 
4.14 Once again members of staff throughout the service have received 

compliments from the young people and their families and from colleagues 
working in partner agencies.   A total of 36 compliments were recorded. 

 
4.15 Compliments reflect good practice and provide valuable information which can 

be considered alongside complaints to help establish where the strengths and 
weaknesses of the service are.  To demonstrate how much positive feedback 
is received by the Service, the Principal Social Worker now compiles a 
monthly celebration newsletter which is shared throughout the service.  

 
4.16  The table below captures examples of the compliments received.  These 

compliments have been selected to show the range of issues and services 
covered.   There are many more that could have been included.  

 
 

Page 36



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

11 

 
Table 6 – Examples of compliments received 
 

From foster carers to 
their Supervising Social 
Worker 

Thank you for always making yourself 
available when we needed advice.  We 
couldn’t have managed without you.  
 

From a support worker to 
the Connecting Families 
Team on behalf of a 
family 

I would just like to thank you for the 
flexibility you showed in agreeing to 
replace the fridge freezer for CE that you 
had already supplied.  
It was above and beyond what was 
expected.  
 

From a parent to the 
manager of the 
Adolescent at Risk Team 

A massive thank you for the amazing 
support you’ve given my family and me! 
CL was so caring and a much needed light 
in the dark.  I am so glad the service is 
there for children and parents like 
ourselves.  I can’t thank you enough C for 
keeping my family together and helping us 
mend and heal.  
 

From a parent about her 
son’s social worker in 
the Disabled Children’s 
Team 

EK was empathetic and understanding 
and working with her was a nice 
experience.   I was concerned to contact 
Social Care in the first instance but 
working with E eased my concerns. 
 

From the Named 
Safeguarding Nurse at 
RUH to a social worker in 
the Duty Team 

I wanted to say what a great example of 
joined up work today in relation to a safe 
discharge plan for L from the Paediatric 
Ward. HS made a concerted effort to 
come into the hospital to talk with us on 
the ward then discussed further with L 
herself.   We are grateful to H for all her 
efforts to get to the hospital today.  This 
resulted in a safe discharge plan to L back 
to her mother.  

  
5. Complaint handling and monitoring 
 
Response to Stage 1 complaints 
 
5.1 Compliance with timescales is monitored very carefully in recognition of the 

need to deal with complaints as swiftly as possible.   The importance of this is 
noted above.  

 

Page 37



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

12 

5.2  An acknowledgement of a Stage 1 complaint should be sent in 2 working days 
and a full response within 10 working days. This can be extended to 20 
working days when the complainant requests an advocate or the complaint is 
particularly complex.  This extension should be in agreement with the 
complainant.  

 
5.3 In 2018-19, the target of 95% of acknowledgments to be sent within 2 working 

days was met.   
 
5.4 The average time taken to respond to a Stage 1 complaint was 24 working 

days for complaints dealt under the statutory Complaints Procedure.  The 
average time taken for complaints dealt with under the Corporate Complaints 
procedure was 12 working days.   

 
5.5. Although the time taken by Children’s Social Care to respond to complaints is 

higher than the target of 10 working days it is permissible to respond within 20 
working days.   The majority of complainants receive a response within 15 
working days, however, there are complaints which take significantly longer 
and these impact on the average time taken.   The reason for a significant 
delay varies but it is often due to the availability of managers and staff to 
complete the initial investigation of the complaint.      

 
5.6 It was noted in Section 4 that a delay in responding to a complaint can 

increase the likelihood that the complaint will escalate to Stage 2 and 
therefore careful monitoring of the response is important. The Complaints and 
Data Protection Team assists managers by sending prompts and with drafting 
the response. Where there is an unavoidable delay the Team sends a holding 
letter to the complainant.  

 
Response to Stage 2 complaints 
 
5.7 The response to a complaint at Stage 2 should be sent within 25 working days 

from the date the complaint is agreed with the complainant.  This timescale is 
very challenging for the investigating officer and independent person as the 
time needed for file reading and interviewing staff is considerable. The time 
allowed can be extended up to a maximum of 65 working days with the 
agreement of the complainant and this is required on most investigations.  

 
5.8    Five investigations were concluded during the year.  Two investigations were 

carried over from the previous year and because of delays caused by one 
complainant the average time for these investigations was 195 working days.  
The average time taken to complete the investigations completed during 
2018/19 was 78 working days.  The Complaints Manager continues to work 
with each Investigating Officer and Independent Person to reduce the 
timescale as far as possible but there are a number of challenges which affect 
this.   

 
 

Page 38



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

13 

Response to Stage 3 complaints 
 
5.9 A Stage 3 Review Panel should be held within 30 working days of the request 

being received.  There were three Panels during the year which were held 
within an average of 34 working days.   

 
6. Accessing the procedure 
 
6.1 The statutory Complaints Procedure was introduced in the Children Act 1989 

to give children and young people who are either ‘looked after’ or deemed to 
be a ‘child in need’ a way of telling the Council when they are unhappy about 
something in their life.   There are many different ways for young people and 
their families to make a complaint or representation.  

 
6.2 Information is available on the Council’s website and there is an information 

sheet for staff to share with young people and families when they first star 
working with them or when an issue arises.   

 
6.3 A complaints leaflet has been designed specifically for children and young 

people.  It is available on the website and is included in the Child in Care Pack 
which is given to each young person when they become ‘looked after’.   

 
6.4 A young person who is looked after will have the chance to raise any 

concerns they have with the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) at their 
regular review and the IRO will explain to them how to access the complaints 
procedure if this is appropriate.    

 
6.5 Table 8 – Methods used to make a complaint 
 

Email 53% 

Letter 12% 

Telephone 27% 

Complaint form 8% 

 
6.6 Of the 73 Stage 1 complaints and representations made under the statutory 

Complaints Procedure, 6 were made by young people.  Two complaints were 
made by young people with the support of an advocate (see Section 6.8 
below).  None of these complaints were escalated to Stage 2.   Based on 
learning from previous complaints, managers are required to meet with the 
young person, if they are agreeable, rather than rely on a written response.  
The meeting should help understanding on both sides. 

 
6.7 The remainder of the complaints were made by adults complaining about their 

own contact with the service or on behalf of children. The majority of 
complainants were parents (84 complaints), but complaints were also 
received from foster carers, grandparents, an aunt and a step-parents. 

 
6.8 Section 26A of the Children Act, 1989 requires the local authority to ‘make 

Page 39



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

14 

arrangements for the provision of advocacy services to children or young 
people making or intending to make complaints under the Act’.  The advocacy 
service commissioned by Bath and North East Somerset is ‘Shout Out!’ which 
is part of ‘Off the Record’ and advocates from Shout Out! regularly provide 
support to young people considering making a complaint. However, support 
can be provided by any agency that the young person is working with if this is 
their preference.  
 

6.9 Information about the advocacy service is available to children and young 
people in the publicity information about the Complaints Procedure.  In 
addition, Children and Young People who become looked after are 
automatically referred to Shout Out and an advocate will contact them before 
their first review to offer support.  Advocacy support is also offered to children/ 
young people to support them to attend a Child Protection Case Conference.  
Shout Out! will provide information and support to make a complaint if 
needed.  The Complaints and Data Protection Team always makes young 
people aware that they can have help from an advocate with their complaint.  

 
6.10  Shout Out has produced a wallet sized card on ‘the Pledge’ and this 
 includes information about the Complaints and Data Protection Team 
 Manager with contact details. 
 
6.11 Parents and carers wanting to make a complaint do not have the same 

automatic right to an advocate as young people but Bath and North East 
Somerset commissions a specialist advocacy service at the Care Forum in 
Bristol to provide a service to those parents who meet their criteria.      

6.12 Feedback collected by the advocacy service is always very positive  and 
indicates that complainants who use the service feel well supported with their 
complaint and achieve a better outcome than they would if they had pursued 
the complaint on their own.  

 
6.13 When making a complaint, complainants are invited to provide

 information about their ethnicity, gender and disability on the  complaint form.  
If the complaint is made by letter, email or telephone the complainant is not 
currently asked for this information and so this information is incomplete.   

 
6.14 This data can be used as an indicator of the make-up of the population which 

accesses the complaints procedure but unfortunately the information available 
for 2018/19 is too limited to be useful for analysis. A database for recording 
complaints data was introduced in April 2019 and will enable analysis of data 
in future years.   

  
7. An overview of the work of the Complaints and Data Protection Team  
 
7.1 The Complaints and Data Protection Team has undergone a significant 

change during the year.  In November 2018 the Complaints and Data 
Protection Team transferred to One West to become part of a centralised 
team working alongside Information Governance and Corporate Complaints 

Page 40



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

15 

colleagues which it was envisaged would provide additional support and 
resilience for the Team.    

 
7.2 Team Structure: Two members of the Team left their posts in 2018 which left 

a vacancy for an Information Governance Officer from July 2018 until January 
2019.  The Complaints Officer post has been vacant since June 2018.  
Recruitment to this post started in the new financial year.   The make-up of the 
team is now: 

  
o Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager manages the complaints 

service for Children’s Services and Adult Social Care.  In Adult Social Care 
this is a combination of direct management of complaints and oversight of the 
complaints handled by Virgin Care.   The Complaints Manager also manages 
the process for dealing with Subject Access Requests to Children’s Services 
and Adult Social Care under the Data Protection Act 2018 along with requests 
from the police to share information under the joint information sharing 
protocol.   She also works closely with the Information Governance Team and 
Caldicott Guardian on information security issues (data breaches). 
 

o Information Governance Officer dealing primarily with Subject Access 
Requests under the Data Protection Act 2018 and with requests from the 
Police under the 2013 joint Protocol for Disclosure of Information.  

 
o Information Governance Officer dealing primarily with complaints against 

Children’s Services and Adult Social Care.  
 

7.3  Monitoring of the procedure: The Complaints and Data Protection Team 
Manager produces quarterly monitoring reports on complaints handled under 
the statutory Complaints Procedure and the corporate Complaints Procedure 
as well as the Annual Report.  Data is also available to all service areas on 
request to help with service monitoring and planning and information about 
specific issues or trends is provided to the Service Improvement Board.  

 
7.4 Training: The Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager delivers a 

session on a bi-monthly basis on complaints and information governance as 
part of the induction programme for social care staff.   Sessions to share 
learning gained from dealing with Subject Access Requests is planned with 
individual teams for 2019/20.  

 
7.5 Liaison with other Councils – Regional Meetings: The Complaints and 

Data Protection Team Manager is a member of the South West Region 
Complaints Managers Group.  The Group is currently developing a toolkit to 
assist Councils evidence the learning that comes from complaints and 
feedback.   

 
7.6 Liaison with other Councils – Register of Independent People: The 

Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager also links with complaints 
managers in 7 neighbouring authorities to operate a Register of Independent 

Page 41



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

16 

Investigators and Stage 3 Panel Members.   This Register has been running 
for a number of years and ensures that the Council has access to 
appropriately appointed and trained independent investigators and Stage 3 
Panel Members.   The Group holds an annual Network Meeting to support the 
development of those people in the independent roles.  

 
7.7 Table 9 – Requests for information 

 
 
7.8 The number of Subject Access Requests has risen slightly during the year.  

The Complaints and Data Protection Team is currently reviewing the 
recording of Subject Access and Information Sharing requests to ensure it 
accurately reflects the number of files reviewed and the time taken in order to 
complete the request.   

 
7.9 The timescale for responding was amended with the introduction of the GDPR 

in May 2018.  The Council previously had 40 days to respond to a Subject 
Access Request.  It must now respond within one month of receiving the 
request.  Where the request is complex this can be extended by a further 2 
months but the requestor must be advised of this extension within one month.   
This timescale has been complied with on requests received since May 2018.  

 
8. Areas for development in 2018 – 19 
 
8.1  Many of the areas for development are a continuation of the work already 

being undertaken. 
 
8.2 Complaints: 
 

o Continue to work with managers to improve the response times for complaints 
at Stage 1.   

 

Completed 

 2014/
2015 

2015/ 
2016 

2016/ 
2017  

2017/ 
2018 

2018/ 
2019 

Subject Access Requests  44 30 36 51 
 

57 

Advice and signposting 
 

5 37 73 77 18 

Information sharing  
(requests from police & other agencies) 

64 43 81 76 68 

Court Order 
 

5 4 3 6 6 

Response to internal review 
 

1 0 2 1 1 

Page 42



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

17 

o Continue to support managers with the handling of complaints through 
individual support sessions and meetings and develop a programme to 
provide bespoke training as required.  

 
o Develop the internal web page to provide a resource for managers on all 

aspects of the Complaints Procedure.   
 

o Ensure that the outcome of all complaints is captured and shared with the 
service in a way that enables it to identify where improvements should be 
made and record when this has happened in order to evidence the learning. 

 
o Review the information available to the public to ensure it is accurate and 

accessible for children, young people, their parents and carers.  
 

o Contribute to the work of the South West Region Complaints Managers Group 
to develop a toolkit for ensuring that the service is able to learn from 
complaints and that this can be evidenced.  

 
8.3 Data Protection/Information Sharing: 
 

o Continue to review the implementation of GDPR/Data Protection Act 2018 
and revise procedures accordingly.  This includes reviewing the way the 
SARs and information sharing requests are recorded and monitored.  
 

o Support the implementation of the Caldicott Function Plan through the 
Complaints and Data Protection Service.  In particular record and assist the 
Information Governance Team with the monitoring and investigation of data 
breaches within the Service to prevent recurrence wherever possible.  

 
 
 
 
Sarah Watts 
Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 
September 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

18 

 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 - Summary of the Complaints Procedure 
 
Stage One – Local Resolution  
 
The majority of complaints should be considered and resolved at Stage 1.  Staff at 
the point of service delivery and the complainant should discuss and attempt to 
resolve the complaint as quickly as possible.   
 
Complaints at Stage 1 should be concluded within 10 working days. This can be 
extended by a further 10 days where the complaint is complex, or the complainant 
requests an advocate.   
 
If the complaint is resolved at Stage 1 the manager must write to the complainant 
confirming what has been agreed.  Where the complaint cannot be resolved locally 
or the complainant is not satisfied with the response, the complainant has 20 working 
days in which to request a Stage 2 investigation.  
 
There are some complaints that are not appropriate to be considered at Stage 1 and 
these can progress directly to Stage 2.  
 
Stage Two - Investigation 
 
Once the complainant has decided to progress to a Stage 2, the Complaints 
Manager arranges for a full investigation of the complaint to take place.  The 
investigation is carried out by someone who is not in direct line management of the 
service or person about whom the complaint is made.   
 
The investigation is overseen by an Independent Person who must be involved in all 
aspects of the investigation to ensure it is fair, thorough and transparent.  
 
The complainant should receive a response to their complaint in the form of a report 
and adjudication letter within 25 days of making the complaint.  This can be 
extended up to a maximum of 65 working days where the complaint is particularly 
complex or where a key witness is unavailable for part of the time.  
 
The Adjudicating Officer should ensure that any recommendations contained in the 
response are implemented.  This should be monitored by the Complaints Manager.  
 
Stage Three - Review Panel 
 
Where Stage 2 of the procedure has been completed and the complainant remains 
dissatisfied, he can ask for a Review Panel.  The purpose of the Panel is to consider 
whether the Local Authority adequately dealt with the complaint in the Stage 2 

Page 44



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

19 

investigation.  The Panel will be made up of three people who are independent of the 
local authority.   
 
The Panel should focus on achieving resolution for the complainant and making 
recommendations to provide practical remedies and solutions.   
The complainant has 20 working days in which to request a Review Panel from 
receipt of the Stage 2 report and adjudication letter and the Panel must be held 
within 30 days of receiving the request. 
 
If the complainant remains dissatisfied he can refer his complaint to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



Annualrep(final)18-19childrens/sew 

 

 

20 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 - Children’s Service Teams 

Admissions – Schools Admissions and Transport  

ART- Adolescent at Risk Team 

Children’s Centres 

CMES – Children Missing Education Service 

Music Service 

SEN- Special Educational Needs 

IRO – Independent Reviewing Officer 

Safeguarding – Child Protection Case Conference Chair 

CICMOT – Children in Care/Moving on Team 

LADO – Local Authority Designated Officer (Managing Allegations) 

FSS and CP (1) and (2) – Family Support Services and Child Protection (Teams 1 & 2) 

DCT – Disabled Children’s Team 

Duty – Duty and Assessment Team (including Referral and Information Officers (RIOs) 

FPT – Family Placement Team 

 

Page 46



Printed on recycled paper 

 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING 

 

Children, Adult, Health and Wellbeing Policy Development & Scrutiny 
Panel 

 

MEETING 
DATE:  

28th January 2020 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE: 

E  

TITLE: Food Poverty Action Plan 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: None 

 

 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 Food poverty is defined by the Department of Health and Social Care as ‘the 
inability to afford, or have reasonable access to, food that makes up a healthy diet.’ 
B&NES Council passed a motion on Food Poverty on 11th July 2019 requesting: 

• the Children, Health & Wellbeing Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel to 
work with local organisations and develop recommendations for a Food Poverty 
Action Plan for Bath and North East Somerset; and 

 

• that the Cabinet investigate refreshing the Local Food Strategy for Bath and 
North East Somerset. 

 

1.2 This report puts forward a process and timeline for developing a food poverty 
action plan for B&NES and investigating the refresh of B&NES Food Strategy 

 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Panel is asked to; 

2.1 Proposal 1  

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



Printed on recycled paper 

Comment on the proposed approach and indicative timeline for developing the 
Food Poverty Action Plan and investigation of the refresh of the B&NES Food 
Strategy 

2.2 Proposal 2  

The Panel considers ways in which elected members can support community 
engagement in development of the Food Poverty Action Plan 

3 THE REPORT 

3.1 Food poverty, or household food insecurity as it is also referred to, is about the 
affordability and accessibility of a healthy diet.   

3.2 Affordability is tied to household income and the demands on household 
finances including housing and fuel costs and other costs such as childcare, as well 
as a lack of savings. 

3.3 Accessibility is about other factors combined with affordability that act as barriers 
to healthy eating such as local food provision, transport, food storage and 
preparation facilities, time and skills to prepare healthy meals and prioritisation of 
convenient, energy dense, low wastage foods when living on a tight budget. 

3.4 People can experience food poverty for a range of different reasons including; 

• changes in household circumstances affecting household income such as 
relationship breakdown, bereavement, not being able to work due to illness or 
needing to care for family 

• variable income due to job insecurity or type of job making it hard to 
plan/budget 

• income and expenditure shocks e.g. delays or changes in benefit payments, 
unexpected bills e.g. breakdown of car or household appliances 

• Struggling with debt e.g. rent arrears, reliance on doorstep lenders 

• living in a rural area or place where accessing good quality food maybe a 
challenge due to lack of public transport, transport costs and local choice and 
availability 

• Parents on low income reliant on free school meals struggling to feed children 
in the school holidays 

• Older people balancing rising fuel and food costs on a low income 

• Those with complex needs or those more socially isolated who may be 
suffering from neglect and less able to care for themselves. 

3.5 In 2016 the Government acknowledged the challenge of accurately measuring 
food poverty and/or insecurity and stated that there was no single commonly 
agreed method for doing this accurately. More recently it has started measuring 
food insecurity as part of the Family Resources Survey, asking 10 questions about 
experiences of being unable to acquire and eat enough food. This survey will 
provide national level data to inform national policy however there is no indication at 

Page 48



Printed on recycled paper 

the moment that any information will be available at local authority level on food 
poverty. 

3.6 Therefore it is important to also use a range of local data to assess prevalence 
and risk of food poverty. At a B&NES population level we have begun by including 
two questions in the resident Voicebox survey carried out late 2019. We will need to 
explore in more depth how to embed data collection on this issue more 
systematically through frontline services and via other partner organisations going 
forward. 

3.7 Other indicators that can help us to understand the number of people who may 
be vulnerable to food poverty locally include those relating to deprivation generally, 
and specifically estimates of childhood poverty.  

3.8 The 2019 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) shows that B&NES remains one 
of the least deprived areas in the country, ranking 269 out of 317 local councils, 
compared to 247 in 2015 (where 1 is most deprived). B&NES is however one of the 
most expensive places to live in the country which creates a potential cost of living 
challenge. 

3.9 Within some areas of B&NES inequality is widening however and deprivation 
remains significant. Two small areas in B&NES are within the 10% most deprived in 
the country. The two areas are Whiteway and Twerton West LSOA’s (lower super 
output areas) representing 3,061 people (mid 2018 estimates). 

3.10 Households are defined as living in poverty if their household income 
(adjusted to account for household size), is less than 60% of the median. The 
median household income in 2019 according to ONS1 was £29,400 and 60% of this 
is £17,640. 

3.11 Approximately 12% of children are living in poverty in B&NES, before 
housing costs (approx.5193 children). This represents a slight rise of 0.4% since 
16/17. After housing costs 19% of children in B&NES are living in poverty 
(approx.8,154 children). This represents a 2% decline since 16/17. The areas 
where children living in poverty is highest (after housing costs) in B&NES are2; 

Twerton   35% 
Radstock   31% 
Southdown   27% 
Bathavon west  24% 
Westfield   24% 
Peasedown  24% 
 

3.12 As of November 2019, there were 3,521 children in B&NES schools 
claiming free school meals. This represents 15.5% of the children on a school roll in 
B&NES at that time. The percentage of children claiming free school meals in 
B&NES schools ranges from 2% - 60%. 

3.13 Demand for welfare support services is an indicator of people struggling 
financially. The key purpose of the Welfare Support Team in B&NES is to provide 

 
1 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/b
ulletins/householddisposableincomeandinequality/financialyearending2019provisional 
2 https://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/poverty-in-your-area-2019/ 

Page 49

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/bulletins/householddisposableincomeandinequality/financialyearending2019provisional
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/bulletins/householddisposableincomeandinequality/financialyearending2019provisional
https://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/poverty-in-your-area-2019/


Printed on recycled paper 

emergency assistance with food and rent for people who are destitute or in 
poverty3. 

3.14 Demand for welfare support services locally has increased in recent years. 
The type of support requested has shifted and is now predominantly linked to food 
poverty. The table below shows a breakdown of B&NES Council Welfare Support 
team awards/referrals to residents by type 2014 – 2018. 

 

3.15  Of the total number of Welfare Support awards/referrals made in 2018, 
79% were food related i.e. provision of shopping vouchers, help with purchasing 
cooking equipment/fridges etc. and referrals to foodbanks. This is an increase from 
2014 when 61% of awards/referrals were food related. The specific increase in the 
award of shopping vouchers and food bank referrals is notable from 2016 onwards. 
B&NES Council moved to Universal Credit full service on 26th May 2016. The 
B&NES budget for welfare support awards in 2019 was £190,000. 

3.16  Use of emergency food aid is also an indicator of significant food poverty 
and destitution. The Trussell Trust, the largest UK foodbank provider, reports a rise 
in foodbank usage across its network over the last 5 years of 76%. From April 2018 
– March 2019 they reported a 19% increase in the number of 3-day emergency 
food parcels given to people in crisis. Locally there are Trussell Trust affiliated 
foodbanks covering Bath, Keynsham and the Somer Valley. The table below shows 
the number of people (adults and children) supported by these foodbanks during 
18/19 and to date in 19/20. 

 

 

 

 

 
3 The B&NES Welfare Support Team was formed in 2013 following the abolition of the Social Fund and the 
introduction of localised welfare services. Whilst many councils have reduced or withdrawn their local welfare 
provision services, B&NES has consistently funded and promoted the work of the team, which now 
incorporates the council’s statutory functions for Housing Benefit, Council Tax Support and Discretionary 
Housing Payments 
4 Other awards include interview expenses, other household goods e.g. carpets, washing machines, debt 
and travel to work expenses. 
5 Number of referrals does not equate to number of people helped as people can receive more than one 
referral to foodbank within a year. Equally this applies to the number of shopping vouchers issued as well. 

 Total Welfare 
Support Team 

Awards 

Breakdown of food related awards Other 
awards4 

Year 
 

Shopping 
vouchers 

Foodbank 
referrals5  

cookers storage Both 
cookers 
and 
storage 

   
 

2014 2150 751 316 41 15 191 836 

2015 1833 713 308 38 13 140 621 

2016 2834 1473 539 45 24 109 644 

2017 3498 1449 1031 84 83 70 781 

2018 3520 1406 1152 68 51 98 745 

Page 50



Printed on recycled paper 

Foodbank Number of people 
supported 18/19 

Number of people 
supported 19/20  

Bath 4469 2490 (April – Dec) 

Keynsham 816 844 (to 9th Jan) 

Somer Valley 2472 2624 (to 14th Jan) 

Total 77576  

 

3.17 Bath food bank reported a 8.9% rise in the number of people supported 
during 18/19 compared to 17/18 and Keynsham foodbank had already exceeded 
18/19 numbers of people supported by Quarter 3 19/20. 

3.18 It is important to note that food bank usage will significantly underestimate 
food poverty in the population as a whole, as many people will not access food aid 
at all or access support from other independent food banks/projects. This is likely to 
be the case for older people specifically, who rarely access local food banks. 

3.19 Research from the Trussell Trust7 in 2017 identified the key groups using 
emergency food aid as single working age adults without children, lone parents with 
children, and families with three or more children. Amongst these groups there was 
also a high proportion of people living with disabilities and/or long-term heath 
conditions.  

3.20 The reasons identified as needing to access the Bath foodbank in April – 
December 2019 are listed in the table below; 

Reason stated on voucher Number of vouchers issued 

Benefit changes 162 

Benefit delays 276 

Child holiday meals 1 

Debt 210 

Delayed wages 13 

Domestic violence 53 

Homeless 53 

Low income 778 (this incl in work and out of work) 

No recourse to public funds 10 

Other 154 

Refused STBA* 9 

Sickness 55 
 

*STBA = Short term benefit advance 

 

3.21 The main reasons people give for needing to access the foodbank in Bath 
is low income, benefit delays, debt or benefit changes. Keynsham foodbank reports 
that the majority of people accessing their food bank are in work with low income. 

 

 
6 Bath Foodbank estimate that within the last 6 months of 2019, 70% of those supported are clients using the 
service up to 3 times. 
7 https://www.trusselltrust.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2017/07/OU_Report_final_01_08_online2.pdf 
 

Page 51

https://www.trusselltrust.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2017/07/OU_Report_final_01_08_online2.pdf


Printed on recycled paper 

4 Developing a food poverty action plan 

4.1 The Trussell Trust identified the chronic nature of food insecurity amongst food 
bank users and recommended the need to look further upstream to address the 
underlying drivers of insecure and insufficient income.  

4.2 Sustain, the alliance for better food and farming, have produced guidance on 
developing food poverty action plans and identified key actions that local authorities 
can take to help address food poverty. These include prevention activities to 
address the wider structural issues including financial and non-financial barriers to 
healthy food and effective provision of emergency support where crises cannot be 
prevented. Some plans also cover the issues of food quality and nutrition. 

4.3 In terms of prevention the types of actions local authorities can take include; 

• Supporting financial and debt advice services and ensuring they are 
accessible to people experiencing food poverty 

• Maximising access to local welfare provision and discretionary funds 

• Ensuring maximum uptake of entitlements e.g. free school meals, healthy 
start vouchers, free childcare 

• Recognising and addressing the inter-relation with fuel poverty and access to 
cooking facilities 

• Raising awareness across a wide range of frontline staff of food poverty risk 
indicators and options to mitigate it 

• Ensuring people can earn a fair income and championing the living wage 
across contractors and local employers including social care, retail and 
hospitality 

• Facilitating access to more affordable, healthier foods via community hubs, 
markets, shops, home delivered and shared meals and addressing transport 
challenges 

4.4 In terms of emergency food aid or more immediate provision local authority 
actions could include; 

• Fostering greater co-operation and co-ordination, sharing of knowledge, skills 
and resources across assistance providers 

• Seeking to improve the nutritional value of emergency food aid 

• Maximising opportunities to deliver other beneficial services to users e.g. 
financial advice, employment skills training or peer support 

4.5   In terms of taking a wider longer-term approach actions that local authorities 
can take include; 

• Mainstreaming the reduction of food inequalities across a range of strategies 
and plans 

• Measuring and monitoring food poverty at a local level 
Page 52



Printed on recycled paper 

• Using the planning and business rate relief system to shape local areas e.g 
encouraging local markets, community growing and affordable fruit and veg 
outlets as well as discouraging the spread of unhealthy food outlets near 
schools for example. 

• Action to reduce levels of failed tenancies 

4.6 Aim of the Food Poverty Action Plan 

The overall aim of this activity is to work with local stakeholders and communities to 
identify and embed sustainable solutions to addressing food poverty in B&NES, 
thereby reducing the numbers of people living in food insecure households. 

4.7 Specific objectives of the work include; 

• To set up a local steering group to scope out, direct and monitor activity 

• To carry out a needs assessment to better understand the scale of the issue 
locally, who is affected and where there may be gaps in services and/or 
support  

• To work collaboratively with local stakeholders and communities to identify 
local sustainable solutions to address household food insecurity 

• To develop a food poverty action plan for B&NES with a focus on preventative 
activity 

• To oversee implementation of the action plan through local partnerships 

Indicative timeline: 

Nov – March 2020 

Recruitment of a fixed term Health Improvement Officer- Food Poverty post 
(completed) 

Steering group set up and first scoping workshop held (Feb/Mar 2020) 

Needs assessment  - data gathering, identifying gaps and report writing 
(ongoing) 

April 2020 – June 2020 

Completion of needs assessment report 

Community engagement on needs and priorities for action 

Development of action plan 

June 2020 – August 2021 

Implementation phase of food poverty action plan 

Investigate development of food policy for B&NES and refresh of B&NES food 
strategy 

Page 53



Printed on recycled paper 

 

4.8 Stakeholder involvement 

Proposed steering group membership will include representation from the 
following key stakeholders; 

• 3SG 

• Sustainable Food Partnership 

• St John’s Foundation 

• Curo 

• Foodbank representation 

• Bath Christian Action Network 

• Age UK 

• Department of work and pensions (DWP) 

• Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) 

• B&NES Council departments including the connecting families team, 
children’s centre services, welfare support, housing, public health and 
preventative services, economic development and the corporate 
sustainability team. 

5 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 By developing a food poverty action plan B&NES Council, in partnership with a 
wide range of local stakeholders and partners, will strengthen collective action to 
support residents experiencing food poverty and through a focus on preventative 
action contribute towards addressing health inequalities longer term. 

6 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

6.1 Public Health grant funding (reserves) is being used to employ a 0.6FTE Health 
Improvement Officer-Food Poverty fixed term for 18 months. The total cost of the 
post including salary, pension and national insurance will be £60,948. 

6.2 The post will be based in and line managed by the Public Health team and 
operational budget, if required, will form part of existing resource 
considerations/parameters. 

7 RISK MANAGEMENT 

7.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management 
guidance. 

 

Page 54



Printed on recycled paper 

8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

8.1 This work has the potential to contribute to achievement of carbon neutrality as 
part of a wider food strategy for B&NES which aims to reduce food waste and 
increase access to fresh, seasonal local produce. 

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

9.1 An alternative option considered was that public health continues to contribute, 
with others across the council, to the food poverty agenda through its existing work-
streams including the recently launched Whole Systems approach to obesity, the 
B&NES Early Help strategy and B&NES Healthy Weight strategy action plans.  

9.2 Whilst this option does have merit it will be limited in its impact and not respond 
effectively to the council motion due to a lack of any additional capacity to drive the 
agenda forward. It lacks a strategic and co-ordinated approach to stakeholder 
engagement, capacity building and development of sustainable long-term solutions.  

10 CONSULTATION 

10.1 Consultation has taken place with the Council’s Corporate and Community 
Sustainability lead and the newly formed Sustainable Food Partnership. The 
following key stakeholders have also been engaged to date and stated their support 
for and interest in being involved in the work; Foodbanks in Bath, Keynsham and 
Somer Valley, St Johns Foundation, CAB, Curo, DWP, 3SG, Fare Share South 
West and Bath Christian Action Network/Genesis Trust. These discussions have 
helped to inform the portfolio of the health improvement officer post and steering 
group membership proposals. 

10.2 The Councils S151 Officer and monitoring officer has cleared this report. 

Contact person  Cathy McMahon  cathy_mcmahon@bathnes.gov.uk 01225 
394064 

Background 
papers 

None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 55

mailto:cathy_mcmahon@bathnes.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Printed on recycled paper 

 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Children, Health and Wellbeing Policy Development Panel 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

28th January 2020 

 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE: 

 
 

E 9999 

TITLE: 
Adult Social Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework 
 

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

Please list all the appendices here, clearly indicating any which are exempt and the 
reasons for exemption 

1. Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework. 
2. Direct Payment Policy 
3. Results report and appendices 
4. Risk assessment   
 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 The Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and the 
Direct Payment Policy came before the Panel on the 1st October 2019 prior to 
the conclusion of the public consultation. The public consultation has now 
concluded, and the policies have been amended with consideration of the 
feedback received.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

Panel is asked to; 

2.1 Endorse the proposed Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework amended after consideration of the feedback from the public 
consultation. 

2.2 Endorse the updated Direct Payment Policy amended after consideration of the 
feedback from the public consultation. 

3 THE REPORT  

Page 57

Agenda Item 11



Printed on recycled paper 

3.1 Please see the Results Report and appendices at annex 3 to this report. 

3.2 The Draft Adult Social Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework and Direct Payment Policy has now been through the consultation 
which ran from the 24.09.2019 – 03.12.2019. 

The Project Team (Lesley Hutchinson, Annemarie Strong and Sara Dixon) with 
support from Councillor Appleyard, the Senior Leadership Team, commissioning 
colleagues and Communications and Marketing attended 21 face to face 
consultation events with the public between the 25th September and the 27th 
November 2019 and meet with 196 people.  

The consultation ensured the following key messages were at the forefront: 

• Ensure people are charged fairly and receive all the financial benefits they are 
entitled to for the care and support they need; 

• Apply the charging rules consistently to ensure those people with similar needs or 
services are treated the same; 

• Be clear and transparent to ensure people know what they will be charged; 

• Promote wellbeing, social inclusion and support the vision of personalisation, 
independence, choice and control; 

• Support carers to look after their own health and wellbeing and to care effectively 
and safely; 

• Be person focused to reflecting the variety of care and options available to meet 
individual’s need;  

• Be sustainable for the Council in the long term.  
 
We received 90 responses to the consultation on line and in paper form of which 57 
were standard questionnaires and 33 were Easy Read questionnaires. We also 
received two letters making comment on the Draft Adult Social Care and Support 
Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and Draft Direct Payment Policy.  

 

3.3 There were 10 proposals consulted on and it is requested that the following be 
approved and form the final Care and Support Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework: 

Proposal 1: accepted (the council proposes to introduce a care and support 
charging and financial assessment framework that aims to provide a fairer 
system and make it easier to understand for those people who need care.)   

Reason: in principle most people supported the proposal, however there were 
elements within the care and support charging and financial assessment 
framework that raised concern. 

Proposal 2: not accepted – amended (when the council’s client finance team 
become aware of a new service user, a care finance officer will make several 
attempts by different means to contact them or their representative. the council 
will require a service user or their representative to respond within two weeks of 
the initial contact being made to arrange a financial assessment.  if there is no 
response, the council will deem the person to be self-funding.  this would be 
considered on a case by case basis.) 

 

Page 58



Printed on recycled paper 

Reason: following the level of concern expressed regarding the two-week time 
period for the service user or their nominated representative to make contact 
with the care finance officer the proposal is to extend this timeframe to four 
weeks. 

Proposal 3: accepted (many service users will be entitled to claim for benefits.  
these benefits are included in the financial assessments. the council will take into 
account any benefit that it believes a service user would have an automatic 
entitlement to, if an application were made.  this relates to pension guaranteed 
credit and employment and support allowance.) 

Reason: the council notes individuals concerns regarding support and 
signposting and will review the information already available to support people 
and develop a guidance document explaining what the person or their 
representative needs to do to make an application for the designated benefit. 

Proposal 4: accepted (in some cases, a third party (family or friend) will pay 
extra costs towards a more expensive service such as a larger room in a care 
home.  the council will require any third party to enter into a formal agreement 
confirming they will make the required payments. the council will also carry out a 
basic financial assessment on the proposed third party to ensure the required 
payment is affordable.) 

Reason: Respondents did express a level of concern, however this was mainly in 
regard to the principle of third-party payments and the use of the same rather 
than the agreement and/or financial assessment. The use of third-party 
payments is a matter of statute. There were a small number of people who felt it 
was an infringement of their rights however the decision to agree to a third-party 
payment is optional and therefore any person who did not wish to provide 
financial information would not have to do so. 

Proposal 5: accepted. (in some cases, a service user is unable to pay for their 
care as their funds are tied up in a property.  arrangement can be made for 
service users to enter into an agreement that allows for payment at a later date.  
this is known as a ‘deferred payment agreement’.  when an agreement is entered 
into and a yearly fee is charged.  the fee covers the administration costs incurred 
in preparing annual statements, reviewing the equity / level of debt and the value 
of the property.  the council proposes an initial set up fee of £105 and an annual 
fee of £30.00.  these costs will be collected when the deferred payment 
agreement ends.) 

Reason:  Statistically, the number of respondents in favour were only marginally 
more than those respondents that answered ‘no’, however it should be noted that 
the fee is not payable at the outset but added to the debt and is payable when 
the deferred payment agreement is ended.  

It was also noted that there was a general dissatisfaction with the current law in 
respect of property ownership and care costs, however this is a matter for central 
government. 

Further the project team sought confirmation, via the national association of 
financial assessment officer’s forum and from other local authorities in respect of 
the setup fee they charged. 

Page 59



Printed on recycled paper 

This ranged between £64.00 and £397.00, however, some Local Authorities did 
not charge a single fee opting to charge an hourly rate or a mixture of both making 
comparison difficult, the £105.00 was an average of our nearest neighbouring 
Local Authorities. Therefore, it is proposed that the sum of £105 is reasonable.  
 
The fees for a deferred payment agreement will increase annually in April in 
accordance with the Consumer Prices Index including owner occupiers’ housing 
costs (CPIH), to allow for the increase in property prices. 
 

Proposal 6: accepted. (in some cases, a service user’s representatives may be 
in the process of applying for deputyship when the service user needs care.  
also, there may be times when the service user’s property is currently not 
registered with the land registry. a new interim funding policy will be applied that 
allows the council to fund care for a period of time whilst deputyship is obtained 
and / or the property is registered. this will be subject to a four-month review 
(other situations will be considered).  a signed contract will be required 
confirming the amount to be repaid to the council. the service user or their 
representative will be required to keep the council updated.) 

Reason: the proposal is accepted, however more detail will be provided in a 
specific leaflet to those who may require assistance via interim funding to ensure 
the agreement and principle is clear. 

Proposal 7: accepted (to ensure there is a fair approach to disability related 
expenditure, the council is introducing new amounts.  the council will only pay for 
expenditure that is related to a disability.  for example:  additional laundry, 
replacement bedding, private domestic help and additional heating costs.) 

Reason: some concerns were raised in respect of people’s individual needs 
being taken into account, for example dietary requirements, the intention has 
always been to work with people on an individual basis to ensure genuine 
disability related expenditure is taken into consideration.  

Proposal 8: accepted (the council will allow transport and education costs.  
these must be set out the service user’s care and support plan and will only be 
allowed if the individual is not in receipt of disability living allowance or any 
disability living allowance component of personal independence payment (PIP). 

Reason: the responses showed clear support for the proposal. 

Proposal 9: accepted. (people receiving care and support at home are currently 
allowed £189.00 per week to cover the cost of living.  the council proposes to 
only allow the cost of the standing charge for gas, electricity, water and 
sewerage within the financial assessment.) 

Reason: whilst there was clear concern that people may be adversely affected 
due to items such as additional heating costs caused by a disability need for 
greater heat this would fall under proposal 8 and be a disability related need and 
would be considered in any care act assessment and assessed accordingly.   

In addition, any person aged over 60 would be in receipt of the winter fuel 
allowance and those in receipt of certain benefits may be eligible for the cold 
weather payment.  

Page 60



Printed on recycled paper 

Proposal 10: accepted (in some cases, the council will arrange care for people 
who are able to pay for their own care.  a new one-off charge will be applied to 
any new self-funder where the council has been asked to arrange the care and 
support.  this is to cover the administrative costs incurred by the council.  it is 
proposed this is a one-off fee of £250.00 plus vat.) 

Reason: The Project Team sought confirmation, via the national association of 
financial assessment officer’s forum, from other local authorities in respect of 
administration charges for those who are deemed as self-funding but request the 
council to arrange care. the other local authorities confirmed a charge between 
£125 plus vat and £500 many also charged an annual fee in addition to the initial 
charge.  

The Project Team acknowledges that the consultation feedback showed a 
response that the proposed sum of £250 plus vat was to high but given the 
evidence from other local authorities and that fact that the use of the service is at 
the persons discretion the council felt that the proposal was reasonable. 

This cost will not cover the full cost to the council but will allow the council to 
recoup some of the costs of the officer time, social worker time, checking the 
appropriateness of the options of care available, negotiating on the persons 
behalf and setting up the package of care. 

The council will provide all those who are self-funders and express they wish the 
council to carry out this work on their behalf with a leaflet explaining the options 
in respect of arranging care. 

It should be noted that private agencies who provide this service charge a higher 
rate, the rates charged by private agencies range between £255 plus vat and 
£695 plus vat. 

The amended direct payment policy also formed part of the consultation and the 
following is proposed. 

Direct Payment Policy: agreed 

Whilst some concerns at language and accessibility were raised, the easy read 
version will remain available on-line and in hard copy by request. if any individual 
has a concern about the implications of the direct payment policy, they can 
speak with their social worker or care co-ordinator.  

Further following feedback in respect of pre-paid cards, to clarify, pre-payment 
cards will be optional if used in the future.  

The policy be updated to include SEN and SCHP, the commissioner will liaise 
with the relevant teams to ensure the wording is correct and the information 
accurate.  

3.4 The final Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and 
Direct Payment Policy will be available on-line permanently and for four weeks 
after approval at the One Stop Shops and libraries. Hard copies can be sent by 
post on request.  

The final Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and 
Direct Payment Policy will also be made available in easy read on-line and for 

Page 61



Printed on recycled paper 

four weeks after approval at the One Stop Shops and libraries. Hard copies can 
be sent by post on request. 

The FAQ’s together with the Results Report and appendices will also be made 
available on-line and for four weeks after approval at the One Stop Shops and 
libraries. Hard copies can be sent by post on request. 

The current cohort of approximately 2,100 service users will be sent letters 
informing them of where they can view the final Adult Social Care and Support 
Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and how the decisions made 
will impact on their weekly care charge.     

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 The Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and 
Direct Payment Policy ensures compliance with the Care Act 2014 and related 
statutory guidance. The proposed decisions, after consideration of the feedback 
from the public consultation, on the discretionary elements fall within the 
discretion afforded to the Council. 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 It is forecast that for 2020-21 the introduction of the framework as recommended 
will reduce by £500K the net cost to the Council of funding care and support 
through ensuring that where eligible, service users claim benefits from the 

correct source (ie Pension Guarantee Credit will be claimed via the welfare 
benefit system), at no cost to the service user. This has been made explicit 
throughout the consultation. 

5.2 Some of the final project costs cannot be itemised due to the fact they cannot be 
appraised until the final Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework and Direct Payment Policy are approved but will include. 

a. document costs – easy read versions of the final documents; 

b. short term client finance staffing;  

c. training – client finance, social work teams etc (no cost); 

d.  controcc  (client finance data system) training is already provided in the 
existing contract with the provider; 

e. Postage costs to inform individuals of any change to their assessed weekly 
care charge. 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issues and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision-making risk management 
guidance.   

6.2 This Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework will 
provide clear guidance and procedure in relation to financial assessments. This 
will mitigate any risk to the Council and will be transparent for service users and 
carers. 

Page 62



Printed on recycled paper 

6.3 The Direct Payment Policy will provide clear guidance to those in receipt of 
Direct Payment of their obligations and duties both to those they employ and in 
relation to compliance with their statutory duties and functions. It will further 
ensure transparency in respect of the Councils functions thus mitigate any risk to 
the Council.  

7 CLIMATE CHANGE 

7.1 Fewer letters will be required to be sent after introduction of the Care and 
Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and Direct Payment 
Policy as there should be a reduced number of complaints in the long term 
resulting in lower numbers of letters required and reduced postage. The Client 
finance teams use the pool cars reducing the impact on the environment as 
these vehicles are environmentally friendly. 

7.2 If the final Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 
and Direct Payment Policy are approved by Full Council. Consideration has 
been given to limiting the number of paper copies the final documents by making 
the same available on-line and in the one-stop shops and library for a period of 4 
weeks after approval by Full Council. However it must be recognised that the 
service users affected by these changes may not be able to access information 
via the website or be able to access the one-stop shops or library. 

8 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

8.1 None  

9 CONSULTATION 

9.1 Please see appendix 3 to this report which includes an equalities impact 
assessment. The Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework and Direct Payment Policy were extensively and widely consulted 
on, ensuring as many people as possible were given the opportunity to 
participate and comment.  

9.2 Subject to approval by Full Council Social Workers and Teams will receive 
briefings on the final versions of the Care and Support Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework and Direct Payment Policy to ensure they can provide 
support to Service Users, Families and Carers.  

9.3 Subject to approval by Full Council all current Service Users will receive a letter 
notifying them of how to access the final Care and Support Charging and 
Financial Assessment Framework and Direct Payment Policy and any change 
(or not) to their assessed weekly care charge and information on how to contact 
the Care Finance Team to challenge this.    

9.4 Subject to approval by Full Council the project team will provide further events 
with third parties to appraise them of the final decisions taken by the Council. 

 

Contact person  Annemarie Strong   01225 395005 

Background  

Page 63



Printed on recycled paper 

papers 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 64



1 
 

Page 1 of 126 

Bath and North East Somerset Council 
 

Care and Support 
Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework 

Effective 
date 

 
 
 

06.04.2020 

Approved by Full Council 
Date 
approved 

25.02.2020 

Service Adult Social 
Care 

Last Updated 
 

Review Date 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 65



2 
 

Page 2 of 126 

Contents 

1. Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

2. Legal Context ................................................................................................................................ 6 

The Care Act 2014 – Charging and Financial Assessment ....................................................... 6 

3. Principles Of This Framework .................................................................................................... 8 

The Development and Review of this Charging and Financial Assessment Framework ..... 8 

National Principles of Charging and Financial Assessment ...................................................... 8 

4. Care and Support Services Provided Free Of Charge ........................................................... 9 

Failure To Allow A Care And Needs Assessment ....................................................................... 9 

5. Chargeable Care And Support Services .................................................................................. 9 

Young persons ................................................................................................................................ 10 

Residential Care ............................................................................................................................. 12 

Short term / Respite stay(s) in care home accommodation..................................................... 12 

Temporary stays(s) in Care home accommodation .................................................................. 13 

Non-Residential Care and Support ............................................................................................. 13 

6. Care And Support Financial Assessment Policy ................................................................... 14 

Information that applies to all financial assessments for all care and support settings. ...... 14 

Capital Limits................................................................................................................................... 15 

What is Capital ................................................................................................................................ 15 

Notional capital ............................................................................................................................... 16 

Light Touch Financial Assessment .............................................................................................. 18 

Start date of Charges ..................................................................................................................... 18 

Welfare Benefit Entitlements ........................................................................................................ 18 

Deprivation of Assets ..................................................................................................................... 19 

What must the local authority consider ....................................................................................... 20 

What is capital/ Asset .................................................................................................................... 20 

Common approaches to deprivation ........................................................................................... 21 

Payments / gifts .............................................................................................................................. 21 

Assets .............................................................................................................................................. 22 

Delays to the Financial Assessment Process ............................................................................ 22 

Financial Assessment Reviews.................................................................................................... 23 

Change in Circumstance ............................................................................................................... 23 

Use of Financial Information ......................................................................................................... 24 

Appeals ............................................................................................................................................ 24 

Debt Recovery ................................................................................................................................ 25 

Financial Assessment and Charging for Care Home Accommodation .................................. 25 

If you own a property ..................................................................................................................... 27 

Discretionary Disregard of Property ............................................................................................ 29 

Page 66



3 
 

Page 3 of 126 

Financial Assessment and Charging for Non-Residential Care and Support. ...................... 30 

Calculation of Income .................................................................................................................... 31 

Housing Expenses ......................................................................................................................... 34 

Minimum Income Guarantee (MIG) for Basic Living Costs ..................................................... 34 

Disability-Related Expenditure (DRE) ......................................................................................... 35 

Assessed Weekly Charge ............................................................................................................. 36 

Annual Review ................................................................................................................................ 36 

How to pay your charges for Care and Support ........................................................................ 37 

7. Section 117 And Social Care Packages Of Care .................................................................. 37 

8. Mental Capacity To Manage Finances ................................................................................... 37 

9. Residence When Moving To Accommodation Outside Bath And North East Somerset 
Council ................................................................................................................................................. 39 

10. Deferred Payment Agreements............................................................................................ 40 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 40 

Background ..................................................................................................................................... 41 

Eligibility Criteria ............................................................................................................................. 41 

Specific Property Issues ................................................................................................................ 41 

Financial Information and Advice and Legal Advice relating to a Deferred Payment 
Agreement (DPA) ........................................................................................................................... 42 

Legal Charge................................................................................................................................... 43 

Solicitor’s Undertaking ................................................................................................................... 43 

Assessed Charge And Flexible Disposable Income Allowance .............................................. 44 

Renting Out Your Property ........................................................................................................... 44 

The Deferred Payment Agreement Application Process ......................................................... 45 

DPAs for People Lacking Mental Capacity ................................................................................ 49 

Interest & Administration Charges ............................................................................................... 51 

Six-monthly Statements of Deferred Payment Agreements .................................................... 52 

Settlement of the Deferred Debt .................................................................................................. 52 

Default Provisions .......................................................................................................................... 53 

Appealing the Councils decision about a Deferred Payment Agreement ............................. 54 

11. Interim Funding Policy ........................................................................................................... 54 

Eligibility Criteria ............................................................................................................................. 55 

The Application Process ............................................................................................................... 56 

Conditions Placed on Interim Funding ........................................................................................ 59 

Interest and Administration Charges ........................................................................................... 59 

Review of funding ........................................................................................................................... 59 

Six-monthly Statements ................................................................................................................ 60 

Making an Application for a Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA) ........................................ 60 

Page 67



4 
 

Page 4 of 126 

Default Provisions .......................................................................................................................... 60 

Appeals ............................................................................................................................................ 61 

Debt Recovery ................................................................................................................................ 62 

12. Choice of accommodation and top up payments .............................................................. 62 

The Cost of Accommodation ........................................................................................................ 62 

Choosing more expensive accommodation ............................................................................... 63 

Paying for more expensive accommodation .............................................................................. 63 

Third-Party Top-Ups ...................................................................................................................... 63 

Where the Third Party is an organisation ................................................................................... 64 

Where the Third Party is one or more individuals ..................................................................... 64 

Appeals ............................................................................................................................................ 65 

Review ............................................................................................................................................. 66 

First-Party Top-Ups (sometimes known as Resident Top-Ups) ............................................. 66 

Paying for accommodation ........................................................................................................... 66 

People who pay the full cost of their care and support ............................................................ 67 

Existing residents ........................................................................................................................... 68 

13. Funding Agreement ............................................................................................................... 68 

14. Direct Payments ..................................................................................................................... 69 

15. Equality Impact Assessment ................................................................................................ 69 

16. Reviewing the Charging and Financial Assessment Framework ................................... 70 

17. Annex A ................................................................................................................................... 71 

Working Out your Charge ............................................................................................................. 71 

Financial Assessment Allowances 2018-2019 .......................................................................... 73 

Disability Related Expenditure Guide.......................................................................................... 74 

Sample Interim Funding Agreement............................................................................................ 78 

Sample Third Party Top Up Agreement...................................................................................... 83 

Sample Third Party Top Up Reminder Letter ............................................................................ 89 

18. Annex B ................................................................................................................................... 90 

Capital Limits................................................................................................................................... 90 

19. Annex C ................................................................................................................................... 91 

Charges for interim funding and Interest Rates: ........................................................................ 91 

Sample Financial Assessment Form ........................................................................................... 92 

Sample Third Party Top-Up Financial Assessment ................................................................ 105 

20. Annex D ................................................................................................................................. 107 

Sample Deferred Payment Agreement ..................................................................................... 107 

Security .......................................................................................................................................... 122 

Identity form – ID1 ........................................................................................................................ 122 

Annual interest rates for DPA’s .................................................................................................. 123 

Page 68



5 
 

Page 5 of 126 

Sample Solicitors Undertaking ................................................................................................... 124 

21. Annex E ................................................................................................................................. 125 

Privacy Notice ............................................................................................................................... 125 

22. Glossary of terms: ................................................................................................................ 126 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



6 
 

Page 6 of 126 

1. Summary 

 

The document is designed to be used by you, the service user, or your 
representative. The Council has, were possible, used plain English.  Care and 
Support is not a free service and many services are subject to charge. Local 
authorities are required to carry out a financial assessment to calculate what an 
individual can afford to pay towards their care, although The Council does retain a 
general discretion in respect of charging.  

Payments towards the cost of care are paid to the care provider if you are assessed 
as self-funding and paid to the Council if you are assessed as making an assessed 
care charge towards the cost of your care (unless you receive a Direct Payment 
when you will pay the care provider directly.) 

This Framework sets out the Councils policies for charging for care and support and 
follows the Care Act 2014, Care and Support Statutory Guidance issued by the 
Government under the care Act 2014, Care and Support (Charging and Assessment 
of Resources) Regulations 2014, Care and Support (Deferred Payments) 
Regulations 2014, Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014, Care and 
Support and Aftercare (Choice of Accommodation) Regulations 2014 and  the Care 
and Support (Preventing Needs for Care and Support) Regulations 2014. 

2. Legal Context 

The Care Act 2014 – Charging and Financial Assessment  
 

Section 14 of the Care Act 2014 gives the Council the power to charge adults for 
care and support. This applies where adults are being provided with care and 
support to meet needs identified under Section 18, Section 19 or Section 20 of the 
Care Act 2014. These needs can be referred to as ‘identified needs’ or ‘eligible 
needs’.   

When developing and applying policies the Council must take note of the following 
documents; 

• Care and Support Statutory Guidance; issued by the Department of Health 
giving detailed guidance to Councils on all aspects of the care Act 2014, 
including Charging and Financial assessment (Chapter 8), Deferred payments 
(Chapter 9) and associated annexes to the guidance, for example: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-
and-support-statutory-guidance 
➢ Annex A: Choice of Accommodation and Additional Payments 
➢ Annex B: Capital Limits, Financial Assessment and Treatment of Capital 

and Income 
➢ Annex C: Deprivation of Assets 
➢ Annex D: Deferred Payment Agreements  
➢ Annex E: Recovery of Debts 
➢ Annex F: Temporary and Short term residents in Care Homes  

 

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


7 
 

Page 7 of 126 

• The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 
2014; which sets out: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2672/contents/made 
➢ The power to charge for certain types of care and support (Part 2); 
➢ The duty under Section 17 of the Care Act to carry out a financial 

assessment (Part 3); 
➢ Rules on the treatment and calculation of income and capital (including 

notional income and capital and deprivation) (Part 4 and 5); 
➢ Rules on sums to be disregarded (Schedule 1 and 2). 

 

• The Care and Support (Deferred Payments) Regulations 2014; which sets 
out: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2671/contents/made 
➢ The rules on when the Council must enter into a deferred payment 

agreement (regulation 2); 
➢ The rules on when the Council may enter into a deferred payment 

agreement (Regulation 3); 
➢ The rules on the security required and equity limit (Regulations 4 and 5); 
➢ The power to charge interest and administration costs (Regulation 9 and 

10). 
 

• The Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014; which sets out: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2871/contents/made 
➢ Conditions for making a Direct Payment (Regulation 3 and 4); 
➢ Steps the Council must take before making a Direct payment under 

Section 32 of the Care Act (Regulation 5); 
➢ Direct payment and Care Home accommodation (Regulation 5); 
➢ The Councils obligation to review Direct Payments (Regulation 7); 
➢ The Rules on Capacity (Regulation 8 and 9). 
 

• The Care and Support and Aftercare (Choice of Accommodation) Regulations 
2014; which sets out: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2670/pdfs/uksi_20142670_en.pdf 
➢ The Councils obligation on respect of the choice of accommodation 

(Regulation 2); 
➢ The preferred accommodation conditions (regulation  3); 
➢ The payment of additional costs for the preferred accommodation 

(Regulation 5). 
 

• The Care and Support (Preventing Needs for Care and Support) Regulations 
2014; which sets out: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2673/pdfs/uksi_20142673_en.pdf 
➢ The Councils obligations in respect of prevention of care and support  
➢ Community equipment (Regulation 2) 
➢ Providing care and support for reablement and intermediate services 

(Regulation 4) 

Future Changes to care Funding (2020) 

The Care Act (Section 15 and 16) proposes a cap on care costs which limits how 
much a person would be required to pay towards their support needs over their 

Page 71

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2672/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2671/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2871/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2670/pdfs/uksi_20142670_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2673/pdfs/uksi_20142673_en.pdf


8 
 

Page 8 of 126 

lifetime and increases the level of capital a person can have and still receive financial 
assistance with care and support costs. 

In July 2015 the government announced the implementation of Funding Reforms 
would be delayed until 2020.  However the Government have since announced 
proposals1 for long-term social care reforms to be published for public consultation 
and will not take forward the proposed cap on care costs set out in the Care Act. 

The Government continues to review social care funding, the latest report was 
published on the 19th June 2018.2  

3. Principles Of This Framework  

 

The Development and Review of this Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework  
 

When the government introduced the Care Act 2014 the Council as part of 
implementing this new legislation developed a Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework. 

The Framework will be reviewed regularly as set out later in this document – 
Reviewing this Charging and Financial Assessment Framework.    

National Principles of Charging and Financial Assessment  
 

This Charging and Financial Assessment Framework has been developed to meet 
national principles to; 

• Ensure that people are not charged more than is statutorily permissible for 
them to pay for care and support; 

• Be comprehensive – to reduce variation in the way people are assessed and 
charged; 

• Be clear and transparent – so people know what they will be charged; 

• Promote wellbeing, social inclusion and support the vision of personalisation, 
independence, choice and control; 

• Support carers to look after their own health and wellbeing and to care 
effectively and safely; 

• Be person focused – reflecting the variety of care and options available to 
meet needs; 

• Apply the charging rules consistently – so those people with similar needs or 
services are treated the same and anomalies ae minimised; 

• Be sustainable for the Council in the long term.  

                                                           
1 In November 2017 the Government announced proposals to reform social care and support. In December 
2017 the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Heath announced that the Government would not be 
taking forward the cap on care costs set out by the previous Government. This announcement can be viewed 
at https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2017-12-07/debates/F7AD5D1D-C8D6-411D-BF42-
B432955B2A8E/SocialCare 
2 https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/768/768.pdf 
 

Page 72

https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2017-12-07/debates/F7AD5D1D-C8D6-411D-BF42-B432955B2A8E/SocialCare
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2017-12-07/debates/F7AD5D1D-C8D6-411D-BF42-B432955B2A8E/SocialCare
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/768/768.pdf


9 
 

Page 9 of 126 

4. Care and Support Services Provided Free Of Charge 

 

Assessments of needs and care are always provided free of charge, and Councils 
are not permitted to charge for any service or part service which the National Health 
Service (NHS) is under a duty to provide – this includes Continuing Healthcare and 
Funded Nursing Care. 

All Councils must provide the following care and support services free of charge: 

• Care from the integrated reablement and Intermediate service – a short period 
of intensive therapies and support from health and social care professionals to 
assist and promote regaining independence. Intermediate care services may 
continue for up to 6 weeks without charge3. 

• Through the Councils partnership with VirginCare all community equipment 
and minor adaptions services where the minor adaption costs up to £1,000 to 
help with independent living4 

• Care and Support provided to people with Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease5 

• After-care services / support provided under Section 117 of the Mental Health 
Act 1983 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/part/VIII/crossheading/aftercare 

The Council has also chosen to provide the following service free of charge: 

• Payment to a carer of an adult in receipt of care, this payment will be based 
on a care and support assessment 
 

Failure To Allow A Care And Needs Assessment 
 

The assessment and eligibility process is one of the most important elements of the 
care and support system. The assessment is one of the key interactions between 
you the Council6.  

The assessment is collaborative and the Council will aim to make the process 
transparent and understandable7.  You may refuse a care and needs assessment 
but if you chose to do so, or do not engage in the assessment8 the Council will not 
provide funding and you will need to arrange your own care and support.   

5. Chargeable Care And Support Services 

 

Charges for the following services are based on an assessment of your financial 
circumstances – for details see below and the Council Guides available on-line. 

                                                           
3 Clause 4 of the Care and Support (Preventing Needs for Care and Support) Regulations 2014 
4 Clause 2 of the Care and Support (Preventing Needs for Care and Support) Regulations 2014. 
5 Clause 8.41 of the Care and Support (Statutory Guidance)  
6 Clause 6.1 – 6.8 of the Care and Support (Statutory Guidance)  
7 Clause 6.35-6.43 of the Care and Support (Statutory Guidance)  
 
8 Clause 6.20 and 6.21 of the Care and Support (Statutory Guidance)  

Page 73

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/part/VIII/crossheading/aftercare


10 
 

Page 10 of 126 

The Council will carry out a financial assessment. If the Council is aware (when your 
need for care and support arises) that you have capital above the Upper Capital 
Limit9, the Council will not carry out a financial assessment and will assess you as 
able to pay the full charge for your care home accommodation or provision of care 
service. 

If your capital is mostly due to ownership of a property there are rules around 
whether this counts within the financial assessment see part 10. 

If your capital is below the Upper Capital Limit10 or the Council cannot identify the 
level of capital you hold, the Council will carry out a financial assessment to work out 
your assessed weekly charge you will need to pay towards your care home 
accommodation or provision of care services. 

Currently, your weekly assessed care charge is paid every week at the same amount 
as per your financial assessment. It is possible, in the future, that the Council may 
alter the charging framework to allow a more flexible approach to the provision of 
care and meet outcomes. This will mean that you will have a financial assessment to 
calculate your weekly care charge but this charge will be invoiced over a 4 week 
period. 

If the Council alters the invoicing period to 4 weekly you will never be charged more 
than your assessed weekly care charge but you might be charged less. 

For example if your assessed weekly care charge is £100 per week over 4 weeks 
this is £400, if you total cost of care over the 4 weeks is £800 you will pay £400, if 
your total cost of care over 4 weeks is £350 you will pay £350. 

Young persons  
 

Prior to a young person reaching 18 they are entitled to a Transitions Assessment by 
a social worker, Where a Transition Assessment identifies needs that are likely to be 
eligible, local authorities should consider providing an indicative Personal Budget so 
that young people have an idea of how much their care and support will cost when 
they enter the adult system.  
 
During this assessment their family or carer(s), as part of the preparation for the 
young person to transition to adulthood, will be given the opportunity to start to 
explore and discuss some of the changes to the provision of the care and support 
the young person may encounter as they transition to adulthood.  

When a young person reaches 18 they will be assessed by a social worker under 
Section 18, Section 19 or Section 20 of the Care Act 2014 and there eligible needs 
will be identified.  

Section 14 of the Care Act 2014 gives the Council the power to charge adults for 
care and support.  

                                                           
9 See Annex B – Capital Limits Schedule  
10 See Annex B – Capital Limits  

Page 74



11 
 

Page 11 of 126 

So that the transition from child services to adult services, in respect of charging, is 
as straightforward as possible the social worker will establish prior to the young 
person’s 18th birthday if they have capacity. 

If the young person has capacity a referral will be made to the Client Finance team 
and a Care Finance Officer will arrange to meet with the young person and their 
parent or carer, the Care finance Officer will bring to this meeting a Calculation of 
Financial Charge form for completion and will also assist with signposting the young 
person and parent or carer to possible benefit entitlement. If a meeting is not 
possible the Care Finance Officer will post the Calculation of Financial Charge form. 

The Care Finance Officer will use the Calculation of Financial Charge form to 
calculate the assessed weekly charge. This form can be signed by the parent or 
carer but will be left with the young person for signature and return on or after their 
18th birthday (this can be returned by post or electronically). Upon receipt of the 
signed Calculation of Care Charge form the Care Finance Officer will confirm the 
assessed weekly charge amount to the young person by letter.  

If the young person has capacity but wishes to appoint a parent or carer to act on 
their behalf they can indicate this on the Calculation of Financial Charge form.  

If the young person lacks capacity a referral will be made to the Client Finance team 
and a Care Finance Officer will arrange to meet with the young person’s family or 
carer. The Care Finance Officer will bring to this meeting a Calculation of Financial 
Charge form for completion and will also assist with signposting the family or carer to 
possible benefit entitlement. If a meeting is not possible the Care Finance Officer will 
post the Calculation of Financial Charge form. 

The Care Finance Officer will use the Calculation of Financial Charge form to 
calculate the assessed weekly charge, this form can be signed by the parent or carer 
subject to the parent or carer having a DWP appointee notice. The Care Finance 
Officer will confirm the assessed weekly charge amount to the parent or carer by 
letter.  

If the young person lacks capacity the parent or carer will need to apply for 
Deputyship as soon as possible after the young person’s 18th birthday, this process 
can take up to 6 months to complete, to allow the financial assessment to be carried 
out the Care Finance Officer will accept, whilst the Deputyship Order is awaited, 
evidence that the parent or carer has been appointed as a DWP appointee. The 
Care Finance Officer will require the Deputyship order to be provided within 9 
months of the young person’s 18th birthday. 

Some young people may be in receipt of an Education, Health and Care plan; this 
plan can remain in place up to the age of 25, subject to the Local Authority agreeing 
that the young person can remain in education and it can be shown that the young 
person will make progress. 

For most young people any social care support will be provided by their home local 
authority11 . The young person has the right to request a transition assessment for 

                                                           
11 Chapter 8 of the Care Act 2014 and page 134 of the SEN Code of Practice. 

Page 75



12 
 

Page 12 of 126 

adult care that will enable them to see whether they are likely to have eligible needs 
that will be met by adult services once they turn 18.  
 
Young people with Special Educational Needs turning 18, or their carers, may 
become eligible for adult care services, regardless of whether they have an 
Education Health and Care Plan or whether they have been receiving care services 
under section 17 of the Children Act 1989.  
 
If the young person with Special Educational Needs or an educational Health and 
Care Plan is identified as having eligible needs a financial assessment for the social 
care element of any funding will be carried out.  The process will be the same as that 
outlined above.  

Residential Care  
 

You will pay your assessed care charge towards the costs of your care and support 
from the date you enter the care home (subject to your financial assessment and 
your capital assets). 

If you have capital above the Upper Capital Limit12 the Council will assess that you 
are able to pay the full cost of your care in the care home. 

If your capital is below the Upper Capital Limit or the Council cannot identify the level 
of capital you hold, the Council will carry out a financial assessment. The rules for 
this assessment will be those used for permanent residence. 

 

Short term / Respite stay(s) in care home accommodation  
 
Short term stays are up to 56 nights in any 12 month period13  
 
Respites stays up to 4 consecutive weeks in any 12 month period and provide 
a break for informal carers. These costs can be paid using a direct payment14  

If you have capital above the Upper Capital Limit15 the Council will assess that you 
are able to pay the full cost of your short term / respite stay in a care home. 

If your capital is below the Upper Capital Limit or the Council cannot identify the level 
of capital you hold, the Council will carry out a financial assessment. The rules for 
this assessment will be those used for temporary stays (see below)16.  

If you placement is an emergency the Council will still carry out a financial 
assessment. The rules for this assessment will be those used for temporary stays 
(see below)17.  

                                                           
12 See Annex B – Capital Limits 
13 See Clause 8.34 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  
14 See Clause 12.41-12.43 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  
15 See Annex B – Capital Limits 
16 See Clause 8.34 of the care and Support Statutory Guidance  
17 See Clause 8.34 of the care and Support Statutory Guidance  

Page 76



13 
 

Page 13 of 126 

If the respite / short term stay exceeds 28 / 56 nights during a year the Council will 
carry out a financial re-assessment using the Financial Assessment and Charging 
Rules for temporary stays (see below). 

Temporary stays(s) in Care home accommodation   
 

Temporary stays are intended to last for a limited period where there is a plan to 
return home. The stay should be unlikely to exceed 52 weeks18. 

If you have capital above the Upper Capital Limit19 the Council will assess that you 
are able to pay the full cost of your temporary stay in a care home. 

If your capital is below the Upper Capital Limit or the Council cannot identify the level of 

capital you hold, the Council will carry out a financial assessment to calculate your 
assessed weekly charge. 

This assessment will be carried out using the rules for temporary stays in care 
homes20 

The rules include but are not limited to the following: 

• Your main or only home will be disregarded where you intend to return to the 
property or you have taken steps to dispose of the property to acquire a 
property that is more suitable. 

• The assessment will be carried out in accordance with the rules for permanent 
residents21 but an allowance is made for any additional amounts required to 
maintain the home: 
➢ Gas (standing charge only – non-mains: Oil only delivery costs) 
➢ Electricity (standing charge only) 
➢ Water (standing charge only) 
➢ Council tax 
➢ Mortgage (if applicable)  
➢ Rent 
➢ Ground rent (if applicable) 
➢ Service charge (if applicable)  
➢ Home Buildings and contents  insurance22  (subject to evidence being 

provided of the amount being paid) 

Non-Residential Care and Support  
 

Non-Residential care and support means care and support services provided to help 
you stay in your own home and involved in the community. 

Depending on your financial circumstances you may be asked to pay a charge 
towards your non-residential care and support costs.  

                                                           
18 See Annex F Clause 4 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance 
19 See Annex B – Capital Limits 
20 See Annex F Clauses 10-20 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  
21 See Annex C of the care and Support Statutory guidance  
22 See Annex C Clause 49 of the care and Support Statutory guidance 

Page 77



14 
 

Page 14 of 126 

If you have capital above the Upper Capital Limit23 the Council will assess that you 
are able to pay the full cost of your care services. 

If your capital is below the Upper Capital Limit or the Council cannot identify the level of 

capital you hold, the Council will carry out a financial assessment to calculate your 
assessed weekly charge. 

If your social care assessment shows you have ongoing eligible care and support 
needs you will be allocated a Personal Budget. 

Your Personal budget may be used to purchase a range of care and support 
services. This includes commissioned services and services purchased through 
Direct Payments24.  

Services include: 

• Personal Assistants – People employed to assist with all aspects of daily 
living including personal care and social activities  

• Home / Domiciliary care – personal care in person’s own home to help with 
washing, dressing, eating / drinking to maintain independent living 

• Day care – an opportunity to meet other people and take up new opportunities   

• Transport – To and from social care / day centres if this is included in your 
care and support plan (unless you are in receipt of Disability Living Allowance 
or any Disability Living Allowance component of PIP) 

• Telecare – helps people to live independently in their homes by providing  
technological help for example sensors and alarms  

• Supported living – a combination of all of the above usually provided by a 
single service provider 

• Other types of support – some people may choose to use their personal 
budget to meet their social care needs in a different way eg by buying a 
computer to assist with on-line shopping (to replace the need for domestic 
help) or a piece of assistive technology to prevent the need for home care 
intervention.   
 

6. Care And Support Financial Assessment Policy  

 

This Financial Assessment Policy sets out the national and internal local Council 
rules that we use to work out how much an individual can afford to pay towards the 
costs of the Care and Support services provided to them. 

It has been drawn up in accordance with the Care and Support (Charing and 
Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 and the Care and Support Statutory 
Guidance which are issued under Section 17 of the Care Act 2014. 

Information that applies to all financial assessments for all care and support settings. 
 

                                                           
23 See Annex B – Capital Limits 
24 See Part 9 

Page 78



15 
 

Page 15 of 126 

What is a Financial Assessment for care and support? 

A financial assessment is a calculation of the charge you will be required to pay 
towards the costs of your care25  

If you have capital assets above the Upper Capital Limit26 you will be required to pay 
the full costs of your care and support.  

If your capital assets are below the Upper Capital Limit or the Council cannot identify 

the level of capital you hold we will carry out a financial assessment and ask you to tell 
us about: 

• Your income – how much money you have coming in 

• Your capital assets – your savings, investments, land and property  

We then work out how much you can statutorily keep for personal use27. 

We use this information to calculate your Assessed Weekly Charge. This is the most 
you would be asked to pay towards your care and support and is subject to review. If 
your care and support costs are less than your Assessed Maximum Weekly Charge 
you will be required to pay the full costs of your Care and Support.  

Your Assessed Weekly Charge will change when your financial situation changes, 
for example if your income or savings change. We will review your financial 
assessment in line with any changes in your circumstances. 

If the service you receive is an after-care service under Section 117 of the Mental 
Health Act 1983 you will not require a financial assessment. 

If your care and support service is fully paid for by the NHS under Continuing 
Healthcare you will not require a financial assessment.  

 

Capital Limits  
 

The Government sets Upper and Lower Capital Limits to provide statutory guidance 
to Councils on when a person can afford to pay a charge towards their care and 
support. Annex B – Capital Limits Schedule shows the current Upper and Lower 
Capital Limit. The Limits are reviewed by the Government every year.   

What is Capital 
 

Capital resources are assets such as money in a bank or building society account, 
investments, stocks and shares, buildings, land etc.  

Some capital is disregarded by the financial assessment and the details of this are 
set out in the Care Act, Regulations and Guidance28 

                                                           
25 Section 14 of the Care Act 2014 
26 See Annex B Capital Limits  
27 See Annex B Calculating Your Charge  

Page 79



16 
 

Page 16 of 126 

If your total capital is less than the Lower Capital Limit you will pay any assessed 
charge based on your income only. 

If you have a partner and you hold a capital asset in joint names you will be treated 
as having a 50% share of that capital asset. 

If your capital assets are above the Upper Capital Limit you will be treated as self-
funding and will be required to pay the full cost of your care and support. We can 
support you to arrange your own care. 

If you do not live in a care home, you have the right to ask the Council to arrange 
your care and support.  The Council will charge you the full costs of your care and 
support. 

If after a financial assessment the value of your assets is assessed to be below the 
Upper Capital Limit but more than the Lower capital Limit you will be required to pay 
a charge from your capital, this is called tariff income Annex B – Capital Limits 
Schedule shows how the tariff income is calculated.  

If after a full financial assessment or where the Council has already concluded your 
assets are below the lower capital Limit you will be required to pay a charge based 
on your income.  

Notional capital 
 

If you deprive yourself of capital assets in order to reduce or avoid charges for care 
and support we may complete your financial assessment as if you still had those 
assets. The value of those assets is known as notional capital. For more information 
see Deprivation of Assets.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
28 The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment) Regulations 2014 Part 3(12), Part 5, Schedule 1, Care and 
Support Statutory Guidance Annex B and Annex C, also See Annex B 

Page 80



17 
 

Page 17 of 126 

How is a Financial Assessment carried out29 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
29 See the Councils Guide Working Out Your Care charges Annex A and Sample form Annex C 

1. If your care and support assessment shows that you need an ongoing care service, 
your Adult Social Care social worker will refer you to our Client Finance Team to 
request a financial assessment to be carried out with you (or your financial 
representative if you have one – such as a lasting power of attorney or deputy). 

2.  A Care Finance Officer will contact you, usually by phone, to arrange a visit to ask you 
about your financial situation. See example of information needed for your financial 
assessment (Annex C). 

3. The Care Finance Officer will use the Councils Charging and Financial Assessment 
policy and the national Care and Support (Assessment of Resources) Regulations to 
work out a maximum amount you can afford to pay towards your care and support. 
The Care Finance Officer will ask you to sign the Financial Assessment form to confirm 
that the information provided is correct.  

If the Client Officer cannot contact you or a visit cannot be arranged the Council will take the 
view that you are self-funding and you will be required to pay the full charge of your care and 
support.  

 

4.  The Care Finance Officer will explain to you if any further information is required 
and agree with you when this will be provided.  The Care Finance Officer will check 
that you are receiving the benefits you are entitled to. 

 

5. If you are moving into a care home permanently and you have a property the capital 
in that property will be taken into account in the financial assessment. The Care 
Finance Officer will ask you to provide details about the property and explain the 
possible funding arrangements, including the Councils Deferred Payment 
Agreements (see Section 10.) You should always seek independent advice before 
making a decision on how to use your capital assets.  

6. The Care Finance Officer will send you a letter with the outcome of the financial 
assessment confirming what you will need to pay towards your care and support 
costs (if any). If you disagree with the outcome, you can appeal. See Appeals, 
Exceptional Circumstances and Waivers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



18 
 

Page 18 of 126 

Light Touch Financial Assessment 
 

There are some situations where the Council will not need to carry out a full financial 
assessment of your ability to pay towards your care and support. Instead a ‘light 
touch’ financial assessment will be completed (a Care Finance Officer will contact 
you to confirm this). You can still ask the Council to carry out a full financial 
assessment.  

Examples of when a ‘light touch’ assessment may be carried out: 

• Your capital assets are above the Upper Capital Limit – if you know that your 
capital assets are above the Upper Capital Limit you will not need a full 
financial assessment. A Care Finance Officer will contact you to confirm that 
you are assessed to pay the full charge of your care and support. 

• You have declined to provide information about your financial situation- if you 
do not wish to provide information about your financial situation you do not 
have to. A Care Finance Officer will contact you to confirm that you will be 
assessed to pay the full charge of your care and support. 

If your financial assessment is a ‘light touch’ financial assessment, the Care Finance 
Officer will write to you to confirm; 

• What you have been assessed to pay towards your care and support and the 
basis of the financial assessment  

• That you can ask them to complete a full financial assessment at any time 
 

Start date of Charges  
 

Your charge will start from the date your care and support services commenced. 

Your care charge will be backdated to the date your placement commenced; you 
should ensure you retain sufficient monies to pay this sum. 

See also Financial Assessment Reviews. 

Welfare Benefit Entitlements 
 

As part of the financial assessment our Client Finance Officers will offer you a full 
benefits check.30  

What happens if you are possibly entitled to additional welfare benefits? The Care 
Finance Officer will signpost you to contact the Department of Work and Pension 
(DWP) or a third party agency (such as Age UK) who can then assist you with 
applying for any additional benefits to which you may be entitled.  

What happens if you already receive welfare benefits? The Care Finance Officer  will 
check the amount you are receiving and the breakdown of the benefits. 

                                                           
30 In accordance with The Social Security (information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services etc.) Regulations 
2012, made using powers under sections 130 and 131 of the Welfare Reforms Act 2012. 

Page 82



19 
 

Page 19 of 126 

What happens if you are entitled to additional welfare benefits or a reassessment of 
welfare benefits? If you become entitled to additional benefit this will affect your 
financial assessment. The Care Finance Officer will confirm to you in writing the new 
charge you will be required to pay towards your costs of care and support. If your 
entitlement to the new welfare benefit is backdated the charge will be backdated to 
the same date or to the date your care and support started if this is later.  

What happens if you choose not to apply for benefits you are entitled too? If you 
decide not to apply for a welfare benefit that you are entitled to and the Council is 
satisfied that the benefit income would have been available to you if you had made 
the application for that benefit we will consider that benefit income as ‘notional 
income’ in your financial assessment31. The Care Finance Officer will confirm this to 
you in writing and confirm your care charge based on your financial assessment 
including the notional income.  

Deprivation of Assets 
 

Deprivation of assets is where someone deliberately reduces their overall assets in 
order to reduce the amount that they are charges towards their care and support.  

If the Council decides that you have deliberately given away or disposed of some or 
all of your savings or other capital asset   or income in order to reduce the amount of 
your assessed care and support charge the Care Finance Officer will complete your 
financial assessment as if you still had those savings, asset or income. The asset or 
income would show on your assessment as notional income or notional capital. 

If savings, asset(s) or income have been transferred to a third party in order to 
reduce your care and support charges the Council has the legal power32 to recover 
care and support charges from that third party where those charges relate to the 
value of the transferred asset or capital or to treat you as though you still had that 
asset or capital and show the asset or capital as notional income or notional capital 
on your financial assessment.  

A person can deprive themselves of capital in many ways, but common approaches 
may be: 

• a lump-sum payment to someone else, for example as a gift 

• substantial expenditure has been incurred suddenly and is out of character 
with previous spending 

• the title deeds of a property have been transferred to someone else 

• assets have been put in to a trust that cannot be revoked 

• assets have been converted into another form that would be subject to a 
disregard under the financial assessment, for example personal possessions 

• assets have been reduced by living extravagantly, for example gambling 

• assets have been used to purchase an investment bond with life insurance 

                                                           
31 Annex B Clause 29(a) of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance 
32 Section 70 of the Care Act 2014 

Page 83



20 
 

Page 20 of 126 

However, this will not be deliberate in all cases. Questions of deprivation therefore 
should only be considered where the person ceases to possess assets that would 
have otherwise been taken into account for the purposes of the financial assessment 
or has turned the asset into one that is now disregarded. 

It is up to the person to prove to the local authority that they have not deprived 
themselves of the asset. If they are not able to, the local authority will assess you as 
if you still had the asset. 
 

What must the local authority consider 

There may be many reasons for a person depriving themselves of an asset. A local 
authority should therefore consider the following before deciding whether deprivation 
for the purpose of avoiding care and support charges has occurred: 

(a) whether avoiding the care and support charge was a significant motivation 
in the timing of the disposal of the asset; at the point the capital was disposed 
of did you have a reasonable expectation of the need for care and support? 

(b) did you have a reasonable expectation of needing to contribute to the cost 
of their eligible care needs? 

For example, it would be unreasonable to decide that you had disposed of an asset 
in order to reduce the level of charges for your care and support needs if at the time 
the disposal took place you were fit and healthy and could not have foreseen the 
need for care and support. 

Your intention to avoid your care charges must be a significant factor, or the only 
reason, you have dispossessed of an asset, in order to be found to have deprived 
yourself.  

When deciding whether a deprivation has occurred the local authority should take 
into account: 

Whether avoiding care and support charges were a significant motivation timing of 
the disposal.  

When the asset was disposed of, could you have a reasonable expectation of the 
need for care and support?  

Did you have a reasonable expectation of needing to contribute to the cost of your 
eligible care needs? 

We may conduct our own investigations into whether deprivation of assets has 
occurred, rather than relying solely on information that you provide. 

What is capital/ Asset 

Capital can mean many different things and this is not a definitive definition. The 
local authority will consider the individual asset on its merits. In general it refers to 

Page 84



21 
 

Page 21 of 126 

financial resources available for use and can be from sources that are considered 
more durable than money in the sense that they can generate a return. 

The following list gives examples of capital. This list is intended as a guide and is not 
exhaustive: 

• buildings 

• land 

• If you own multiple properties any property that is not your main home will be 
taken into account if you have non-residential or residential care. 

• Your main home will be taken into account after the first 12 weeks of 
residential care.  

• If your main home is jointly owned your equitable share of the property will be 
taken into account if you need residential care.  

• National Savings Certificates and Ulster Savings Certificates 

• Premium Bonds 

• Stocks and shares - the market value of the shares will be taken into account 
less 10% even if the shares were purchased before you had knowledge of a 
need for care. 

• capital held by the Court of Protection or a Deputy appointed by that Court 

• any savings held in:  
a. building society accounts 
b. bank current accounts, deposit accounts or special investment accounts. 

This includes savings held in the National Savings Bank, Girobank and 
Trustee Savings Bank. 

c. save as you earn (SAYE) schemes 
d. unit trusts 
e. co-operatives share accounts. 
f. Cash 

• trust funds 

Common approaches to deprivation 

Deliberate reduction of your assets when you have knowledge of a need for care will 
be considered a deprivation. This list is intended as a guide and is not exhaustive: 

This may include; 

• Transferring a property to a family member / friend /third party at undervalue 
or for no value. 

• Selling a property at undervalue. 

• Putting a property into multiple names. 

• Creating a trust to avoid a property being taken into account. 

• Investing the proceeds of sale or spending the proceeds of sale of a property. 

• Placing the proceeds of sale in an account not belonging to you. 

Payments / gifts 

This list is intended as a guide and is not exhaustive: 

Page 85



22 
 

Page 22 of 126 

This may include; 

• Lump sum payments to a family member / friend / third party. 

• Large gifts – a large total sum gifted accumulatively over a year may be 
considered a deprivation. 

• Reasonable gifts such as birthday or Christmas presents would not be 
considered a deprivation.  

• Allowing a family member / friend / third party to access your bank account 
and withdraw funds with or without your consent.  

• Where you chose to withdraw funds from your pension on retirement so that 
you can manage it directly, this may be treated as assessable capital. If the 
funds released from the pension are invested in assets that are disregarded, 
the fund could still be assessable capital if the reinvestment is treated as 
deliberate deprivation of capital to avoid care charges.  

• Expenditure deriving from capital from a pension lump sum may be regarded 
as a deliberate deprivation of assets in some circumstances. 

Assets 

This list is intended as a guide and is not exhaustive: 

This may include; 

• Buying expensive assets, for example art work or cars.  

• Living beyond your means or spending out of character.  

• Buying Investment bonds with life insurance.  

• Putting funds aside for funeral costs without buying a funeral plan.  

There is further information about Deprivation of Assets in the Care and Support 
Statutory Guidance Annex E.  

Delays to the Financial Assessment Process 
 

If you (or your financial representative) unreasonably delay completing the financial 
assessment the Council will apply a Light Touch Financial Assessment and you will 
be assessed to pay the full costs of your care and support from the start date of the 
service provision.  

If you then provide information for a full financial assessment within four weeks, 
which results in a lower charge, any reduction in charge will be reimbursed or 
credited against future Care and Support charges. If you provide the information 
after four weeks consideration will be given to refunding the difference – depending 
on the circumstances of the case and the reasons for the delay. The Director of Adult 
Care holds discretion in this matter. 33 

‘Unreasonable delay’ will be determined on an individual basis; as a general rule, 
however, the Council expects you (or your representative) to be available to 

                                                           
33 See the Councils Guide Working Out Your Care charges Annex A 
 

Page 86



23 
 

Page 23 of 126 

complete a financial assessment within four weeks of contact from the Care Finance 
Officer. 

If the Care Finance Officer asks you for further information to support or complete 
your assessment, the Council would expect you to provide this within two weeks of 
the date it was requested. 

Financial Assessment Reviews 
 

You can ask the Care Finance Officer to review your financial assessment at any 
time. 

The Council will periodically review your financial assessment – usually annually- 
either when your care and support assessment is completed or when pensions, 
benefits and allowances change in April. 

Your financial assessment review may be completed automatically when pensions, 
benefits and allowances change or a Care Finance Officer may contact you to carry 
out a full review of your financial circumstances. If your financial review changes 
what you are charged the Care Finance Officer will confirm this to you in writing.   

If you disagree with your financial assessment you should contact the Care Finance 
Officer in the first instance to try and resolve any issues as soon as possible.   We 
will go through the information to check that the assessment is correct and that the 
calculation or decisions have considered all your relevant information in line with the 
policy. 

If you still do not agree with the Councils decision you can make a formal complaint 
to the Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 
complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 

The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 

If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  

The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

Change in Circumstance 
 

If your financial circumstances change at any time you must let us know immediately 
about these changes as they may affect your assessment and the amount you need 
to pay.  If you do not let us know and we find out at a later date, you may have to pay 
a backdated charge if your assessment has changed 

If you fail to notify us and the Council becomes aware of a change to your financial 
circumstances, the Council will, at their discretion, take the change in to account in 

Page 87

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


24 
 

Page 24 of 126 

your financial assessment. This may result in a change to your assessed charge, if 
there is an underpayment of your assessed charge the Council will seek payment of 
this sum from you. If this means there is a change to your assessed charge and the 
Council has overcharged you, the Council will refund you the sum of the 
overpayment. 

Use of Financial Information  
 

The information collected and stored about your financial assessment is collected 
and store in compliance with the General Data Protection Rules34. The Council will 
only share this information in accordance with the General Data protection 
Regulations. The Council and/or VirginCare will provide you with a privacy notice 
either via the Councils website or in paper format at your request. The Regulations 
also give you the right to see the information that the Council keeps about you.  

Appeals  
 

The Council wants to ensure that any charge you are asked to pay is fair and 
reasonable. Sometimes people using care and support services may experience 
exceptional circumstances which the Council will consider on an individual basis. 

If you disagree with the outcome of your financial assessment or deferred payments 
/ Interim Funding Decision you should contact the Care Finance Officer in the first 
instance to try and resolve any issues as soon as possible. The Care Finance Officer 
will go through the information with you and check the assessment / decision has 
considered all of the relevant information in line with the Charging and Financial 
Assessment rules. 

If you are still dissatisfied with the outcome the Care Finance Officer will advise you 
how you can lodge an appeal with the Team leader for Care Finance.  

If you still do not agree with the Councils decision you can make a formal complaint 
to the Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 
complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 

The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 

If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  

The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

 

                                                           
34 GDPR Clause 6.1(c) and 6.1(e) and 9.2(b)  and 9.2(g) 

Page 88

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


25 
 

Page 25 of 126 

Debt Recovery 
 

If you are unable to pay your charge for care and support when they are due, either 
in full or in part, you must tell us as soon as possible so that we can discuss this with 
you and attempt to find a resolution.  

You will be sent two reminders the first will be sent 28 days after the initial invoice 
and the second will be sent 42 days after the initial invoice.  

If your care and support charges remain unpaid and there is no good reason why 
you (or your financial representative) are unable to pay your charge, the Council will 
start debt recovery action35  

The Council may consider allowing payment of the debt by instalments, we will 
require the full debt to be repaid within a short period depending on your financial 
circumstances and you will be asked to sign an undertaking confirming the terms of 
any agreement reached.  

If your care and support charges remain unpaid despite the Councils reasonable 
attempts to recover the debt, we will consider making an application to the County 
Court to issue a claim to seek a judgment against you, if we do this you could also 
be liable to pay the Councils legal costs and interest on the debt at a rate agreed by 
the Judge.  

Financial Assessment and Charging for Care Home Accommodation 
 

If you have care and support needs identified that can only be met in a care home, 
you will need to pay a charge towards your accommodation fees in the care home. 

• If your capital assets (such as savings and investments) are above the Upper 
Capital Limit, you will need to pay the full costs of your care home fees, 
usually, directly to the care home. 

• If your capital assets are below the Upper Capital Limit, the Council will carry 
out a financial assessment with you to work how much your charge towards 
the costs of the weekly care home fees will be. 36 

• If you own a property, or part of a property, or have a beneficial interest in a 
property, there are rules around whether this is counted within your Capital 
assets or disregarded. See if you own a property below. 

• If you qualify for Funded Nursing Care part of your weekly care charge will be 
paid through the NHS.37 

There are exceptions to being charged for care and support: 

• If your care home placement is an ‘After-care’ support service provided under 
section 117 of the Mental health Act 1983, you will not need to have a 
financial assessment as you will be exempt from charge.  

                                                           
35 Care and Support Statutory Guidance – Annex D: Recovery of Debts  
36 See Annex B 
37 See Annex B 

Page 89



26 
 

Page 26 of 126 

• If your care home placement is fully paid by the NHS through Continuing 
Healthcare you will not need to have a financial assessment as the care and 
support is provided free by the NHS.38 

• If you are placed in a Step Down bed 

• If you are receiving services from the integrated reablement  service for a 
short period of intensive therapies and support from health and social care 
professionals to promote regaining independence39. (Please note that once 
the reablement service confirms that your short term reablement goals have 
been met, you may become charged for any additional services if the 
reablement service continues to meet your ongoing care needs while an long 
term care provider is found) 

If you are responsible for the full charge of your care home because your savings 
and investments are above the Upper Capital Limit the Social Worker can arrange 
advice and support to help you choose a suitable care home that will meet your 
needs, You should consider: 

• Find out from the care home what happens if your savings / investments fall 
below the Upper Capital Limit. For example would the home accept local 
authority payment rates or would they require you to nominate someone to 
pay a third party top-up. If you do not have anyone who could pay a third party 
top up you should ensure you chose a home that will accept local authority 
payment rates.  

• You are responsible for paying the care charges directly to the care home 

• If your savings / investments reduce and approach the Lower Capital Limit, 
you should contact the Council and request help with the care home costs. 
The Council will also review your care and support needs at the same time to 
make sure that the care home still meets your identified needs. 

If you ask the Council to arrange your Care Home placement you will be charged an 
arrangement fee of £250.00 plus VAT.40 

If your capital assets are below the Upper Capital Limit, and you do not own any 
property, the Council will carry out a financial assessment of your income and capital 
assets to work out your ‘calculated weekly care charge’. The Council use national 
rules to do this called the ‘Care and Support (Assessment of resources) Regulations 
2014’ which are issued under section 17 of the Care Act 2014. 

If you have chosen to move to a care home that is more expensive than the care 
homes that the Council have identified to meet your needs, you will need to identify a 
person who is willing and able to make top up payments – to pay the shortfall, this is 
called a third party top-up. See third party top-ups. 

Your financial assessment will always make sure you are left with an amount for you 
to use for your day-to-day personal expenses in the care home. There is a standard 
amount for this Personal Expense Allowance set out in the Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment Resources) Regulations 2014 which is reviewed each 
year by the Government. The current rate is shown in Annex A. 

                                                           
38 You will need to request an assessment and meet the criteria  
39 Clause 4 of the Care and Support (Preventing Needs for Care and Support) Regulations 2014 
40 Clause 8.58 and 8.59 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  

Page 90



27 
 

Page 27 of 126 

If you own a property  
 

If you own a property, or have a beneficial interest in a property, the Care Finance 
Officer will check whether the property capital is disregarded.  

The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 
and the Care and Support Statutory Guidance set out the circumstances in which 
property capital is always disregarded. 

For example: 

•  If your spouse or partner still lives in the property your property capital would 
be disregarded in the financial assessment for as long as they continue to live 
at the property  

• If you have a relative aged over 60, or a disabled relative who resides at the 
property the property would be disregarded for as long as they remain 
residing at the property. 

The regulations state who counts as a ‘relative’ and the Statutory Guidance gives 
more information41. 

Your property capital is disregarded for the first 12 weeks of moving permanently to 
a care home.  42 

The purpose of the 12 week property disregard is to provide time to allow a long term 
decision about the property to be made. 

The 12 week property disregard applies if: 

• You move into a care home for the first time, and, as a result of the ownership 
of your home, you are responsible for the full charge of the care home fee. 

• You are already living in a care home, and your property was previously 
disregarded in your financial assessment under a statutory disregard or a 
discretionary disregard, but, due to a change of circumstance those 
disregards are no longer relevant and the value of the property means you 
would be responsible for the full charge of the care home fees. A change of 
circumstance could, for example, be where a partner or relative living in the 
property goes into a care home themselves, or moves house or passes away.  

The 12 week property disregard only applies to your sole or main residence prior to 
moving into a care home. It does not apply to any other property or land you own.  

If you have savings and capital above the Upper Capital Limit at the start of your 
placement in a care home, and you own a property, you have the opportunity to 
make decisions about what to do with your property during the period you are able to 
self-fund – unless this is less than 12 weeks. In this event you will be entitled to the 
remaining period of the 12 week property disregard from the start of your placement.  
For example if you can self-fund for a period of 6 weeks from the start of the care 

                                                           
41 Annex B Clause 35 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  
42 The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 Schedule 2 Paragraph 2. 

Page 91



28 
 

Page 28 of 126 

home placement you would be entitled to a further 6 weeks property disregard 
period.  

Your financial charge during the property disregard period will be based on a 
financial assessment of your income. The Care Finance Officer will carry out the 
financial assessment based on your financial circumstances excluding the value of 
your main property. The financial assessment will take account of your income and 
any savings or assets above the Lower capital Limit and leave you with your 
personal expense allowance. 

In addition to your personal expense allowance during the 12 week property 
disregard period you will be allowed the costs of43: 

• Rent / mortgage 

• Buildings insurance (subject to evidence being provided of the amount being 
paid for building insurance only) 

• Council tax 

• Utility standing charge 

• Basic property maintenance  

Your income based charge will be paid directly to the care home and the Council will 
pay the difference between your payment and the total weekly care home charge, 
with the following exceptions: 

• If the care home is Council owned your weekly care charge will be paid 
directly to the Council 

• If the Council has agreed with the care home under their contract to make full 
payment your weekly care charge will be paid directly to the Council 

If the Council pays your weekly care charge the assessed weekly charge is due for 
payment at the time we raise an invoice. See how to pay your Charges for Care and 
Support. 

If you receive Attendance Allowance, Disability Living Allowance (Care Component) 
or Personal Independence Payment (Daily Living Component) these benefits will 
continue to be paid to you by the Department of Work and Pensions for the first four 
weeks that you are in the care home or hospital. After the first four weeks these 
benefits are not payable to you whilst the Council provides funding towards your care 
home costs. 

At the end of the 12 week property disregard period, if you have not entered into a 
deferred payment agreement, you will become responsible for the full cost of your 
care home placement.  

If you ask the Council to arrange your Care Home placement you will be charged an 
arrangement fee of £250.00 plus VAT.44 

 

                                                           
43 Annex C Clause 46(d) the Care and Support Statutory Guidance 
44 Clause 8.58 and 8.59 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  

Page 92



29 
 

Page 29 of 126 

Discretionary Disregard of Property  
 

The Care Act 2014 sets out a number of situations where the property you live in and 
have a beneficial interest in, must be disregarded45. 

However there may be circumstances where the Council considers it appropriate to 
disregard your interest in the property, even though we are not required to by the 
national Regulations, this is a discretionary disregard46. 

The Council must balance the use of this discretion with the need to ensure that 
public funds are not used inappropriately. 

If you ask us to consider disregarding your property on a discretionary basis, in 
making this decision we will consider our financial resources, and the following 
factors: 

• The reason for the occupation of the property by any third party  

• The timing of the move to the property by any third party  

• How long has the third party resided at the property 

• What is your relationship with the third party  

• Has the third party cared for you and if so for how long and what was the main 
reason for the move to your property   

• Where did the third party reside before moving to the property  

• When did you first have identified care needs 

• When was care home accommodation first considered as an option for you 

• Has the third party made any financial contribution to the property and if so 
how much and why. 

• How is the property owned  

The weight placed against each factor in considering the request will depend on the 
individual circumstances and actions taken. The decision will be made by a Senior 
Manager or the Councils Panel. 

You can ask your Care Finance Officer if you would like the Council to consider a 
discretionary property disregard. 

The Council will require you to provide all the information relevant to your request, 
once this information has been gathered the request will be considered by the Team 
Manager for a decision. 

In difficult cases advice may be sought from the Council’s legal advisers. 

If your request is turned down you will be informed of the reasons in writing and the 
Council will inform you how you can make a complaint if you disagree with the 
decision.  

 

                                                           
45 See Clause 34-41 Annex B of The Care and Support Statutory Guidance 
46 See Clause 42-44 Annex B of The Care and Support Statutory Guidance 

Page 93



30 
 

Page 30 of 126 

Financial Assessment and Charging for Non-Residential Care and Support. 
 

If you have care and support needs whilst living in supported accommodation or at 
home you may need to pay something towards you care and support. 

If your savings and capital assets are above the Upper Capital Limit, you will need to 
pay the full cost of you care and support. We can help you arrange your care and 
support or we can make the arrangements for you. 

If you ask us to arrange the care and support on your behalf you will need to pay the 
full cost of your care and support. 

If your total savings and capital assets are less than the Upper Capital Limit, we will 
carry out a Financial Assessment to work out your ‘calculated weekly care charge’. 

To calculate your weekly care charge we carry out the following assessment: 

Weekly income + Tariff income on savings 

- Housing expenses  
- Minimum income guarantee  
- Disability related expenditure 
- Allowable expense commitments  

= calculated weekly care charge  

Weekly income is the amount of income you receive47 that is included in your 
financial assessment (any earned income is disregarded48).  Your income is 
converted into a weekly figure in the financial assessment. 

Tariff income on savings is a weekly amount calculated from capital assets that are 
not disregarded. If you have capital assets above the Lower Capital Limit but less 
than the Upper Capital Limit we will include £1 for every £25049.  

Housing expenses – see ‘Housing Expenses’ for what costs are allowed in your 
Financial Assessment. 

Minimum Income Guarantee is an allowance given in the assessment by the 
Government to cover living costs – see Minimum Income Guarantee for further 
information. 

Allowable expenses commitments – see allowable expense commitments. 

Disability Related Expenditure (DRE) the Council may make an allowance in your 
financial assessment for expenses in relation to disability or medical conditions – see 
Disability Related Expenditure. 

If you live with a partner: 

                                                           
47 This may include notional income if you are entitled to income that you have chosen not to receive. For 
example, if you have a pension fund that you have chosen to draw a lower amount than you are entitled to, 
your weekly income will include the full amount of income you were entitled to draw from an annuity product. 
48 Clause 8.21 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  
49 Clause 8.20 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance 

Page 94



31 
 

Page 31 of 126 

You will need to identify: 

• Your own income 

• Your own capital 

• Your own expenses  

• AND any income, capital and expenses that both you and your partner are 
entitled to or incur jointly (this could be income received, and/or capital held, 
and/or expenses incurred by either you or your partner on behalf of both of 
you). The Council as a starting point will assume that joint income and capital 
are owned in equal shares; however it is for you to produce evidence of any 
assertion that income and/or capital are held in unequal shares. 

Examples of income that are treated as received jointly for couples include but are 
not limited to: 

• Pension Guarantee Credit 

• Pension Saving Credit 

• Income related Employment Support Allowance  

• Universal Credit  

The Council will assume that the payment of benefits and credits such as these are 
shared equally between both members of the couple, regardless of who the payment 
is made to. 

The Minimum Income Guarantee (MIG) allowance that will be used in the financial 
assessment where the individual is part of a couple will be that shown in the Care 
and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 201450 relating 
to an adult who is part of  couple.  

Calculation of Income  
 

In the Financial assessment process your sources of income will be included, 
disregarded or partially disregarded. The Government provides guidance on which 
sources of income the Council must disregard and gives the Council discretion in 
respect of other sources of income. 

The table below shows how sources of income are treated by the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
50 Clause 7.4 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 as amended 
by 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/677736/
Local_authority_circular_-_charging_for_care_and_support_LAC_DHSC__2018_1.pdf 

Page 95

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/677736/Local_authority_circular_-_charging_for_care_and_support_LAC_DHSC__2018_1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/677736/Local_authority_circular_-_charging_for_care_and_support_LAC_DHSC__2018_1.pdf


32 
 

Page 32 of 126 

Key – 

I Included  D Disregarded    PD partially disregarded  

SOURCE OF INCOME HOW THE CARE FINANCE 
OFFICER TREATS 

Armed Forces Independence Payment  D 

Attendance Allowance  I 

Boarders PD51 

Carers Allowance  I 

Child Benefit  D 

Child Tax Credit  D 

Child Maintenance  D 

Charitable Income  D/PD52 

Constant Attendance Allowance  I 

Court Order Payments or Settlements I 

Disability Living Allowance (Daily Living) I 

Disability Living Allowance (Mobility) D 

Earnings D 

Employment and Support Allowance * I 

Equity Release Scheme Income I 

Exceptionally Severe Disablement Allowance  I 

Guaranteed Income Payments (paid under Armed Forces 

Compensation Scheme) 

D 

Housing Benefit D 

Incapacity benefit  I 

Income Support * I 

Industrial Diseases Benefit  I 

Interest from Capital (such as savings and 
investments)  

D or I53 

Income from Trade Unions and Friendly Societies  I 

Job Seekers Allowance * I 

Lodgers and self-supporting children living at home  I 

Maintenance Payments specifically relating to 
children  

D 

Nationalist Social Persecution Payments  D 

Notional income - this may include notional income 
from pension funds where a lower amount is being 
drawn, or where a pension income has been deferred 

I54 

Occupations Pension – Personal Pensions  I 

Pension Guaranteed Credit  I 

                                                           
51 Annex F clause 20 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  
52 This may be fully disregarded or partially disregarded in line with Part 4 Clause 16, 22 and Schedule 1 of the 
Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014. 
 
53 If the capital has been included in the financial assessment, the income received from the capital is usually 
disregarded. If the capital is not included in the financial assessment, the income received from the capital us 
usually included. The Care and Support Guidance (Annex A and B) has further examples.  
54 Notional income is an amount of money that is counted in the financial assessment where the individual 
could access (or could have accessed) that money as income if they chose to, but have chosen not to. 

Page 96



33 
 

Page 33 of 126 

Personal Injury Payments  D subject to investment 55 

Personal Independence Payment (Daily Living)  I 

Personal Independence Payment (Mobility) D 

Severe Disablement Allowance  D 

State Pension  I 

Social Fund Payments  I 

Sub Tenants  D 

Trust Fund Income  I/D56 

Universal Credit * I 

War Pension paid to Veterans  I 

Widows Benefit  D 

Winter Fuel and Cold Weather Payments D 

Working Tax credit  D 
 

* Personal Injury payments will be disregarded for 52 weeks57 from the date of 
receipt and then taken into account in any financial assessment unless the sum 
received is placed in a trust fund or Deputyship account. 

* Income from means-tested benefits paid to one member of a couple are considered 
as shared equally between both members of the couple:- 50% of a couple’s income-
related Employment and Support Allowance; Pension Credit; and Universal Credit is 
considered within the financial assessment for the member of the couple who 
receives the care and support.  

All other income not listed in the table will be considered in the Financial Assessment 
in line with the Care and Support (Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014, 
along with any tariff income from savings and capital. 

Tariff income is a weekly amount calculated from capital assets that are not 
disregarded. The weekly amount is added to your income in your financial 
assessment. This is calculated as follows: 

LEVEL OF CAPITAL OR SAVINGS HOW THIS IS CONSIDERED IN THE 
FINANCIAL ASSESSMENT 

£0 - £14,250 Disregarded 

£14,251 - £23,249 Tariff income is calculated at the rate of 
£1 for every £250 or part thereof58 

£23,250 +  Full cost of care and support applies at or 
above this level 

                                                           
55 Clause 15(3)(c) and 22 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 
and Schedule 10 Para 12 and 12(a) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987. 
56 Treatment of Trust Funds income depends on the situation and are detailed in the Care and Support 
(Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 Part 1 Clauses 22 and 27 
 
57 Paragraph 12 of Schedule 10 of the Income Support Regulations (personal Injury Trusts)  

58 Clause 8.20 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance 

Page 97



34 
 

Page 34 of 126 

Housing Expenses  
 

The Council will make allowance in the non-residential financial assessment for your 
housing costs. Sharing costs – if you share a household with other adults, the 
amount of the housing costs item that is allowed in your financial assessment will be 
on the basis that costs are shared equally by the number of adults in the household, 
unless the Council has information to show that a different way of sharing the costs 
should be considered. 

Allowances are made depending on your housing tenure and circumstances, 
including: 

• Rent (net of housing benefit). If you are entitled to receive full housing benefit 
or Universal Credit Housing Allowance but you have your benefit reduced by 
a ‘non-dependent deduction’, your financial assessment will not show an 
allowance for the non-dependent deduction amount. 

• Mortgage (net of assistance through benefits such as Pension Credit, 
Employment and Support Allowance and Universal Credit) 

• Council Tax (net of Council Tax Support). If you are entitled to receive full 
Council Tax Support but have you have your support reduced by a ‘non-
dependent deduction’, your financial assessment will not show an allowance 
for the non-dependent deduction amount. 

• Essential service charge and ground rent net of funding through benefits 

• Water – the Council will allow the costs of the standing charge  

• Gas and electricity - the Council will allow the costs of the standing charge 

• Home Buildings insurance59  (subject to evidence being provided of the 
amount being paid for building insurance only) 

Allowable Expense Commitments  

An allowance for the following expense commitments may also be made in your 
financial assessment, if they apply to you: 

• Payments under a Court Order (e.g. child maintenance) 

• Educational expenses at the discretion of the Council and if they are identified 
in your care and support plan (these are costs associated with a registered 
education or training course at University or College).  Costs are apportioned 
across the year, and a weekly allowance is calculated. Allowable expenses 
include tuition and study materials (e.g text books) subject to the course being 
appropriate to assist with obtaining work and may include tools required for an 
apprenticeship, if you have to pay for them. You should retain receipts of 
expenses as proof.  

Minimum Income Guarantee (MIG) for Basic Living Costs    
 

This is the level of income that national rules state you must be left with before any 
charge can be made for non-residential care and support services. This Minimum 
Income Guarantee is to ensure that you are left with money to cover your day-to-day 

                                                           
59 See Annex C Clause 49 of the care and Support Statutory guidance 

Page 98



35 
 

Page 35 of 126 

basic living expenses. The level of the Minimum Income Guarantee varies 
depending on your age   and other circumstances at the time of your financial 
assessment. 60 

If you live with a partner who is on a low income61  you and your partner can request 
that the Council carries out an affordability check of your joint situation to ensure that 
your level of Minimum Income Guarantee f(or basic living costs) maintains your joint 
financial resources above Department for Work  and Pensions minimum levels.  

Disability-Related Expenditure (DRE) 
 

This is an allowance that is made in your financial assessment for additional 
expenses due to disability or medical condition if you receive Attendance Allowance 
or Personal Independence Payment, Disability Living Allowance (Care component) 
or Health Allowance component of Universal Credit. Your Social Worker will as part 
of the care and support assessment refer any request related to a disability and/or 
medical condition to their Social Work Team Manager who will decide if this cost will 
be allowed as part of your financial assessment.  

DRE will be considered when: 

• The extra cost is needed to meet your specific need due to a medical 
condition and/or disability, as identified in your care and support plan62.  

• The cost is reasonable and verified 

• It is not reasonable for a lower cost, free alternative item or service to be 
used. If a lower cost alternative could have been used, the expense 
considered will be capped at the cost of the lower item. 

DRE Allowance is not allowed for  

• General items or services required for daily living, which would be used by the 
general population; 

• Any item or service met by payment from a grant (e.g. Disability Facilities 
Grant) or where another funding source has been provided;  

• The difference between the actual cost and the lower cost alternative where 
the Council considers it reasonable for a lower cost alternative; 

Where a particular item of expenditure combines more than one item or service the 
Council will only consider the part of the expense that is meeting the specific 
disability or medical condition. For example, if you pay a hairdresser the hair 
washing cost would be considered if you could not do this task yourself, however, 
hair cutting costs would not be allowed, as this is a service used by the general 
population and is not a disability related expense.  

                                                           
60 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/677736/
Local_authority_circular_-_charging_for_care_and_support_LAC_DHSC__2018_1.pdf 
61 ‘Low Income’ relates to income (including tariff income from savings) below Department for Work and 
pensions minimum allowance/personal allowance levels of benefit. 
62 Annex C Clause 39-41 of the care and Support Statutory Guidance.  

Page 99

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/677736/Local_authority_circular_-_charging_for_care_and_support_LAC_DHSC__2018_1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/677736/Local_authority_circular_-_charging_for_care_and_support_LAC_DHSC__2018_1.pdf


36 
 

Page 36 of 126 

Sharing costs – if you share a household with other adults, and the additional 
disability-related expense item relates to a service that supports the household as a 
whole (for example payments to a cleaner) the amount of the expense item that is 
allowed in your financial assessment will be on the basis that costs are shared 
equally by the number of adults in the household, unless the Council has information 
to show a different way of sharing the costs should be considered. 

Assessed Weekly Charge 
 

Your assessed weekly care charge is the amount you are required to pay towards 
the costs of your non-residential care and support. You will not be asked to pay more 
than your assessed weekly care charge. 

a. if your assessed weekly care charge is nil, you will receive your non-residential 
care and support service free of charge. 

b. If your assessed weekly care charge is more than the cost of your agreed care 
and support, you will pay the full cost of your care and support. 

c. if your assessed weekly charge is less than the cost of your care and support, you 
will pay only your assessed weekly charge  towards your care and support.  

Annual Review 
 

We will review your charge annually.  This usually happens around the time that 
pensions, benefits and allowances change in April.     

If you disagree with your financial assessment you should contact the Care Finance 
Officer in the first instance to try and resolve any issues as soon as possible.   We 
will go through the information to check that the assessment is correct and that the 
calculation or decisions have considered all of your relevant information in line with 
the policy. 

If you still do not agree with the Councils decision you can make a formal complaint 
to the Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 
complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 

The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 

If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  

The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

 

 

Page 100

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


37 
 

Page 37 of 126 

 

How to pay your charges for Care and Support 
 

You will be required to pay your assessed weekly charge directly to the Care 
provider if you are assessed as self-funding. This will be either the Care Home or the 
agency providing the care and support in other settings. 

If the Council pays your assessed weekly charge you will be sent an invoice 4 to 8 
weeks in arrears and payment is due immediately. If you make payment by direct 
debit payment will be made by the 5th of the month following the date of the invoice. 

7. Section 117 And Social Care Packages Of Care 

 

If the service you receive is an after-care service under Section 117 of the Mental 
Health Act 1983 you will not require a financial assessment and you will be exempt 
from charge for the care and support provided under your Section 117 after care 
plan.  

Your care and support plan may show that only a percentage of your care and 
support is funded under Section 117 and the remainder is funded by social care. 

For the percentage of the care and support plan that is social care funded you will 
have a financial assessment carried out to assess what you can afford to pay 
towards the social care element of the identified care and support needs. 

The financial assessment will be on the same basis as that for non-residential or 
residential care and support dependant on where you receive your care and support.  

You will be required to pay your assessed weekly care charge:  

a. if your assessed weekly care charge is nil, you will receive your non-residential 
care and support service free of charge. 

b. If your assessed weekly care charge is more than the cost of your agreed care 
and support, you will pay the full cost of your care and support. 

c. if your assessed weekly charge is less than the cost of your care and support, you 
pay only your assessed weekly charge  towards your care and support.  

8. Mental Capacity To Manage Finances 

 

If you have mental capacity but would like another person to manage your finances 
for you, you can nominate that person on the finance assessment form and the 
Council will deal with this person on your behalf, the Council will continue to keep 
you informed and consult with you where appropriate.  

If you have capacity but would like another person to be able to sign legally binding 
documents on your behalf, you will need to appoint a Lasting Power of Attorney. The 
Council will deal with the appointed attorney on your behalf, the Council will continue 
to keep you informed of all decisions and consult with you where appropriate. 

Page 101



38 
 

Page 38 of 126 

If you are legally appointed to act for someone the Council is arranging care and 
support for, who lacks mental capacity63 to manage their finances you must provide 
us with: 

• Evidence of your legal authority to act as the financial agent for that person 
such as- 
➢ A registered Lasting Power of Attorney: or 
➢ A registered Enduring Power of Attorney: or 
➢ A deputyship Order from the Court of Protection64  

You will need to provide any financial information required to carry out the financial 
assessment for the person needing care and support.  

The Care Finance Officer will then: 

• Send you any correspondence addressed to the person you represent. 

• Require you to sign any financial documents or contracts on behalf of the 
person you represent. 

• Require you to settle any invoices for care charges raised in the name of the 
person you represent. 

If you act for a person who lacks mental capacity you should ask the Department for 
Work and Pensions (DWP)65 to appoint you to deal with the state benefits for that 
person (an ‘appointee for benefits’). 

An ‘appointee for benefits’ has authority to deal with state benefits only for that 
person and may not have access to other financial information or assets records 
belonging to that person. Where state benefits are the only source of income, and 
there are no other financial assets (such as savings, investments, property) it will 
usually be possible for the financial assessment to be completed. 

If the person who lacks capacity has other assets (such as a private home, savings, 
investments, and private income) a suitable representative will need to make an 
application to the Court of Protection to become Deputy so they can deal with the 
person’s finances and affairs. 

The Deputy can be a family member, friend or solicitor. If no suitable representative 
can be identified, the Council will make the application to the Court of Protection to 
become Deputy or to have a panel Deputy appointed (usually a solicitor). 

If you have applied to the Court of Protection, or you intend to apply, to become 
Deputy you should inform the Council and Department of Work and Pensions. 

While you application is in process: 

The Court of Protection can take a long time to process the application for 
Deputyship; the usual timeframe from when the application is sent to the Court of 

                                                           
63 Clause 2 Mental Capacity Act 2005 
64 Clause 19 Mental Capacity Act 2005 
65 For further information see www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-decisions-who-decides-when-
you-cant 
 

Page 102

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-decisions-who-decides-when-you-cant
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-decisions-who-decides-when-you-cant


39 
 

Page 39 of 126 

Protection is around 5 months.  During this time if you are able to provide sufficient 
information about the persons finances the Council will carry out the financial 
assessment and the Council will give you information about any potential charges for 
the care and support. 

If the Council can complete a financial assessment we will send you invoices for the 
care and support charges but allow for payment to be delayed until you receive legal 
authority to access the necessary accounts. 

If the Council cannot complete a financial assessment we will defer the assessment 
until you have the legal authority to access the financial information and backdate 
any assessed charges to the date the person started receiving the care and support. 
The Council may work out an interim charge based on state benefits and send an 
invoice for that amount, once you have authority to access the person’s financial 
information the Council will complete the financial assessment and backdate the 
assessment to the date the person started receiving care and support making any 
required adjustment for payments made.  

If the person you represent clearly has capital above the upper capital threshold that 
would not be disregarded the Council will consider the person to be a self-funder and 
will not provide financial assistance.  

You can find information on becoming a financial representative see: 

• Make decisions on behalf of someone www.gov.uk/make-decisions-for-
someone 

• The Mental capacity Act 2005 www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-
decisions-who-decides-when-you-cant 

• Setting up and registering Lasting Power of Attorney www.gov.uk/lasting-
power-of-attorney-duties 

• Registering existing Enduring Power of Attorney www.gov.uk/enduring-power-
of-attorney-duties 

• Applying to the Court of Protection to become a Deputy www.gov.uk/become-
deputy 

• Being appointed by the Department of Work and Pensions  to manage state 
pension and benefits www.gov.uk/become-appointee-for-someone-claiming-
benefits 

You can also find information on the NHS website www.nhs.uk – on the Guide to 
Care and Support pages. 

9. Residence When Moving To Accommodation Outside Bath And North 
East Somerset Council 

 
If you move to accommodation outside of Bath and North East Somerset while we 
are responsible for funding your care (because of the availability of suitable 
accommodation) to meet your care and support needs, you still remain a Bath and 
North East Somerset resident.  
 
The Council will keep the same responsibility for you that they have for someone 
living in the Bath and North East Somerset area. Only if you later choose to move by 

Page 103

http://www.gov.uk/make-decisions-for-someone
http://www.gov.uk/make-decisions-for-someone
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-decisions-who-decides-when-you-cant
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-decisions-who-decides-when-you-cant
http://www.gov.uk/lasting-power-of-attorney-duties
http://www.gov.uk/lasting-power-of-attorney-duties
http://www.gov.uk/enduring-power-of-attorney-duties
http://www.gov.uk/enduring-power-of-attorney-duties
http://www.gov.uk/become-deputy
http://www.gov.uk/become-deputy
http://www.gov.uk/become-appointee-for-someone-claiming-benefits
http://www.gov.uk/become-appointee-for-someone-claiming-benefits
http://www.nhs.uk/


40 
 

Page 40 of 126 

private arrangement may you become ‘ordinarily resident’ in your new area. If this 
happens, your new Council becomes responsible for any future care and support 
assessment and/or funding66.  
 
If you fund your own care and support and choose to move to a different area for 
accommodation to meet your needs (for example, to be closer to your family) you will 
usually become ‘ordinarily resident’ in the new area. If you become eligible for 
support from adult social care services in the future, the Council in your new area 
would be expected to fulfil this responsibility67. 

10. Deferred Payment Agreements  

 

Introduction 
 

Deferred Payment Agreements are a way of making sure you are not forced to sell 
your home during your lifetime to pay for care, and to give you more flexibility about 
your care-funding options. 

The ‘Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014’ set out the situations 
in which the Council must offer a Deferred Payment Agreement and where the 
Council may offer a Deferred Payment Agreement. These Regulations are set in 
accordance with the Care Act 2014 Sections 34 and 35. 

 A deferred Payment Agreement is generally only available to people who: 

• Have identified needs assessed as being best met in a care home on a 
permanent basis; and  

• Have been assessed to pay the full fees of care home accommodation 
because of property they own that takes their capital assets above the Upper 
Capital Limit. 

The Council have taken a decision that Deferred Payment Agreements are only 
available to those in residential care. 

This policy only applies to Deferred Payment Agreements entered into after the 6th 
April 2020 any agreement entered into on or before the 6th April 2020 will continue 
under the terms and conditions of your existing agreement. 

A Deferred Payment Agreement will not be offered if you own your own home AND 
have capital or assets (including other property) above the Upper Capital Limit. In 
this case you are considered to be able to fund your own placement without the need 
to involve the Council for funding the Council can still provide you with an 
assessment, information and advice.  

 

 

                                                           
66 Chapter 19 Care and Support Statutory Guidance and Chapter 39 Care Act 2014. 
67 Chapter 19 Care and Support Statutory Guidance and Chapter 39 Care Act 2014. 

Page 104



41 
 

Page 41 of 126 

Background 
 

A Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA) is an agreement between you and the 
Council, where the full payment for your care charges are ‘deferred’ (put off to a later 
date) and paid in the meantime by the Council – provided you can offer the Council a 
form of security ( a legal charge against your property). The money you owe to the 
Council for your care charge is then repaid to the Council when your home is sold, or 
from your estate, or from a third party at the end of the Agreement.  

If your financial assessment shows you can afford to pay a charge from your income 
and other capital assets towards your care charges you will be required to pay your 
assessed charge throughout the term of the DPA. This will lower the amount of the 
deferred charges to be repaid to the Council at the end of the DEPA. A financial 
assessment will be carried out in accordance with the statutory guidance. 

If you accept the offer of a DPA with the Council you will charge administration fees 
towards the costs of setting up and monitoring the DPA. You will also be charged 
interest on the charges that you defer from the start of the DPA. 

Eligibility Criteria 
 

You are eligible to apply for a Deferred Payment Agreement if all points below apply 
to you: 

• Your care assessment shows that your identified needs are best met in a care 
home; AND 

• The total of your other capital assets (not counting your home) are below the 
Upper Capital Threshold; AND 

• The property is registered at the Land Registry; AND 

• The value of the property capital provides adequate security to the Council; 
AND 

• The Council can secure the Deferred Payment Agreement through a first legal 
charge against your property: AND 

•  You own and have a legal and beneficial interest in your home; AND 

• Any other person with a legal and /or beneficial interest in your home is willing 
and able to sign the required legal documents; AND 

• The Council considers you have appropriate property insurance arrangements 
in place; AND 

• You have capacity to enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement or you have a 
legally-appointed representative to enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement 
on your behalf.  

Specific Property Issues 
 

Jointly-owned property – If your DPA is to be secured by way of a legal charge and 
the property is jointly owned then all registered proprietors (owners) must sign the 
legal charge and provide a completed identity form for the Land Registry, they must 
also confirm in writing that they will not object to the sale of the property when the 
time comes to settle the debt. You will need to provide proof of the percentage you 

Page 105



42 
 

Page 42 of 126 

own and its potential value (at your cost); the maximum legal charge amount would 
be your share in the total value less 10% and £14,250.00 (the Lower Capital Limit). 

Shared Ownership and Tenants in Common – A DPA can only be approved if all co-
owners and/or landlord agree to the legal charge. You will need to provide proof of 
the percentage you own and its potential value (at your cost); the maximum legal 
charge amount would be your share in the total value less 10% and £14,250.00 (the 
Lower Capital Limit). 

Equity Release – where part of the value of the property has been released by equity 
release the Council will require the person with the benefit of the equity release 
charge to agree to the Council charge being the first legal charge (by way of a deed 
of postponement) and the Council will require proof of your residual equity in the 
property.  

Leasehold properties – if your property is leasehold you can apply for a DPA, 
however sometimes restrictions are placed on the title (registered at the Land 
Registry) and the agreement of the head landlord/ freehold owner is need to arrange 
placing the legal charge on the property. If this is the case it is your responsibility to 
arrange for and obtain this consent and to meet any costs. In the event that consent 
is not forthcoming the Council cannot accept the property as security. 

Sole proprietor restriction – the property title can sometimes include a restriction that 
means a single person cannot consent to a change to the title, if this is the case the 
Council will either ask you to appoint a trustee to act as a second party or ask you to 
sign two documents that will remove the restriction, an ST5 and an RX3. It will 
depend on why the restriction is on the title.  

Unregistered property – you must register your property with the Land Registry for a 
DPA and legal Charge to be secured against the property. If your property is 
unregistered the Council will require you to arrange and pay for first registration, you 
can find further information on the Land Registry website: www.gov.uk/registering-
land-or-property-with-land-registry 

If one or more of the registered owners of the property cannot give consent due to 
lack of mental capacity please refer to part 8 of this document in respect of 
Deputyship.  

Financial Information and Advice and Legal Advice relating to a Deferred Payment 
Agreement (DPA) 
 

The Council will provide you information (in general terms) about: 

• Types of financial security for a DPA; 

• The maximum amount that can be deferred (the equity limit) and what 
happens once the equity limit is reached; 

• How interest and administration costs are charge; 

• What happens when the DPA terminates, options for repayment and what 
happens if you do not repay the amount due. 

Equity limit – this is the term used to describe the maximum amount which you can 
borrow under a Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA). 

Page 106

http://www.gov.uk/registering-land-or-property-with-land-registry
http://www.gov.uk/registering-land-or-property-with-land-registry


43 
 

Page 43 of 126 

This maximum amount is calculated by taking the value of the property and reducing 
it by 10% (or if the property is owned by more than one person  the amount equal to 
their percentage ownership of the property i.e if the property is owned by 2 people 
5%); and a fixed amount equivalent to the Lower Capital Limit. 68 

Example – property value   £200,000 

        Less 10%            - £20,000 

                  Less fixed amount £14,250 (lower capital limit) 

          Equity limit   £165,750 

Legal Charge  
 

A legal charge is a legal document held by the Land Registry which is registered 
against your property when someone other than the registered owner(s) of the 
property wants to have it legally acknowledged that they have a financial interest in 
the property. 

A legal charge in favour of the Council would need to be repaid on completion of the 
sale of the property, or on your death, so that the Council can arrange to remove 
their charge with the Land Registry. 

The Council must obtain a first legal charge this means that the Council will be paid 
first when the property is sold. A legal charge can only be registered by the Land 
Registry if: 

• All the property owners consent; 

• The property is registered at the Land Registry; 

• There are no leasehold restrictions, or, if there are, the head 
landlord/freeholder agrees to the legal charge; 

• Any charge already secured signs a deed of postponement  
The Council advises you to obtain independent legal advice before entering 
into the legal charge. 

Solicitor’s Undertaking  
 

A Solicitor’s ‘Undertaking’ is a legally binding agreement. The Council may accept a 
Solicitor’s Undertaking as security against your Deferred Payment Agreement or if 
you are provided accommodation in rented supported accommodation, extra care 
housing schemes or Shared Lives schemes. An undertaking is where your 
conveyancing Solicitor undertake (commits) to pay the Council the full amount of 
your Deferred Payment Agreement debt, usually from the proceeds of sale of your 
property.69    
 

The Council will normally agree to fund your package of care and support on the 
basis of a Solicitor’s Undertaking if you can confirm the following: 

• The property is on the market and you have a prospective buyer; AND 

                                                           
68 Clause 9.42 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance.   
69 Clause 9.66 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance.  

Page 107



44 
 

Page 44 of 126 

• You have instructed conveyancing Solicitors; AND  

• The instructed conveyancing Solicitors can confirm that completion of the sale 
will occur within 6 weeks. 

 If the Council cannot confirm the above you will be required to enter into a Deferred 
 Payment Agreement (DPA) irrespective of the potential sale. 

If the sale falls through you will be expected to enter into a Deferred Payment 
Agreement. 

If you ask the Council to obtain a Solicitors Undertaking you will be charged an 
arrangement fee of £250.00 plus VAT.70 

Assessed Charge And Flexible Disposable Income Allowance 
 

During the course of the Deferred Payment Agreement you will be assessed to make 
a financial charge based on your income and savings and assets other than your     
property. You are required to pay your assessed care charge on an on-going basis. 

In calculating your assessed charge during your Deferred Payment Agreement you 
are allowed to retain a weekly ‘disposable income allowance71’ up to the amount set 
by statute. This disposable  income allowance is more than, and in place of, the 
‘personal expense allowance’ so that you have enough money for your personal 
expenses and to maintain and insure the property.  

You can chose to keep the maximum disposable income allowance or a lower amount 
– as you wish. In deciding whether to keep your full disposable income allowance, you 
should consider the potential effect on the level of your deferred debt as well as the 
flexibility you have. 

If you wish to keep more than the personal expense allowance you will need to inform 
us in writing when you return the signed Deferred Payment Agreement documents, 
you will be entitled to keep the higher amount once the Deferred Payment Agreement 
has been registered with the Land Registry.   

You should seek independent financial advice before making decisions about entering 
into a Deferred Payment Agreement.  

Renting Out Your Property 
 

If you wish to rent out your property while you have a Deferred Payment Agreement 
(DPA) you should seek independent financial and legal advice. This is a decision for 
you to make. 

If you are applying for a DPA and are proposing a letting arrangement, you must let 
us know either by telling the Care Finance Officer when they carry out your financial 
assessment or by letter. Any tenancy agreement must be for 6 months or less. 

                                                           
70 Clause 8.58 and 8.59 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  
71 Clause 9.48-9.50 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  

Page 108



45 
 

Page 45 of 126 

If your property is already let you must provide the Care Finance Officer with a copy of 
the tenancy agreement. Any tenancy agreement must be for 6 months or less.  

The Council will include your net rental income as part of your assessed weekly 
charge for your care and support. Your net rental income will be the amount after the 
agent’s fees, any liability to taxation and reasonable maintenance expenses.  

You must make sure your property insurance is appropriate to a letting arrangement.  

The Deferred Payment Agreement Application Process 
 

If you wish to apply for a Deferred Payment Agreement, you will need to do this in 
good time to allow for your application to be considered and legal arrangements to be 
in place before you need funding (for example, to be in place before the end of the 
12-week property disregard period). 

If you have been in a care home on a self-funding basis (because of the level of your 
income or capital) and you now wish to apply for Council funding and a DPA, you 
should submit an application for a DPA as soon as possible and no later than six 
weeks after the need to apply for DPA has been identified either by us or you72.   

The Council will commence funding: 

• If you73 approach Social Services before the date your capital (excluding your 
property) dropped to below the upper capital limit of £23,250, the Council will 
fund from the date your capital drops to below the upper capital limit. 

• If you74 approach Social Services after your capital has dropped to below the 
upper capital limit of £23,250 the Council will fund from the date you 
approached Social Services.  

1: Information given to you about Deferred Payment Agreements (DPA)  

If your identified needs show that a care home placement is appropriate to meet your 
needs, we will: 

• Check with you whether you own your home and establish whether your 
property will be disregarded in your financial assessment; 

• Carry out appropriate checks, including previous financial assessments and a 
Land Registry search;  

• Tell you if we think you are eligible for a 12-week property disregard and 
Deferred Payment Agreement as soon as a placement in a care home is 
identified as appropriate;  

• Give you information about the Deferred Payment scheme ; 

• Carry out a financial assessment of your situation (your income, savings, 
details and value of your property capital, outgoings relating to your property); 

• Invite you to apply for a DPA, giving a date by which you should return the 
completed application form. This date should be no later than six weeks from 
the date your placement started in the care home; 

                                                           
72 Or your appointed representative – see Mental Capacity to manage Finance for more information. 
73 Or your appointed representative – see Mental Capacity to manage Finance for more information. 
74 Or your appointed representative – see Mental Capacity to manage Finance for more information. 

Page 109



46 
 

Page 46 of 126 

• Make clear to you that the DPA will only be agreed by the Council if all the 
owners of the property agree to the Legal Charge ; 

• Tell you if you need to arrange a formal valuation of your property, if we do 
not agree with the valuation you obtain the Council may obtain its own 
valuation the Council will then discuss the valuations with you to mutually 
agree a valuation. The costs the Council incurs in carrying out the valuation 
will be reflected in the administration costs charged to you in the set up fees 
for the DPA.  

2: Submit your Deferred Payment Application - Within six Weeks  
 

• A DPA application form must be completed, signed by you75  and returned to 
us within six weeks of admission to a care home on a permanent basis.  

• The application for the deferred payment agreement must include the 
following information: 

❖ The room rate from the 13th week,. 
❖ Signed confirmation from the care home that the rate from week 13 

is agreed. 
❖ The value of the property 
❖ Confirmation of who owns the property and on what basis (i.e. joint 

tenants, tenants in common, trust). 
❖ Whether you intend to seek a first party top up (see First Party Top 

Ups) and if so the amount. 
❖ A copy of the property building insurance. 
❖ Any Lasting Power of Attorney or Deputyship Order or a certified 

copy (if appropriate). 
❖ Any tenancy agreement (if appropriate). 
❖ If the property was jointly owned and one party has died the grant of 

probate or Will or a certified copy.  
 

• If you are already in a care home and become eligible to apply for a DPA in 
other circumstances you76 should submit an application for a DPA as soon as 
possible and no later than six weeks after the need to apply for DPA has been 
identified either by us or you. For example - this could be where  your property 
had previously been subject to a statutory disregard but that disregard has 
now ended.  

• You77 will need to speak with the care home and negotiate the cost of care 
from week 13 onwards and obtain written confirmation from the care provider 
of the agreed rate, this must then be provided to the Council together with 
your application for a deferred payment agreement.  

• If the deferred payment application is not fully completed and returned to the 
Council by the end of week six, the application will not progress, and at the 
end of week 12 the Council will deem you to be self-funding and you will be 
required to make payment of the full cost of care directly to the care provider.  

 

 

                                                           
75 Or your appointed representative – see Mental Capacity to manage Finance for more information.  
76 Or your appointed representative – see Mental Capacity to manage Finance for more information. 
77 Or your appointed representative – see Mental Capacity to manage Finance for more information. 

Page 110



47 
 

Page 47 of 126 

3. Considering your Application and Making a Decision - Within 10 working days  
 

We will check your DPA application form and follow up on any queries that may 
arise; including ensuring a property valuation has been obtained. We will need to 
have all information related to your DPA application, including what your intentions 
are for the property and the equity available. If you have given us all the relevant 
information we will consider all the information and make a decision.  
 
If your application doesn’t meet the criteria for a mandatory Deferred Payment 
Agreement we will carry out an assessment of whether your DPA is sustainable. 

This assessment will address, among other things, the likely period of the DPA, the 
equity available, the level of any top-up and the period of time you would be able to 
defer the weekly costs. A top-up would be needed if you chose a care home whose 
fees are greater than the amount we would expect to pay to meet your identified 
needs (See the Choice of Accommodation and Additional Payments Policy).  
 
The factors which will be considered when assessing sustainability are:  

• the likely period you will want the DPA;  

• the equity available;  

• the sustainability of any contribution from savings;  

• the flexibility to meet future care needs;  

• the amount of any top-up payment for preferred accommodation;  

• the period of time you would be able to defer your costs for;  
 
We will decide whether the application meets the criteria set out in this DPA policy.  
If your application is accepted we will write to you to confirm our decision. We aim to 
do this within a week of receiving your application unless specialist financial or legal 
advice is required. This is our formal offer of a Deferred Payment Agreement to you. 
Our letter will also state:  
 

• any conditions attached to the DPA, (for example, insurance requirements of 
the property).  

• estimated administration charges78 and interest rate that will be applied to the 
deferred debt  

• when and how often we will send you statements of your deferred debt  

• any benefits you may be entitled to claim when you make your own care 
funding arrangements and how to do this  

• your assessed weekly charge which you need to pay on an on-going basis  

• the agreed level of your weekly disposable income allowance  

• the invoicing arrangements and how to pay your ongoing weekly assessed 
charge  

• that failure to maintain your assessed weekly charge could result in the 
Deferred Payment Agreement being terminated  

• the weekly amount that is agreed to be deferred under the DPA and any other 
costs agreed to be deferred under the DPA where the agreed security is a 

                                                           
78 Clause 9.30, 9.69 and 9.8 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance  

Page 111



48 
 

Page 48 of 126 

legal charge, and there are joint owners of the property, they must all consent 
to the placing of a legal charge against the property and, that if any of the joint 
owners do anything to prevent the legal charge being placed this will result in 
the offer of the DPA being withdrawn and the Council will immediately notify 
your care provider that it is ceasing to be involved in the placement.  

 
Our letter constitutes an offer of a DPA to you and will state the date from which the 
DPA is proposed to start. It will be produced in duplicate, one copy to be signed by 
you and to be returned as your acceptance of the DPA offer. The other copy is to be 
retained by you.  
 

The Councils Legal Department will draw up a Deferred Payment Agreement and 
documents relating to your identified security (usually a legal charge document 
relating to your property).  
 
These are legally-binding agreements and the Council would usually send these 
directly to your legal adviser so that you can take advice from your legal adviser 
before you sign and return the Deferred Payment Agreement and documents (see 
Financial Information and Advice relating to a Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA). 
If you do not have legal advisor The Council will send these directly to you or your 
financial representative. 
You will need to read the Agreement, sign the documents and the DPA and return 
the Agreement and the documents relating to your security.  
 
If other people need to give their consent as well as you (for example, if your 
property is jointly-owned, or leasehold), you will need to obtain ALL those necessary 
signatures on the documents79. We will tell you if this applies to you. 
You must return the signed Deferred Payment Agreement and relevant signed legal 
documents (including signatures from other parties where needed) within 28 days.  
If you don’t return the signed Agreement and signed document(s) relating to your 
security we will not be able to proceed with your DPA and you will need to make your 
own care funding arrangements. We will contact your care accommodation provider 
and tell them the date that the Council will stop funding your care. You will be 
charged the administration costs we incur. 
 
(If the reason for not signing is because of lacking mental capacity, see DPAs for 
People Lacking Mental Capacity) 
 

If your DPA application is refused we will tell you the reason/s and we will write to 
you to confirm this decision. You can appeal this decision if you wish - see Appealing 
the Council’s decision about a DPA. 

Our letter will explain:  

• the reason(s) for refusing your application  

• the start date for when you need to make your own care funding 
arrangements (usually the end of your 12-week property disregard period).  

                                                           
79 If you are acting on behalf of the Applicant as their legally-appointed representative and you are also a joint 
owner of the property being used as security, you will need to give permission both in your own right as a joint 
owner, and as the representative of the applicant as a joint owner on legal charge documents relating to the 
property.    

Page 112



49 
 

Page 49 of 126 

• any benefits you may be entitled to claim when you make your own care 
funding arrangements and how to do this  

• how to appeal our decision about your DPA application 

• how to make a complaint  

• that we will tell your care accommodation provider the date the Council will 
stop funding your care  

• If there are administration costs that you need to pay, how much these are.  

 

Where a DPA application is refused, any administration charges will usually be 
waived. However this will be considered on a case by case basis and if there is 
evidence that the application was pursued unreasonably (for example if you insisted 
on pursuing an application despite our advice about your eligibility), or you belatedly 
responded to our requests for information needed in order to establish your eligibility, 
or otherwise put us to excessive trouble, then the charges will be made. 

 
4. Your Deferred Payment Agreement starts  
 

At the start of the DPA we will open up an account to record the following:  

• The valuation of your property and the date of this valuation.  

• Your agreed weekly deferred amount  

• Administration costs and interest charges to be applied.  

• The date of the first statement, which will usually be within six months of the 
start of your DPA80 and every 6 months thereafter. These will be produced to 
match the review of interest rates by the Government (1 January and 1 July 
each year).  

 

You can request to keep up to £144.00 per week of your income from the date the 
Deferred Payment Agreement commences81. Please note this will mean the amount 
secured against your property will increase quicker. 

 
We may require you to revalue your property when debt deferred reaches 50% of the 
value of the security, and periodically thereafter. Any cost of revaluation will be re-
charged to you through Administration charges.  
 

DPAs for People Lacking Mental Capacity  

 
If a person lacks the mental capacity to give informed consent to a legally binding 
agreement, it means they are not themselves capable of entering into a DPA. If 
someone else has been legally-appointed to act for them, that person can apply for a 
DPA on their behalf. To enter into a DPA on behalf of someone else, that person 
must be one of the following:  

• a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection  

• the holder of a registered Enduring Power of Attorney  

                                                           
80 Paragraph 11(d)(i)(aa) of the Care and Support (deferred Payment) Regulations 2014. 
81 Clause 6(1) and 6(2) of the Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014. 

Page 113



50 
 

Page 50 of 126 

• the holder of a registered Lasting Power of Attorney (which must include 
authority to manage the person’s property and financial affairs).  

 
The named ‘applicant’ on the DPA will be the person they act for, but the person 
acting for them will complete and sign the DPA on their behalf. 

If there is no-one legally appointed to act, and the person lacks mental capacity to 
confer a Lasting Power of Attorney, attempts should be made to identify someone 
who is willing and able to apply to the Court of Protection to become a deputy for that 
person, to manage their property and financial affairs. This could be a relative, a 
friend, a solicitor, or where there is no-one else suitable, the Council.  
 
The person applying to the Court of Protection must state their intent to enter into a 
Deferred Payment Agreement with the Council. Once the Court of Protection makes 
a ‘First General Order’ appointing the deputy, the deputy can enter into a DPA with 
the Council on behalf of the person. As the deputy application process takes time, 
the Council has an INTERIM FUNDING POLICY to deal with the period until a 
deputy has been appointed by the Court and can enter into a DPA with the Council. 

If there is no one to act the Social Work team will refer the matter to the Councils 
Deputyship Team who will make the application to the Court of Protection for a panel 
Solicitor to be appointed to act on the person’s behalf. The Council has an INTERIM 
FUNDING POLICY to deal with the period until a deputy has been appointed by the 
Court and can enter into a DPA with the Council. 

You can request to keep up to £144.00 per week of the income received by the 
person from the date the Deferred Payment Agreement commences82. Please note 
this will mean the amount secured against your property will increase quicker. 

 
5. Conditions Placed on Deferred Payment Agreements  
 
We can’t agree to a Deferred Payment Agreement if no suitable security is available 
or you wish to defer a larger amount than (in our assessment as set in The DPA 
Application Process ) you can provide security for.  
 
We will require prompt settlement of your assessed charge during the lifetime of your 
DPA. (See Default Provisions which deals with the Council’s position in the event 
these contributions are not settled promptly.)  
 
We will require your property to be properly maintained and insured. We may require 
evidence of your property insurance at any time, including evidence that your insurer 
has been informed if your property is unoccupied for any period. If maintaining your 
property means that some of your savings are reasonably required to be used to 
bring the property up to a suitable standard of maintenance, we will not withhold its 
agreement to this use of capital unless there is evidence the level of cost is deemed 
unreasonable.  
 
When an application for DPA is received we may require you to arrange a formal 
valuation of the property or the share of it owned by you. if you choose not to do so 

                                                           
82 Clause 6(1) and 6(2) of the Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014. 

Page 114



51 
 

Page 51 of 126 

and the Council arranges a  valuation the Council will charge you the costs of this. 
(See The Application Process above on how to proceed if these valuations differ.)  
 

We may require you to arrange for a re-valuation when the amount deferred reaches 
50% of the value of the security to ensure the level of deferred debt stays within the 
equity available. Any change in the value will be recorded and the potential impact 
on the DPA calculated and communicated to you. If you choose not to do so and the 
Council arranges a valuation the cost of this re-valuation will be charged to you as an 
administration cost.  
 
If your level of capital changes. The following are examples but are not a 
comprehensive list:  

• If you inherit a sum of money.  

• If structural problems are discovered at your property, e.g. subsidence.  

• Should a close family member move into or out of your property.  

 
When your deferred debt reaches 75% of the value of the security your Social 
Worker will review the cost of your care and have a discussion with you about:  

• when you might be eligible for means-tested support  

• implications on any top-up payments if they are currently included in your care 
costs (through your preferred accommodation choice)  

• potential changes to your welfare benefit entitlements.  

Interest & Administration Charges  

 
Interest will be added to the amount you defer from the start of your Deferred 
Payment Agreement, at the maximum rate of interest set in the Care and Support 
(Deferred Payment) Regulations 201483 by the Department of Health. The 
Department of Health reviews this rate every six months effective from 1 January 
and 1 July in each year. If the amount you defer includes your administration fees, 
interest will be applied to those also.  
 
Interest is charged at compound rates. This means that interest is added to the total 
debt including previous interest charges. Compounding will take place daily.  
In the event that the equity limit is reached (see Equity Limit above) interest will 
continue to be added to the deferred debt until the total outstanding is settled.  
 
Interest will continue to be charged after you die and/or after the service ends until 
the total outstanding is settled. 

Administration fees will be charged when a Deferred Payment Agreement is set up 
and during the lifetime of your Deferred Payment Agreement84 – including an annual 
administration charge. The schedule of Administration fees is shown at Appendix A – 

                                                           
83 This maximum rate is set in the Regulations as the weighted average interest rate on conventional Gilts plus 
.015% . The rate is reviewed every six months (after the Office of Budget Responsibility publishes its report of 
Gilts). Clause 9.71 and 9.75 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance and Paragraph 9 of the Care and 
Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014.   
84 Paragraph 10 of the Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014 

Page 115



52 
 

Page 52 of 126 

Schedule of Fees and Charges and will be subject to annual review to take account 
of inflation. 

We add your administration fees will be added to the amount deferred unless you 
request for these to be invoiced to you separately for immediate payment. You would 
need to request this when you apply for your Deferred Payment Agreement. Note 
that unless you pay the administration costs immediately these will be added to your 
deferred debt and you will be charged interest on the administration costs at the 
same rate as that applied to your deferred payment. 

Six-monthly Statements of Deferred Payment Agreements  
 
The Deferred Payment Agreement starts to run from the date notified in your DPA 
Offer letter (see The DPA Application Process above).  
 
Statements will be produced in May for the period up to the 31st March and 
November for the period up to the 30th September each year. These statements will 
be sent to You or Your Representative.  
The statements will show:  

• The original property valuation.  

• The equity available or maximum amount which can be borrowed under DPA.  

• Any revised property valuation  

• The revised equity available resulting from this change in the property value.  

• Payments received in settlement of the assessed charge.  

• The amount of any interest charges and administration costs added to the 
debt.  

• The total deferred debt outstanding including these interest and administration 
costs.  

• Balance of equity still available (after deducting the amount of total deferred 
debt).  

• Approximate period this equity is expected to last.  
 

You may request a statement at other times and we will provide such a statement 
within 28 days of receipt of such request85. 

Settlement of the Deferred Debt  
 

If you have placed the property for sale on admission to long-term care, or you have 
chosen to sell at a subsequent date, the accrued debt will be due for repayment 
upon the sale of your property. We will calculate the accrued debt and, on receipt of 
the outstanding monies, we will apply to the Land Registry to remove the legal 
charge against your property.  
 
In this event your DPA will be terminated and you may become responsible for 
paying the full costs to your care home (‘self-funding’) - depending on the balance of 
funds available after clearing the deferred payments. 

                                                           
85 Paragraph 11(d)(i)(cc) of the Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014.  

Page 116



53 
 

Page 53 of 126 

If your property has not been sold at the date of your death we will contact your 
executor, if known, within six weeks after your death. If the executor is not known 
and if you had previously identified a third party to help us reclaim the amount 
deferred, we will contact that third party within the same timescale. If neither is 
known then the person who was acting as your representative will be contacted. We 
will advise the person responsible that settlement should be made within 90 days of 
the date of death or a report provided on progress made and a likely date for 
settlement.  
 
When making contact we will notify the amount outstanding and how this is made up 
and whether any further charges may accrue, for example further interest.  
 
Should the executor or administrator of your estate decide to settle the debt without, 
or before, selling your property, we will accept such settlement and apply to the Land 
Registry to remove the legal charge or release any alternative security provided. 

Default Provisions 
 

The Deferred Payment Agreement is a contract between us (the Council) and you 
(the Applicant).  

• We will agree to pay the full cost of your placement to your care provider and 
you will either agree to allow a Legal Charge to be placed (and agreement by 
the other property owners in the case of jointly-owned property), or provide 
sufficient acceptable security. This security ensures that the Council can 
recover its outlay on your behalf for the period that your savings and assets, 
net of the level of deferred contribution, are greater than the upper capital 
limit.  

• Assessed charges during your DPA period: you agree to pay your 
assessed charge in a timely way. We will send you regular invoices for this 
purpose.  

 
Failure to pay your assessed charge for three months may lead to the Council 
refusing to continue deferring your ongoing care home payments. We will look at 
each case on its own facts and will not apply this clause if there are genuine reasons 
for non-payment, e.g. difficulty in accessing bank accounts, and will agree an 
alternative timescale.  

We will give 30 days’ notice of intention to apply this clause explaining how your care 
needs should be paid for from that date. 

• Reaching your equity limit: We will also give 30 days’ notice of the date that 
you are likely to reach the equity limit. In this case we will contact your care 
home and attempt to negotiate a rate that we would usually expect to pay to 
meet your needs, and will reassess your financial charge due.  

• Should your property for which the DPA was arranged become occupied by a 
relative for whom a statutory disregard may apply, we will establish the 
reasons behind this change and decide whether it is appropriate to allow the 
property to be disregarded. If a disregard is agreed we will write to confirm the 
end date of the deferred payment, confirming the Deferred Debt outstanding, 
and that interest will continue to accrue until the debt is settled. The Deferred 

Page 117



54 
 

Page 54 of 126 

Payment Agreement may re-commence if the property becomes ceases to be 
disregarded.  

• Insuring and Maintaining your property: In the event that we judge that 
your property is not being properly maintained and/or insured, we will consider 
whether to refuse to defer future payments for your care. In this event we will 
give 30 days’ notice and explain how your care needs should be paid for from 
that date. During this 30-day period you may appeal if you believe we have 
acted unfairly. Your appeal should either demonstrate why the insurance or 
state of maintenance are in fact satisfactory or what steps are being taken to 
remedy the failing(s).  

• CHC funding : if you become eligible for Continuing Health Care (CHC) 
funding your costs of care will be paid in full by the Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) therefore your deferred payment agreement will be suspended. 

• Out of area: if you chose to move to home outside of Bath and North East 
Somerset Council your deferred payment agreement will be suspended. 

 

Appealing the Councils decision about a Deferred Payment Agreement 
  
If you disagree with the Councils decision about your DPA application you have the 
right to request a review of the decision. The review will be carried out by The Client 
Finance Team Manager in the same way as a financial assessment review.  
 
If you wish to appeal you should contact the Client Finance Team with details of your 
appeal.  
 
The Appeal will be carried out through the same process as the financial assessment 
appeals. 
 
If you still do not agree with the Councils decision you can make a formal complaint 
to the Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 
complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 

The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 

If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  

The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

11. Interim Funding Policy  

 
The Council’s Deferred Payment Agreement Policy (DPA) is detailed in section 9 of 
this Framework, however the Council can only agree to a DPA if a person has 
capacity to enter into the DPA, or if they lack capacity, that someone has the legal 
authority to enter into a DPA on their behalf.  

Page 118

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


55 
 

Page 55 of 126 

 
Where a person is taking steps to become legally-appointed to act on behalf of a 
person who lacks capacity (for example, applying to the Court of Protection to 
become a deputy) this process can take several months. During this time, while a 
person lacking capacity needs a placement in a care home, but the person applying 
to act for them doesn’t have legal authority to enter into long-term funding 
arrangements, the person applying to become deputy can apply to the Council for an 
Interim Funding arrangement.  
 
If the Client Finance Team identify that a person going into a care home has capital 
assets above the upper limit, or has a property, or a beneficial interest in a property, 
and that the person not only lacks capacity but has no-one with the legal authority to 
represent them, their Social Worker will take steps to identify someone who can take 
responsibility for becoming the legal representative (such as a court-appointed 
deputy).  

This would usually be a family member, or friend, or solicitor, or where there is no-
one else suitable, the Council can apply to the Court of Protection and act as Deputy 
or seek the appointment of a panel Deputy. 

The circumstances where the Council will consider Interim Funding cannot be set out 
in a comprehensive list as there is the possibility of a situation arising for the first 
time, but examples of the type of situation where Interim Funding can be considered 
are: 
 

• Sudden loss of mental capacity and an application to the Court of Protection 
is being made to appoint a deputy  

• The holder of a Lasting Power of Attorney or Enduring Power of Attorney is 
not able to act for the person. This could be because that person has died or 
they have lost mental capacity themselves, and someone else is applying to 
become a court-appointed deputy.  

• a property is jointly owned but the other owner is unable to agree to a legal 
charge because, for example, they have lost mental capacity and someone is 
applying to become a court-appointed deputy for this person.  

• The property is unregistered but steps are being taken to arrange registration.  

• You reside in rented supported accommodation, extra care housing schemes 
or Shared Lives schemes and the property is being sold and you meet the 
conditions set out to obtain a Solicitor’s Undertaking86.  

 

Eligibility Criteria  

 
The Council may consider Interim Funding for you if:  

• Your identified needs can only be met in a care home on a permanent basis; 
AND  

                                                           
86 If the Council agrees interim funding and you reside in rented supported accommodation, extra care housing 
schemes or Shared Lives Schemes you are not entitled to have the property disregarded for the first 12 weeks 
you are not resident at the property. Any charge will commence form the day you reside at the alternate 
accommodation.  

Page 119



56 
 

Page 56 of 126 

• Your financial circumstances indicate that you are responsible for the full cost 
of your care home accommodation under the Council’s Care and Support 
Financial Assessment and Charging Policy; AND  

• You lack mental capacity to manage your finances; AND  

• Your representative is not yet legally-appointed to manage your financial 
affairs; AND  

• Your representative has not been able to make an arrangement with your 
care home to defer your care fees until they become appointed; AND  

• Your representative has no other interim funding alternatives available to 
them while they are waiting for the Court to appoint them as deputy; AND  

• Your representative is willing to provide a written undertaking that they are 
applying to the Court of Protection to become deputy and that once they are 
appointed deputy by the Court they will either discharge the deferred care 
fees or (where eligible) enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement with the 
Council 

 
The Council may consider other situations to offer you Interim Funding if a Deferred 
Payment Agreement is temporarily not available to you due to factors that you are 
actively seeking to resolve (for example, if your property is unregistered or for sale) 
or you reside in rented supported accommodation, extra care housing schemes or 
Shared Lives schemes87. These will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 
 

Your representative who will be acting for you should always seek independent 
financial and legal advice before making any decisions about whether a Deferred 
Payment Agreement is the best option for you.  
 
The Council can provide your representative with an Interim Funding Agreement and 
a Model Deferred Payment Agreement (if appropriate) to look at with their legal 
adviser. We would advise your representative to seek financial and legal advice as 
soon as possible so that they have all the information to decide on the most suitable 
funding arrangements for you, so that they can start making any necessary 
applications /arrangements. 

The Application Process  

 
1. Information given to You or Your financial representative about Interim Funding  
 
You or The person identified as taking forward an application to legally manage the 
financial affairs of the person entering a care home (‘the financial representative”) 
will be sent:  

• information about care home charges  

• the financial assessment process  

• information about Deferred Payment Agreements (if there is property)  

                                                           
87 If the Council agrees interim funding and you reside in rented supported accommodation, extra care housing 
schemes or Shared Lives Schemes you are not entitled to have the property disregarded for the first 12 weeks 
you are not resident at the property. Any charge will commence form the day you reside at the alternate 
accommodation.  
 

Page 120



57 
 

Page 57 of 126 

• Details of Interim Funding arrangements, including interest charged on 
accrued care home costs  

• information about how to obtain Interim Funding  

• how to access independent financial and legal advice  
We will carry out a Land Registry search where relevant. 

2. Financial representative requests Interim Funding (within two weeks)  
 
If the you of your financial representative is unable to make financial arrangements 
immediately for the care home fees, the Council can consider Interim Funding, the 
Council will require conformation of the following: 

• That they complete and return the interim funding application form within 2 
weeks of the date the application form was posted to you.  

• that they are taking steps to become legally appointed to deal with the 
finances and what steps have been taken so far (such as providing 
confirmation of an application to the Court of protection (COP3, COP1 and 
COP1A Forms) or confirmation that a conveyancing Solicitor has been 
instructed to undertake first registration of the property). 

• in the cases of property ownership, what are their intended plans for the 
property and long term funding arrangements  

• undertake to keep the Council informed of the process to either settle 
outstanding charges (ie sale of the property) or agree to a Deferred Payment 
Agreement and legal charge, or a combination of these if appropriate, once 
the legal power to act is in place.  

• provide full information on property ownership and provide reliable valuation 
of the property.  

 
3. Considering the Interim Funding request and making a decision (within 10 days)  
 
On receipt of the above information the Council will carry out an assessment of the 
proposed arrangements and decide whether they are acceptable, sustainable, and 
provide sufficient guarantee to protect the Council’s financial position. The factors 
which will be considered when assessing this include:  

•  the likely period the Interim Funding will be needed  

• the amount that could be paid from the resident’s state benefits by the 
financial representative appointed by the Department for Work and Pensions 
to manage the resident’s benefits  

• the financial representative’s intentions for longer-term funding arrangements 
once they are appointed deputy for the resident 

• What alternative funding arrangements have already been considered by the 
financial representative  

• Evidence that the financial representative has obtained, or is actively seeking, 
independent financial and legal advice about long term care funding 
arrangements for the resident  
 

The Council will decide whether the financial representative’s request for Interim 
Funding for the resident meets the criteria set out in this Interim Funding Policy – the 
Adult Social Care Commissioner will review the Interim Funding application to verify 
that the proposed Interim Funding and the plans to be able to legally act do not place 

Page 121



58 
 

Page 58 of 126 

the Council at undue risk, while taking account of the Council’s responsibility to 
safeguard the individual in need of care.  
 
If the application is accepted we will write to the financial representative to confirm 
our decision. We will send two copies of the letter, one of which will need to be 
signed and returned by the financial representative to confirm acceptance of the 
Interim Funding arrangement. This letter will also state:  

• any conditions attached to the Interim Funding (for example, insurance of the 
property).  

• the interest rate that will be applied to the accrued debt through the Interim 
Funding arrangement  

• administration fees applied for monitoring the accrued debt through the 
Interim Funding arrangement 

• When and how often we will send statements of the accrued debt to the 
financial  

representative  

• any benefits to be claimed by the financial representative on behalf of the 
resident and how to do this  

• the assessed weekly charge which the financial representative will need to 
pay on an on-going basis (for example, from state benefits)  

• the agreed level of your weekly disposable income allowance (if relevant) *  
the invoicing arrangements and how to pay the ongoing weekly assessed 
charge  

• that failure to maintain the assessed weekly charge from available income 
could result in the Interim Funding arrangement being terminated  

• the weekly amount that is agreed to be accrued under the Interim Funding 
arrangement and any other costs agreed to be accrued under the 
arrangement  

• The Councils expectations of the financial representative to keep the Council 
updated with progress of their application to act for the resident 

• The Councils expectations of the financial representative to discharge the 
accrued debt or enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement with the Council 
when they have been legally-appointed to act for the resident  

• that if a Deferred Payment Agreement application is anticipated that where 
there are joint owners of a property all owners must consent to the placing of 
a legal charge against the property  

 

If the application is refused the Council will tell the financial representative the 
reason/s and we will write to them to confirm this decision.  
Our letter will explain:  

• the reason(s) for refusing the application  

• the date from which the financial representative will need to make 
arrangements on the resident’s behalf for care funding (usually the end of a 
12-week property disregard period).  

•  how to appeal our decision about Interim Funding  

• how to make a complaint  

Page 122



59 
 

Page 59 of 126 

• that we will tell the care accommodation provider the date the Council will stop 
funding the care costs  

 
4: Agreed Interim Funding arrangements starts: setting up invoicing and monitoring 
arrangements to track the accruing costs and interest  
 
The Care Finance Officer will carry out periodic checks on the interim funding 
arrangement and if no update has been received for three months we will contact the 
financial representative to request an update.  
 
Once the financial representative has obtained the legal power to act for the resident 
and provides evidence to us, the Care Finance Officer will write to the financial 
representative to confirm that the Interim Funding will cease and either the accrued 
debt (including interest and any administration charges) will need to be paid in full, or 
the financial representative will need to enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement on 
the resident’s behalf, secured by a legal charge against the resident’s property. 

Conditions Placed on Interim Funding  

 
Interim funding is provided subject to the following conditions  

• You or the person acting for you will return the interim finding application form 
with 2 weeks of receipt of the application form 

• The person acting for you will take all reasonable steps to acquire the legal 
authority to act. This includes applying to the Department for Work and 
Pensions to become appointee to manage your state benefits. 

• The portion of the charge relating to your state benefits will be paid promptly 
by your financial representative once they have been appointed to deal with 
your state benefits.  

• Once legal power to act is granted, the Interim Funding agreement will either 
be converted to a Deferred Payment Agreement or the balance of accrued 
charges including interest and administration charges is paid in full.  

 
If you fail to comply with the above conditions the Council will not provide interim 
funding and can, at their discretion, refuse any further application for interim funding.   

Interest and Administration Charges  
 

The interest charges will be the same as for Deferred Payment Agreements. The 
annual administration fee for monitoring the Interim Funding Arrangements will be 
the same as for Deferred Payment Agreements.  
 

Review of funding 
 

Your interim funding will be reviewed after 4 months, this timeframe should allow for 
an application to the Court of Protection or first registration of the property. 
 
We will write to you if we require any further information from you and confirm the 
outcome of the review to you in writing. – the Adult Social Care Commissioner will 
review the Interim Funding to verify that the proposed Interim Funding and the plans 

Page 123



60 
 

Page 60 of 126 

to be able to legally act do not place the Council at undue risk, while taking account 
of the Council’s responsibility to safeguard the individual in need of care.  
 

Six-monthly Statements  
 

The Interim Funding starts to run from the start date notified (or at the end of a 12-
week property disregard periods).  
 
We will produce statements of your accrued debt as in May for the period up to the 
31st March and November for the period up to the 30th September each year. 
 
The statement will show the following figures: 
 

• The original property valuation.  

• The equity available or maximum amount which can be borrowed under 
interim funding.  

• Any revised property valuation.  

• The revised equity available resulting from any change in the property value.  

• The total cost of care for the period to the statement date, split between 
assessed charge and deferred debt.  

• Payments received in settlement of the assessed charge.  

• The amount of any interest charges and administration costs added to the 
debt.  

• The total deferred debt outstanding including these interest and administration 
costs.  

• Balance of equity still available  

• Approximate period this equity is expected to last.  
 

Making an Application for a Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA)  

 
Once your financial representative has obtained the power to act on your behalf, 
usually by being appointed a deputy, they will need to notify the Care Finance Officer 
immediately and provide evidence accordingly.  
If your financial representative is now able to access sufficient funds on your behalf 
to settle the outstanding debt then they should arrange to do so without delay.  
 
Where your funds are within your property capital and your financial representative is 
not able to settle the outstanding debt, your financial representative may consider 
making an application to the Council for a Deferred Payment Agreement. This should 
be done as soon as possible. The balance of your accrued charges will usually be 
transferred into your Deferred Payment Agreement. See DEFERRED PAYMENT 
AGREEMENTS POLICY  

Default Provisions 
 
If we discover that the Court of Protection has approved the appointment of a deputy 
and the deputy has not contacted us to let us know, we may decide to terminate the 

Page 124



61 
 

Page 61 of 126 

interim funding immediately and seek recovery of the debt (including interest and any 
administrative costs).  
 
If your financial representative does not settle the amounts it is agreed they can 
access, for example state benefits in the role of appointee, without good reason, we 
may consider ending the interim funding.  
 
If your financial representative fails to take the required steps to register your 
property, if the property is not registered with the Land Registry, we may consider 
ending the interim funding.  
 
In the event the equity available is no longer sufficient to fund your care, we will stop 
accruing your ongoing care home costs and reassess your financial charge due. We 
will attempt to negotiate with your care home a rate that we would usually expect to 
pay to meet your needs. See Choice of Accommodation and Additional Payments 
Policy for further information. Interest and any administration charges will continue to 
be applied to your accrued debt.  
 
When your financial representative has been granted legal authority to act for you, if 
they are not able to settle the accrued debt in full, they will need to agree to a legal 
charge against your property (on your behalf) under a Deferred Payment Agreement. 
 

Appeals  
 

If you disagree with the outcome of your financial assessment or deferred payments 
/ Interim Funding Decision you should contact the Care Finance Officer in the first 
instance to try and resolve any issues as soon as possible. The Care Finance Officer 
will go through the information with you and check the assessment / decision has 
considered all the relevant information in line with the Charging and Financial 
Assessment rules. 

If you are still dissatisfied with the outcome the Care Finance Officer will confirm to 
you how you can lodge an appeal with the Team leader for Care Finance.  

If the issue cannot be resolved you can be put in touch with the Councils Complaints 
team you can make a formal complaint to the Complaints and Data Protection Team 
Manager complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 

The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 

If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  

The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

Page 125

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


62 
 

Page 62 of 126 

Debt Recovery 
 

If we terminate the interim funding and you are unable to pay the accrued charge for 
care and support, either in full or in part, you must tell us as soon as possible so that 
we can discuss this with you and attempt to find a resolution.  

If the care and support charges remain unpaid and there is no good reason why you 
(or your financial representative) are unable to pay your charge, the Council will start 
debt recovery action88  

The Council will consider allowing payment of the debt by instalments, we will 
usually require the full debt to be repaid within a short period and ask you to sign an 
undertaking confirming the terms of any agreement reached.  

If your care and support charges remain unpaid despite the Councils reasonable 
attempts to recover the debt, we will consider making an application to the County 
Court to issue a claim to seek a judgment against you, if we do this you could also 
be liable to pay the Councils legal costs and interest on the debt at a rate agreed by 
the Judge.  

12. Choice of accommodation and top up payments  

The Cost of Accommodation  
 
The Council will use your assessment and support planning to identify your Personal 
Budget – the amount of money that the Council would expect to pay to for care and 
support to meet your assessed needs.  

• For care home accommodation, the Council will identify the expected cost of 
your accommodation based on the amount that we would normally pay to 
meet your assessed needs in a residential or nursing home, reflecting the 
local market conditions.  

• For supported accommodation, the housing costs are normally separate to 
your care and support package. You would own or rent your accommodation 
and pay for this independently (claiming Housing Benefit and using this to pay 
the landlord of a shared house if you had a tenancy agreement, for example). 
We will work with you to make sure you have suitable accommodation for 
your care and support needs to be met.  

• For Extra Care Housing, the Council identify the expected cost of your 
accommodation as part of your care and support package. This is based on 
the amount that we would normally pay to meet your assessed needs, 
reflecting the local market conditions.  

 
When establishing how much the Council would expect to pay for your care and 
support, we will take account of your individual circumstances such as medical, 
cultural or dietary needs, to ensure that your needs can be properly met. For some 
people, such as those with complex learning disabilities, their Personal Budget may 
need to be much higher to take account of their need for more specialist support.  

                                                           
88 Care and Support Statutory Guidance – Annex D: Recovery of Debts  

Page 126



63 
 

Page 63 of 126 

Choosing more expensive accommodation  
 

• Care homes: If your preferred care home is more expensive than your 
Personal Budget for your assessed needs, you will be advised of the higher 
cost of your choice. You will be given the opportunity to make an alternative 
choice that fits within your Personal Budget, or to put an arrangement in place 
to meet the additional cost.  

• Supported accommodation Because you pay housing costs for supported 
accommodation (Supported Living, Extra Care Housing, a Shared Lives 
setting) independently, you may choose more expensive accommodation than 
we would consider sufficient to meet your assessed needs.  
 

If your choice of more expensive supported accommodation means that we will need 
to pay more to meet your assessed needs than your Personal Budget (for example, 
if a Supported Living arrangement includes more expensive “background care” as 
part of the placement), you will be advised of the higher cost of your choice. You will 
be given the opportunity to make an alternative choice that fits within your Personal 
Budget, or to put an arrangement in place to meet the additional cost. 
 
You have a right to choose your accommodation, subject to your personal budget, 
and the Council will ensure that you are given the opportunity to do so in accordance 
with the statutory requirements.89 
 

Paying for more expensive accommodation  

 
If your preferred accommodation meets all other requirements, we will support you to 
move to that accommodation that costs more than your Personal Budget says we 
would expect to pay for your assessed needs, provided that:  

• You can arrange for a third party to pay the additional amount - known as the 
Third-Party Top-Up , or;  

• You can pay the additional amount from your own resources - a ‘First-Party 
Top-Up’.  

 
The rules about the situations where you can pay the additional amount yourself are 
shown below. 
 

Third-Party Top-Ups  
 
For a Third-Party Top-Up to be put in place, a third-party – such as a family 
member(s), friend, employer, organisation or charity – must be willing and able to 
pay the difference between the Personal Budget and the actual cost of the 
accommodation (or the associated accommodation costs for supported 
accommodation).  
 

                                                           
89 Clause 8.36 and 8.37 of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance and the Choice of Accommodation 
Regulations 2014. 

Page 127



64 
 

Page 64 of 126 

To avoid the risk of you needing to move to different accommodation, we will usually 
discourage a Third-Party Top-Up unless the nominated Third Party can demonstrate 
that they are willing and able to pay the additional costs on an on-going basis (or up 
to the duration of the service user’s likely time living in the accommodation if it is a 
short-term arrangement). 
 

Where the Third Party is an organisation  
 
We will require a letter from a legal representative of the organisation confirming that 
the organisation has the means and capacity to sustain payments for the period 
required to accompany a signed Third-Party Top-Up Agreement.  
 

Where the Third Party is one or more individuals  
 
A Care Finance Officer will undertake a financial assessment of the individual(s) 
requiring documentary evidence of financial resources identified to meet the top-up 
payments, such as bank statement and details of financial commitments. This is to 
ensure that they have the means and capacity to sustain the payments for the period 
required. Completion of this assessment along with a signed Third-Party Top-Up 
Agreement is required before we will agree to someone moving to the more 
expensive preferred accommodation. 
 
A Care Finance Officer will send you a Third Party Top-Up financial assessment 
form (Annex C) by post you are required to complete and return this to the Care 
Finance Team within 14 days of the date the form was sent to you. 
 
We will write to you if we require any further information from you, any additional 
information requested must be provided within 14 days of the date the information 
was requested. 
 
The Adult Social Care Commissioner will review the financial assessment form to 
verify that the proposed Third Party Top-Up do not place the Council at undue risk, 
while taking account of the Council’s responsibility to safeguard the individual in 
need of care.  
 
We will confirm to you in writing if the Third Party Top-Up is agreed within 14 days 
from the date that the Council holds all the required information.  
 
If the Third Party Top-Up is agreed you will be sent the Third Party Top-Up 
Agreement for signature and return, this must be returned within 14 days of the date 
it was sent to you. The Council will not agree the placement until we hold the signed 
agreement.  
 
You are required to notify the Council of any change in financial circumstances 
immediately and the Council reserves the right to review the Third Party Top-Up 
agreement. The Council may end the agreement in any of the following 
circumstances: 

• You fail to make payment of the Third Party Top-Up amount in full within 14 
days of the date of a reminder letter; 

Page 128



65 
 

Page 65 of 126 

• You fail to make three payments of the Third Party Top-Up amount in any 12 
month period; 

• You notify the Council in writing that you are no longer able to sustain the 
agreed weekly payments, i.e the Third Party Top-Up amount, due to a change 
in financial circumstances; 

• The Council, on reviewing a change in financial circumstances, concludes you 
are no longer financially able to sustain the agreed weekly payments.  

 
If the application is refused the Council will tell you the reason/s and we will write to 
them to confirm this decision.  
 
Our letter will explain:  

• the reason(s) for refusing the application  

• how to appeal our decision about Interim Funding  

• how to make a complaint  

• that we will tell the care accommodation provider the date the Council will stop 
funding the care costs or that the additional room/service is not agreed  

 
If you fail to comply with the above timeframe for providing information the Council 
will not agree the placement and can, at their discretion, refuse any further 
application to allow a Third Party Top-Up.   

Appeals 
 

If you disagree with the outcome of your financial assessment Third Party Top-Up 
decision you should contact the Care Finance Officer in the first instance to try and 
resolve any issues as soon as possible. The Care Finance Officer will go through the 
information with you and check the assessment / decision has considered all the 
relevant information in line with the Charging and Financial Assessment rules. 

If you are still dissatisfied with the outcome the Care Finance Officer will confirm to 
you how you can lodge an appeal with the Team leader for Care Finance.  

If the issue cannot be resolved you can be put in touch with the Councils Complaints 
team you can make a formal complaint to the Complaints and Data Protection Team 
Manager complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 

The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 

If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  

The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

 

Page 129

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


66 
 

Page 66 of 126 

Review  
 
We review all Third Party Top-Up Agreements at least annually, and sooner where 
there is a change in your situation. 

 

First-Party Top-Ups (sometimes known as Resident Top-Ups)  
 
In specific circumstances it is possible for you to pay a ‘top up’ for your preferred 
accommodation from your own resources. These circumstances are shown below:  

• A person entering care home accommodation whose property capital is 
disregarded for up to the first 12 weeks of the placement and who has either 
sufficient savings to pay the top-up during those 12 weeks, or disregarded 
income sufficient to pay the top up during those 12 weeks.  

• A person entering care home accommodation whose property capital is 
disregarded for up to the first 12 weeks of the placement and who 
immediately enters into a Deferred Payment Agreement.  

 
You would still be responsible for paying an assessed charge from your capital and 
income during those 12 weeks. The First Party Top-Up payment will be in addition to 
your assessed charge shown by your financial assessment. You would need to sign 
a Top-Up Agreement. 
 
With the Councils permission, payment of a First Party Top-Up can be deferred 
providing that a Deferred Payment Agreement is agreed between you and the 
Council before your funding starts.  
 
Your Social Worker will need to request funding from the Councils Panel and obtain 
this approval before you can be certain that your first party Top-Up and choice of 
accommodation is guaranteed. you will need to show, amongst other things at the 
panel meeting, that you intend to apply for a Deferred Payment Agreement (to start 
after the 12-week property disregard period), and you consent to a first legal charge 
on your property under a Deferred Payment Agreement from the start of your 
property-disregard period.  
 
The Council may consider the use of a First Party Top-Up in circumstances other 
than those set out above. People who would like to apply for a First Party Top-Up in 
a situation other than those set out above should contact our Client Finance Team to 
explain the exceptional circumstances in their situation for consideration. The 
Council may need to seek specialist legal advice on a case by case basis and the 
costs of this legal advice will be recharged to the individual. 

Paying for accommodation  
 
From time to time the Council will review our rates for accommodation. As a result 
the amount that the Council would expect to pay to meet someone’s assessed needs 
may remain the same, increase or decrease. This may impact on the amount that an 
individual or organisation is asked to pay as the top-up. Similarly, if the 
accommodation increases in price (for example, an annual uplift to reflect inflation, or 
a restructuring of fees because of a new provider), we will have no liability for the 

Page 130



67 
 

Page 67 of 126 

increased charges and will expect the individual or organisation paying the top-up to 
pay the additional costs above the amount the Council would expect to pay to meet 
that person’s needs. 
 
We will require the person making the third party top-up to pay the additional costs 
for the accommodation (or associated accommodation costs for supported 
accommodation) to the care provider, if payments are not maintained the care 
provider will seek to recover any arrears from the Council and the Council will 
recover the debt from the person who signed the third party top-up agreement (see 
Annex A).  
 
When a person/organisation takes on a Top-Up, they assume the contractual 
responsibility for the duration of the person’s residence in the accommodation to pay 
the difference in fees between the amount we would usually expect to pay to meet 
your assessed needs and the actual cost of your accommodation.  
 
The Council will advise the person/organisation in writing that fees are not fixed or 
guaranteed to remain at the same level, and that the contribution of the resident or 
third party may rise faster than the Council’s.  
 
The third party will be required to enter into a Third Party top-Up Agreement 
(contract) which is legally binding and enforceable through the Courts (see Annex A).  
 
The Council will also advise that we have no liability for debts accrued by a 
person/organisation due to non-payment or a shortfall in payment. We will notify 
people/organisations of the likely consequences if they fail to maintain payments.  
These may include legal action to recover the accrued arrears and/or you having to 
move to other accommodation (unless after an assessment of need, it is shown that 
your assessed needs can only be met in the current accommodation).  
 
The Council has the right, subject to notice, to terminate the contract should the top-
up payments cease to be adequate. 
 
If the care home stops providing satisfactory care or is otherwise in breach of the 
terms and conditions of our contract with them, we reserve the right to move you to 
alternative accommodation. If your needs change significantly you will be re-
assessed by a social worker to see whether your current accommodation continues 
to meet your needs. 
 

People who pay the full cost of their care and support  
 
If we arrange care and support on behalf of a self-funder in supported 
accommodation, they will have the same right to a choice about the provider of their 
accommodation, and the Council will support this as set out above. The Council will 
enter into a contract with the provider(s) on the person’s behalf and manage the 
payment and invoicing arrangement for the person paying the full cost of their care 
and support. 
 

Page 131



68 
 

Page 68 of 126 

If someone paying the full cost of their care and support has made their own private 
arrangement for services, the provider may take any action needed to obtain 
outstanding payments including legal action against the person or third-party who 
signed the contract and agreed to make payments but has failed to do so. The 
provider can also cancel the contract and give notice requiring the person to leave 
their accommodation.  
 
If you pay the full cost of your care and support we will encourage you to consider 
what will happen if, over time, your savings/investments reduce and you become 
eligible for financial support with your care and support costs from the Council. If you 
have existing accommodation that is more expensive than we would usually expect 
to pay, this may result in the resident having to move to other accommodation, 
unless arrangements can be secured by way of another alternative such as a Third-
Party Top-Up. In this instance, we will support you to find an alternative placement of 
your choice, provided this meets the Council’s criteria around suitability, availability, 
conditions, cost and quality. If a reassessment shows that your needs can only be 
met in the current accommodation, we will endeavour, by way of negotiation, to 
make up the reasonable cost difference between your assessed charge and the 
accommodation’s fees. 
 

Existing residents  
 
If you currently live in accommodation that is more expensive than the Council would 
usually expect to pay to meet your assessed needs, a review of your situation may 
result in you having to move to other accommodation, unless arrangements such as 
a Third-Party Top-Up can be put in place to meet the additional cost.  
 
If a reassessment shows that your needs can only be met in the current 
accommodation, the Council will endeavour, by way of negotiation, to make up the 
reasonable cost difference between your assessed charge and the accommodation’s 
fees. 
 

13. Funding Agreement  

 
The Council is responsible for public funds and therefore must ensure spending is 
equitable. The Council has a process for the approval of funding. In certain 
circumstances before the Council can agree funding you will be required to obtain 
the agreement from a senior manager or Panel. 
 
Your Social Worker will advise you if you need to take any request to Panel. The list 
below is examples of circumstances where Panel approval will be required (this list is 
not exhaustive): 

• The cost of the accommodation requested is above the usual Local Authority 
payment rate. 

• The accommodation costs are to be paid by a first party top-up 

• The level of the care package is above the personal budget amount identified. 
 

Page 132



69 
 

Page 69 of 126 

The Social Worker will inform you of their managers or the panel’s decision in 
writing. 
 
If you do not agree with the Councils decision you can make a formal complaint to 
the Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager 
complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 

The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 

If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  

The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

14. Direct Payments  

 

The Council has a separate policy in respect of Direct Payments. Please visit www. 

 
If you would like a hard copy of the policy please contact 
client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk   or by post to 

Client Finance Team,  
Lewis House,   
Manvers Street,  
Bath, BA1  1JG 

 

15. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
The Adult Care Services and Commissioners have considered the impact that 
adopting this Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and the individual 
policies within it may have on the diverse communities in Bath and North East 
Somerset, and in particular residents in possession of ‘protected characteristics’ as 
set out in the Equality Act 2010. 
 
The consultation will be reviewed and further information provided once concluded. 
.  
 
The Councils acknowledges that there could be some negative impact on older 
people and those with disabilities, however the safeguards placed within the 
charging framework such as the minimum income guarantee and on-going 
monitoring of the use of services will minimise this. 
 

Page 133

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/
mailto:client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk


70 
 

Page 70 of 126 

16. Reviewing the Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 

 
Annual review of the rates and amounts will ensure these are consistent with 
inflation or other relevant changes, which may occur.  
 
The document may be subject to change through the departmental management 
team or the commissioners, or as part of an overall review of the entire Charging and 
Financial Assessment Framework Policy by the Council if new Legislation, Guidance 
and Regulations are introduced . 
 
The Care Act 2014 and Statutory Guidance sets out changes which are permissible 
in line with Government published rates and changes to benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



71 
 

Page 71 of 126 

17. Annex A 

Working Out your Charge  
 

How we work out your weekly charge 

There are five steps.  When the CFO meets you they will explain all of this, and give 
you the chance to ask questions. 

Step 1: We work out your Weekly income. This includes: 

• Most state benefits, including Personal Independence Payment (PIP), 
Attendance Allowance and Disability Living Allowance (care component). 

• Carers Allowance. 

• Retirement pensions. 

• Any applicable charge on your savings – see above. 
 

But this does not include: 

• Earnings from paid work. 

• Disability Living Allowance (mobility component). 

• Child Tax Credit. 

• Disabled Person’s Tax Credit. 

• Pension Credit - Savings Credit element. 
 

Step 2: We then work out your allowances, money that you keep to make sure you 
have enough to live on.  There are four separate allowances: 

a. The Government has set standard allowances for your general living 
expenses.  For example if you have reached qualifying pension age, this is 
£189.00 a week.   

b. Housing costs you pay.  This will be your rent or mortgage interest costs 
that are not covered by Housing Benefit and Council Tax costs that are not 
covered by Council Tax Support.   

c. Extra costs that relate to any disability you may have (only for people 
not in a care home).  For example, you may have higher dietary costs.  This 
is called your Disability Related Expenditure or DRE. We will include the 
costs of: 

• Telecare equipment including a community alarm 

• Privately Arranged Domestic Help  

• Special Diet  

• Special Clothing or Footwear 

• Additional Laundry Costs  

• Additional Wear & Tear of Clothing, Footwear or Bedding 

• Additional Heating (taking into account receipt of the Winter Fuel Payment)  

• Maintenance or Repair of Equipment 
 

d. If you receive the higher rate of Attendance Allowance / Personal 
Independent Payment (PIP) or Disability Living Allowance (care component), 
and Bath and North East Somerset Council does not pay for any care at 
night for you, we will take away £27.45 from your income total.  This is the 

Page 135



72 
 

Page 72 of 126 

difference between higher and lower rates of these benefits.  This is 
because you are given this extra allowance specifically to pay for care at 
night. 

 

Step 3: To work out what you pay each week, we add up your total income from 
step 1 and take away the eligible allowances from step 2 to give us your 
“Assessable Income”.  

Step 4:  We then compare this assessable income with the total weekly cost for the 
service or services you are receiving, or the amount of your personal budget.  You 
will pay the lower of the two amounts. 

For example:  

Your assessable income charge is £40 a week.  

You receive two hours of care a week that costs a total £32 per week.  

£32 is less than £40 so you would only pay the lower charge of £32.   
 

In this example it has been calculated that you would be a self-funder (being 
able to pay the full cost of the care and support you receive) and would have 
to make your own arrangements for your care.  The Social Worker can help 
you to make arrangements if you would like.   

If you receive 5 hours of care a week, at a total cost of £84 per week you only pay 
your calculated charge, in this example £40. 

Step 5: The care charge that we have worked out is a fixed weekly one.  If you have 
less or more care hours for a short time, your weekly charge will stay the same.  If 
you feel that you are at a disadvantage by this, please contact your Social Worker.  If 
there is a permanent change to the number of care hours, the amount that you are 
asked to pay may change. 

If you have more than one community service, for example, homecare and day care, 
the weekly charge that we work out will be the most you can pay for all of these 
services together. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 136



73 
 

Page 73 of 126 

Financial Assessment Allowances 2018-2019 

 
 Level of ‘Minimum 

Income Guarantee’ for a 
Service User who is 
single (or living alone) 

Level of ‘Minimum 
Income Guarantee’ for a 
Service User living with 
a partner 

 
Age 18 or over, up to 
qualifying age for Pension 
Credit 

£131.75 per week £100.55 per week 

Age 18 or over, up to 
qualifying age for Pension 
Credit and qualifying for 
Enhanced Disability 
Premium 

£151.45 per week £114.70 per week 

Reached or over qualifying 
age for Pension Credit 

£189.00 per week £144.30 per week 

Eligible for Carer Premium  An additional £43.25 per week 
Responsible for a child, 
and a member of the 
same household as that 
child  

An additional £83.65 per week 

Disability-Related 
Expense Standard 
Allowance (Non-
Residential Services) 

£5.00 per week 

Statutory Personal 
Expense Allowance (in a 
Care Home) 

£24.90 per week 

Maximum Savings 
Disregard90 (in a Care 
Home if aged over 65 + 
and qualifies for savings 
disregard) 

£5.75 per week 

Disposable Income 
Allowance (Deferred 
Payment in place) 

Up to £144.00 per week 

 

 
 

 

                                                           
90 Savings Disregard is calculated on an individual basis in accordance with the Care and Support (Assessment 
of Resources) Regulations) The maximum amount is shown here for information only.  

Page 137



74 
 

Page 74 of 126 

 

Disability Related Expenditure Guide 

 
If you receive Attendance Allowance or Personal Independence Payment or 
Disability Living Allowance an allowance is made in your non-residential financial 
assessment for additional expenses due to disability or medical condition. The 
Council apply a standard allowance as shown in the Financial Assessment 
Allowances above unless you request the Social Worker carry out a full assessment 
of your disability-related expenses.  
 
This guide sets out the standard or maximum allowances the Council use for a range 
of disability related expenses, if that extra cost is incurred and is needed to meet 
your specific need due to a medical condition or disability, as identified in your care 
and support assessment.  
 
If you have one or more of the expenses listed the Council will usually allow the 
actual amount you spend up to the maximum amount indicated. The Council will only 
consider a higher allowance in exceptional circumstances.  
 
Costs for disability related services that support the whole household (like a cleaner) 
will be shared equally between all adults in the household (unless you have a good 
reason for us to consider a different way of sharing costs).  
 
Where a service or item is made up of different elements the Council will only 
consider costs for the part(s) that meet a disability related need.  
 
Allowances for the maintenance of special equipment needed due to a disability or 
condition will be based on the conformation in your care plan that the equipment is 
required to meet your identified needs.  
 
You must keep bills, invoices and statements to support your claim for disability 
related expenses. If you can’t produce this evidence the Council will use our 
discretion to decide if your claim is reasonable.  
 
You can find details of exclusions at the end of this list. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



75 
 

Page 75 of 126 

 
DISABILITY-RELATED 
EXPENSE ITEM  

 
AMOUNT CONSIDERED 
IN ASSESSMENT  

 

 
EVIDENCE REQUIRED  

Community Alarm System Actual cost paid unless 
included in Housing 
Benefit award  
 

Bills from provider or 
regular entries on bank 
statements 

   

Private domestic help - 
where Adult Care 
assessment confirms this 
is necessary due to 
disability or medical 
condition and is not 
provided through Council-
arranged support.  
This may include cleaning, 
shopping) 

Actual cost paid up to 
£14.00 per week for single 
person household, or cost 
proportionately divided by 
the number of other adult 
household members. 

Bills/receipts from provider 
for at least 4 weeks 

 
Additional laundry and 
replacement bedding 
costs (where more than 4 
loads washing/week 
needed due to 
incontinence or other 
disability-related/medical 
reason)  
 

 
A maximum amount of 
£5.00 per week. 

 
Adult Care assessment 
confirms incontinence or 
other condition requiring 
need for additional laundry 
and more frequent 
replacement of bedding. 

   

Essential equipment  Actual cost of maintaining  Bills/ Receipts from 
provider, 

maintenance / repair (if not Specialist equipment at 
the 

or entries on bank 
statements, 

maintained by adult care) discretion of Adult Client  or maintenance contract  
(such as stair lift 
maintenance) 

Finance and confirmation 
by Occupational Health. 

Showing costs. 
 
 

   

Specialist clothing and  
Footwear and 
replacements  
Due to wear and tear. 
  

Reasonable amount 
based on the care plan 
and subject to the 
discretion of the Council.  

Receipts / bank 
statements  

Additional heating 
allowance           

Actual gas and electricity 
paid over one year minus 
the average amount 
annually                                                                                                                                                                             

Bills from provider 
 

Page 139



76 
 

Page 76 of 126 

 
 
Other disability related expenses may be allowed with good reason and proof of 
costs, subject to the care plan confirming the expense is related to disability. 
 
Continence products are not considered a disability related expense as products are 
available through the NHS/CCG free of charge. 
 
Exclusions: 
 
We won’t consider costs incurred for:  

• General items or services required for daily living used by the general 
population  

• Garden maintenance, chiropody and basic domestic tasks. 

• Privately arranged care and support   

• Medical prescriptions and chemist items  

• Equipment – this is available through community equipment  

• Any item or service met by a payment from a Grant (e.g. Disability 
Facilities Grant) or where another funding source has been provided  

• The difference between the actual cost and a lower cost alternative where 
we consider it was reasonable for a lower cost alternative;  

• Structural or landscaping work (e.g. tree surgery, path laying or re-laying) 
in gardens or to buildings unless;  

➢ Disabled Facilities Grant contributions apply in respect of the works carried 
out  

➢ Any works to help prevent falls (e.g. installing hand rails or repairing 
footpath) 

                                                           
91 Average annual amounts based on good practice guide issued by the National Association of Financial 
Assessment Officers  

Fuel amounts91: 
                                                              
Flat/Terrace                                                     
Single occupancy £1,311                                                  
Couple/shared occupancy                                                         
£1,729 
                                                             
Semi-detached                                                        
Single occupancy 
£1,392.44                                                      
Couple/shared occupancy                                                        
£1,835.18 
                                                              
Detached                                                        
Single occupancy 
£1,694.10                                                          
Couple/shared occupancy                                                             
£2,233.18 

Page 140



77 
 

Page 77 of 126 

➢ The modifications to the garden or building are essential for you to be able 
to use/store securely scooter or wheelchair that you need to use, or to 
provide secure storage for a scooter and the facility is used as such. In this 
case, the amount will be calculated as if the modifications were equipment 
with a suitable life span applied. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 141



78 
 

Page 78 of 126 

 

 

Sample Interim Funding Agreement 

 
Interim Funding Agreement for Care Home Fees 

Application form 

Before making this application Bath and North East Somerset Council 
strongly advise you to take independent legal and financial advice. 

If you are unable to apply for a Deferred Payment Agreement for someone who 
would otherwise be eligible for a Deferred Payment Agreement because you are not 
yet legally-appointed to deal with their financial affairs you can apply to the Council 
for an 'Interim Funding Arrangement' to help towards care home costs until you have 
the legal authority to apply for a Deferred Payment Agreement; OR 
 
If you are applying for interim funding whilst the property is sold or first registration is 
obtained in accordance with our Interim Funding Policy. 
 
If we agree to an Interim Funding Arrangement we will charge interest on the care 
charges that accrue during the Interim Funding period plus an administration fee (to 
cover the costs of setting up and managing the arrangements) . See Annex C of our 
Charging Framework Charges for Interim funding and Interest Rates for details 
(www………………….).  
 
Interest and administration charges can be accrued with the care home charges to 
either be repaid when legal-authority is granted to access financial resources, or 
secured against the property through a Deferred Payment Agreement, or paid when 
the property is sold. 
 
There may be other situations in which you can apply to the Council for an ‘Interim 
Funding Arrangement’, please see Part 10 of our Charging Framework  for details 
(www………….). 

You are required to complete and return this form to the Care Finance Officer within 
two weeks of receiving this form. If the form is not returned within 2 weeks the 
Council may decline your request for interim funding without further consideration. 

Section 1: Personal Details 

Please enter your name or the name of the person on whose behalf you are applying 
for an Interim Funding Agreement. 

Title:  __________      First Name: ___________________   Last Name: 
_________________ 

 

 

Page 142



79 
 

Page 79 of 126 

Section 2: Personal details of Financial Representative (if applicable) 

Title:  __________      First Name: ___________________   Last Name: 
_________________ 

Email: ___________________________________    

Telephone number: _________________ 

Relationship to person named in Section 1: ________________________________ 

Have you taken legal/financial advice before making this application:  Yes / No 

If you have not taken legal / financial advice please confirm you wish to proceed 
without obtaining legal / financial advice: Yes / No 

Have you applied to be Lasting Power of Attorney or Deputy:  Yes / No 

If yes please confirm the date the application was made to the Court of Protection: 

___________________________________________________________________ 

If yes please state when you expect to get legal authority to deal with the financial 
affairs of the person named in Section 1: __________________________________ 

If you are not acting for the person named in Section 1 under an LPA or Deputyship 
order please confirm the name and contact details of the person who is (please note 
the named person will be required to complete the request for Interim Funding: 

Name: _____________________________________________________________ 

Address: ____________________________________________________________ 

Email: ______________________________________________________________ 

Telephone Number: _______________________________ 

Section 3: Reason for requesting Interim Funding  

 a. The person named in Section 1 has lost capacity to manage their 
 financial affairs and no one has yet been appointed to deal with their 
 financial affairs. 

 

 b. The property is unregistered and an application for first registration has 
 been made to the Land Registry on _____________________________ 
 the instructed conveyancing Solicitors  (including address and contact 
 details) are: 

                      Name: __________________________________________________ 

                      Address: ________________________________________________ 

                      Email: ___________________________________________________ 

Page 143



80 
 

Page 80 of 126 

                      Telephone number: _______________________________________ 

 

 c. The property has been sold and completion will take place within 6 
 weeks.  The instructed conveyancing Solicitors (including address and 
 contact details) are:   

                      Name: __________________________________________________ 

                      Address: _________________________________________________ 

                      Email: ___________________________________________________ 

                      Telephone number: ________________________________________ 

                      (Interim Funding will only be agreed if the above Solicitors provide an  

                      Undertaking to pay the debt on completion of the sale of the property).    

 

 d. Other please state: _________________________________________ 

                     
___________________________________________________________________ 

                     
___________________________________________________________________      

If the application  for Interim Funding is made under points a and b above you will be 
required to enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement when you obtain the legal 
authority to do so. 

Part 4: Property information 

Does the person in Section 1 own/part own a property:  Yes / No 

Property address: 
___________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 

 

Does any other person have an interest in the property:  Yes / No 

If yes please provide the name, address, email and telephone number: 

Name: _____________________________________________________________ 

Address: 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Email: ______________________________________________________________ 

Telephone number: ___________________________________________________ 

Page 144



81 
 

Page 81 of 126 

 

Is there a mortgage on the property: Yes / No 

If yes please provide the name and contact details of the mortgage company and the 
current outstanding debt: 

Name: _____________________________________________________________ 

Address: ____________________________________________________________ 

Email: ______________________________________________________________ 

Telephone number: ___________________________________________________ 

Current outstanding debt: ______________________________________________ 

Please confirm you are agreeable to the Council contacting the mortgage company 
to seek confirmation of the debt and postponement of their charge (Please see 
specific property issues www……….):  Yes / No 

 

If the property is on the market please provide the following information: 

Sale price agreed: ____________________________________________________ 

Date sale agreed: ____________________________________________________ 

Expected completion date of sale: ________________________________________ 

Part 5: Your declaration for your application for an Interim Funding Agreement  

Read and sign the declaration below to complete your application  
 
1.                I   confirm that the property identified in Section 4 is on the market and a 
sale has been agreed I confirm that I wish to apply for an 'Interim Funding 
Agreement' for the person named in Section 1 with Bath and North East Somerset 
Council: OR 

 

2.                 I   confirm that I have applied / will apply (delete as appropriate) to 
become the legally-appointed representative for the person named at Section 1 of 
this application and I undertake to complete any further actions as appropriate in 
order to become the legally-appointed representative; OR 

 

3.                  I confirm that an application for first registration of the property has 
been made in respect of the property at Section 4, I confirm that I wish to apply for 
an 'Interim Funding Arrangement' for the person named in Section 1 with Bath and 
North East Somerset Council. 

 
4. I confirm that I understand that if my application for an Interim Funding 
Arrangement is approved, the Council will:  
 
(a) Send invoices to me in respect of the person named at Section 1, for the full cost 
of the care home fees for that person  

Page 145



82 
 

Page 82 of 126 

(b) Allow those invoices to accrue until I have legal authority to act for the person 
named at Section 1  
(c) Charge interest on the accruing invoices at the rate published in the Council's 
Charging Framework 
(d) Charge an administration fee to cover the cost of making the Interim Funding 
arrangements (at the rate published in the Council's Charging Framework 
(e) Expect repayment of the accrued charges (care costs, interest charges and 
administration charges) as soon as I have legal authority to act for the person named 
at Section 1, unless I apply for a Deferred Payment Agreement as the legally-
appointed representative for the person named at Section 1.  
 

4. I confirm that when/if I am granted legal authority to act for the person named in 
Section 1 I undertake to repay Bath and North East Somerset Council the full 
amount owing to Bath and North East Somerset Council in respect of the person 
named in Section 1, including any accrued interest charges and administration cost 
charges associated with an Interim Funding Arrangement; OR (delete as 
appropriate) 

 

5. I confirm that when the property at Section 4 is sold I undertake to repay Bath and 
North East Somerset Council the full amount owing to Bath and North East Somerset 
Council in respect of the person named in Section 1, including any accrued interest 
charges and administration cost charges associated with an Interim Funding 
Arrangement (delete as appropriate) 

 
6. I confirm that I understand that when/if I am granted legal authority to act for the 
person named in Section 1, should I wish to apply for a Deferred Payment 
Agreement with the Council, I will need to make my application to the Council within 
5 weeks of receiving legal authority to act for the person named in Section 1, using 
the property listed in this application as security against the accrued interim debt 
which will be listed within a Deferred Payment Agreement (delete as appropriate) 

 

7. I confirm that I undertake to keep Bath and North East Somerset Council Care 
Finance Team updated with the progress of my application(s) to become the legally-
appointed representative to act for the person in Section 1/First registration of the 
property at Section 4/Sale of the property at Section 4 (delete as appropriate) 

 
8. I understand that I shall be responsible for:  
(a) ensuring that the property owned by the person named in Section 1 is secure, 
insured and maintained appropriately throughout an Interim Funding Arrangement; 
and  
(b) ensuring that the person named in Section 1 receives the statutory weekly 
Personal Expenses Allowance from their DWP pension/benefits while an Interim 
Funding Arrangement is in place; and  
(c) making payments to Bath and North East Somerset Council towards any 
assessed weekly Charge that is over and above the agreed Personal Expenses 
Allowance where the DWP has appointed me to manage the state benefits for the 
person named in Section 1. 
 
9. I understand that Bath and North East Somerset Council will invoice me for the 
costs noted above and I agree to pay those invoices in a timely manner. 

Page 146



83 
 

Page 83 of 126 

 

10. I confirm that I have been told of the need to take independent legal and financial 
advice before entering into an Interim Funding Arrangement with the Council and 
when making decisions about options for funding long-term care.  

 

11. I confirm that the information I have given on this form is true and accurate to the 
best of my knowledge.  

 

12.I have read this application for an Interim Funding Arrangement and the terms of 
this declaration.  

 

13. I understand that Bath and North East Somerset Council will use the information 
I have provided for the purpose of deciding on this application for an Interim Funding 
Arrangement for the person named in Section 1. I understand that the Council will 
only share information where the legal framework allows it and as stated in the 
Privacy  Notice which can be found on the Council's website at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/data-protection-
and-freedom-information/Council-privacy-notice-0  and for the detection and 
prevention of fraud as required by regulations and statute.  

Jurisdiction 

Each of the parties to the Agreement irrevocably agrees that the courts of England 
and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, action or 
proceedings, and/or to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection 
with this Agreement or its formation or validity and, for these purposes, each party 
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts and England and Wales.  

Your full name: ___________________________________________________ 

Signature: _______________________________________________________ 

Date: ___________________________________________________________ 

Please return this form by email to  client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk   or by post 
to 

Client Finance Team,  
Lewis House,   
Manvers Street,  
Bath, BA1  1JG 

Sample Third Party Top Up Agreement 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 147

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0
mailto:client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk


84 
 

Page 84 of 126 

THIRD PARTY CONTRIBUTIONS’  AGREEMENT  

 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on                                                          201[ 
] 

BETWEEN 

Bath and North East Somerset Council having its principal office at  
 Council 

 

[NAME OF PROVIDER] [ having its registered office at ]    
 Provider 

 

[NAME OF THIRD PARTY MAKING THE TOP-UP CONTRIBUTIONS] 

[of          ]  Third 
Party 

           

WHEREAS 

1. [Name of Resident] [of       ] 
hereinafter called “the Resident” wishes to reside at a care home at [Name 
and address of care home] hereinafter called “the Home” which is a care 
home operated by the Provider 
 

2. The Provider is willing to provide the Resident with accommodation and care 
under and in accordance with the Council’s Framework Agreement for the 
Provision of a Care Home Service (date *******). 
 

3. The Third Party has agreed to pay to the Council the Top-Up Contributions 
(as hereinafter defined) 
 

4. The Council is willing to nominate the Resident for the provision of a Care 
Home Service at the Home and to enter into an Individual Resident 
Arrangement with the Provider under and in accordance with the Framework 
with respect to the Resident subject to the Third Party agreeing to pay Top Up 
Contributions.  

 

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED BY AND BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO as 
follows:- 

5. Definitions 
 

Page 148



85 
 

Page 85 of 126 

In this Agreement the expressions already defined shall have the meanings 
assigned to them and the following expressions shall unless the subject or 
context otherwise requires have the following meanings – 

Framework The Council’s Framework Agreement for the Provision of a  
  Care Home Service (date ******)  

Third Party The person or persons who has or have entered into this Third 
  Party Contributions Agreement and agreed to pay the Top Up 
  Contributions 

Top Up  The difference between the Provider’s charges for providing  
Contributions accommodation and care for the Resident at the Home and  
  the Resident’s assessed Care Charge (if any) and the  
  Councils contribution, each as from time to time applicable  
 
Payment of Top Up Contributions 
 

The Third Party agrees to pay the Top Up Contributions (which at the date of 
this Agreement is £       [INSERT AMOUNT]   per week). 

This should be paid on a monthly basis to the Council unless alternative 
arrangements are agreed in writing.  The Council is responsible for notifying 
the Third Party making the Top Up Contributions of any changes in the 
amount payable.  

6. For the avoidance of doubt it is hereby DECLARED AND AGREED between 
the parties as follows – 
 
a. The Third Party will complete and return to Client Finance Team a 

financial assessment form within 14 days of the date the form was sent to 
the Third Party. 
 

b. This Third Party Contributions Agreement will be reviewed by the Client 
Finance Team in conjunction with the arrangements for reviewing the 
Resident’s financial assessment (Care Act 2014 Paragraph 17).  These 
are reviewed by the Councils Client Finance Team following a change in 
circumstances or in any event on an annual basis.  
 

c. The Third Party recognises that the Provider’s charges may increase and 
that in these circumstances the amount of the Top Up Contributions 
payable by the Third Party is likely to be raised accordingly having regard 
to the Resident’s personal budget.. 
 

d. The Third Party shall notify the Councils Client Finance Team immediately 
of any changes in their circumstances which could affect their ability to pay 
Top Up Contributions.  This may trigger a review of this Third Party 
Contributions Agreement and the arrangements made for the provision of 
accommodation and care for the Resident at the Home. 
 

e. In the event of the failure of the Third Party to pay the Top Up 
Contributions in full the Council will have the right at any time by giving at 

Page 149



86 
 

Page 86 of 126 

least twenty-eight (28) days’ written notice to withdraw the Resident from 
the Home and to place the Resident in alternative care home 
accommodation that is affordable within the amount identified in the 
Resident’s assessed care plan.   
 

f. Any outstanding sums due under this may be recovered from the Third 
Party through the County Court. The Council will send a letter attached 
hereto at Appendix 1 (Reminder Letter) requesting that the missing 
payment is made within 14 days of the date of the Reminder Letter.  If no 
payment is received after this time, the Council will refer the matter to its 
debt recovery team for commencement of the Council’s standard recovery 
procedure. This may result in enforcement action before the County Court 
where we will ask that interest is added to the debt being accrued.   
 

g. If any more than three Reminder Letters are sent within any 12 month 
period, the Council shall be entitled to exercise its rights to terminate this 
Agreement as set out below in the section headed ‘Termination of this 
Agreement’. 
 

h. The Provider agrees with the Council that it will use all reasonable 
endeavours to keep the Council advised of any delay in or change in the 
pattern of payment of Top Up Contributions by the Third Party. 
 

Termination of this Agreement 

The Council may bring this Agreement to an end if any of the following occurs: 

1. The Third Party fails to make payment of the Third Party Top-Up Amount in 
full within 14 days of the date of a Reminder Letter. 

2. The Third Party fails to make three payments of the Third Party Top-Up 
Amount on time in any 12 month period. 

3. The Third Party notifies the Council in writing that you are no longer able to 
sustain the agreed weekly payments, i.e. the Third Party Top-Up Amount, due 
to a change in your financial circumstances. 

4. The Council, on reviewing a change in the Third Parties financial 
circumstances, concludes you are no longer financially able to sustain the 
agreed weekly payments.  

5. The Third Party notifies the Council in writing that you would like the 
Agreement to end.  

 

In the event that one of the termination triggers detailed above arises and the 
Council chooses to exercise its right to bring this Agreement to an end, it is likely that 
the Resident will be required to move into alternative Accommodation where such 
Accommodation would be suitable to meet their needs and the cost of which is within 
their personal budget. 

Before any decision to move the Resident is taken, a new assessment of need will 
be undertaken. The final decision as to whether they will need to move to alternative 
accommodation will rest with the relevant manager who will take into account all of 
the circumstances of the case including having regard to their wellbeing.  

Page 150



87 
 

Page 87 of 126 

The Council has to consider other Residents and its resources as a whole when 
funding Accommodation. Only in exceptional cases (e.g. the person has been 
diagnosed as being close to end of life) will considerations relating to the wellbeing 
of the Resident make it appropriate for the Council to continue  Accommodation that 
requires it to pay more than a Resident’s personal budget.   

The Council wishes to make clear that, simply because it could be argued that it 
would be in the Resident’s best interests to remain living at the Accommodation, this 
will not be a factor that compels the Council to maintain the Accommodation if the 
Third Party are unable to continue paying the Top-up Amount.   

If the Council decides to terminate the Agreement, it will serve notice on the Third 
Party providing the Third Party with the same period of notice as is required in 
accordance with the contract it has with the provider.  In most cases the period of 
notice that the Council is required to give to a provider will be 28 days and on the 
assumption that this is the position in this case the Resident will be required to leave 
the Accommodation no later than the end of the 28 day notice period.  

During the 28 days, or such other period of time as is prescribed in the contract with 
the provider of the Accommodation, the Council will commission care in alternative 
Accommodation that is willing to meet the Resident’s assessed needs for a sum that 
is equal to or within their personal budget. This will be in line with the usual 
arrangements put in place for Residents who have not previously received the 
benefit of a Third Party Top-Up.  

Joint Third Party Arrangements 

 If this Agreement involves more than one Third Party making contributions to the 
Resident’s care costs, the duties arising are joint and several. This means that if one 
or more of the Third-Parties fails to pay their agreed contribution, the other Third-
Parties to the agreement will be liable to the Council for the full amount of defaulting 
party’s share in addition to their own share.  

In entering into this Agreement, the Third Party agrees to be liable for the 
contributions of the other Third Parties, should they fail to maintain their 
contributions. If the remaining Third Parties are unable to pay the Top-up Amount in 
full, the Council will consider the need to exercise its rights to terminate this 
agreement. For the avoidance of doubt the Third Parties entering into this agreement 
are as follows: 

1. 

2. 

General 

This Agreement is legally binding and any dispute or claim arising out of or in 
connection with it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English 
law.  

We would recommend that you take independent financial advice before committing 
to the obligations to make payments as required under this Agreement. As this 

Page 151



88 
 

Page 88 of 126 

Agreement is legally binding upon you, you may also wish to take independent legal 
advice on its suitability.  

Jurisdiction 

Each of the parties to the Agreement irrevocably agrees that the courts of England 
and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, action or 
proceedings, and/or to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection 
with this Agreement or its formation or validity and, for these purposes, each party 
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts and England and Wales.  

AS WITNESS the hand of the Third Party and the hands of the duly authorised 
representatives of the Council and the Provider the day and year first before written. 

I confirm I have been given sufficient information and advice to be able to make an 
informed decision before entering into this Third Party Top Up Agreement. 

By signing this self-certification form I confirm if I have chosen not to provide details 
of my financial circumstances via a light touch financial assessment I instead declare 
I am willing and able to afford and sustain my commitment for the likely duration of 
the agreement, and that I have read and fully understand the terms and conditions.    

 

Signed by…………………………………………   Dated…………………………. 

 

Print Name…………………………………………….. 

Name:    (Name of Council Budget  
    Holder) 

 

Signed:    (Signature of Council Budget 
   Holder)     

on behalf of Bath and North East Somerset  

Council 

 

Name:        (Name of Provider’s  
        representative) 

 

Signed:       (Signature of Provider’s  
        representative)  

on behalf of [Name of Provider]  

Client Finance Team, Lewis House,  Manvers Street,  
Bath, BA1  1JG 

Page 152



89 
 

Page 89 of 126 

Sample Third Party Top Up Reminder Letter 

 
Dear       

THIRD PARTY TOP UP AGREEMENT – PAYMENT REMINDER 

We refer to the Top Up Agreement (the Agreement) into which you entered on       

We note that we have not received the Top-up Amount due to be paid on       in 
the sum of      . We anticipate that this is a simple oversight on your part and 
would request that you make the outstanding payment within 14 days of the date of 
this letter.  

If no payment is received after this time, in accordance with the terms of the 
Agreement, Bath and North East Somerset Council will refer the matter to its debt 
recovery team for commencement of Bath and North East Somerset Council 
standard recovery procedure. This may result in enforcement action before the 
County Court, when Bath and North East Somerset Council will ask for interest to be 
added to the outstanding debt.  

If payment is not received within 14 days, DCC shall be entitled to exercise its rights 
as set out in the section headed ‘Termination of this Agreement’ within the 
Agreement. 

As you will know from the Agreement, if you do not maintain payments, it is likely 
that the       will be required to leave and will be placed in alternative residential 
care setting at a cost that is within  their personal budget. We would very much hope 
that such action would not be required but your continued payment is vital to ensure 
that this does not happen. 

If payment is made, Bath and North East Somerset Council will confirm receipt and 
this Reminder Letter will be logged on our records for the purposes of monitoring the 
frequency with which late payment arises. If any more than three Reminder Letters 
are sent within any 12-month period, Bath and North East Somerset Council shall be 
entitled to exercise its rights to terminate this Agreement as set out in the Agreement 
in the section headed ‘Termination of this Agreement’. 

If you are now unable or unwilling to maintain the Top-up Amount in accordance with 
your obligations under the Agreement, please contact us immediately in order that 
we can discuss the options for the service user and inform you of your options with 
regard to the termination of the Agreement.  

We look forward to receiving payment within the next 14 days.  

Yours sincerely 

                                                    
 
 
 
 

Page 153



90 
 

Page 90 of 126 

18. Annex B  
 

Capital Limits 
 

Level of Capital or Savings How this is considered in Financial 
Assessment 

 
£0 - £14,250 

 
Disregarded 
 

£14,251 - £23,250 Tariff income is calculated at the rate of 
£1 for every complete £250, or part £250 
 

£23,250 + Full cost of care applies at or above this 
level of capital or savings – self funding  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



91 
 

Page 91 of 126 

19. Annex C 

Charges for interim funding and Interest Rates:  

 
Annual Interest Rates on Interim Funding: 
 
1 January 2018 – 30 June 2018:  1.45% yearly rate charged daily 
1 July 2018 – 31 December 2018: 1.85% yearly rate charged daily 
1 January 2019 – 30 June 2019:  1.65% yearly rate charged daily 

 
 
Charges: 
 
Formal valuation  

 
At cost (+VAT if applicable) 

 
Review of debt and interim statement  

 
£105.00 (+VAT if applicable) 
 

Costs of any specialist legal and/or 
financial advice obtained by the Council 
(if required) – the Council will provide an 
estimate in advance  
 

At cost (+VAT if applicable) 

• Value Added Tax (VAT) – the legal and administrative costs quoted above 
are exclusive of VAT. VAT will be charged if applicable. DPA’s which meet 
the national mandatory DPA requirements to be secured by a first legal 
charge are not currently subject to VAT. 

• VAT does not currently apply to Land Registry statutory fees. Land 
Registry fess are set and reviewed by the Land Registry and subject to 
change. 

• The charge for review of the debt and interim statement will be increased 
annually in April line with CPIH. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155



92 
 

Page 92 of 126 

Sample Financial Assessment Form 
 

CALCULATION OF FINANCIAL CHARGE FORM 

 
This form should be used for everyone receiving assistance from the Local 
Authority including Personalised Budgets and Residential placements. 
 

SECTION 1 – SERVICE USER’S PERSONAL DETAILS 

 

Marital Status:  Married / Single / Widowed / Divorced / Living Together  

 

Name 

 

 Client ID No: A 

Date of Birth  National 
Insurance No. 

 

Address  

 

 

Telephone 
Numbers 

 

 

Email address  

 

SECTION 2 – PARTNER’S DETAILS 

Do you have a partner? 

 

Yes  No  

 

(If yes please give details below) 
 

 

Title:  Mr / Mrs / Miss / Ms / Other (please specify)____________________________________ 

 

Marital Status:  Married / Single / Widowed / Divorced / Living Together 

 

Page 156



93 
 

Page 93 of 126 

Surname: 

 

 Forenames  

Date of Birth  National 
Insurance No. 

 

Address 

 

 

 

 Telephone No.  

 

SECTION 3 – REPRESENTATIVE DETAILS 

 

Is the Service User dealing with his/her own financial affairs? Yes:  No:  

(If No please give details below) 

 

 

Title:  Mr / Mrs / Miss / Ms / Other (please specify) 

 

Forenames 

 

 Surnames  

Address  

 

Postcode  Telephone No  

  Email address  

Relationship to Service User Relative, Friend, Power of 
Attorney, DWP Appointee or Deputyship held. 

 

Please provide copies of any Power of Attorney, Court Order appointing deputy or DWP 
correspondence confirming appointeeship. 

 

SECTION 4 – IDENTITY Check – only for use by Care Finance Officer  

 

Page 157



94 
 

Page 94 of 126 

 List Evidence of Identity Documents Seen 

Service User as per section 
1 – if present 

 

Representative as per 
section 3 – if present 

 

SECTION 5 – WHICH SERVICE IS THIS APPLICATION IN RESPECT OF                            

 

Are you/will you be receiving a Personal Budget care service from the 
Local Authority?  

Yes  No  

If yes is your partner also receiving a Personal Budget care 
service from the Local Authority?  

Yes  No  

Are you in or going into a Residential or Nursing Home? Yes   No  

Are you in or moving to Extra Care Housing? Yes  No  

Name of person arranging service (i.e. – Social worker/care 
coordinator) 

 

 

Please be aware that it is essential that you answer all the questions as 
accurately as you can in order to ensure we can make a full and 
comprehensive calculation of your charge.   

SECTION 6 – SERVICES RECEIVED  

Does the package of care you receive from the Local Authority 
include services received between the hours of 10.00pm & 7.00am?  

Yes  No  

 
 
SECTION 7 – DETAILS OF RESIDENTIAL/NURSING HOME TO WHICH YOU 
ARE MOVING 

 

Name of Home: 

 

 

Address of Home:  

  

                                                           Postcode     

Local Authority owned YES/NO 

 

Independent/ Voluntary. YES/NO  

Page 158



95 
 

Page 95 of 126 

Intended Date of Admission       /       /   Was this an emergency Yes  No  

Type of Admission: Respite  Rehab  Permanent (incl. trial period)  

If Respite or Rehab please give dates From        /      /    To        /      /    

 

SECTION 8 – INCOME DETAILS 

Please give details of your income below.  When partner’s details are 
completed in this section the partner must also read and sign section 14 
declaration.  
 

 

Income 

Service User  

£                     

Partner 

 £                         

Frequency (weekly, 
monthly, annually) 

State Retirement Pension    

Pension Guaranteed Credit    

Pension Savings Credit    

Private / Occupational Pension    

Private / Occupational Pension    

Statutory Maternity/Sick Pay    

Employment & Support Allowance    

Severe Disablement Allowance    

Universal Credit – Personal Allowance    

Universal Credit – Housing Allowance    

Attendance Allowance    

Disability Living Allowance – Care 

Personal Independence Payment   

   

Disability Living Allowance – Mobility 

 

   

Page 159



96 
 

Page 96 of 126 

Personal Independence Payment 

Working Tax Credit    

Industrial Injury Benefit    

War Widows Pension    

War Disability Pension    

War Pension    

Maintenance Payments    

Earnings    

Other Income (please specify)    

Do you either receive Carer’s Allowance or have the 
underlying entitlement to Carer’s Allowance for caring for 
somebody? 

Yes  No  

Does your partner receive Carer’s Allowance or have the 
underlying entitlement to Carer’s Allowance? 

Yes  No  

 

SECTION 9 – ACCOUNTS AND SAVINGS 

 

Do you and your partner have any accounts or capital 
accounts?  

Yes  No  

 

Please list all current, post office, savings passbooks, ISAs, bonds, investments and any other 
accounts into which your income, capital or savings are paid. 

(In all cases, capital belonging to the service user should be included as well as 50% of any joint 
capital). You must state in whose name the account/investment is held.  If you have savings 
and capital in excess of £23,250.00 you will be self funding, please complete the form and 
sign section 17. 
 

Please provide copies of all bank statements, investments, capital etc. 

 

Do you have any savings in a Bank / 
Building Society 

Yes  /  No (If yes give details below) –  

Page 160



97 
 

Page 97 of 126 

Name of Bank/ Post 
Office/ Building 
Society etc. 

Sort Code/Account 
Number 

Balance as at date 

 

Joint Account /Own 
name / Partner’s 
name only 

    

    

 

Do you have any Stock & Shares/ National 
Savings Certificates/Premium Bonds or 
other investments 

Yes  /  No (If yes give details below) 

Nature of Investment Number of 
Shares 

Value Joint Account /Own name / 
Partner’s name only 

    

    

 

Do you have any other savings, investments or capital? Yes  /  No (If yes give details 
below) 

Nature of Savings Amount Joint Account /Own name / 
Partner’s name only 

 

   

   

Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary 

SECTION 10 – EXPENDITURE 

Please give details of your expenditure below: - 

Expenditure Details Amount 

£ 

Frequency (weekly, monthly, 
annually) 

Rent (less rebate)   

Ground Rent   

Council Tax (less rebate)   

Mortgage Payments   

Page 161



98 
 

Page 98 of 126 

Board & Lodgings   

Service Charge   

Buildings Insurance   

Water & Sewerage Rates   

Electricity (standing charge only)*   

Gas (standing charge only)* Non-Mains oil 

delivery charge only  

  

Contents Insurance*   

*Applicable to Residential/Nursing Placements only 

SECTION 11 – DEPENDANT CHILDREN DETAILS 

 

Do you have any dependant children living with you?   Yes:   No:  

(If yes please provide details below) 
 

Number of dependent children living with you  No. Under 16 yrs  Ages  

 No. Over 16 yrs  Ages  

   

Number of children with savings over £14,250 living with you  

 

SECTION 12 – NON DEPENDANTS DETAILS 

 

Do you have any non-dependants living with you?     Yes:   No: 
   

(If yes please provide details below) 
 

Total number of non-dependants in household  

Age of each person living with you  

Number of non-dependants on Income support/Pension Credit  

Page 162



99 
 

Page 99 of 126 

Number of non-dependants working  

Number of non-dependants not working  

Number of non-dependants that are full time students   

 

For ALL service users please complete Section 13 

SECTION 13- INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR HOME ADDRESS, PREVIOUS 
ADDRESS & OTHER PROPERTY 
 

Address of Normal 
Residence 

 

 

 

Type of occupancy Solely 
Owned 

 Jointly Owned  Rented  Other  

If jointly owned or other please give details.  

 

 

Please provide a copy of all documents setting up these joint ownership arrangements including 
all and any relevant wills/ trust documents and or Land Registry documents. 

 

If owned give brief description of property.  

Detached 

 

 Semi   Terraced   Bungalow  

Flat  Number of 
Storeys                 

 Number of bedrooms  

Is there an outstanding mortgage/equity release on the property? Yes  No  

If yes please confirm amount £ 

How long have you lived at this address?  

If less than 2 years please confirm your previous address  

 

 

Postcode: 

Page 163



100 
 

Page 100 of 126 

Was the property owned or rented?  

 

If owned is the property a former Council House? Yes  No  

Do you own any other land or property? Yes  No  

If yes please give details 

 

 

Have you ever owned any other land or property? Yes  No  

If yes please give full details of all land or property previously owned 
including dates of sale. (Please add additional sheets to back of this 
form if necessary) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Detached 

 

 Semi   Terraced   Bungalow  

Flat  Number of 
Storeys 

 Number of bedrooms  

Were any of your previous properties purchased under the right to 
buy? 

Yes  No  

If tenant, who is your landlord?  

Does your landlord provide support? Yes  No  

If No, is this provided by another agency? Yes  No  

 

Please provide a copy of your most recent mortgage statement.  

 

If you have anyone who pays you rent to live in your property, a copy of the rental or tenancy 
agreement you have with them. 

 

 

 
SECTION 14 – OTHER DEBTS OR REGULAR EXPENDITURE   

Other expenditure of this nature cannot be taken into account in relation to the 
calculation of your charge. However, it will help us to support you to manage the 
payment of your charge and existing commitments. 

Page 164



101 
 

Page 101 of 126 

 

Personal loans 

 

Yes   No   Cost per month  £ 

Store/ credit  Card Yes   No   Balance outstanding £ 

Any other regular outgoings not listed previously in this form (eg; mobile phone contract 
etc) 

   

SECTION 15 – WILLS & EXECUTORS 

 

  

Have you completed a will? Yes  No  

If Yes - who is your executor? 

 

Where is the will held?  

 

If you do not have a will, who is your 
nearest relative? 

 

 

 
SECTION 16 – DISABILITY RELATED EXPENDITURE 
 

Do you have specific additional costs relating to your disability?   

 

Yes  No  

 
Reasonable disability related expenditure will be assessed where any of the 
following disability benefits are in payment: in respect of Personal Budgets only.  

The Severe Disability Premium included in payments of Income Related ESA, 
Pension Guarantee Credit or Attendance Allowance, Disability Living Allowance 
Care Component, Constant Attendance Allowance, Personal Independence 
Payment Daily Living Component and Severe Disablement Allowance 

You will need to show evidence of this expenditure for it to be considered.   

These do not include payments for services already provided for by this 
Authority. 

 

Page 165



102 
 

Page 102 of 126 

Item Case 

Manager 

Visiting 

Officer 

Dispersed Community Alarm 

Does not apply to sheltered housing tenants with fixed alarms or if 
funded through Supporting People.  Actual cost paid unless included 
in Housing Benefit award. Appropriate confirmation of cost must be 
submitted to the Client Finance Team. 

  

Privately Arranged Domestic Help 

Actual cost paid up to £14.00 per week for single person household, or 

cost proportionately divided by the number of other adult household 

members. 

  

Additional Laundry Costs 

For example due to incontinence, personal hygiene problems, skin 

conditions. A maximum amount of £5.00 per week. 

  

Special and additional wear and tear of clothing, footwear and 

bedding  

This only applies in exceptional circumstances where people have 

clothes especially made because of an established illness or disability.  

Reasonable amount based on the care plan and subject to the 

discretion of the Council.  

  

Additional Gas and Electricity Costs 

Actual gas and electricity paid over one year minus the average 
amount annually  Fuel amounts92                                                                                                                                                           

Flat/Terrace                                                     

Single occupancy   £1,311                                                  
Couple/shared occupancy  £1,729 

Semi-detached                                                         

Single occupancy £1,392.44                                                      
Couple/shared occupancy  £1,835.18                                                       

Detached                                                         

Single occupancy £1,694.10                                                          

Couple/shared occupancy  £2,233.18 

  

                                                           
92 Average annual amounts based on good practice guide issued by the National Association of Financial 
Assessment Officers 

Page 166



103 
 

Page 103 of 126 

Maintenance or Repair of Equipment 

Where possible equipment should be sourced from B&NES 

Community Equipment Service via Sirona.  A reasonable additional 

amount may be included, calculated as a weekly amount. At the 

discretion of Adult Client Finance and with conformation by 

Occupational health.  

  

 

SECTION 17 - REFUSING A CALCULATION OF CARE CHARGE AND / OR 
AGREEING TO PAY THE FULL CHARGE  

If you do not agree to complete this financial calculation charge form and wish to pay 
the full charge for the service/s provided or have savings and capital (section 7) in 
excess of £23,250.00 please sign below. Please note that in signing this section it 
will mean that your package of care with the Local Authority may have to end and 
you may have to arrange your care privately. There may be clients in certain 
services this does not apply to, i.e. client paying full cost in an extra care 
establishment. 

I do not agree to a calculation of care charge 
and wish to pay the full cost. I understand this 
may mean I have to arrange my care privately 

 

Signature: 

 

 Date:  

 

 

In keeping with the EU’s new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), we have 
recently updated our Privacy Policy to clarify how we protect your personal 
information.  

 
Our updated policy provides more details on:  

The information that we collect;  

o How we use this information, why we store, and why we retain it; and  
o  How you can request that your information is updated, corrected, or 

deleted. 
 

Details on the policy can be found here: 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/data-protection-
and-freedom-information/Council-privacy-notice-0  

Alternatively a paper copy can be made available upon request. 

SECTION 18– DECLARATION 

Page 167

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0


104 
 

Page 104 of 126 

I understand that the information I have provided on this form will be used to 
determine the level of the charge I have to make for services arranged by Bath & 
North East Somerset Council.  The exact figure will be notified to me in writing. 

I understand that I should notify Bath & North East Somerset Council of any change 
in my circumstances as this may affect the level of my charge. 

This authority is under a duty to protect the public funds it administers, and to this 
end may use the information you have provided on this form for the prevention and 
detection of fraud.   

I declare the information given above is correct to the best of my knowledge and 
belief and I have no objections to relevant enquiries being made. 

 

Signature ……………………………. 

 

……………………………. 

 

……………………………. 

 

……………………………. 

Service User 

  

Partner 

  

Financial 
Representative  

 

Witness  

 

  
Date………… 

 

Signature ……………………………. Care Finance Officer     Date……… 

 

 

 

 

Please return the completed Calculation of Financial Charge Form to Client’s 
Finance Team, Bath & North East Somerset Council, Lewis House, Manvers 
Street, Bath BA1 1JG Third Party Top-Up Financial Assessment  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168



105 
 

Page 105 of 126 

Sample Third Party Top-Up Financial Assessment  
 

PLEASE COMPLETE THIS FORM IN FULL AND RETURN THE COMPLETED 
FORM TO THE ADRESS AT THE END OF THIS FORM. 

Amount of Third Party Top-Up: £   per week 

How are you intending to pay the Third Party Top-Up? 

 

Savings  

 

Please provide copies of the statement of account where the savings are held.  

 

Income     

Please confirm your income and expenditure and provide any supporting 
documentation.  

Income per week Amount Expenditure per week  Amount 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

Total:  Total:  

 

Difference between Income and Expenditure: £    per week 

Page 169



106 
 

Page 106 of 126 

Name:  _________________________________________ 

Signature: _______________________________________ 

Date: ___________________________________________ 

Please return this form by email to  client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk   or by post 
to 

Client Finance Team,  
Lewis House,   
Manvers Street,  
Bath, BA1  1JG 
 
In keeping with the EU’s new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), we have 
recently updated our Privacy Policy to clarify how we protect your personal 
information. Our updated policy provides more details on:  

The information that we collect;  

o How we use this information, why we store, and why we retain it; and  
o  How you can request that your information is updated, corrected, or 

deleted. 
 

Details on the policy can be found here: 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/data-protection-
and-freedom-information/Council-privacy-notice-0  

Alternatively a paper copy can be made available upon request. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170

mailto:client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0


107 
 

Page 107 of 126 

20. Annex D 

 

Sample Deferred Payment Agreement  
 

DATE:         201* 
 
 
 

DEFERRED PAYMENT AGREEMENT UNDER THE CARE ACT 2014 
 

BETWEEN 
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

 
AND 

 
 

For and on behalf of 
XXXX  

 
This Agreement is dated [insert date] 

PARTIES 
(1) BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL (the “Local Authority”) 

Guildhall, High Street, Bath, BA1 5AW 
 
(2) __________________ of ____________________ acting in his capacity as 

attorney for and on behalf of ____________________ (“you” or “your”) of 
___________ 

 
(3) CO-OWNER NAME] of [CO-OWNER ADDRESS] (“Co-Owner”) 

 
BACKGROUND 
 

a) This deferred payment agreement has been entered into between the parties 
on the basis that the Local Authority [is required to do so under regulation 2 ] 
OR [permitted to do so under regulation 3] of the Care and Support (Deferred 
Payment) Regulations 2014. 
 

b) It has been identified that you require care in the form of residential 
accommodation in a care home or supported living accommodation. 
 

c) On the basis that your financial assessment has determined that you own 
capital in excess of the threshold limit, it has been identified that you are 
required to pay the cost of your care in full. 
 

d) You will be required to contribute your weekly income towards the costs of 
care, with the exception of your weekly disposable income allowance. 

e) You have a beneficial interest in the Property .The Local Authority has offered 
you a deferred payment agreement over the Property, allowing the costs of 
care to be deferred and accrue against property owned by you.  The Local 

Page 171



108 
 

Page 108 of 126 

Authority is also entitled to make a charge for Administrative Charges in 
putting place the arrangements for meeting your care needs and to apply 
interest to the accrued amounts.  Such charges will be applied in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of this agreement. 

1. Interpretation 
1.1 In this Agreement, the following words have the following meanings:  

 

Accommodation Means the details of the care home or the supported living 
accommodation identified in Schedule 1. 

Administrative 
Charges 

Means the costs that the Local Authority incurs and is permitted 
to charge you in relation to your deferred payment agreement in 
accordance with paragraph 10(3) of the Care and Support 
(Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014.  These charges may 
include, but are not limited to, those charges identified in 
Schedule 2. 

Agreement Means the terms and conditions of this deferred payment 
agreement together with the Schedules. 

Care Charges Means the charges for the Accommodation, care and/or support 
that require to be paid since the Accommodation first 
commenced.  The details of the current level of charges are set 
out in Schedule 1. 

Contribution Means the amount that you will be required to pay directly 
towards the Care Charges.   

Debt Means the balance from time to time of the amount of the Care 
Charges, Administrative Charges and Interest which has not yet 
been repaid and is accrued against the Property. 

Equity Limit Means the maximum amount that the Local Authority will defer 
and can be accrued against the Property.  Schedule 1 sets out 
the equity limit that is applicable to you at the time of entering 
into the agreement.   
 
This is calculated by taking into account 90% of the value of 
your interest in the Property (being the current market or 
surrender value at the relevant time) that the Local Authority 
has obtained as Security for the Care Charges together with 
any Administrative Charges and Interest which are to be treated 
as part of the Debt, less £14,250 and the amount of any 
encumbrance secured on it which ranks in priority to the Local 
Authority’s Security.  This amount can be amended from time to 
time by the Local Authority. 

Financial 
Assessment 

Means the financial assessment carried out under section 17 of 
the Care Act 2014 

Financial 
Resources 
Threshold 

Means the sum specified in regulation 12 of the Care and 
Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 
2014. 

Income Means your income as calculated in accordance with the 
Financial Assessment carried out under section 17 of the Care 
Act 2014. 

Page 172



109 
 

Page 109 of 126 

Interest Means the interest that the Local Authority may charge on the 
amounts that it has deferred and that have accrued against the 
Property (including the Care Charges and the Administrative 
Charges).  This rate will not exceed the Relevant Rate for the 
Relevant Period plus 0.15%. 

Local Authority 
Contact 

Means the representative of the Local Authority who you should 
notify of any change in circumstances or any other information 
required to be given under the Agreement.  The name and 
contact details of this representative are included in Schedule 1. 

Property the property over which the Local Authority takes Security as 
identified in Schedule 1. 

Relevant Period Means the period starting on either 1st January and ending on 
30th June in any year, or 1st July and ending on 31st December 
in any year. 

Relevant Rate Means the weighted average interest rate on conventional gilts 
specified for the financial year in which the Relevant Period 
starts in the most recent report published before the start of the 
Relevant Period by the Office of Budget  Responsibility under 
section 4(3) of the Budget Responsibility and National Audit Act 
2011. 

Security Means the security which the Local Authority takes in respect of 
the Property to protect repayment of the amount of charges that 
it has deferred together with the Administrative Charges and the 
Interest.  This will take the form of a charge by way of legal 
mortgage which is capable of being registered as a legal charge 
in favour of the Local Authority in the land register or any other 
security which the Local Authority considers to be sufficient to 
secure payment. 

 
1.2 Clause, Schedule and paragraph headings shall not affect the interpretation of 

this agreement. 

1.3 A person includes a natural person, corporate or unincorporated body (whether 
or not having separate legal personality). 

1.4 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the 
plural and in the plural shall include the singular. 

1.5 Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender shall include 
a reference to the other genders.  

1.6 This agreement shall be binding on, and enure to the benefit of, the parties to 
this agreement and their respective personal representatives, successors and 
permitted assigns, and references to any party shall include that party's 
personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns. 

1.7 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, 
extended or re-enacted from time to time and shall include all subordinate 
legislation made under it from time to time. 

Page 173



110 
 

Page 110 of 126 

1.8 Any obligation on a party not to do something includes an obligation not to 
allow that thing to be done. 

2. How the payments will be made 

2.1 The Local Authority agrees, subject to the Equity Limit, to defer payments up to 
a maximum of the Care Charges.  This will be made by either: 

2.1.1 deferring your obligation to pay Care Charges which are payable to 
the Local Authority; or  

2.1.2 deferring the amounts payable by you in Care Charges by paying 
them to your care provider at the times when they become payable. 

2.2 Where the Care Charges are payable to a care provider other than the Local 
Authority, the Local Authority will pay the amount of the Care Charges to the 
care provider.  Where any sums are advanced to you in accordance with this 
Agreement, you must apply such sums to the payment of the Care Charges 
and not for any other purposes. 

2.3 If you are notified of any change in the amount of the Care Charges or the 
frequency with which they must be paid, you must notify the Local Authority in 
writing as soon as you reasonably can and where possible, in advance of the 
change taking effect. If the Local Authority receives less than fourteen (14) 
days notice of a change it cannot guarantee that the requested change will be 
made in time to take effect on the required date. 

2.4 If you decide at any time to pay the Care Charges or any part of them yourself 
you must give the Local Authority at least fourteen (14) days advance written 
notice before the payment is due of: 

2.4.1 the amount that you are going to pay; 

2.4.2 the number of times you will be making the payment (whether this will 
be a one-off payment, a set number of payments or if the payments 
will be made until further notice). 

2.5 If you move from the Accommodation into another care home or other 
supported living accommodation, you should give us at least fourteen (14) days 
written notice of the change and that you wish the Local Authority to substitute 
the Care Charges with the charges applicable to the new accommodation.  The 
Local Authority will do this if they meet the description of the Care Charges and 
if the Local Authority continues to be required to lend you the charges under the 
Care Act 2014.  Any changes notified and agreed will take effect on the expiry 
of the fourteen (14) days notice.  If the Local Authority do not believe that they 
continue to be required to defer the Care Charges as a result of the change in 
Accomodation, it will notify and discuss with you the impact of this as soon as 
possible and may not be required to defer any further amounts in accordance 
with clause 10.2. 

Page 174



111 
 

Page 111 of 126 

2.6 The amount of the Care Charge takes into account your Income.  If your 
Income exceeds the Income threshold, the Local Authority will require you to 
make the Contribution towards the charges due.  The Care Charge which the 
Local Authority has agreed to defer will be reduced by the amount of the 
Contribution.  

2.7 If your Income exceeds £144 per week, the Local Authority may require you to 
repay any amounts forming part of the Debt that should have been funded by 
your Contribution, by giving you at least 30 days’ written notice from the date 
that  it comes to the attention of the Local Authority that you are required or 
should previously have been required to make a Contribution during the term of 
this Agreement.   

2.8 If you notify the Local Authority (or the Local Authority is otherwise notified) that 
your Income will or is due to exceed £144 per week, the Local Authority will 
give you at least thirty (30) days written notice from the date that it comes to the 
Local Authority's attention, that it will reduce the amount of payment that it will 
defer and the amount of the Care Charges will be amended accordingly to take 
into account the Contribution you will be required to make.    

2.9 The Local Authority will not defer any further amount under this Agreement 
(even if the Equity Limit has not been reached) if at any time: 

2.9.1 you are no longer receiving care and support in the Accommodation 
or other applicable care home or supported living accommodation; 

2.9.2 your needs should no longer be met by the provision of care and 
support in the Accommodation, or other applicable care home or 
supported living accommodation; 

2.9.3 if the Equity Limit has been reached; 

2.9.4 in accordance with clause 10.2 below; 

2.9.5 if you are in breach of your obligations under clause 10.3 below; 

2.9.6  if the Property can no longer be insured against all usual risks, save 
where at the Local Authority’s discretion it believes that there are 
reasonable grounds for concluding that the site value of the Property, 
disregarding any building on the property, is adequate security for the 
amount that it has lent you and any future loans that are to be 
provided; 

2.9.7 If the Local Authority reasonably finds that your financial resources  
do not exceed the Financial Assessment Threshold; 

2.9.8 If any valuation report (obtained in accordance with clause 9) 
concludes that the value of your interest in the Property does not 
equate to or exceed the Debt until, subject to the Equity Limit, such 
time as the value of the property has increased to the Local 
Authority's satisfaction; 

Page 175



112 
 

Page 112 of 126 

2.10 The Local Authority will give you at least 30 days’ written notice of the date on 
which it believes that the Equity Limit will be reached unless it is not reasonably 
practicable to do so because, for example, the Equity Limit is reached by 
reason of a fall in the value of the Property. 

Interest 

2.11 Interest will be charged on the Debt.  This will be a compound interest rate 
applied daily from the date the Accommodation commenced.  The interest rate 
for the initial Relevant Period is set out in Schedule 2 of this Agreement. 

2.12 If you decide that you wish to pay the Interest separately rather than adding the 
Interest to the Debt, you should give the Local Authority at least fourteen (14) 
days written notice.  If you do this you may return to paying interest at any time 
by giving the Local Authority at least fourteen (14) days’ written notice that you 
wish to do so. Once this notice has taken effect the Local Authority will invoice 
you separately for the interest which has accrued on an annual basis.  If you do 
not then reimburse the invoiced amount within 28 days after such notice is 
given, the amount of those costs will be added to the Debt and Interest will be 
charged from that date. 

2.13 Interest will be added to the Debt each month, on the date when an amount is 
lent to you for Care Charges, unless the Interest is paid before that date.  

2.14 The Local Authority may, by giving you at least fourteen (14) days written 
notice, vary the Interest by an amount that it chooses, to reflect, in a 
proportionate and reasonable way any change in the cost of funding the Loan 
as long as the amount does not exceed the Relevant Rate.   

3. Costs and Interest on Costs 

3.1 The Local Authority will charge you the Administrative Charges.  Unless 
otherwise agreed at the commencement of this Agreement, the Administrative 
Charges will be added to the Debt and Interest will be charged on the amount 
of the Administrative Charges.  If you wish to pay the Administrative Charges 
separately (and not include these in the amount of the Debt) you should give 
the Local Authority fourteen (14) days written notice.  Once this notice has 
taken effect the Local Authority will invoice you separately for such 
Administrative Charges as they become due.  If you do not then reimburse the 
invoiced amount within 28 days after such notice is given, the amount of those 
costs will be added to the Debt and Interest will be charged from that date. 

3.2 A copy of the Local Authority’s current tariff of charges will be provided to you 
with this Agreement.  The Local Authority will give you notice of any changes to 
the tariff of charges by sending you a copy of the tariff when it is changed, and 
you may obtain a copy of the current tariff of charges on request at any time. 

4. Repayment 

4.1 The Debt is to be repaid to the Local Authority on the earliest of the following 
dates: 

Page 176



113 
 

Page 113 of 126 

4.1.1 the date of any sale or other disposal of the Property; 

4.1.2 90 days after your date of death. 

4.2 You will be required to immediately repay parts of the Debt together with 
Interest, if the Local Authority lends you sums on the mistaken assumption that 
it is required to make such payments (and it is not actually required to permit 
you to defer those sums) and you should reasonably realise that you were not 
entitled to the benefit of these sums (for example where you no longer live in 
the Accommodation). 

4.3 If the Local Authority lends or defers sums on the mistaken assumption that it is 
required to make such payments (and it is not actually required to defer those 
sums) and it is not reasonable for the Local Authority to expect you to realise 
that you were not entitled to the benefit of these sums, then the Local Authority 
will give you three months notice to repay part of any part of the Debt (together 
with Interest). 

5. Security 

5.1 The Local Authority’s rights to repayment of the Debt will be secured by way of 
the Security (also called a legal charge) over the Property.   

5.2 You agree to grant the Security in the form set out at Schedule 3 to this 
agreement and will obtain all necessary consents to grant the Security.  For 
example, if the Property is already secured to another party, or somebody 
already has a legal charge that ranks in priority to the Security that the Local 
Authority requires, you may need that other party’s consent to grant the 
Security to the Local Authority.  The Local Authority will not be able to lend any 
amounts until it has received genuine and informed consent in writing by any 
party who has an interest in the Property. 

6. Possession and use of the Property 

6.1 If you intend to let the Property or allow the Property to be occupied by any 
person you must: 

6.1.1 first obtain the Local Authority’s prior written consent; and 

6.1.2  pay for and maintain adequate insurance including where appropriate 
landlord’s insurance in relation to the Property on terms satisfactory to 
the Local Authority.   

The Local Authority will not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent provided 
that the Property will be occupied on the basis of an assured shorthold tenancy 
which enables an order for possession to be obtained on one month’s written 
notice, after the expiry of an initial term of no more than 6 months.  

7. Insurance and maintenance of the Property 

Page 177



114 
 

Page 114 of 126 

7.1 You agree to adequately insure the Property against all usual risks and provide 
evidence of such insurance at the reasonable request of the Local Authority. 

7.2 If satisfactory evidence is not provided to the Local Authority that the Property 
is adequately insured the Local Authority may, where reasonably required, itself 
insure the Property under an appropriate policy of insurance.  The cost of this 
insurance will be included in the Administrative Charges to be charged to you. 

7.3 You shall apply all moneys received or receivable under any insurance in 
respect of the Property towards replacing, restoring or reinstating the Property 
or towards compensating the applicable third party as appropriate. To the 
extent that the relevant insurance policy does not restrict the proceeds of 
insurance being used to prepay the Debt, the proceeds of insurance shall be 
used, at the option of the Local Authority, to prepay the Debt. 

7.4 The Local Authority, or any appropriately qualified person acting on behalf of 
the Local Authority will give you at least fourteen (14) days notice that it is going 
to inspect the Property for the purposes of ascertaining whether the Property is 
being maintained in reasonable condition and/or whether there are works of 
maintenance and/or repair which should be undertaken to the Property in order 
to preserve or restore its value at or to a value which is adequate Security for 
the Debt, together with a reasonable amount by which it is anticipated that the 
Debt will increase in the foreseeable future.  The Local Authority will not carry 
out this inspection more than once a year.   

7.5 If, following an inspection under clause 8.4, the Local Authority reasonably 
considers that works need to be undertaken, the Local Authority will give notice 
(of not more than 56 days and not less than 28 days or such other notice period 
taking into account the urgency of such works) to you of this requirement 
requesting that either you carry out such works to the reasonable satisfaction of 
the Local Authority or stating that the Local Authority will undertake such works 
and recover the reasonable costs of such works as Administrative Charges.    

8. Valuations 

8.1 If at any time the Local Authority has reasonable grounds for concluding that 
the Debt exceeds the value of your interest in the Property or exceeds the 
Equity Limit, it may take reasonable steps to ascertain the value of the property 
and in particular instruct a suitably qualified valuer to inspect the Property and 
to provide a report to the Local Authority on the market value of the Property.    

8.2 The cost of obtaining this valuation report or costs incurred in otherwise 
ascertaining the value of the Property may be included in the Administrative 
Charges. 

9. Keeping the Local Authority informed and undertakings that you give to 
the Local Authority 

9.1 You must inform the Local Authority as soon as reasonably practicable if any of 
the following happens: 

Page 178



115 
 

Page 115 of 126 

9.1.1 your income exceeds, or is expected to exceed, £144 in any week or, 
where your income has already exceeded £144 in any week; 

9.1.2 there is any change to the amount or frequency of your Care Charges; 

9.1.3 you have not paid any Care Charge in full when it has become due 
(other than any which is payable to the Local Authority or which the 
Local Authority is to pay on your behalf under this Agreement);  

9.1.4 you cease to live in a care home or supported living accommodation; 

9.1.5 there is a change to your needs for care and support the effect of 
which is that you may no longer require your needs to be met by the 
provision of the Accommodation; 

9.1.6 a decision is taken to sell, encumber or otherwise dispose of the 
Property or any part of it. 

9.2 If any of the events listed in clause 10.1.3 to 10.1.6 occur the Local Authority 
may not be obliged to lend you any more money. 

9.3 You undertake to inform the Local Authority of other relevant information that 
may reasonably impact on this Agreement and to comply with the following 
obligations: 

9.3.1 obtain any waiver, consent, authorisation or other permission 
necessary to comply with this Agreement and to enable the Local 
Authority to take out the Security over the Property; 

9.3.2 obtain consent and agreement from any occupiers of the Property that 
any interest they have in the Property whatsoever will rank behind the 
interests of the Local Authority including, for the avoidance of doubt, 
any Security or legal charge granted in favour of the Local Authority; 

9.3.3 not to create or permit to subsist any security over the Property 
without the prior consent of the Local Authority (such consent to be 
subject to the security being reasonable to the Local Authority but not 
to be otherwise unreasonably withheld or delayed); 

9.3.4 not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the Property without the 
prior consent of the local authority; 

9.3.5 not to increase any existing indebtedness which is secured against 
the Property nor to borrow any more money secured against your 
Property without the prior consent of the Local Authority (such 
consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed); 

9.3.6 to notify the Local Authority of any changes to your financial position 
or any income that you receive; 

Page 179



116 
 

Page 116 of 126 

9.3.7 not to change or alter the Property without the Local Authority's 
consent (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). 

10. Ending this Agreement 

10.1 You may bring the Agreement to an end at any time by giving reasonable 
written notice to the Local Authority and paying the whole of the Debt. 

10.2 If you do not bring the Agreement to an end early in accordance with term 11.1, 
the Agreement will come to an end when the Debt is paid in accordance with 
clause 4 above. 

10.3 The Local Authority will not lend or defer any further sums under the Agreement 
if you fail to comply with your obligations and undertakings in this Agreement or 
in relation to the Security. For example, non-payment on any due amount 
pursuant to this Agreement or a legal charge.  

10.4 If a failure to comply occurs, as described in term 11.3, the Local Authority may: 

10.4.1 cancel any commitment to lend whereupon it shall immediately be 
cancelled; and/or 

10.4.2 declare the Security enforceable. 

11. Ending this Agreement 

11.1 You may bring the Agreement to an end at any time by giving reasonable 
written notice to the Local Authority and paying the whole of the Debt. 

11.2 If you do not bring the Agreement to an end early in accordance with term 11.1, 
the Agreement will come to an end when the Debt is paid in accordance with 
clause 4 above. 

11.3 The Local Authority will not lend or defer any further sums under the Agreement 
if you fail to comply with your obligations and undertakings in this Agreement or 
in relation to the Security. For example, non-payment on any due amount 
pursuant to this Agreement or a legal charge.  

11.4 If a failure to comply occurs, as described in term 11.3, the Local Authority may: 

11.4.1 cancel any commitment to lend whereupon it shall immediately be 
cancelled; and/or 

12. Statements 

12.1 The Local Authority will provide you with a written statement: 

12.1.1 at the end of the period of six months beginning with the date of this 
Agreement; 

12.1.2 every six months after the date of the first statement; and 

Page 180



117 
 

Page 117 of 126 

12.1.3 within 28 days of a request to the Local Authority for such a statement 
made by you or on your behalf.  

13. This statement will inform you of the amount which you would have to pay to 
the Local Authority if you were to bring the Agreement to an end on the date on 
which the statement is sent or such later date as has been requested by you, 
and the amount of Interest and Administrative Charges which have accrued 
since the Agreement was made. 

14. How notices or statements are to be given 

Any notice or statement which the Local Authority gives to you in accordance 
with this Agreement will be sent by first class prepaid post to you at the 
Accommodation or by such other method by or to such other person and at 
such address as has been agreed in writing between you and the Local 
Authority from time to time.   

14.1 Any notice which you give to the Local Authority under this Agreement is to be 
given in writing to the Local Authority Contact. 

14.2 Any notice or statement which is sent by first class prepaid post is to be treated 
as having been served on the second day after it is posted, excluding Sundays 
and public holidays.  Any notice or statement which is sent by fax or email to 
the Local Authority Contract or such other contact details as provided to either 
party,  is to be treated as having been served at 9am on the business day after 
the date that it was sent, save where the party receives an error or failure 
message. 

15. Assignment and transfer 

15.1 The Local Authority may:  

15.1.1 assign any or its rights under this Agreement or the Security; or  

15.1.2 transfer all of its rights or obligations by novation, 

to a bank, financial institution or other institution. 

16. Severance 

16.1 If any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal 
or unenforceable, it shall be deemed modified to the minimum extent necessary 
to make it valid, legal and enforceable. If such modification is not possible, the 
relevant provision or part-provision shall be deemed deleted. Any modification 
to or deletion of a provision or part-provision under this clause shall not affect 
the validity and enforceability of the rest of this Agreement. 

16.2 If one party gives notice to the other of the possibility that any provision or part-
provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the parties shall 
negotiate in good faith to amend such provision so that, as amended, it is legal, 

Page 181



118 
 

Page 118 of 126 

valid and enforceable, and, to the greatest extent possible, achieves the 
intended commercial result of the original provision. 

17. Applicable law 

17.1 The interpretation, validity and performance of this Agreement shall be 
governed by the law of England and Wales. 

18. Variation 

18.1 Any variation to this Agreement must be in writing and signed both by you (or 
your appointed Attorney) and on behalf of the Local Authority. 

19. Co-owners 

19.1 The Co-Owner consents to you entering into the terms of this Agreement.  The 

Co-Owner agrees that he/she will join as a party to the creation of the Security 

which will be created under the terms of this agreement and will do all things 

necessary and sign all forms of consent appropriate to securing the registration 

of the Security in favour of the Local Authority under the terms of the 

agreement. 

19.2 The Co-Owner acknowledges and agrees that it has been advised by the Local 

Authority to seek independent legal and financial advice before signing this 

Agreement.  In this context “independent advice” means advice from an advisor 

who is neither related to or acting on behalf of you. 

 

Your signature 

Please read this Agreement carefully, including all the terms set out above and 
the information set out in the Schedules at the end of the Agreement.  The 
Local Authority advises you to seek independent legal and financial advice 
before entering into this Agreement. Only sign below if you understand and 
accept the terms and information included. 

 

Missing payments 

If you do not make payment when it falls due, legal proceedings may be issued 
against you for a judgment for the amount you owe and/or for possession of the 
Property.  It could also make it more difficult or expensive for you to obtain credit in 
the future. 

 

Page 182



119 
 

Page 119 of 126 

Complaints 

If you or any guarantor is dissatisfied with any action or omission on the part of the 
Local Authority under or in connection with this Agreement, in the first instance 
please write to your Local Authority Contact.  If your complaint is not resolved by the 
Local Authority to your satisfaction, you may have a right of appeal under the 
complaints procedure set out on the Local Authority’s website. 

THE PROPERTY SECURING THIS BORROWING MAY BE REPOSSESSED IF 
YOU DO NOT KEEP UP REPAYMENTS ON THE LOAN OR COMPLY WITH THE 
OBLIGATIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT 

Signed by  

______________________ (as attorney for) 

 

__________________________ 

 

in the presence of 

 

Date of signature:  

 

Witnessed by:  

Witness signature 

witness name 

address 

occupation 

 

Signed for and on behalf of the Local Authority: 

Name of person signing: 

Position of person signing:  

Date of signature on behalf of the local authority : 

Witnessed by: 

 

 

 

Page 183



120 
 

Page 120 of 126 

SCHEDULE 1 

KEY CONTRACT INFORMATION 
 

Accommodation  

Administrative 
Charges 

An estimate of these costs and/or a copy of the Administrative 
Charges of the Local Authority that are applicable at the time of 
entering into the Agreement are included in Schedule 2. 
 

Care Charges Weekly Care Charge: £ 
 
These charges are those Care Charges which are to be 
provided by the Local Authority under this Agreement and may 
be amended from time to time. The total payable for your care 
and support while the borrower is living in the Accommodation 
may be more than the Care Charges shown above. The Care 
Charges comprise of those charges which the Local Authority 
consider to be necessary to meet your needs while you are 
living in the Accommodation. 
 
 

Equity Limit At the time of entering into the agreement, the Equity Limit 
applicable to you is: 
 
£ 
 
This amount can be amended from time to time by the Local 
Authority in the event of changes in the value of the Property or 
where other lending or changes in circumstances occur. 
 
This amount has been calculated by taking into account 90% of 
the value of your interest in the Property (being the current 
market or surrender value at the relevant time) that the Local 
Authority has obtained as Security for the Care Charges 
together with any Administrative Charges and Interest which 
are to be treated as part of the Debt, less £14,250 and the 
amount of any encumbrance secured on it which ranks in 
priority to the Local Authority’s Security.   
 
If the amount being lent to you would exceed the Equity Limit as 
a result of the Local Authority lending an amount that it would 
otherwise be due to lend for Care Charges, the Local Authority 
will not lend that amount. This means, for example, that if 90% 
of the value of your interest in the Property, less the amount of 
any indebtedness secured over the Property by a charge with 
priority over the Local Authority’s security and less £14,250, is 
£70,000, and you have already been lent a total of £70,000, 
you will not be lent any more unless or until the value of the 
Property increases.  However, where, due to a fall in the value 
of the Property, the amount of the Debt comes to exceed the 

Page 184



121 
 

Page 121 of 126 

Lending Limit on a date which falls after the date on which the 
Local Authority last lent an amount in respect of Care Charges 
and on or before the date on which it is next due to lend an 
amount in respect of Care Charges, the Local Authority will lend 
on that next occasion even though lending on that occasion will 
result in the Debt further exceeding the Equity Limit. After that, 
the Local Authority will not lend any further amount unless or 
until the value of the Property increases. 
 
 

Interest You have agreed that any Interest will be added to the amount 
of the Debt 

Local Authority 
Contact 

 

Property  

 
SCHEDULE 2 

INTEREST RATES AND ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES 
 
1. Interest rate – amended every six months Compound interest rate 
(applied daily) Period applicable 
 
2. Administration charges 
 
Estimated Costs 
Set up fees 
 
Land search fees:         £10.00 
 
Legal cost to prepare agreement and register charge:   £350.00 
 
Land registration fee: Cost charged by Land Registry dependent on value of 

property 
 
Professional valuation (where required) Cost incurred by Council (notified in 
advance) 
 
Review fees (every 6 months) 
 
Cost to review debt value and compliance 
Preparation of interim statement      £105.00 
 
Termination fees 
 
Legal cost to agree termination of agreement,  
repayment and removal of charge      £350.00  
                                                             

 

 

Page 185



122 
 

Page 122 of 126 

SCHEDULE  3 

Security                                                 

 
Charge – CH1 Land Registry Form 

 
This is a standard Land Registry document, you (or your representative) will be 
required to sign the form and have your signature witnessed by anyone aged over 18 
not related to you and not residing with you. 
 
The witness will need to provide their name, address, occupation and signature. 
 
If you (or your representative) wish to see the CH1 form please go to: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/330008/CH1.pdf 

 

Identity form – ID1 

 
The Land Registry require all parties wishing to make a change to the property 
register (including registering a charge) to either be represented by a Solicitor or 
Conveyancer or provide confirmation of their identity by completing an ID1 form. 
 
You (or your representative) will need to complete part A and then ask a Solicitor or 
Conveyancer to complete Part B. You (or your representative) will need to provide a 
passport photograph and the party completing Part B will need to sign the back of 
the photograph. 
 
The Solicitor or Conveyancer completing the ID1 for you (or your representative) will 
charge for this service. 
 
If you (or your representative) wish to see the ID1 form, please go to: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/.../ID1_2018-05-25_doc 
 
You (or your representative) can also obtain guidance on completing the ID1 form: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/completing-forms-id1-and-id 

 
Charges for Deferred Payment Agreements and Interest Rates 
 
Fees for Deferred Payments Agreements (DPA’s) 
 
Legal Costs for a DPA – secured by a 
first Legal Charge against a freehold 
property in sole ownership of applicant, 
with no loans secured and no additional 
legal complications  
 

£350.00 (+ VAT if applicable*) 

Variable legal costs to cover the cost of 
additional work (if required) to secure a 

£100.00 per hour (+ VAT if applicable *) 

Page 186

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/330008/CH1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/330008/CH1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/.../ID1_2018-05-25_doc
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/completing-forms-id1-and-id


123 
 

Page 123 of 126 

charge against a property or obtain a 
Solicitors Undertaking. If this applies the 
Council will provide an estimate in 
advance  
 
Land Registry fees – registration service 
fees please refer to Land Registry Scale 
2 fees which can be found on the Land 
Registry Website 
www.gov.uk.guidance/land-registry-
registration-services-fees  
 

At cost  

Formal valuation  At cost (+VAT if applicable) 
 

Review of debt and interim statement  £105.00 annually (+VAT if applicable) 
 

Legal costs on termination of the 
agreement and removal of the Charge  
 

£350.00 (+VAT if applicable)  

Costs of any specialist legal and/or 
financial advice obtained by the Council 
(if required) – the Council will provide an 
estimate in advance  
 

At cost (+VAT if applicable) 

• Value Added Tax (VAT) – the legal and administrative costs quoted above 
are exclusive of VAT. VAT will be charged if applicable. DPA’s which meet 
the national mandatory DPA requirements to be secured by a first legal 
charge are not currently subject to VAT. 

• VAT does not currently apply to Land Registry statutory fees. Land 
Registry fess are set and reviewed by the Land Registry and subject to 
change. 

• Review of debt and Preparation of interim statement charge will be 
increased annually in April in line with CPIH.  

 

Annual interest rates for DPA’s  

 
1 January 2018 – 30 June 2018:  1.45% yearly rate charged daily 
1 July 2018 – 31 December 2018: 1.85% yearly rate charged daily 
1 January 2019 – 30 June 2019:  1.65% yearly rate charged daily 
 
Please note: 

• The Council charges the maximum interest rate as defined in the Care and 
Support Regulations93 

• Interest is charged daily on the deferred payment agreement (including 
any administration costs) and is compound interest 

• Interest charges are added to the deferred Payment debt. 
 

                                                           
93 Clause 9 of the Care and Support (Deferred Payments) Regulations 2014. 

Page 187

http://www.gov.uk.guidance/land-registry-registration-services-fees
http://www.gov.uk.guidance/land-registry-registration-services-fees


124 
 

Page 124 of 126 

Sample Solicitors Undertaking 
 

We, Messrs                                                                              Solicitors of 
 
hereby undertake to Bath and North East Somerset Council (“the Council”) as 
follows:- 
 
1. That we are currently instructed in the sale of [name and address of property] (“the 
Property”) being the property of [name of resident][and others]. 
 
2. We will pay to the Council out of [name of resident’s share of] the proceeds of sale 
of the Property the amount statutorily recoverable by the Council in respect of care 
and respite accommodation charges paid by the Council in respect of [name of 
resident]. 
 
3. If our instructions to sell the Property are withdrawn for any reason or we are 
instructed to significantly (i.e. 10% or more) change price, we will immediately advise 
the Business Services, Client Finance Team, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath 
BA1 1JG 
 
The sum to be paid in accordance with this undertaking shall not exceed [name of 
resident’s share of] the net proceeds of sale of the Property, after the deduction of all 
reasonable expenses connected with the sale. 
 

Signature : ....................................................... 
Messrs       Solicitors 
Date : ....................................................... 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



125 
 

Page 125 of 126 

21. Annex E 

 

Privacy Notice  

 
To view the Adult Social Care Client Finance privacy Notice please go to: 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-
freedom-information/Council-privacy-notice-0  

If you would like a hard copy of the privacy notice please contact Client Finance 
Team on 01225 396487 or by email  client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk   or write 
to 

Client Finance Team,  
Lewis House,  
Manvers Street,  
Bath  
BA1 1JG 
 

Bath and North East Somerset Council can also provide you with guides on the 
following: 
 

• For people moving into residential accommodation 

• Top-up fees 

• Direct payments  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 189

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/data-protection-and-freedom-information/council-privacy-notice-0
mailto:client_financeteam@bathnes.gov.uk


126 
 

Page 126 of 126 

22. Glossary of terms: 

 
Assessed weekly charge: This is the amount of money you will be expected to pay 
towards your costs of care and is based on your financial assessment.  
 
Commissioned package of care: A commissioned service means care, support or 
supervision that has been arranged and paid for on a client's behalf by a public 
authority such as: In the case of personal care, a local authority adult social care 
department. 
 
CPIH - Consumer Prices Index including owner occupiers’ housing costs 
 
Direct payment: Direct payments are payments for people who have been 
assessed as needing help from social services, and who would like to arrange and 
pay for their own care and support services instead of receiving them directly from 
the Council. 
 
Personal budget: A Personal Budget is an agreed amount of money that is 
allocated to you personally by your local Council (and other funding streams) 
following an assessment of your care and support needs. A personal budget is a 
statement of the amount of money needed to meet your eligible social care needs. 
 
 

Page 190



working together for health & well-being 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 Policy for direct payments 
 
 

 
Version:  FINAL  
 
Area:   Council:  People and Communities 
   CCG:  Nursing and Quality 
 
Date:   January 2019 
 
Status:  FINAL Document 
 
Effective from: April 2020 
 
Next Review Date: April 2021 
 
Author:   Rebecca Potter 
 
Owners:  
 

Lesley 
Hutchinson 

Director of Adult Social Care, Complex 
and Specialist Commissioning  

Adult Social Care 

May Gill Director of Nursing & Quality  Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Mary Kearney-
Knowles 

Senior Commissioning Manager - 
Specialist Services, Learning and 
Inclusion Service 

Children and Young 
People’s Services 

 
Document Sign-Off 
 

Joint Commissioning Committee Date: 

 

For public access on the Internet:  YES ☒ NO ☐ 
 

For staff access on the Intranet:   YES ☒ NO ☐ 
 
Hard copies of this document are considered uncontrolled. Please refer to the 
website for the latest version 
  

Page 191



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 2 of 37 

Contents 
Mission statement ...................................................................................................... 4 

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 4 

Purpose of this policy ................................................................................................. 4 

Definitions .................................................................................................................. 5 

Policy for direct payments in Bath and North East Somerset ..................................... 7 

1. Legal and policy context ................................................................................ 7 

2. Other relevant policies .................................................................................. 7 

3. Informing people, promoting choice and advocacy ....................................... 8 

4. Who can receive direct payments ................................................................. 8 

5. Who can’t receive direct payments ............................................................... 8 

6. Mental capacity – requesting direct payments .............................................. 9 

7. Declining a request for direct payments ...................................................... 11 

8. Calculating the amount of the direct payment ............................................. 12 

9. Financial assessment .................................................................................. 13 

10. Types of direct payment .............................................................................. 14 

• Adult & Children Social Care ................................................................... 14 

• Health ...................................................................................................... 14 

• Integrated Personal Commissioning ........................................................ 15 

• Special Educational Needs and Disability Personal Budget .................... 15 

11. How we pay direct payments ...................................................................... 16 

12 Using direct payments ................................................................................. 17 

13 Contingency funds ...................................................................................... 17 

14 What direct payments cannot be used for ................................................... 18 

15 Managing direct payments .......................................................................... 19 

16 Becoming an employer ............................................................................... 20 

17 Training ....................................................................................................... 24 

18 Integrating direct payments with other sources of funding .......................... 25 

19 The direct payments agreement .................................................................. 25 

20 Monitoring and review of direct payments ................................................... 25 

21 When some or all of the direct payment needs to be returned .................... 26 

22.  Changes in circumstances ............................................................................. 26 

22 Changing your mind .................................................................................... 27 

23 Ending direct payments ............................................................................... 27 

25 Complaints ....................................................................................................... 28 

26 Reviewing this policy ....................................................................................... 29 

Glossary of terms ..................................................................................................... 30 

Page 192



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 3 of 37 

Attachment 1 ............................................................................................................ 34 

Attachment 2 ............................................................................................................ 35 

Attachment 3 ............................................................................................................ 36 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 193



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 4 of 37 

Mission statement 
Bath & North East Somerset Council (the council) and NHS Bath and North East 
Somerset Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) seek to ensure that people are 
able, regardless of their age, abilities and circumstances, to live the life they want to 
live, achieve their greatest potential and be valued for the contribution they make to 
our community in Bath and North East Somerset. 

Introduction 
The council and the CCG want to make it as easy as possible for people to exercise 
choice and control over their lives, including their care and support needs, and 
recognise that direct payments can be an important part of this. The council and 
CCG want to ensure that people understand what direct payments are, the freedoms 
and choices that direct payments bring and the responsibilities that go with them. We 
also want to make sure the application process is as easy and smooth as possible. 
 
By combining the policies for adult and children’s social care as well as health direct 
payments, we will make the processes underpinning direct payments easier to 
understand and simpler to implement. 
  
The values that the council and CCG both share underpin this policy. They are the 
reason we make budgets available to individuals and they describe what those 
budgets should achieve for people who use them.  
 
These shared values and aspirations for people with health, care and support needs 
are: 

• To support those people to exercise choice and control, to have and maintain 
independence in how they live their lives and to get a life and not just a 
service 

• To support those people to be active citizens 

• To work in partnership with those people and with other organisations 

• To make direct payments and support for people with direct payments non-
discriminatory and as accessible as possible 

• To make sure public money is spent wisely 

Purpose of this policy 
The purpose of this policy is to: 

• Reflect both the values and commitment of the council and CCG to support 
more people to have independence, choice and control over their lives. 

• Provide clarity on the responsibilities and freedoms that direct payments 
provide for existing users, potential users, their families and staff members 
supporting them. 

• Ensure the legal and policy requirements in relation to direct payments across 
adults, children’s and health are included 

• Ensure that support provided via a direct payment achieves value for money 
for the individual, the council and / or the CCG. 

Page 194



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 5 of 37 

Definitions 
Throughout this document, technical or unfamiliar terms are highlighted in bold text 
with definitions provided in the glossary. 
 
A direct payment is one way in which an individual with assessed eligible health and 
social care needs can choose to take their personal budget. A personal budget (or 
personal health budget) is the sum of money the council (or CCG) has calculated it 
would spend on meeting a person’s assessed eligible social care or health needs. 
 
The council provides a personal budget (PB) to meet assessed eligible social care 
needs. A Special Educational Needs and Disability Budget can also be allocated as 
part of the Education, Health and Care Plan process. The CCG provides a personal 
health budget (PHB) for adults who are eligible for NHS continuing Healthcare 
(CHC) funding Integrated Personal Commissioning (IPC) budgets contain both PB 
and PHB funding. Throughout this document the term personal budget will be used 
to mean any of the above. 
 
The relationship between personal budgets and direct payments is shown in below: 
 

 
 
This policy sets out the framework for enabling direct payments in Bath and North 
East Somerset and applies to: 

• All Bath & North East Somerset Council and NHS Bath and North East 
Somerset Clinical Commissioning Group employees who are responsible for 
assessing needs for care and support and their managers 

• Staff of any organisation to which Bath & North East Somerset Council and 
NHS Bath and North East Somerset Clinical Commissioning Group have 
delegated the authority to carry out some of their delegated statutory duties. 

 
Throughout the document, where ‘the council or CCG’ are named, this should be 
taken to include those partners with delegated statutory duties. Current partners with 

Assessment and 
support planning

Personal budget

Decision on how 
to take personal 

budget

1. Direct payment
2. Commissioned 

service or 
notional budget

A combination of 
1 and 2 (Mixed 

Package)

Page 195



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 6 of 37 

delegated responsibility to carry out these functions are Virgin Care and NHS Avon 
and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership Trust (AWP).  

Page 196



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 7 of 37 

Policy for direct payments in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

1. Legal and policy context 
• The legislative basis for enabling direct payments for adult’s social care is set 

out in the Care Act, Section 117(2C) of the Mental Health Act 1983 (the 1983 
Act) and the Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014. 

• For children and young people, it is the Children and Families Act (2014), the 
Statutory Guidance and Code of Practice for special educational needs and 
disability 0-25 years (2014) and the ‘The Special Educational Needs 
(Personal Budgets) Regulations (2014).  

• For health it is the guidance in relation to personal health budgets which is 
summarised in Attachment 2. 

 

2. Other relevant policies 
Other relevant policies are: 

 
• Care and Support Assessment & Eligibility Policy (November 2015)1 
• Care and Support Planning policy (May 2016)2 
• Care and Support Financial Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 

(add the link) 
• Complaints: Assurance Framework for Bath and North East Somerset 

Council’s Adult Social Care Duties (Dec 2015)3 
• Ordinary Residence and Continuity of Care policy (Jan 2016)4 
• Guidance on Direct Payments for Healthcare: Understanding the Regulations 

(March 2014)5 
• The provision of PHBs is being expanded beyond CHC funding and is 

outlined in the Local Offer for BaNES6 
• Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Strategy 2017-2020 

https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/documents/955-b-nes-send-strategy-
2017-2020.pdf 

• Bath and North East Somerset Council Special Educational Needs and 
Disability Personal Budget Policy June 2019. 
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/documents/763-banes-personal-budgets-
policy.pdf  
 

 

                                            
1 http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/assessment_and_eligibility_final_ 
02.11.2015_3.pdf 
2 http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/care_and_support_planning_policy_ 
final_may_2016.pdf 
3 http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/complaintspolicyandguidance_final_ 
09.12.2015.pdf 
4 http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/ordinary_residence_and_continuity_of_ 
care_policy_jan16.pdf 
5 http://www.personalhealthbudgets.england.nhs.uk/_library/Resources/Personalhealthbudgets/2014/ 
Guidance_on_Direct_Payments_for_Healthcare_Understanding_the_Regulations_March_2014.pdf 
6 http://www.bathandnortheastsomersetccg.nhs.uk/documents/links/personal-health-budgets-local-
offer 

Page 197

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/assessment_and_eligibility_final_02.11.2015_3.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/care_and_support_planning_policy_final_may_2016.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/complaintspolicyandguidance_final_09.12.2015.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/complaintspolicyandguidance_final_09.12.2015.pdf
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/siteimages/ordinary_residence_and_continuity_of_care_policy_jan16.pdf
http://www.personalhealthbudgets.england.nhs.uk/_library/Resources/Personalhealthbudgets/2014/Guidance_on_Direct_Payments_for_Healthcare_Understanding_the_Regulations_March_2014.pdf
http://www.bathandnortheastsomersetccg.nhs.uk/documents/links/personal-health-budgets-local-offer
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/documents/955-b-nes-send-strategy-2017-2020.pdf
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/documents/955-b-nes-send-strategy-2017-2020.pdf
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/documents/763-banes-personal-budgets-policy.pdf
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/documents/763-banes-personal-budgets-policy.pdf


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 8 of 37 

3. Informing people, promoting choice and advocacy 
 
The council and CCG provide free to access information about direct payments to 
raise awareness of direct payments and how they can be used. This is available on 
the council and CCG’s websites, through commissioned services and in paper 
format. 

 
When a s117 after care plan is being developed, individuals will be advised which 
of their eligible needs or after care services, if any, may be met / provided through 
direct payments, and offered this option. Individuals will be provided with information 
about direct payments (rights and responsibilities and how to use and manage them) 
so that they can make an informed decision. 

 
People must request a direct payment and may opt in or out of direct payment 
arrangements by notifying the council or CCG at any time. Requests for direct 
payments are usually made at the planning stage but may be made at any other 
time. 

 
People aged 16 years and over (18 and over for CHC clients), who appear to be 
unable to understand their rights and responsibilities in relation to the ways in which 
they can receive their personal budget, and have no other appropriate person to 
support them, will be offered an independent advocate. Children aged 0 – 15 years 
should be supported in their decision making by their parent / legal guardian. 

4. Who can receive direct payments 
 
The Council and CCG will offer direct payments at every assessment or review to 
people who are eligible to receive them. 
 
As long as the conditions described in section 6 below are met in relation to the 
individual’s capacity, the council has a duty to provide direct payments for people 
(including carers) whose needs for care and support have been determined to meet 
either the Care Act, or Children and Families Act eligibility.  
 
The CCG will consider the PHB eligibility guidance in order to determine who can 
receive a PHB as a direct payment. This is available online via the Personal Health 
Budgets Local Offer7. 

5. Who can’t receive direct payments 
 
Whilst most individuals who meet the conditions in sections 4 and 6 are eligible to 
receive direct payments, some exceptions do exist. These are in relation to people 
with drug or alcohol dependencies who have had certain conditions imposed on 
them by the courts. See Attachment 1 for further details. 
 
In relation to adult social care direct payments, the council will not make a direct 
payment to individuals who have savings above the threshold (£23,250 currently). 

                                            
7 http://www.bathandnortheastsomersetccg.nhs.uk/documents/links/personal-health-budgets-local-
offer 

Page 198

http://www.bathandnortheastsomersetccg.nhs.uk/documents/links/personal-health-budgets-local-offer
http://www.bathandnortheastsomersetccg.nhs.uk/documents/links/personal-health-budgets-local-offer


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 9 of 37 

See the Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework for full 
details. 

6. Mental capacity – requesting direct payments 
 
The route to receiving a direct payment is for the person to request one, or, in the 
case of children, for the parents or guardians to request one on behalf of the child.  
 
For adults, the requirements for the council and CCG and those organisations acting 
on behalf of the council and CCG with delegated statutory duties differ depending on 
whether the adult with care and support needs has the mental capacity to request a 
direct payment. 
 
An adult with capacity who has eligible adult social care needs will be provided with 
a direct payment when requested as long as the following four conditions are fully 
met: 
 
1. the adult has capacity to make the request, and where there is a nominated 
person, that person agrees to receive the payments 
2. the local authority is not prohibited by regulations from meeting the adult’s needs 
by making direct payments to the adult or nominated person 
3. the local authority is satisfied that the adult or nominated person is capable of 
managing direct payments either by himself or herself, or with whatever help the 
authority thinks the adult or nominated person will be able to access 
4. the local authority is satisfied that making direct payments to the adult or 
nominated person is an appropriate way to meet the needs in question 
 
For adults with health needs, a person who has mental capacity to make an informed 
decision to voluntarily accept a level of risk in relation to taking a direct payment is 
entitled to do so. However, the CCG is not obliged to fund it and may instead offer a 
commissioned service. The CCG remains accountable for the proper use of public 
funds. Sufficient evidence and information must be provided for an informed decision 
to be made by the individual, their representative and the CCG to manage identified 
risks. 
 
Adults without capacity should not automatically be prevented from having a direct 
payment, as long as there is an authorised person8 to manage the payments on 
their behalf. For details of who can be an authorised person, please see the 
glossary. 
 
Direct payments for an adult without capacity with eligible adult social care needs will 
be provided to an authorised person when requested providing each of the following 
conditions are met: 

• where the person is not authorised under the Mental Capacity Act 2005 but 
there is at least one person who is so authorised, that person who is 
authorised supports the person’s request 

• the local authority is not prohibited by regulations under section 33 of the Care 
Act from meeting the adult’s needs by making direct payments to the 

                                            
8 Clause 8 of the Direct Payment Regulations 2014 

Page 199



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 10 of 37 

authorised person, and if regulations under that section give the local 
authority discretion to decide not to meet the adult’s needs by making direct 
payments to the authorised person, it does not exercise that discretion 

• the local authority is satisfied that the authorised person will act in the adult’s 
best interests in arranging for the provision of the care and support for which 
the direct payments under this section would be used 

• the local authority is satisfied that the authorised person is capable of 
managing direct payment by himself or herself, or with whatever help the 
authority thinks the authorised person will be able to access 

• the local authority is satisfied that making direct payments to the authorised 
person is an appropriate way to meet the needs in question 
 

The local authority or CCG will take the following steps to assess whether making 
direct payments to the authorised person is an appropriate way of meeting needs: 

• So far as is reasonably practicable and appropriate, the council / CCG will 
consult and take into account the views of:  
o anyone named by the adult as someone to be consulted about whether 

direct payments should be made to the authorised person,  
o anyone engaged in caring for the adult or interested in their welfare,  
o anyone authorised under the MCA to make decisions about the adult’s 

needs for care and support.  

• So far as is reasonably ascertainable, the council / CCG will consider:  
o the adult’s past and present wishes and feelings, particularly any relevant 

written statement made by the adult before they lost capacity,  
o the beliefs and values that would be likely to influence the adult’s decision 

if the adult had capacity, and 
o other relevant factors the adult would be likely to consider if they were able 

to do so.  
 

• The council / CCG will fund a DBS check to be carried out for:  
o anyone who will be acting as the authorised person, who is not a close 

relative of the person with care and support needs, and  
o The person with overall responsibility for the day to day management 

of direct payments where the authorised person is a body corporate or 
an unincorporated body of persons. 

 
The authorised person must: 

• Be named as the financial representative on the service user’s electronic 
case record to enable payments to be made.  

• Notify the council / CCG or their representative if they reasonably believe 
that the adult has regained capacity.  

• Always act in your best interests 

• They must use direct payments only to arrange services that will meet the 
person’s eligible needs.  

• Direct payments cannot be used to pay themselves.  

• Direct payments cannot be used to pay for services provided by the 
persons spouse, civil partner or partner, or a close relative who lives in the 

Page 200



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 11 of 37 

same household as the person, unless the Council agree that this is 
absolutely necessary9  

• Make sure you have as much choice as possible over decisions that affect 
you and  

• They must maintain records which we will want to see when direct 
payment arrangements are reviewed.  

• They must provide us with any information we consider necessary in 
connection with direct payments.  

• We may make direct payments subject to additional conditions if we think 
this is in the person’s best interests.  

• DBS check will be carried out on any person10 from whom a service is 
secured using direct payments. 
 

Your Direct Payment cannot commence until the authorised person has had the DBS 
check returned with a satisfactory outcome and they have set up a bank account for 
the Direct Payment to be paid into.  
 
Parent carers of children and young people manage direct payments on behalf of 
their children and are not required to undergo a DBS check as legal parental 
responsibility is in place. Once the young person turns 16, they are eligible for a 
direct payment in their own right. A review should be carried out to determine 
whether the direct payment should be paid directly to the young person or continue 
to be paid to the parent / guardian / authorised person if the child lacks capacity.  
 
Fluctuating capacity.  
 
The Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014 allow for direct payments 
to continue to be made in cases of fluctuating capacity11.  
 
If we are satisfied that the regaining of capacity will only be temporary, then we can 
continue to make direct payments to the authorised person if for the time that the 
individual has the capacity to make the request and is capable of managing the 
direct payment, the individual will manage the payments for him or herself and not 
the authorised person. 
 

7. Declining a request for direct payments 
 
Requests for direct payments will be declined if any condition set out for adults with 
capacity or the conditions set out for adults without capacity above are unmet, or if 
any of the conditions within section 5 apply. 
 
The council or CCG or partner organisation will provide a written explanation of why 
the request was declined including: 

• Which conditions are not met,  

• Why the condition is considered to be unmet  

                                            
9 Clause 3(1) and (3) and 4(3)(a) of the Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014 
10 Clause 5(c) of the Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014 
11 Clause 8 of the Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014 

Page 201



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 12 of 37 

• What the person making the request may need to do to obtain a positive 
decision.  

 
Information about how to appeal the decision through the complaints process will 
also be provided.  
 
The council / CCG or partner organisation will continue the planning process to 
agree with the person whose needs must be met how this can be achieved without 
the use of direct payments. 

8. Calculating the amount of the direct payment 
 
The amount of the direct payment will be calculated after an assessment. If the 
person meets their needs by directly employing someone, their budget will be 
calculated to include costs of employment such as training and holiday payments 
etc. The person (or their authorised person) will be responsible for ensuring the 
monies allocated for training, holiday pay etc. are used for this purpose. 
 
For further details of how the budgets are calculated, please see the relevant policy: 

• Adult social care: Care and Support Planning policy (May 2016)12 

• Children’s social care: Following an assessment of need from the 
Disabled Children’s team13 

• Health: A PHB is set by first establishing the persons need for care and 
support. Using the CHC/CCC Decision Support Tool, the Nurse Assessor 
will have identified the level of care and support likely to be required. With 
this information an “indicative” budget can be formulated.  

• Bath and North East Somerset Council Special Educational Needs and 
Disability Personal Budget Policy June 2019:   

o https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/0-5-years/education-
health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send 

o https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/5-11-years/education-
health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send  

o https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/11-14-years/education-
health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send  

o https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/14-25-
years/employment-education-and-training/personal-budgets-send-
14-25-years  

 
 
For adults: To calculate the indicative Personal Budget practitioners will complete the 
“Budget Setting Tool (which is in the PHB Toolkit). The indicative budget should then 
be checked and if appropriate agreed by the nurse assessor’s Team Manager. Final 
agreement for the “indicative budget” will need to be given by the CCG. 
 
For Children: Each request for a PHB will be considered on an individual basis and 
the “indicative budget” will be set individually. 

                                            
12 http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/care-and-support-and-you/professionals-and-practitioners 
13 http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/families-disabled-
children/disabled-children 

Page 202

https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/0-5-years/education-health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/0-5-years/education-health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/5-11-years/education-health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/5-11-years/education-health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/11-14-years/education-health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/11-14-years/education-health-and-care-plans/personal-budgets-send
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/14-25-years/employment-education-and-training/personal-budgets-send-14-25-years
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/14-25-years/employment-education-and-training/personal-budgets-send-14-25-years
https://www.rainbowresource.org.uk/pages/14-25-years/employment-education-and-training/personal-budgets-send-14-25-years
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/care-and-support-and-you/professionals-and-practitioners
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/families-disabled-children/disabled-children
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/families-disabled-children/disabled-children


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 13 of 37 

 
The council and CCG review the amount of the direct payment on 1 April each year 
in line with the council and CCG’s rate setting process. 
 

9. Financial assessment 
 
Please note this section is relevant only to adult social care direct payment 
recipients. 
 
All councils are able to charge for the services they provide under Section 14 of the 
Care Act 2014. This includes services purchased using direct payments. 
 
The amount that anyone pays towards their care (their charge) is based on a 
financial calculation which the councils Care Finance team carry out. This takes 
account of the individual’s personal financial circumstances. This is effectively a 
means test. The charge is not based on the amount of service a person receives, so 
not everybody has to pay the same amount. 
 
If the Care Finance Officer confirms that the individual should pay an assessed 
weekly charge, they will inform the direct payment recipient and the professional who 
assessed them that they will be required to pay this and how it should be paid. 
People who only have a direct payment must pay their assessed weekly charge into 
their direct payment / pre-paid card account, if they have a mixed package which 
includes a direct payment and a commissioned service, the council will invoice them 
for the full amount of their assessed weekly charge.  
 
If the person declines to provide the financial assessment information the Care 
Finance Team will carry out a light touch financial assessment and confirm the 
amount of the assessed weekly care charge, you can ask for a full assessment at 
any time. 
 
As a general rule the Council expects the person (or their representative) to be 
available to complete a financial assessment within two weeks of contact from the 
Care Finance Officer. If the person unreasonably delays completing financial 
assessment you will be assessed to pay the full costs of your care and support from 
the start date of the service provision and support and will not receive a direct 
payment. Further information is available in the Care and Support Charging and 
Financial Assessment Framework. Add link 
 
The council will follow its procedures as outlined in the ‘Care and Support Charging 
and Financial Assessment Framework’ if the person does not pay their calculated 
charge. 

 
If the person disagrees with their financial assessment, they should contact the Care 
Finance Team in the first instance to try and resolve any issues as soon as possible. 
The team will go through the information to check that the calculation is correct and 
that the assessment or decisions have considered all the relevant information in line 
with the Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Financial 
Framework. 

Page 203



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 14 of 37 

 
NB – people who are eligible for Section 117 aftercare may still require a financial 
assessment if the care being delivered is independent of the needs arising from the 
mental disorder e.g. a ‘physical’ need. 
 

10. Types of direct payment 
 

• Adult & Children Social Care 

One off 
A single payment made to the recipient for a specific item. These payments can be 
used for services / items which are non-chargeable such as equipment. See the 
separate ‘Direct Payments for Equipment’ policy guidance for details of this. One off 
payment can also be made (for example at the start of an ongoing direct payment) to 
cover items such as employer’s liability insurance. 

Ongoing 
On-going direct payments are made every two weeks and are paid in arrears usually 
from the date that needs are identified. Note that plans are in place to move these 
payments to every two weeks in advance. This change will be planned and 
communicated appropriately. 
 
Ongoing direct payments are discussed in more detail later on. 

Carers 
Carers can receive a social care direct payment in their own right to support them to 
meet their needs as a carer. Please see the Care and Support Planning Policy for 
further details.  

• Health 
The following groups of people are currently eligible to apply for a personal health 
budget: 
 
Right to have a personal health budget: 

• Adults in receipt of NHS continuing health care funding  

• Children and young people in receipt of continuing care funding  

• Adults with mental health problems who are receiving after-care as a result of 
being sectioned under the Mental Health Act 

• Wheelchair users who are referred and meet the eligibility criteria of their local 
wheelchair service, plus people who are already registered with the 
wheelchair service (these people will be eligible for a personal wheelchair 
budget when they need a new wheelchair) 

 
The following groups have the right to request a personal health budget: 

• Children with special educational needs and disabilities as part of their 
Educational Health and Care (EHC) plans have been able to request a 
personal budget. 

• Children with complex health needs and long-term conditions have had the 
right to request a PHB. 

Page 204



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 15 of 37 

 
However, this would need to be agreed by the CCG taking the following into 
consideration: 

• Maintaining existing service provision for other users of a block contract 

• Offering a reasonable level of health provision 

• Commissioning responsibly (i.e. NHS England or CCG) 
 
The CCG is currently working on expanding PHBs to other groups of people 
including those requiring End of Life Care  

• Integrated Personal Commissioning 
 
In July 2014 NHS England announced plans to pilot integrated commissioning 
approaches. This would involve providing people with a combination of health and 
social care funding as an integrated personal budget / personal health budget.  
 
Personalisation of healthcare embodies co-production. It promotes individuals 
working in partnership with their family, carers and professionals to plan, develop 
and procure the services and support that are appropriate for them. It also enables 
CCGs, local authorities and healthcare providers to work together more effectively to 
enhance their health and social care provision. 

• The personalised approach must support the principles of the NHS as a 
comprehensive service, free at the point of use, as set out in the NHS 
Constitution, and should remain consistent with existing NHS policies. 

• There should be clear accountability for the choices made. 

• No one will ever be denied essential treatment as a result of having a PHB. 

• Having a PHB does not entitle someone to more or more expensive services 
or to preferential access to NHS services. 

• There should be good and appropriate use of NHS resources. 

• Special Educational Needs and Disability Personal Budget 
 
SEND Personal budgets, which can be paid as Direct Payments, are an allocation of 
the agreed funding made for children and young people with an Education, Health 
and Care Plan, after an assessment of their needs and will be outlined in the Plan. It 
should be noted that the allocation of an educational personal budget needs the 
agreement from the parents/young person, council and educational placement to 
release the allocated funding.  Parents or young people can request a Personal 
Budget as part of an EHCP Needs assessment, once the decision has been made to 
issue an Education, Health and Care Plan. An education health and care plan can 
remain in place up to the age of 25, provided that it is agreed by the council and 
young person remains in education and makes progress. A personal budget will 
cover aspects of the support outlined in the Plan and will not cover the cost of a 
named educational placement or any social care element which would be covered by 
any social care Direct Payment allocation. 
 
Families can decide how they want the budget to be managed:  

• As a direct payment.  (set out in ‘Personal Budget Direct Payment Agreement) 
The funding is paid direct to the family or young person (over the age of 16 

Page 205



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 16 of 37 

with mental capacity) who will manage it to deliver support as set out in the 
EHCP. 

• As a ‘commissioned budget’ where the council manages the notional budget 
for the family.  

• By a provider (for example a school or voluntary service). 

• Or as a combination of the three options above. 
 
 

11. How we pay direct payments 
 
Direct payments, including emergency payments, are paid on behalf of the council 
and CCG by the council’s Client Finance team and are made in accordance with the 
council’s financial policies and procedures.  
 
Direct payments are paid every two weeks in arrears (see 10.1.2 for plans to change 
this to in advance) and, in the case of adults with social care direct payments, are 
paid net of any contribution from the person in need of care and support, who should 
add their assessed weekly contribution (if any) to the direct payment account. 
 
Local authorities cannot require financial contributions for a direct payment for after 
care services under the Mental Health Act (MHA); these must be provided without 
charge. 
 
All costs must be met within: 

• Any agreed personal budget which includes any calculated charge 
required from the person receiving services 

• The amount agreed as sufficient to meet the cost of s117 after care 
services 

 
The council is currently working towards implementing a pre-paid card solution, and 
it is expected that the majority of new direct payment recipients will use a pre-paid 
card as their direct payment bank account once this solution is in place. Pre-paid 
cards will also be made available to existing DP users for their convenience.  
 
Until pre-paid cards are in place, and for all PHB and IPC budgets, a separate direct 
payment bank account must be opened which must be used solely for receiving and 
managing direct payments. The bank account must have no overdraft facility. 
 
One off payment of up to £500 for carers will not need to be made into a separate 
bank account. 

 
Table 1 below summarises the options for payment: 

Direct Payments Recipient  Direct payment options  

A child aged under 16 • Separate bank account in the name of the 
parent / guardian only 
 

An adult (or young person aged 
16 and over) with capacity.  

• Separate bank account in the name of the 
service user only 

• Full Financial Account  

Page 206



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 17 of 37 

Direct Payments Recipient  Direct payment options  

An adult (or young person aged 
16 and over) with capacity who 
has a nominated person to 
assist with the ongoing 
management of the funds and 
care.  

• Separate dedicated direct payments bank 
account in the name of the service user or 
in the name of the nominated person, or 
with Client Finance/social worker approval 
a joint account 
 

An adult (or young person aged 
16 and over) without capacity 
who has an authorised person 
who will receive the direct 
payment on behalf of the person. 

• Dedicated direct payments separate bank 
account in the name of the authorised 
person only 
 

12 Using direct payments 
 
Direct payments must be used to pay for the things identified in the care and support 
plan. If a direct payment includes a payment to cover tax, NI, holiday pay, 
redundancy insurance etc.  it must be used for this purpose. 
 
Direct payments must be used to purchase services which are safe, legal, value for 
money and which adequately safeguard and promote the person’s welfare and 
wellbeing. 
 
Direct payments may be subject to conditions imposed by the council or CCG and 
may be discontinued and / or recovered if the council or CCG has reason to believe 
that direct payments may have been misspent or accumulated without good reason. 
 
The council or the CCG is not responsible for any losses incurred by the recipient of 
the Direct Payment. 
 
The council and the CCG are required to ensure that the recipient or the nominated 
authorised person is using the direct payment to achieve the eligible needs and 
outcomes agreed in the Care and Support Plan/Child’s Young People’s plan.  In the 
event that fraud, abuse or misuse of the direct payment is suspected the Council, or 
the CCG shall investigate and terminate/suspend the direct payment as 
appropriate.  Any potential criminal activity shall be referred to the Police for further 
investigation. The Council or the CCG will provide the care and support in the interim 
or in the long-term if the direct payment has been terminated. 
 

13 Contingency funds 
 
Direct payment recipients can retain an agreed level of contingency funding holding 
a balance of up to 4 weeks after planned monthly payments have been made. The 
balance at the start of the month may exceed 4 weeks, however retained balances 
once all payments have been made should not be over the 4-week contingency 
level. 
 
These can be used to cover specific one-off requirements and / or fluctuating needs 
and should be recorded on the person’s care and support plan. In specific 

Page 207



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 18 of 37 

circumstances one off payments can be agreed for planned needs and should be 
recorded in the person’s support plan.  
 
 

Example: 4 x week contingency 
John receives a direct payment of £50 a week (£200 a month). This means up to 
£400 can be in his account at any one time. £200 a month is committed on wages for 
his PA and the remaining £200 is his contingency. John’s Care and Support Plan 
details what this contingency can be used for and includes covering sick pay and 
annual leave for his PA and additional PA hours when his condition flares up. 

14 What direct payments cannot be used for 
 
Direct payments cannot be used for: 

• Care services or support in managing direct payments provided by the 
adult’s spouse / partner or a close family member living in the same 
household as the adult14. However, in exceptional circumstances the 
council / CCG can agree a direct payment to a close family member living 
in the same household. The Care Act gives the following example of these 
exceptional circumstances: 

 
Example: Direct payment paid to a family member where necessary 
James has severe learning difficulties as well as various physical disabilities. 
He has serious trust issues and a unique way of communicating that only his 
family, through years of care as a child, can understand. The local authority 
agrees that using a direct payment to pay for care from his parents is 
necessary as it is the best way to meet James’s needs and outcomes. 

 

• Any service directly provided by the council. 

• Services, equipment and / or minor adaptations which are the 
responsibility of other public bodies.  

• Agency Fees for ‘introductory’ home care agencies- If a DP recipient 
chooses to use an ‘introductory’ home care agency, the DP may be used 
to fund the costs of meeting the person’s direct care and support needs 
but not the fee to the agency. 

• A social care direct payment cannot be used to provide or arrange any 
health service or facility which is required to be provided by the NHS. 

• Long term residential or nursing care but can be used to pay for:  
o Short stays of up to 4 consecutive weeks in any 12-month period. In 

calculating the period of 4 weeks, a stay of less than 4 weeks is 
added to any succeeding stay if the two stays are separated by a 
period of less than 4 weeks but not otherwise15. 

o Non-residential services, for example to trial independent living or to 
take part in daytime activities. 

• Health services such as: 

                                            
14 Clause 7 of the Direct Payment Regulations 2014 
15 Clause 3(3) of the Direct Payment Regulations 2014 
 

Page 208



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 19 of 37 

o Primary medical services provided by GPs, as part of their primary 
medical service’s contractual terms and conditions 

o Vaccination or immunization 
o Health screening 
o The national child measurement programme and 
o NHS Health Checks 
o Urgent or emergency treatment services such as unplanned in-

patient admissions to hospital or accident and emergency 
o Surgical procedures 
o NHS charges such as prescription or dental charges 

• Gambling purposes 

• Repayment of a debt  

• Anything illegal or unlawful 

• Alcohol, tobacco or drugs 
 
Direct payments cannot be used to duplicate public funding that is already coming 
from another source, for example, transport costs which should be covered by an 
adults’ disability living allowance if received. 
 
Carer direct payments are to meet the carer’s own assessed needs and cannot be 
used to purchase services for the person they care for. 
 
An authorised person must not use direct payments to pay themselves to provide 
services to the adult without capacity except as expressly authorised in writing by the 
council or CCG. 
 
Where a support plan (or care and support plan) indicates that the direct payment 
may be used to fund things that may be seen as non-traditional and ‘risky’, more 
frequent reviews and financial auditing may be required to ensure that the 
expenditure is meeting the person’s outcomes as set out in their support plan. 

15 Managing direct payments 
 
Anyone who agrees to be responsible for managing direct payments must be 
capable of managing direct payments either independently or with help. 
 
In this section, the following will be referred to as ‘the group’: 

• Adults with capacity 

• Parent carers of children aged 0 – 16 

• Young people aged 16 and over with capacity 

• Authorised persons 
 
Individuals defined in the group above can nominate a third party to assist them to 
manage direct payments in whatever way they require. The third party is known as 
the nominated person and is usually a family member or a friend. 
 
Individuals in the group defined above may purchase assistance, for example with 
record keeping, payroll and other employment related services or Full Financial 
Accounts (in exceptional circumstances – see Attachment 3), from a direct payment 
support service of their choice. 

Page 209



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 20 of 37 

 
If the direct payment recipient chooses to use their direct payment to purchase 
support from a CQC Registered home care agency, they are still able to access 
support with paying invoices etc from a direct payment support service of their 
choosing, but they must fund this themselves. The cost of the direct payment support 
service must not come out of their direct payment. 
 
Regardless of whether an individual in the group above receives support from a third 
party, the individual in the group above remains responsible and accountable for how 
direct payments are used. 
 
An authorised person acting on behalf of someone who lacks capacity is in a position 
of trust and is as liable as a direct payment recipient with capacity would be for any 
misuse of direct payments. 
 

You will need to have a Bank Account  

You must set up a separate bank account for your Direct Payment and set up a 
standing order to pay your weekly charge (if any) into this account.  

We will transfer your Direct Payment (less any charge you are expected to make) 
into this account every 2 weeks.  

You must:  

• keep detailed records showing how you have spent your Direct Payment;  

• Keep copies of bank statements, receipts, bills, invoices and PA timesheets 
for a minimum of six years and  

• Send a financial return providing details of your Direct Payment spending, 
together with copies of your bank statements to the Client Finance Team as 
requested. 

• Use the direct payment to meet the care and support identified in your care 
plan - if you don’t, we may end your Direct Payment16.  

• You must send us your financial return when requested by us– if you don’t, 
we may end your Direct Payment17.  

• Never pay for services or activities with cash - if you do, we will ask you 
to repay this money. 

 

16 Becoming an employer 
 
People may use direct payments to employ staff, or to pay an agency to provide 
services. The direct payment recipient must:  

• Be advised that there are legal responsibilities involved in becoming an 
employer and maintaining good employment practices including registering 
with HMRC as an employer, more information is available on the HM 
Revenue and Customs website https://www.gov.uk/employment-
status/selfemployed-contractor  There is also a Status Customer Service 
Team with whom you can discuss their status. Their telephone number is: 
0300 123 2326. It’s very important to confirm whether your Personal Assistant 

                                            
16 Clause 7(d) (ii) of the Direct Payment Regulations 2014 
17 Clause 7(d)(iii) of the Direct Payment Regulations 2014 

Page 210

https://www.gov.uk/employment-status/selfemployed-contractor
https://www.gov.uk/employment-status/selfemployed-contractor


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 21 of 37 

should or should not be treated as self-employed. If you get their status 
wrong, you could end up having to pay tax, National Insurance Contributions 
and possibly penalties to HMRC.  Whether a person is self-employed will be 
decided according to Case Law by either HMRC or the Employment Tribunal. 
A PA may be considered self-employed by HM Revenue and Customs for tax 
purposes but still considered an employee in employment law. 

• Be strongly advised to seek advice about employer legal responsibilities, 
including being responsible for all employment related costs, for example 
redundancy, and pension costs, 

• Obtain employers’ liability insurance if they are to become an employer, and 
all employers have a legal duty to check that the person they want to employ 
is entitled to work in the UK before they start working for them. It is important 
to make document checks on all employees even if you are sure they have 
the right to work here. You can check which documents you need to see 
https://www.gov.uk/check-job-applicant-right-to-work , or call the Home Office 
UK Border Agency Employers Helpline on 0300 123 4699. The Skills for Care 
website provides more information on what a Personal Assistant is and what 
is involved if you want to use your direct payment to employ this way. 
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Recruitment-retention/Employing-your-own-
care-and-support/Employing-your-own-care-and-support.aspx Legally, you 
must give your employee a written statement of their main terms and 
conditions within two months of them starting the job. The Skills for Care 
Toolkits provide more information on employment contracts. You will also find 
templates on these websites.  

• Please ensure that, if you make any changes to the Contract of Employment 
you have with your PA, you send an updated version to the Client Finance 
Team. 

• As an employer you need to ensure you comply with the Working Time 
Regulations. The Skills for Care Toolkit 3 ‘Before your Personal Assistant 
starts’ will go through minimum wage, working hours and health and safety. 

• From 2012, it became mandatory for all employers to enrol all their eligible 
employees into a workplace pension. This is called automatic enrolment.  

• You will need to speak to your Payroll Company and ask if they have an Auto 
Enrolment pension scheme you can use and ask what level of support, they 
can offer you. You must be ready to start enrolling employees from your 
staging date. The date will appear on the letter you receive from the pension 
regulator and this date will depend on when you became an employer. If you 
don’t have this letter, contact your payroll company and ask them to find out 
for you. Unless your payroll company has a pension scheme that you can 
use, you will need to approach a pension provider in good time.  

• The Government has set up a pension scheme called National Employment 
Savings Trust (NEST) to accept all employers wishing to use the scheme for 
automatic enrolment. This is one option, and there are other providers 
available. To see what other schemes are available go to their website 
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers   

• You will need to identify which employees to automatically enrol and which 
will have the right to join your pension scheme. You will need to tell your 
employees about how the automatic enrolment affects them. You can find 
template letters https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers/re-
enrolment?utm_source=CS1-

Page 211

https://www.gov.uk/check-job-applicant-right-to-work
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Recruitment-retention/Employing-your-own-care-and-support/Employing-your-own-care-and-support.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Recruitment-retention/Employing-your-own-care-and-support/Employing-your-own-care-and-support.aspx
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers/re-enrolment?utm_source=CS1-3&utm_medium=Reenrolment_M3_L1&utm_campaign=163_SMELetters&utm_term=writing
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers/re-enrolment?utm_source=CS1-3&utm_medium=Reenrolment_M3_L1&utm_campaign=163_SMELetters&utm_term=writing
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers/re-enrolment?utm_source=CS1-3&utm_medium=Reenrolment_M3_L1&utm_campaign=163_SMELetters&utm_term=writing


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 22 of 37 

3&utm_medium=Reenrolment_M3_L1&utm_campaign=163_SMELetters&utm
_term=writing   

• There are rules relating to which employees are eligible for a workplace 
pension. You can find more information on this in Skills For Care Toolkit 3 
‘Before Your Personal Assistant Starts’ 
http://www.employingpersonalassistants.co.uk/before-your-personal-
assistant-starts/  

• You must complete your declaration of compliance when you’ve automatically 
enrolled your employees. This must be done up to 5 months from your staging 
date.  

• It is also possible that a PA who is treated as self-employed might fall within 
the scope of auto-enrolment for a workplace pension (see below) even if they 
are treated as self-employed for tax purposes. 

•  For advice and guidance, please ring the employment law helpline provided 
by your insurance company, or the Pensions Regulator Helpline: 0845 600 
1011. 

Note – The Pensions Regulator will issue a fixed notice if you don’t comply 
with statutory notices. This is a fixed sum of £400. If you are issued with a 
penalty notice, you need to be aware that you cannot use your Direct Payment 
to cover any penalty costs 

• Insurance & Redundancy: If you are an employer, you are required by law to 
have certain insurance cover in place. If you are using your direct payment to 
pay for agency staff, you will not require insurance as they will be covered 
through the care agency’s insurance. You need two types of insurance:  

• Employer’s Liability Insurance: If your employee is injured whilst working for 
you and you are held legally liable, you will be protected to cover legal costs 
and compensation. As an employer, you are legally required to have 
Employers Liability Insurance in place. 

• Public Liability Insurance: This covers you from claims for compensation if you 
or your employee causes injury or damage to someone else or their property. 
The insurance must be in place before your Personal Assistant can start work. 
It is unusual for any household buildings/contents insurance policy to provide 
cover to protect you from public liability or employer’s liability claims and you 
should check carefully with your insurance provider before assuming it does.  

• If you employ someone and your direct payments end, they may be entitled to 
a redundancy payment. This will depend on how long they have worked for 
you. 

•  Your payroll company and the employment law helpline provided by your 
insurance company will help you or your representative to determine if a 
redundancy payment is due. There are currently three main providers 
specialising in providing policies to protect people using direct payments to 
employ their own personal assistants:  

o Premier Care  https://markbatesltd.com/  

o Direct Care https://www.jelf.com/for-business/care/direct-care/  

Page 212

https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers/re-enrolment?utm_source=CS1-3&utm_medium=Reenrolment_M3_L1&utm_campaign=163_SMELetters&utm_term=writing
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/employers/re-enrolment?utm_source=CS1-3&utm_medium=Reenrolment_M3_L1&utm_campaign=163_SMELetters&utm_term=writing
http://www.employingpersonalassistants.co.uk/before-your-personal-assistant-starts/
http://www.employingpersonalassistants.co.uk/before-your-personal-assistant-starts/
https://markbatesltd.com/
https://www.jelf.com/for-business/care/direct-care/


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 23 of 37 

o Fish Insurance https://www.fishinsurance.co.uk/products/independent-
living-insurance/  

They all offer similar additional support services such as a telephone helpline 
for advice on employment issues.  

The cost of public and employers’ liability insurance will be built into your 
Personal Budget. When taking out or renewing your employer’s liability/public 
liability insurance policy, it is essential you ensure you have a higher level of 
insurance cover in place to possibly help meet these costs and to ensure 
access to their employment law helpline. 

• If you or your Personal Assistant has an accident and suffers an injury, you 
must contact your insurers immediately and tell them about the situation. They 
will advise about what you need to do to make a claim.  

• It is important to keep a record of any accidents or incidents that occur, 
whether you, your Personal Assistant, or another member of the public, is 
involved. Be sure to take account of all accidents, irrespective of where they 
took place (for example inside your home or in a public place), no matter how 
trivial they may seem at the time, because sometimes injuries can develop 
later on as a result. A good idea is to keep a notebook in a safe place where 
you can write down the date and the details of the accident. Make sure your 
personal assistant knows where this is kept.  

• Car Insurance:  If your Personal Assistant is going to use either your vehicle 
or their own while working for you, ‘business use’ must be added to the 
relevant policy. Some companies charge for this addition and this is not a 
cost that is covered by your direct payment, so you would need to discuss 
this between you and your Personal Assistant and agree how this cost will be 
met. 

• Satisfy themselves that PAs and / or agency staff are qualified and suitable to 
carry out identified care and support tasks.  (if using PAs or a non-CQC 
registered introductory agency DP recipients are responsible for this) 

• Ensure that adequate contingency plans are put in place to provide continuity 
of care in the event that a PA is unable to attend a shift (e.g. in the case of 
sickness, severe weather, or any other event preventing them from attending 

• You can ask to be signposted to the direct payment support service (i.e. the 
Virgin Care Direct Payment Hub) for further advice and support. 

• People with capacity are not obliged to carry out Disclosure and Barring 
Services (DBS) checks for people they employ through direct payments 
except where there are children either living in or frequently visiting the home. 
However, the council and CCG strongly recommend that DBS checks 
are obtained for all personal assistants. 

• An authorised person must carry out DBS checking or obtain verification that 
DBS checking has returned a satisfactory result for any person from whom a 
service is secured through direct payments where the authorised person is:  

• A body corporate or unincorporated body of persons or  

Page 213

https://www.fishinsurance.co.uk/products/independent-living-insurance/
https://www.fishinsurance.co.uk/products/independent-living-insurance/


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 24 of 37 

• An individual who is not the adult’s spouse / partner, a close family 
member (as defined in the Glossary) or a friend of the adult who is 
involved in the adult’s care. 

• For people employed to support children and young people under the 
age of 16 DBS checks are required. 

 
Useful Websites 

HM Revenue & Customs: www.gov.uk/employment-
status/selfemployedcontractor  

Skills for Care: www.skillsforcare.org.uk/individualemployers/  

Skills for Care Toolkit: www.employingpersonalassistants.co.uk/  

ACAS: www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1461 
 
The Pensions Regulator: www.tpr.gov.uk 

 

17 Training 
 
It is reasonable to assume that if the care and support plan identifies a need for a PA 
to carry out specific health / social care tasks, consideration should also be given to 
their training needs. As the direct payment recipient is the employer, they will be 
responsible for meeting these needs. Funding may also be needed for training 
updates, and provision for training for any new skills required as needs change. PAs 
can access NHS and social care training provided by B&NES and CCG. 

 
Training should be provided by a competent person with a standard recognised as 
adequate for the task. The PA receiving the training should always keep full records 
of training given, including dates. There should be written evidence of competence 
assessments, where possible, against recognised standards such as National 
Occupational Standards.  

 
There should be clear guidance and protocols in place, so the PA is not required to 
make clinical judgments outside their competence. There should be an appropriate 
level of supervision and mentorship available, with on-going development 
opportunities, to ensure competency is maintained and new competencies are 
acquired when needed. Supervision and mentorship should be proportionate to the 
task and the competencies of the PA, and appropriate to the specific needs of the 
person receiving support. 

 
Risk should be considered and where necessary a risk management plan put in 
place. There should be regular monitoring of competencies and access to regular 
training updates. This is especially important where the person receiving support has 
a condition that is complex, unstable and/or deteriorating. 
 
 
 

Page 214

http://www.tpr.gov.uk/


Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 25 of 37 

18 Integrating direct payments with other sources of funding 
 
The council and CCG are currently piloting Integrated Personal Commissioning (see 
Glossary for a description of this) and intend to further develop integrating budgets 
from different sources (including Education) in the future. 
 
It is our shared intention that integrated budgets will follow an integrated assessment 
and support plan and will be paid into a single bank account. People with an 
integrated budget will only have to provide a single set of monitoring information, at 
the specified intervals. 

19 The direct payments agreement 
 
Before receiving direct payments, the respective direct payments agreement must be 
signed, and a copy of the signed agreement provided to all signatories.  
 
There are two direct payment agreements:  

• Standard agreement – signed by the adult, (and if applicable, by the 
Nominated Person) where the adult is managing the direct payment  

• Authorised person agreement – signed by an authorised person 
managing direct payments for an adult without capacity. 

20 Monitoring and review of direct payments 
 
The council or CCG or their partners with delegated responsibilities will inform an 
individual about what records they must retain and what information they will be 
required to provide at each review before the direct payment agreement is entered 
into. 
 
For direct payment recipients using a pre-paid card, no receipts will need to be sent 
in, but all receipts should be retained as directed by the council’s Client Finance 
team (including for personal health budget recipients) in case a full audit is required. 
Client Finance will still be carrying out scheduled audits on the accounts as per 20.4 
below. 
 
For new direct payment recipients not using a pre-paid card, all receipts and bank 
statements will need to be retained and sent in to Client Finance after 2 months to be 
audited.  

 
All direct payment accounts will be audited by Client Finance after 2 months. After 
this first audit, the account will be risk assessed to see whether receipts, invoices 
and statements should be sent in monthly, every six months or annually.  
 
The regularity of sending returns in to Client Finance will be reviewed regularly. 
Where there are no issues or queries relating to the direct payment account, the 
frequency of sending in returns may be reduced. 
 
Reviews of the care and support being purchased via the direct payment and / or the 
finances will also be carried out at any time when the council or CCG considers that:  

• There has been a change in capacity, or 

Page 215



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 26 of 37 

• The person previously eligible, is no longer eligible for S117, or 

• Any of the conditions listed at section 6 above are no longer met, or 

• Direct payments have not been used as intended, or  

• The adult’s safety and welfare have been compromised or  

• There has been any change which may adversely affect the effectiveness 
and intention of the support arrangements. 

 
The care and support review will establish if direct payments are being used to meet 
needs as intended, conditions are met, and public monies are being used effectively. 
 
Care and support reviews must involve the person, any carer(s) the person has, any 
authorised or nominated person, any family member providing paid administrative or 
management support (as specifically approved by the council or CCG – see section 
15 above) and anyone else that the person requests be involved.  
 
If the person lacks capacity to make such a request, anyone who is authorised under 
the MCA to make personal welfare decisions (if different from the authorised person) 
or if there is no such individual anyone who appears to be interested in the person’s 
welfare should be involved. 

21 When some or all of the direct payment needs to be returned 
 
The council or CCG will require full or partial repayment of direct payments if any 
condition attached by the council or CCG is unmet or the council or CCG have 
reason to believe that direct payments have been used for purposes other than to 
meet needs as specified in the plan. 
 
The council or CCG may require repayment of any unspent direct payment if they 
are not required to meet needs as set out in the plan. 
 
The council or CCG will require repayment of excess funds accumulated in the 
dedicated bank account where there is no reasonable explanation for the surplus.  
 
Direct Payments do not form part of an estate in the event that someone dies while 
receiving them. The money at all times belongs to the council or CCG and remains 
public funds. 
 

22.  Changes in circumstances 
 
The person should inform their social worker or health professional of any change in 
the person’s personal or financial circumstances that might affect their direct 
payment e.g. change of address or increase / decrease in their personal income, 
admission to hospital, or emergency placement. 
 
There may often be occasions when direct payment holders require a stay in hospital 
or replacement care. However, this should not mean that the direct payment must be 
suspended while the individual is in hospital. Where the direct payment recipient is 
also the person requiring care and support, consideration should be given to how the 
direct payment may be used in hospital or replacement care to meet non-health 

Page 216



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 27 of 37 

needs or to ensure employment arrangements are maintained. Suspending or even 
terminating the payment could result in the person having to break the employment 
contract with a trusted personal assistant, causing distress and a lack of continuity of 
care when discharged from hospital. 
 
In these cases, the council / CCG will explore with the person, their carer and any 
others the person chooses, the options to ensure that both the health and care and 
support needs of the person are being fully met in the best way possible. For 
example, the person may prefer the personal assistant to visit hospital to help with 
personal care matters. This may be especially so where there has been a long 
relationship between the direct payment holder and the personal assistant. This 
should not interfere with the medical duties of hospital personnel but be tailored to 
work alongside health provision. 
 
Usually direct payment will continue to be paid for up to 4 weeks if you require a 
hospital stay, if the stay in hospital is longer than 4 weeks the direct payment may be 
suspended, the council will consider the circumstances on your situation before 
making a final decision.  
 
In some cases, the nominated or authorised person managing the direct payment 
may require a hospital stay. In these cases, the council / CCG must conduct an 
urgent review to ensure that the person continues to receive care and support to 
meet their needs. This may be through a temporary nominated/ authorised person, 
or through short-term authority arranged care and support. 
 

22  Changing your mind  

If you find your Direct Payment isn’t working for you contact your social care worker. 
They will work with you to try and resolve any issues. If things don’t get better, they 
will change you to a managed budget.  

If you decide against having a Direct Payment now, you can change your mind later - 
just talk to your social care worker.  
 

23 Ending direct payments 
 
People receiving direct payments, either for themselves or on behalf of another 
person, may decide at any time that they no longer wish to receive direct payments 
on giving 4 weeks written notice to the council or CCG. The council or CCG can 
agree to vary this notice period according to the individual’s circumstances.  

 
Notice will be given before direct payments are discontinued, unless in exceptional 
circumstances.  
 
The council or CCG will end direct payments if it is satisfied that:  

• The person is no longer eligible for or no longer requires the services for 
which direct payments are made. 

• The person becomes excluded from receiving direct payments because 
they have been placed under a condition or requirement by the Courts in 

Page 217



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 28 of 37 

relation to drug and / or alcohol dependencies. See attachment 2 for 
details 

• Any of the conditions listed above on pages 7 and 8 in are no longer met. 

• Direct payments are not safeguarding or promoting the person’s welfare. 

• Failure to adhere to the statutory requirements in respect a Direct 
Payment may result in the Council withdrawing the Direct Payment18 and 
placing you on a commissioned service. 

 
The council or CCG may suspend or end direct payments either permanently or 
temporarily if: 

• The person does not require assistance because their condition has 
improved and / or they do not need the services that direct payments were 
intended to secure. 

• Any condition attached by the council or CCG is unmet or the council or 
CCG has reason to believe that direct payments have been used for 
purposes other than to meet needs as specified in the plan. 

• The adult fails to pay any assessed financial contribution (for adult social 
care direct payments only) into the direct payments account. 

• Given all the circumstances, the council or CCG considers it appropriate to 
end direct payments. 

 
The Council or CCG may end the Direct Payment if the direct payment account is 
mismanaged or there is any indication of fraudulent activity, this may include, but is 
not limited to: 

• Use of funds for inappropriate purposes;  

• Payments being made in cash  

• Funds being transferred from the Direct Payment account to an unknown 
source or into an alternate personal bank account; 

• Inaccurate information being provided (financial or otherwise); 

• Misleading information being provided (financial or otherwise); 

• Failure to provide requested information (financial or otherwise); 

• The Direct Payment is allowed to become overdrawn or the contingency 
fund is used without good reason. 

25 Complaints 
 
People will be provided with information about how to use the complaints procedure 
related to the individual organisation carrying out delegated statutory duties on 
behalf of the council and CCG, including their right to access advocacy as part of the 
appeals process. 
 
Any person may use the complaints procedure if they are dissatisfied with the 
decision related to direct payments or the support they receive.  
 
Additionally, people who receive, or consider that they should receive, direct 
payments have the same rights to access the council and CCG’s complaints 

                                            
18 Clause 7(1)9b) and (c) of the Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014 and Clause 33 
(3) (4) and (5) of the Care Act 2014 

Page 218



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 29 of 37 

procedure as people whose support is provided directly or arranged by the council or 
CCG. 

26 Reviewing this policy 
 
This policy will be reviewed one year from the date of implementation or sooner if 
required. 
 
Any review of this policy must include individuals who have lived recent experience 
of direct payments (for example the direct payment champions). 
 

  

Page 219



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 30 of 37 

Glossary of terms 
 
Adult For the purposes of this policy, an adult is a person who is 

aged 18 years or over. 

Adult with capacity  In the context of this policy, an adult who has the mental 
capacity to make decisions about direct payments  

Adult without capacity  People are always assumed to have capacity until established 
otherwise. In the context of this policy, where there is any 
doubt about an adult’s capacity to make decisions about direct 
payments, mental capacity will be assessed in accordance 
with the Council’s Mental Capacity Act policy.  
 
An adult will only be deemed to be without capacity when it 
has been established through a mental capacity assessment 
that this is the case.  

Assessment – of needs  An assessment of an individual’s needs for social care, 
support or s117 after care services to enable them to live as 
independently as possible.  

Assessment - financial  An assessment of an individual’s financial circumstances to 
determine whether or not they must contribute towards the 
cost of services required to meet eligible needs.  
No financial assessment is required for s117 after care 
services, children’s social care or personal health budget 
direct payments as these must be provided free of charge.  

Authorised person  An authorised person is someone who: 

• is authorised under the Mental Capacity Act 2005 to make 
decisions about the adult’s needs for care and support (i.e. 
is the holder of a lasting power of attorney given to them 
by the adult before they lost capacity or a Court appointed 
deputy), or 

• where the person is not authorised as mentioned above, a 
person who is so authorised agrees with the local authority 
that the person is a suitable person to whom to make 
direct payments, or 

• where the person is not authorised as mentioned above 
and there is no person who is so authorised, the local 
authority considers that the person is a suitable person to 
whom to make direct payments. 

Carer  Someone of any age who provides unpaid support to family or 
friends who could not manage without this help.  

Close family member  Someone who lives in the same household as the adult who is 
the adult’s:  

• Parent or parent-in-law  

• Son or daughter  

• Son-in-law/daughter-in-law  

• Stepson or stepdaughter  

• Brother or sister  

• Aunt or uncle  

• Grandparent, or  

• The spouse/partner of any of the people listed and 
living in the same household as the adult.  

Co-production Co-production is defined by Think Local Act Personal as: 
“When you as an individual are involved as an equal 

Page 220



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 31 of 37 

partner in designing the support and services you 
receive. Co-production recognises that people who use social 
care services (and their families) have knowledge and 
experience that can be used to help make services better, not 
only for themselves but for other people who need social 
care.” In Bath and North East Somerset, we would expand this 
to include people with health care needs.  

Commissioned service Commissioned services are those which have been designed, 
developed and purchased centrally by the council or CCG. As 
these services are purchased directly by the council or CCG, 
people with direct payments are not able to purchase them (as 
this would result in double funding for these services). If a 
person chooses solely commissioned services, they would not 
receive a direct payment.  

DBS check  Screening through Disclosure and Barring Services. This 
checks criminal history and identifies people barred from 
working with children and vulnerable adults.  

Delegated statutory 
duties 

The council and CCG have to assess people within Bath and 
North East Somerset who have or appear to have the need for 
care and support. This is called our statutory duty. Bath & 
North East Somerset Council and NHS Bath and North East 
Somerset CCG no longer carry out this duty themselves but 
have contracted with a different organisation to do this on their 
behalf. This means this function has been delegated to a 
different organisation. 

Direct payments  Payment of the council or CCGs contribution towards a 
personal budget direct to a dedicated bank account, so that 
the person or someone authorised to act on their behalf can 
arrange support services instead of having them arranged by 
the council / CCG.  
Direct payments may also be provided in most instances to 
arrange s117 after care services. 

Direct payments 
agreement  

The written agreement which sets out the terms and 
conditions applicable to direct payments.  

Duty to make direct 
payments  

Where the council has a legal obligation to make direct 
payments to eligible people because all conditions are met.  

EHCP Education, Health and Care Plan. This is issued 
following a needs assessment commissioned by the 
SEN Team and details needs, outcomes and provision 
required to support a child or young person with Special 
Educational Needs 

Full Financial Accounts  Full Financial Accounts are used in exceptional circumstances 
and all requests for a full financial account will require panel 
approval. All individuals requesting a full financial account will 
be unable to carry out minimum requirements including: 
Making payments from their account, particularly to 
employees, where lack of a managed account would mean 
that PAs may breach confidentiality by being involved in 
making payments; Inability to complete paperwork – e.g. for 
audits.  
 
A full financial account will not be approved for reasons of 
convenience –e.g. due to lack of time or due to lack of 
confidence, e.g. in calculating payments.  

Page 221



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 32 of 37 

MCA  Mental Capacity Act 2005  

Mental capacity Having mental capacity means that a person is able to make 
their own decisions. The Mental Capacity Act says that a 
person is unable to make a particular decision if they cannot 
do one or more of the following four things. 

• Understand information given to them. 

• Retain that information long enough to be able to make 
the decision. 

• Weigh up the information available to make the decision. 

• Communicate their decision - this could be by talking, 
using sign language or even simple muscle movements 
such as blinking an eye or squeezing a hand. 

 
The Act is specifically designed to cover situations where 
someone is unable to make a decision because the way their 
mind or brain works is affected, for instance, by illness or 
disability, or the effects of drugs or alcohol. 

MHA  Mental Health Act 1983  

Minor adaptation  An adaptation is defined as minor when the total cost 
including supply and fitting is less than £1000.  

Mixed package If a person chooses a direct payment to meet some of their 
needs and commissioned services to meet others, they have 
a mixed package of care. All these options should be recorded 
on the person’s care and support plan. 

Nominated person  A person nominated by an adult with capacity to assist with 
day to day management of services and / or management of 
direct payment funds.  
 
The adult with capacity at all times remains responsible and 
accountable for how direct payments are used.  

Notional budget Notional budgets apply to personal health budget holders and 
apply where the CCG makes the arrangements for the agreed 
care and support. They are the same as a commissioned 
service for adult social care. 

Personal budget  The amount of money allocated by the council to fund the 
assessed eligible care and support required. The personal 
budget for adults aged 18 and over is means tested. This 
means the adult may be required to make a financial 
contribution towards the total amount of their personal budget.  

Personal health budget The amount of money allocated by the CCG to fund the 
assessed eligible health care and support required.  

Personalised care and 
support  

Tailoring care and support to the needs, wishes and 
preferences as far as this is possible so that the person 
concerned has as much choice and control over how their 
needs are met.  

Plan  A plan which summarises how a person’s needs will be met, 
and which includes the details of needs to be met from direct 
payments. This may be either a care and support plan for an 
adult in need of care, or a support plan in the case of a carer.  

Reassessment  A reassessment of needs for social care and / or support.  

Review  Monitoring and review of direct payment arrangements to 
ensure that they continue to meet the needs. Usually carried 
out concurrently with a review of the person’s plan  

Service User  A person assessed by the council or CCG as eligible to 

Page 222



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 33 of 37 

receive health, care and / or support services.  

S117 after care 
services  

A wide range of services necessary to meet a need arising 
from a person’s mental disorder when a person ceases to be 
detained under the MHA.  

 

  

Page 223



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 34 of 37 

Attachment 1 
 
Adults Whose Needs the Local Authority Must Not Meet By Making Direct 
Payments 
Direct payments may not be used to meet the needs of people who are: 

a) subject to a drug rehabilitation requirement, as defined by section 209 
(drug rehabilitation requirement) of the Criminal Justice Act 2003 (“the 2003 
Act”), specified in a community order (as defined by section 177 (community 
orders) of that Act, or a suspended sentence order (as defined by section 189 
of that Act); 

b) subject to an alcohol treatment requirement, as defined by section 212 of 
the Criminal Justice Act 2003, specified in a community order (as defined by 
section 177 of that Act), or a suspended sentence order (as defined by 
section 189 of that Act); 

c) released from prison on licence – 
i. under Chapter 6 of Part 12 (sentencing: release, licenses and recall) of the 

2003 Act or Chapter 2 of Part 2 (effect of custodial sentences: life 
sentences) of the Crime (Sentences) Act 1997 (“the 1997 Act”), subject to 
a non-standard licence condition requiring the offender to undertake 
offending behaviour work to address drug or alcohol related 
behaviour; or 

ii. subject to a drug testing requirement under section 64 (as amended by 
the Offender Rehabilitation Act 2014) (release on licence etc: drug testing) 
or a drug appointment requirement under section 64A (release on 
licence etc: drug appointment) of the Criminal Justice and Courts Services 
Act 2000; 

d) required to comply with a drug testing or a drug appointment 
requirement specified in a notice given under section 256AA (supervision 
after end of sentence of prisoners serving less than 2 years) of the 2003 Act; 

e) required to submit to treatment for their drug or alcohol dependency by 
virtue of a community rehabilitation order within the meaning of section 41 of 
the Powers of Criminal Courts (Sentencing) Act 2000 or a community 
punishment and rehabilitation order within the meaning of section 51 of that 
Act; 

f) subject to a drug treatment and testing order imposed under section 52 of 
the Powers of Criminal Courts (Sentencing) Act 2000; 

g) required to submit to treatment for their drug or alcohol dependency by 
virtue of a requirement of a community payback or probation order within the 
meaning of sections 227 to 230 of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 
or subject to a drug treatment and testing order within the meaning of 
section 234B of that Act; or 

h) released on licence under section 22 or section 26 of the Prisons 
(Scotland) Act 1989 (release on licence etc) or under section 1 (release of 
short-term, long-term and life prisoners) or 1AA (release of certain sexual 
offenders) of the Prisoners and Criminal Proceedings (Scotland) Act 1993 and 
subject to a condition that they submit to treatment for their drug or 
alcohol dependency. 

 
Taken from the Care and Support (Direct Payments) Regulations 2014. Regulation 2, 
Schedule 1.  

Page 224



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 35 of 37 

Attachment 2 
 
Personal health budgets legislative context 

• National Health Service Commissioning Board and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) (Amendment) (No. 3) 
Regulations 201419.20 

• Guidance on Direct Payments for Healthcare: Understanding the regulations6  

• Direct Payments for Healthcare: Guidance on Ensuring the Financial 
Sustainability of Personal Health Budgets9  

  

                                            
19 The NHS Commissioning Board and Clinical Commissioning Groups (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) 

Regulations 2012 are the principal regulations as originally made. They were amended by the NHS 
Commissioning Board and CCGs (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, which 
introduced the “right to ask” for a PHB from 1st April 2014.   
20 The NHS Commissioning Board and CCGs (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) (Amendment) (No.3) 

Regulations 2014 amended the regulations once again, from 1st October 2014, to bring in the “right to have” a 
PHB   

Page 225



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 36 of 37 

Attachment 3 
 
Full Financial Account –Principles 
Direct Payment Support Services Policy 
 
Definition: 
The definition of a full financial account is as follows: 
A third-party arrangement to support people in managing their direct payment.  
Direct Payment funds are paid into a direct payment support service provider’s full 
financial Account instead of the recipient’s own Direct Payment bank account. All 
payments such as PA wages or agency invoices are made on behalf of the DP 
recipient by the support organisation providing this service. They will also prepare 
and provide the financial audit information when required for monitoring purposes. 
Full financial account providers do not take responsibility for the care that is 
delivered, do not employ personal assistants and do not take responsibility for 
arranging alternative care and support workers to cover sickness / absence etc. 
A full financial account will not be provided for a person who does not have the 
capacity to request a DP for themselves, or for a nominated or authorised person 
Please note that this is an interim policy position for Full Financial Accounts and will 
be reviewed once pre-paid cards are introduced within B&NES.   
 
Criteria for a Full Financial Account: 

• All individuals with care and support needs requesting a full financial account 
will have capacity. 

• Full financial accounts will only be offered in exceptional circumstances and 
all requests for a full financial account will require panel approval. 

• All individuals requesting a full financial account will be unable to carry out 
minimum requirements including: 

o Making payments from their account, particularly to employees, where 
lack of a managed account would mean that PAs may breach 
confidentiality by being involved in making payments 

o Inability to complete paperwork – e.g. for audits 
A full financial account will not be approved for reasons of convenience –e.g. due to 
lack of time or due to lack of confidence, e.g. in calculating payments. 
 
Required Behaviours by Providers: 

• It is essential that the principle of people remaining in control of their direct 
payment and care is respected by providers of full financial accounts.  
Therefore, the Council and Virgin Care will not expect to be contacted by 
providers responding to issues raised by Direct Payment recipients.  Instead, 
recipients, or their advocate will be expected to contact the Council or Virgin 
Care directly. 

• The provider will not make decisions relating to the person’s care and support 
(for example arranging alternative care workers). These decisions remain with 
the person or their authorised person to make. 

• A monthly account of the spend will be given to the DP recipient by the 
provider 

• DP recipients will still have the responsibility for authorising payments and the 
full financial account provider will not take on this responsibility. 

Page 226



Policy for Direct Payments  December 2019 

Page 37 of 37 

• The support provider will submit returns as required by the Council and will 
comply with all reasonable requests for information. 

• The provider will ensure that the DP recipient is supported to remain 
independent and will work with them using a strengths-based approach – i.e. 
enabling but not doing, where they are able to complete tasks and activities 
themselves.   

• The DP recipient will be the employer of any PAs if they want to have their 
support provided in that way.  

 
 

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 228



Bath and North East Somerset –  
The place to live, work and visit 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

CARE AND SUPPORT CHARGING AND FINANCIAL ASSESSMENT 
FRAMEWORK 

 
ANALYSIS OF CONSULTATION RESULTS  

FINAL REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Author: Annemarie Strong 
Director: Lesley Hutchinson  
 

8th January 2020 

Page 229



Contents 
1. The consultation questions ..................................................................................................... 3 

2. The Consultation ........................................................................................................................ 4 

3. Equalities Impact Assessment ............................................................................................... 7 

4. The Quantitative components of the consultation ............................................................ 7 

5. The qualitative components of the consultation ............................................................. 10 

Proposal 1: ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

Proposal 2: ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

Proposal 3: ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

Proposal 4: ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

Proposal 5: ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

Proposal 6: ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

Proposal 7: ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

Proposal 8: ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

Proposal 9: ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

Proposal 10:................................................................................................................................... 16 

Direct Payment Policy: ................................................................................................................... 17 

General feedback: ............................................................................................................................ 17 

6. Decisions .................................................................................................................................... 18 

Proposal 1: Accepted .................................................................................................................. 18 

Proposal 2: Not accepted – amended ..................................................................................... 18 

Proposal 4: Accepted .................................................................................................................. 18 

Proposal 5: Accepted. ................................................................................................................. 18 

Proposal 6: Accepted .................................................................................................................. 19 

Proposal 7: Accepted .................................................................................................................. 19 

Proposal 8: Accepted .................................................................................................................. 19 

Proposal 9: Accepted .................................................................................................................. 19 

Proposal 10: Accepted ............................................................................................................... 19 

Direct Payment Policy: Agreed ................................................................................................ 20 

Next steps: ......................................................................................................................................... 20 

Appendices 1 – Consultation figures and questions ......................................................... 22 

Appendices 2 – FAQ’s ................................................................................................................ 38 

Appendices 3 – Equality Impact Assessment ...................................................................... 49 

Appendices 4 – Profile information ......................................................................................... 63 

 

Page 230



1. The consultation questions 

 
1. The Council proposes to introduce a Care and Support Charging and 

Financial Assessment Framework that aims to provide a fairer system and 

make it easier to understand for those people who need care.   

2. When the Council’s Client Finance Team become aware of a new service 

user, a Care Finance Officer will make several attempts by different means to 

contact them or their representative. 

The Council will require a service user or their representative to respond 

within two weeks of the initial contact being made to arrange a financial 

assessment.  If there is no response, the Council will deem the person to be 

self-funding.  This would be considered on a case by case basis. 

3. Many service users will be entitled to claim for benefits.  These benefits are 

included in the financial assessments.  

The Council will take into account any benefit that it believes a service user 

would have an automatic entitlement to, if an application were made.  This 

relates to Pension Guaranteed Credit and Employment and Support 

Allowance. 

4. In some cases, a third party (family or friend) will pay extra costs towards a 

more expensive service such as a larger room in a care home.   

The Council will require any third party to enter into a formal agreement 

confirming they will make the required payments. The Council will also carry 

out a basic financial assessment on the proposed third party to ensure the 

required payment is affordable. 

5. In some cases, a service user is unable to pay for their care as their funds are 

tied up in a property.  Arrangement can be made for service users to enter 

into an agreement that allows for payment at a later date.  This is known as a 

‘Deferred Payment Agreement’.   

When an agreement is entered into and a yearly fee is charged.  The fee 

covers the administration costs incurred in preparing annual statements, 

reviewing the equity / level of debt and the value of the property.   

The Council proposes an initial set up fee of £105 and an annual fee of 

£30.00.  These costs will be collected when the Deferred Payment Agreement 

ends. 

6. In some cases, a service user’s representatives may be in the process of 

applying for Deputyship when the service user needs care.  Also, there may 

be times when the service user’s property is currently not registered with the 

Land Registry. 

A new Interim Funding Policy will be applied that allows the Council to fund 

care for a period of time whilst Deputyship is obtained and / or the property is 

registered. This will be subject to a four-month review (other situations will be 

considered).  A signed contract will be required confirming the amount to be 

repaid to the Council. The service user or their representative will be required 

to keep the Council updated. 

7. To ensure there is a fair approach to Disability Related Expenditure, the 

Council is introducing new amounts.  The Council will only pay for expenditure 

Page 231



that is related to a disability.  For example:  additional laundry, replacement 

bedding, private domestic help and additional heating costs. 

8. The Council will allow Transport and Education costs.  These must be set out 

the service user’s care and support plan and will only be allowed if the 

individual is not in receipt of Disability Living Allowance or any Disability Living 

Allowance component of Personal Independence Payment (PIP). 

9. People receiving care and support at home are currently allowed £189.00 per 

week to cover the cost of living.   

The Council proposes to only allow the cost of the standing charge for gas, 

electricity, water and sewerage within the financial assessment.   

10. In some cases, the Council will arrange care for people who are able to pay 

for their own care.   

A new one-off charge will be applied to any new self-funder where the Council 

has been asked to arrange the care and support.  This is to cover the 

administrative costs incurred by the Council.  It is proposed this is a one-off 

fee of £250.00 plus VAT. 

 

In addition to the above ten open-ended questions comments were sought on an 
updated Direct payment Policy and those responding were invited to make any 
additional comments. The respondents could choose to provide comment on all, 
some or none of the questions.  
 
Those responding were also asked the same ten questions in a closed-ended format 
seeking whether the respondent agreed with the proposal or thought the proposal 
was reasonable. The respondent was asked to confirm ‘yes’ ‘no’ ‘don’t know’ ‘no 
opinion’ or they could choose to not respond to the question.  

2. The Consultation 

 
The consultation was advertised within the press in the following publications: 
Healthwatch Bathnes website, 11 September 
https://healthwatchbathnes.co.uk/news/2019-09-11/care-and-supporting-charging-
financial-assessment-framework-your-thoughts-needed 
 
Keynsham Talking Newspapers, 12 September (audio so no link) 
 
Bath Echo, 16 September 
https://www.bathecho.co.uk/news/health/views-sought-proposals-social-care-
funding-framework-86288/ 
 
Somerset Guardian, 26 September (print version) 
 
Keynsham Voice, 17 September (Print version) 
Interagency newsletter 

• 13th September (distribution 884 people (opened by 193, 4 clicks) 
https://mailchi.mp/9cac0914bbc5/bnes-consultations 

• 28th October (distribution 894 people (opened by 167, 14 clicks) 
https://mailchi.mp/609f5483407e/care-and-support-charging-and-financial-
framework  

Page 232

https://healthwatchbathnes.co.uk/news/2019-09-11/care-and-supporting-charging-financial-assessment-framework-your-thoughts-needed
https://healthwatchbathnes.co.uk/news/2019-09-11/care-and-supporting-charging-financial-assessment-framework-your-thoughts-needed
https://www.bathecho.co.uk/news/health/views-sought-proposals-social-care-funding-framework-86288/
https://www.bathecho.co.uk/news/health/views-sought-proposals-social-care-funding-framework-86288/
https://mailchi.mp/9cac0914bbc5/bnes-consultations
https://mailchi.mp/609f5483407e/care-and-support-charging-and-financial-framework
https://mailchi.mp/609f5483407e/care-and-support-charging-and-financial-framework


• 6th November (distribution 901 people (opened by 170, 13 clicks) 
https://mailchi.mp/aa85420f2fcf/interagency-bulletin-november-2019  

 
Heathwatch website 

• 11th September (https://healthwatchbathnes.co.uk/news/2019-09-11/care-and-
supporting-charging-financial-assessment-framework-your-thoughts-needed)  

Direct emails were sent to the following:- 

• Local MPs 

• All 51 Parish Councils 

• Bath Mosque  

• BEMSCA 

• Disabled Children’s Transitioning Team 

• GP practices via CCG  

• Village Agents 

• Swallow  

• Dimensions 

• BASS 

• SWAN 

• Your Say 

Letters were sent to all 2,100 service users, social works and care providers  
The following documents were available on-line and at the one-stop shops and 
libraries in Keynsham, Bath and Midsomer Norton between the 24th September and 
3rd December 2019:   

• Draft Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework; 

• Draft Direct Payment Policy; 

• Consultation document; 

• Easy ready consultation document; 

• Consultation questionnaire; 

• Easy read consultation questionnaire; 

• Disability related fact sheet. 

• FAQ’s  

The consultation was publicised through the Councils website, intranet and one-stop 
shops.  
 
The draft Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework was 
reviewed by the Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel, Group Leaders, Informal 
Cabinet and Directors Group. 
 
The Project Team (Lesley Hutchinson, Sara Dixon and Annemarie Strong) have 
posted documents to 43 people, responded to 9 specific emailed questions, provided 
a telephone conference at the request of the service users family member who lived 
too far away to attend the consultation events and meet with service users 
representing those within B&NES with disabilities.  
 

Page 233

https://mailchi.mp/aa85420f2fcf/interagency-bulletin-november-2019
https://healthwatchbathnes.co.uk/news/2019-09-11/care-and-supporting-charging-financial-assessment-framework-your-thoughts-needed
https://healthwatchbathnes.co.uk/news/2019-09-11/care-and-supporting-charging-financial-assessment-framework-your-thoughts-needed


The Project Team (Lesley Hutchinson, Sara Dixon and Annemarie Strong) with 
support from Councillor Appleyard, the Senior Leadership Team, commissioning 
colleagues and Communications and Marketing have attended 21 face to face 
consultation events with the public between the 25th September and the 27th 
November 2019.  
 
Elected members and members of the public were able to attend any or all events. 
 

Date Description Nos 

25th September Carers Centre Management meeting 5 

30th September Healthwatch event 7 

2nd October Session 1 - Midsomer Norton Public event 15 

2nd October Session 2 - Midsomer Norton Public event 6 

3rd October Session 1 - Midsomer Norton Public event 6 

3rd October Session 2 - Midsomer Norton Public event 0 

7th October Keynsham Public event 10 

8th October Compton Martin Public event 10 

10th October Timsbury Public event 4 

14th October BEMSCA 6 

17th October Carers Centre Voice 10 

21st October Swallow Management Committee 14 

21th October Session 1 - Bath Public event 14 

21st October Session 2 - Bath Public event 2 

22nd October Keynsham Public event 11 

6th November Session 1 - Bath Public event 17 

6th November Session 2 - Bath Public event 12 

14th November  Preparing for adulthood event 23 

 22nd November Dimensions 2 

 25th November  Action on hearing loss 18 

27th November BASS 4 

 Face to Face 196 

 
All questions asked at the consultation events were recorded (Appendix 1) and form 
the rolling FAQs which have been run throughout the consultation period and have 
been available on-line. Hard copies of the FAQ’s were offered at the consultation 
events. (Appendix 2) 
 
A consultation event with the MS society was also offered but did not proceed due to 
a lack of response from the society.   
 
Advocacy support was provided, via SWAN and Your Say, to three service users at 
their request. 
 
BEMSCA support workers provided assistance to their members in translating 
documents into Chinese, Mandarin, Guajarati, Punjabi. BEMSCA assisted 2 Chinese 
families and 6 Indian families, by visiting them at home with their carers. 
 

Page 234



Action on hearing loss provided assistance to their members and supported their 
members to complete the consultation questionnaire, we received 21 questionnaires 
from Action on hearing loss. 

3. Equalities Impact Assessment 

 
A qualities impact assessment was carried out (Appendix 3). 
 
The documents were available in easy read format on-line and in hard copy.  
The consultation events were advertised through Keynsham talking Newspapers  
All consultation events were held in accessible rooms.  
 
There was a failing to provide hearing loops, and the project team have learnt from 
this for future events, in this instance, the gentleman requesting the hearing loop 
confirmed he could hear the consultation presentation if the speaker raised their 
voice. The Project Team further addressed this failing by arranging a consultation 
event with action for hearing for loss.   
 
Support via the Social Work teams was available and advocacy assistance was 
available at the service users request.  
 
Translation of the documents was provided as stated above. 
 
Consultation events were held in Timsbury and Compton Martin to ensure inclusivity 
in more rural areas.  
 
The respondents to the questionnaire provided profile information and confirmation 
of how the consultation was communicated to them (appendix 4). 

4. The Quantitative components of the consultation 

 
The quantitative components of the consultation (ten closed-ended questions 
seeking Yes, No, Don’t know, No Opinion or No Response, see numbered list 
above). 
 
Analysis of responses: 
 
We had a total of 90 responses to the consultation on line and in paper form of which 
57 were standard questionnaires and 33 were Easy Read questionnaires.  
Looking at a purely mathematical approach to the data analysis the following results 
can be seen. 
 

Question Yes No Don’t 

Know 

No 

Opinion  

No 

Response 

1. The Council proposes to introduce a 
Care and Support Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework that aims to 
provide a fairer system and make it easier 
to understand for those people who need 

70.0% 

(63) 

25.6% 

(23) 

3.3% 

(3) 

1.1% 

(1) 

0.0% 

(0) 

Page 235



care.   
Do you agree with this proposal? 

2. When the Council’s Client Finance 
Team become aware of a new service 
user, a Care Finance Officer will make 
several attempts by different means to 
contact them or their representative. 
The Council will require a service user or 
their representative to respond within two 
weeks of the initial contact being made to 
arrange a financial assessment.  If there is 
no response, the Council will deem the 
person to be self-funding.  This would be 
considered on a case by case basis. 
Do you think this is reasonable? 

35.6% 

(32) 

52.3% 

(47) 

5.5% 

(5) 

5.5% 

(5) 

1.1% 

(1) 

3. Many service users will be entitled to 
claim for benefits.  These benefits are 
included in the financial assessments.  
The Council will take into account any 
benefit that it believes a service user 
would have an automatic entitlement to, if 
an application were made.  This relates to 
Pension Guaranteed Credit and 
Employment and Support Allowance. 
Do you think this is reasonable? 

55.6% 

(50) 

30.0% 

(27) 

7.8% 

(7) 

5.5% 

(5) 

1.1% 

(1) 

4. In some cases, a third party (family or 
friend) will pay extra costs towards a more 
expensive service such as a larger room in 
a care home.   
The Council will require any third party to 
enter into a formal agreement confirming 
they will make the required payments. The 
Council will also carry out a basic financial 
assessment on the proposed third party to 
ensure the required payment is affordable. 
Do you think this is reasonable? 

44.4% 

(40) 

36.7% 

(33) 

7.8% 

(7) 

10.0% 

(9) 

1.1% 

(1) 

5. In some cases, a service user is unable 
to pay for their care as their funds are tied 
up in a property.  Arrangement can be 
made for service users to enter into an 
agreement that allows for payment at a 
later date.  This is known as a ‘Deferred 
Payment Agreement’.  hen an agreement 
is entered into and a yearly fee is charged.  
The fee covers the administration costs 
incurred in preparing annual statements, 
reviewing the equity / level of debt and the 
value of the property.   
The Council proposes an initial set up fee 
of £105 and an annual fee of £30.00.  

37.8% 

(34) 

36.7% 

(33) 

3.3% 

(3) 

18.9% 

(17) 

3.3% 

(3) 

Page 236



These costs will be collected when the 
Deferred Payment Agreement ends. 
Do you think this is reasonable? 

6. In some cases, a service user’s 
representatives may be in the process of 
applying for Deputyship when the service 
user needs care.  Also there may be times 
when the service user’s property is 
currently not registered with the Land 
Registry. 
A new Interim Funding Policy will be 
applied that allows the Council to fund 
care for a period of time whilst Deputyship 
is obtained and / or the property is 
registered. This will be subject to a four 
month review (other situations will be 
considered).  A signed contract will be 
required confirming the amount to be 
repaid to the Council. The service user or 
their representative will be required to 
keep the Council updated. 
Do you think this is reasonable? 

44.5% 

(40) 

22.2% 

(20) 

11.1% 

(10) 

20.0% 

(18) 

2.2% 

(2) 

7. To ensure there is a fair approach to 
Disability Related Expenditure, the Council 
is introducing new amounts.  The Council 
will only pay for expenditure that is related 
to a disability.  For example:  additional 
laundry, replacement bedding, private 
domestic help and additional heating 
costs. 
Do you think this is reasonable? 

48.9% 

(44) 

33.3% 

(30) 

5.6% 

(5) 

8.9% 

(8) 

3.3% 

(3) 

8. The Council will allow Transport and 
Education costs.  These must be set out 
the service user’s care and support plan 
and will only be allowed if the individual is 
not in receipt of Disability Living Allowance 
or any Disability Living Allowance 
component of Personal Independence 
Payment (PIP). 
Do you think this is reasonable? 

56.7% 

(51) 

18.9% 

(17) 

7.8% 

(7) 

12.2% 

(11) 

4.4% 

(4) 

9. People receiving care and support at 
home are currently allowed £189.00 per 
week to cover the cost of living.   
The Council proposes to only allow the 
cost of the standing charge for gas, 
electricity, water and sewerage within the 
financial assessment.   
Do you think this is reasonable? 

35.6% 

(32) 

42.2% 

(38) 

6.7% 

(6) 

12.2% 

(11) 

3.3% 

(3) 

10. In some cases, the Council will 
arrange care for people who are able to 

23.3% 44.5% 8.8% 15.6% 7.8% 

Page 237



pay for their own care.   
A new one-off charge will be applied to 

any new self-funder where the Council has 

been asked to arrange the care and 

support.  This is to cover the 

administrative costs incurred by the 

Council.  It is proposed this is a one off fee 

of £250.00 plus VAT 

Do you think this is reasonable? 

(21) (40) (8) (14) (7) 

 

Proposals 1,3,6,7 and 8 show a higher percentage answering ‘yes’ and the 
proposals at 2,4,5,9 and 10 show a higher percentage answering ‘no’.  
 
Proposals 1,3,6,7 and 8 could therefore be implemented without change.  
If those who responded, ‘no opinion’ are included the proposals at questions 4 and 5 
could also be implemented without change. 
 
The proposal at questions 2,9 and 10 on a purely quantitative analysis, would either 
require amendment or would not be implemented.  
 
However, the quantitative data should be considered in light of the qualitative data 
and responses.  

5. The qualitative components of the consultation 

 
The qualitative components of the consultation (ten open-ended questions seeking 
comment, see numbered list above) were analysed thematically to examine 
commonalities, relationships and differences across the responses and identify 
patterns or themes adopting an approach similar to Braun and Clarke 2006. 
 
The qualitative analysis seeks to use verbatim quotes to illustrate how the findings 
and interpretations have arisen from the data. Direct quotes are referenced by the 
age, gender and the type of stakeholder (e.g. member of the public, current service 
user, carer, representative from voluntary group). 
 
We had a further 2 responses in letter form which did not answer the questions in a 
quantitative format but rather in a narrative format. A total of 92 responses were 
therefore considered for the qualitative analysis. 
 

Proposal 1: 

 
The responses confirmed that the Care and Support Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework was thought to be a good idea. 
“The principle is right in that priority will be given to those most in need of support.” 
61 or over, female, someone else a friend or family member of someone who uses 
Adult Social Care services. 
 

Page 238



The responses further showed that whilst the principle of the Care and Support 
Charging and Financial Assessment Framework was thought to be a good idea 
some of the details were not necessarily agreed. 
 
“In principle though not in agreement with all details.” 61 and over, female, 
Yourself, currently in receipt of Adult Social Care and Support services.  

 
“Agree with the proposal but not necessarily with everything suggested.”  

61 and over, female, Yourself, a local resident.  
 
The qualitative data analysis exhibited underlying concerns held by the respondents 
that were related to but not on all fours with the question/proposal. 
 
“Bath is a university city who don’t the Council start charging students rates? 
Students use more facilities than any other age group of people. The Council is 
suggesting increased charges and the cost of meetings for 2100 people. Obviously, 
the Council need to cover their costs for the survey and intend to increase charging 
substantially. personal care is free in Scotland.”  

61 and over, female, Yourself, currently in receipt of Adult Social Care and 
Support services. 

 
The data analysis also highlighted some misconceptions in respect of the way in 
which the Care Act 2014 operates. 
 
“You are planning to include partners income/savings in the charge calculation for 
the first time so are not dealing with individuals except when someone is living alone. 
This is a huge change and is buried in one of the lengthy documents: the summary 
refers to income and savings of 'persons' and there is no mention of the fundamental 
change in calculation to a household basis. Diverting savings to pay the entire care 
cost for those in their 60s will massively reduce private resources needed in later life 
as we live in very uncertain times.”  
61 or over, male, Someone else a friend or family member of someone who uses 
Adult Social Care services. 
 
The Care Act 2014 is person centred and requires all financial assessments to be 
carried out in respect of the individual, the savings or income of partners is not 
included within the financial assessment.  

 

Proposal 2: 

 
The qualitative data and feedback form the public suggests that the timeframe 
proposed of two weeks is too short. 
 
“Too harsh. Many people affected may need longer to respond if they live alone, for 
instance.”  
61 and over, male, someone else a friend or family member of someone who uses 
Adult Social Care services. 
 

Page 239



“I do not think two weeks in long enough, it doesn’t take into account the difficulties 
that someone may have in contacting a family member or advocate to assist them, I 
think 3 weeks would be better.”  
61 and over, female, someone else a friend or family member of someone who uses 
Adult Social Care services. 
 
“This is an unreasonably short time for appointed representatives to access the 
necessary detail and respond.  In particular it is imperative that the Client Finance 
Team have access to email, telephone, both mobile and land line and postal 
addresses.  In our case we are often absent from Bath for periods of more than two 
weeks and postal communications or land line calls would go unanswered.  The 
penalties implicit in terms of the assumption that lack of response indicates self-
funding are unreasonable and unwarranted.  30 days is the norm for 

communications with the DWP and this should be the standard reflected in this 

policy.”  
61 and over, female, someone else a friend or family member of someone who uses 
Adult Social Care services. 
 

“Should have longer time, people get anxious and stressed about meeting and 
contacting people. I sometimes forget to show letters to my support worker or family. 
I don’t understand they are important. Because of all the new assessments PIP etc, 
assessments seem really scary and stressful. I would be very worried.”  
25-60, male, I am getting adult social care and support.  
 

Proposal 3: 

 
The feedback provided by the public indicates that this proposal is supported on the 
basis that provision is made to assist those required to make the application for the 
benefit. 
 
“The council should explain what benefits the service user is entitled to and assist, if 
required, in the service user accessing such benefits. i.e via a social worker.”  
61 or over, male, a local resident. 
 

“If assistance is provided to enable claiming of benefits required.”  
61 or over, female, , I am getting adult social care and support.  
 

“If you have informed the clients that they are entitled - do not presume that people 
are fully aware of what they can claim.”  25 -60, female. 
 
Some feedback was more negative but when considered in context that no notional 
capital will be taken into account for three months after the initial visit by the Care 
Finance Officer to allow time for the application to be made, on a qualitative analysis 
remains supportive of the proposal subject to clear guidance being provided to the 
Service User or their representative.  
 
“The Council should have no right to an assumption that a particular benefit is being 
received without checking the reason why.  There may be many reasons, the 
application may be in the process of being actioned or there may be other factors.  If 

Page 240



an individual is in receipt of such allowances, then it is reasonable to take them into 
consideration.  Otherwise dialogue between the service user or representative and 
Finance Team must clarify the situation with a clear indication of the actions that will 
be required on behalf of the service user, and the timescale before further action is 
taken.”  
61 and over, female, someone else: A friend or family member of someone who 
uses Adult Social Care and Support Services. 
 

Proposal 4: 

 
The feedback received was limited and therefore analysis was restricted, the 
feedback received should be read in conjunction with the ombudsman’s guidance 
that all third party top up payments must be paid by the Council to the Care provider 
and collected from the third party by the Council. As such there is a financial risk for 
the Council and a need to ensure that the service user for whom the top up payment 
is being made is not placed in a position where funding is not available long term. 
 
“It should be made clear to the family or friends that this would be a long-term 
commitment requiring careful consideration.”  
61 or over, male, I am a friend or family member of someone who gets adult social 
care and support service. 
 
“Many people will want the Council to be involved in this. Surly a private 
arrangement can be made with the Care home the above is controlling.” 
 
Given the guidance form the ombudsman the Council must be involved in the 
placement of a service user requiring a third party top up payment and private 
arrangements with the Care provider are not permissible.”  
61 or over, female, For yourself - I am getting adult social care and support service 
at the moment. 
 

Proposal 5: 

 
The feedback showed a higher than average number with no expressed view / 
comment, this may be because the proposal effects only those resident in care home 
setting. 
 
Some of the comments showed a general dissatisfaction with the current law in 
respect of the ability to take a person’s home into account in the financial 
assessment. 
 
“since the national health started, we have all pain our national health stamp the 
service has already been paid for.” 61 or over, male, for someone else – other. 
 
“What does a person’s home ownership status got to with whether or not you provide 
a care package? The provision should be there for people who require it.”  
25-60, female, for someone else – carer  
 
whilst some responses indicated the Council should continue to increase the fee 
annually. 

Page 241



 
“The annual fee should be index linked.”  
61 or over, female, yourself – a local resident.  
 
“It is an excessive increase on the annual fee. we feel a smaller increase that rises 
annually would be more appropriate.”  
61 and over, female, An Organisation: a voluntary organisation or advocate group for 
Adult Social Care and Support Service users. 
 
However, some responses did not support the proposal. 
 
“The fee seems excessive.”  
25-60, female, yourself – a local resident  
 
“needs to be set up on an individual basis. any delay to provision increases 
safeguarding concerns for the vulnerable adult. Needs just a one-off set-up fee.”  
25-60, female, I am a friend or family member of someone who gets adult social care 
and support service. 
 

Proposal 6: 

 
The proposal received reasonable feedback and comments were varied. 
 
Support of the proposal was shown however some responses indicated a lack on 
understanding in respect of property ownership and the legal ability to act, this will 
need to be addressed by the social work teams and care finance officers at the time 
the need for possible interim funding arises. 
 
“why does the property have to be registered - do not understand the above 
question.”  
61 and over, female, yourself I am getting adult social care and support service at 
the moment. 
 
The issue of safeguarding was raised and the need to have independent legal advice 
and ensure relatives were acting in the persons best interest, currently and going 
forward all those who express an interest in interim funding are advised to seek 
independent legal advice and if there is any safeguarding concern then this would be 
referred to the appropriate officers for investigation.  
 
“This is a minefield. I think all cases should be assessed on an individual basis and 
access to legal representation given to vulnerable people. This representation should 
be of an independent nature and not funded by the council in any way. Would 
safeguarding also be an issue here? Would all relatives be working in the best 
interest of the individual? Who would monitor the council's auditing and inspecting? 
Would outside organisations and bodies take on this role?”  
25-60, female, I am a friend or family member of someone who gets adult social care 
and support service. 
 
Finally, a minority of responses showed such a contract would not be entered into. 

 

Page 242



“Neither myself or my family members would sign any contract.”  
61 or over, female, yourself – a local resident. 
 

Proposal 7: 

 
The feedback from the public indicates that the proposal is broadly acceptable as 
long as those with the most need and the most vulnerable in the community are 
provided with the required care and support.  
 
“So long as the rules are fair and do not leave those with disabilities vulnerable 
without proper funding.”   
25-60, female, someone else – I am a carer  
 
“It should be on basis to basis concern - one individual with the same condition to 
another might have same problems but others not. You should be applying a 
Personal Centre Care Approach for care modelling - this is the new method.”   
25-60, female. 
 
There were also suggestions made of other items that could be included as disability 
related expenditure. 
 
“The new proposal does not include dietary needs e.g, a gluten free diet can come 
with additional costs. This was previously allowed and needs to be put back in the 
new DRE Factsheet. “  
61 or over, male, I am a friend or family member of someone who gets adult social 
care and support service. 
 
“But it seems to me that the additional heating allowance is too open ended 
generous, and this might result in excessive costs to the council. 
On the other hand I cannot see why chiropody should be excluded - there should be 
an assessment.”  
61 or over, prefer not to say, yourself – a local resident. 
 

Proposal 8: 

 
The majority of responses were in favour of the proposal subject to a those with the 
most need being provided required care and support. 
 
“If you mean you will only allow these costs if the service user is not in receipt of the 
mobility component of either DLA or PIP then we would agree.”  
61 and over, female, An Organisation: a voluntary organisation or advocate group for 
Adult Social Care and Support Service users. 
 
“Depends on the individual circumstances, needs and care plans. offered for life 
learning, social engagement, needs- based vocational training and physical 
activities.”  
25-60, female, I am a friend or family member of someone who gets adult social care 
and support service. 
 

Page 243



Proposal 9: 

 
The public feedback was mainly in support of the proposal. 
 
“For the purposes of clarity, the allowed standing charge ought to be linked to 
specific companies, eg British Gas.”  
61 and over, prefer not to say, yourself – a local resident.  
 
“You could also advise people of schemes such as 'winter warmer' scheme for 
electricity and gas during the winter. I did not know I was eligible for this because. no 
one ever told me.”   
25-60, something else, yourself I am getting adult social care and support service at 
the moment. 
 
There was some interchangeability between the comments in respect of this 
proposal and proposal 8.  
 
“People who are housebound/bedbound need more help with heating costs as they 
are home all day.”   
61 and over, female, yourself I am getting adult social care and support service at 
the moment. 
 

Proposal 10: 

 
Not all respondents were in favour of the proposal and it was expressed that the 
amount was too high.  
 
“Whilst a charge may be made the proposed £250 plus VAT is far too high.” 
 61 and over, female, yourself I am getting adult social care and support service at 
the moment. 
 
“This is very high.”  25-60, female, yourself – a local resident  
 
“£250 could be detrimental to people applying for care and off putting (even if they 
are self-funders).”  
61 and over, female, yourself I am getting adult social care and support service at 
the moment. 
 
Further there appeared to be a misconception in respect of who would incur the 
charge and in what circumstance. 
 
“If the person is not able to set up their own care package, they have a statutory right 
under the Care Act to have care arranged for them, including a Care Act 
Assessment. This is a right for all people who need care, regardless of whether or 
not they are self-funding. If is just a case of the council phoning around care 
providers on behalf of the service user, and no Care Act Assessment is done for this 
person, £250 is outrageous.”   
25-60, female, an organisation / private sector. 
 

Page 244



“Can it be lower or in instalments for those who cannot afford the fee?” 25-60, 
female, yourself – a local resident. 

Direct Payment Policy: 

 
The feedback received will be considered. 
 
Some positive feedback was received. 
 
“The choice is good.” 61 and over, female, yourself – a local resident  
 
It was highlighted that this is a complicated system and the advice could be provided 
by alternate sources. 
 
“it is a complicated system for anyone to manage especially those who need help.” 
61 and over, female, yourself: I am currently in receipt of Adult Social Care and 
Support Services. 
 
“I did not understand the old system and was not well enough to administer it. Direct 
payments probably work for adults who care for someone in their home and can 
manage the paperwork it is not for some….”  
61 and over, female, yourself: I am currently in receipt of Adult Social Care and 
Support Services. 
 

“This was only done two years ago.  Inserting new information regarding employer’s 
legal responsibilities and the Inland Revenue self-employed definition should be the 
job for the Hub to advise on, and not the council.”  
25-60, male, yourself I am getting adult social care and support service at the 
moment. 
 
“Not available to enough people now.”   
25-60, males, An Organisation: a voluntary organisation or advocate group for Adult 
Social Care and Support Service users. 

General feedback: 

 
The consultation and the proposed Care and Support Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework received mixed general comments. 
 
“I appreciate the value of these consultations and hope that they are well attended 
and that you get some good ideas.”  
61 and over, female, yourself – a local resident 
 
“I heard on the news the Government are providing more money for Social care in 
the next financial year. Also give the 'green light' to Councils ton increase rates. I 
personally pay the full council tax and agree with the move personal care in Scotland 
is free. B&NES Council has encouraged more students to reside in bath, but they do 
not pay rates. many local people are annoyed about this, 2100 service users would 
not be penalised if perhaps students made a greater contribution. the Council has 
already to force users to relinquish their properties!”  

Page 245



61 and over, female, yourself I am getting adult social care and support service at 
the moment. 
 
“I appreciate this consultation period. Now there needs to be a further period of 
reflection and dissemination of feedback. Where I hope there will be further 
invitations to discussion meetings. We are focusing on some of the most vulnerable 
people in our society. We all have a moral and social duty to ensure their physical, 
health, emotional, psychological, financial, educational, social and safety needs are 
met. Any financial cuts to service is very alarmingly.”  
25-60, female, someone else a friend or family member of someone who uses Adult 
Social Care services. 

6. Decisions   

 

Proposal 1: Accepted  

 
Reason: In principle most people supported the proposal, however there were 
elements within the Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework that raised concern. 
 

Proposal 2: Not accepted – amended  

 
Reason: Following the level of concern expressed regarding the 2-week time period 
for the service user or their nominated representative to make contact with the Care 
Finance Officer the Council has decided to extend this timeframe to 4 weeks. 
 
Proposal 3: Accepted  
 
Reason: The Council notes individuals concerns regarding support and signposting 
and will review the information already available to support people and develop a 
guidance document explaining what the person or their representative needs to do to 
make an application for the designated benefit. 
 

Proposal 4: Accepted  

 
Reason: The Council acknowledges there was a level of concern, however this was 
mainly in regard to the principle of third-party payments and the use of the same 
rather than the agreement and/or financial assessment. The use of third-party 
payments is a matter of statute. There were a small number of people who felt it was 
an infringement of their rights however the decision to agree to a third-party payment 
is optional and therefore any person who did not wish to provide financial information 
would not have to do so. 
 

Proposal 5: Accepted. 

 
Reason:  The Council found that statistically those in favour were only marginally 
more than those respondents that answered ‘no’, however it should be noted that the 
fee is not payable at the outset but added to the debt and is payable when the 
deferred payment agreement is ended.  

Page 246



 
It was also noted that there was a general dissatisfaction with the current law in 
respect of property ownership and care costs, however this is a matter for central 
government. 
 
Further the Council sought confirmation, via the national association of financial 
assessment officers forum, from other Local Authorities in respect of the setup fee 
charged which ranged between £64.00 and £397.00, however, some Local 
Authorities did not charge a single fee opting to charge an hourly rate or a mixture of 
both making comparison difficult, the £105.00 was an average of our nearest 
neighbouring Local Authorities, therefore the Council felt the sum of £105 was 
reasonable, this figure is in line with practice across the Country and will increase 
annually in April in accordance with the Consumer Prices Index including owner 
occupiers’ housing costs (CPIH), to allow for the increase in property prices.  
 

Proposal 6: Accepted  

 
Reason: The proposal is accepted, however more detail will be provided in a specific 
leaflet to those who may require assistance via interim funding to ensure the 
agreement and principle is clear. 
 

Proposal 7: Accepted  

 
Reason: Some concerns were raised in respect of people’s individual needs being 
taken into account, for example dietary requirements, the intention has always been 
to work with people on an individual basis to ensure genuine disability related 
expenditure is taken into consideration.  
 

Proposal 8: Accepted 

 
Reason: The response showed clear support for the proposal. 
 
 

Proposal 9: Accepted  

 
Reason: Whilst there is clear concern that people may be adversely affected due to 
items such as additional heating costs caused by a disability need for greater heat 
this would fall under proposal 8 and be a disability related need and would be 
considered in any Care Act assessment and assessed accordingly.   
 
In addition, any person aged over 60 would be in receipt of a winter fuel allowance 
and those in receipt of certain benefits may be eligible for the cold weather payment.  
 

Proposal 10: Accepted 

 
Reason: The Council sought confirmation, via the national association of financial 
assessment officer’s forum, from other Local Authorities in respect of administration 
charges for those who are deemed as self-funding but request the Council to 

Page 247



arrange care. The other Local Authorities confirmed a charge between £125 plus 
VAT and £500 many also charged an annual fee in addition to the initial charge.  
 
The Council acknowledges that the consultation feedback showed a response that 
the proposed sum of £250 plus VAT was to high but given the evidence from other 
Local Authorities and that fact that the use of the service is at the persons discretion 
the Council felt that the proposal was reasonable. 
 
This cost will not cover the full cost to the Council but will allow the Council to recoup 
some of the costs of the officer time, social worker time, checking the 
appropriateness of the options of care available, negotiating on the persons behalf 
and setting up the package of care. The cost will increase annually in April in 
accordance with the Consumer Prices Index including owner occupiers’ housing 
costs (CPIH), to allow for inflation.  
 
The Council will provide all those who are self-funders and express they wish the 
Council to carry out this work their behalf a leaflet explaining the options in respect of 
arranging care. 
 
It should be noted that private agencies who provide this service charge a higher 
rate, the rates charged by private agencies range between £255 plus VAT and £695 
plus VAT. 
 

Direct Payment Policy: Agreed 

 
Whilst some concerns at language and accessibility were raised, the easy read 
version will remain available on-line and in hard copy by request. If any individual 
has a concern about the implications of the Direct Payment Policy, they can speak 
with their social worker or care co-ordinator.  
 
Further following feedback in respect of pre-paid cards, to clarify, pre-payment cards 
will be optional if used in the future.  

Next steps: 

 
The FAQs will remain available on-line and will be periodically updated when 
appropriate. 
 
An easy read version of the policies will be available on-line. 
The project team will provide further engagement with appropriate groups to update 
them on the agreed policies and answer any further questions. 
 
We would highlight that the appeals and complaints procedure remains unchanged 
If you do not agree with the Councils decision you can make a formal complaint to 
the Complaints and Data Protection Team Manager: 
 
complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk 
 

Page 248

mailto:complaints_cypandadults@bathnes.gov.uk


The Councils complaints procedure can be viewed at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-Council-and-democracy/complaints-and-
customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social 
 
If you are not satisfied with the decision made by the Councils complaints team you 
can refer the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/  
 
The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 
Telephone: 0300 061 0614 
 
Conclusions: 
 
The project Director believes the team made every effort to consult as widely, 
inclusively and fairly as possible.  
 
The conclusions drawn have taken into account concerns raised and made 
amendments where necessary. 
 
The project Director and team would like to thank all those who have taken part and 
taken the time to respond and express their views. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 249

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/your-council-and-democracy/complaints-and-customer-feedback/complaints-about-adult-social
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


Appendices: 
 

Appendices 1 – Consultation figures and questions  

 
Summary of attendance at Public Consultation events 

Date Description Nos 

25th September Carers Centre Management meeting 5 

30th September Heathwatch event 7 

2nd October Session 1 - Midsomer Norton Public event 15 

2nd October Session 2 - Midsomer Norton Public event 6 

3rd October Session 1 - Midsomer Norton Public event 6 

3rd October Session 2 - Midsomer Norton Public event 0 

7th October Keynsham Public event 10 

8th October Compton Martin Public event 10 

10th October Timsbury Public event 4 

14th October BEMSCA 6 

17th October Carers Centre Voice 10 

21st October Swallow Management Committee 14 

21th October Session 1 - Bath Public event 14 

21st October Session 2 - Bath Public event 2 

22nd October Keynsham Public event 11 

4th November Dimensions (rescheduled see below) 0 

6th November Session 1 - Bath Public event 17 

6th November Session 2 - Bath Public event 12 

14th November Preparing for Adulthood event – stall  23 

22nd November Dimensions (rescheduled) 2 

25th November Action on Hearing Loss 18 

27th November BASS 4 

 Face to Face 196 

Page 250



Carers Centre Support Team meeting 25th September 2019 
No of people 5 
Q1 – Will there be support for service users applying for the additional benefits? 
Q2 – Is the top up agreement compulsorily? 
Q3 – Is the third party top up agreement new? 
Q4 – Presumably the agreement will also offer a safety net for service users? 
Q5 – Is that why the light touch financial assessment is required? 
Q6 – What was the fee originally? 
Q7 – Does the deferred payment agreement come into play if a couple lives in the 
house? 
Q8 – As part of this consultation, will it be possible for service users to help shape 
the framework? 
Q9 – Is it because some people use it as a way to protect their money? 
Q10 - If someone was a self-funder can the debt be attached to their home? 
Q11 – If a son or daughter was living in the family home and caring for another 
family member, they would be put under considerable financial constraints 
particularly if they are under 60 years old and the property was included in the 
financial assessment.  This seems unfair. 
Q12 – Some people put properties in Trust for family members.  Does it have to be 
put in place for 7 years? 
Q13 – If a person is already in care, can they then put their property in Trust? 
Q14 – Does this impact on personal budgets? 
Q15 – Once the new policy comes into effect, how long will the new process take? 
Q16 – Do a lot of people ask for the care to be arranged? 
Comments  

• People are living longer, I am concerned that there is not enough funds for 

myself, I am also concerned about funds for future people? 

• Might be worth having some examples for each of the questions 

• Found the information a lot clearer and easier to read 

• We will encourage people to take part in the consultation 

 

Healthwatch event 30th September 2019 

No of people 7 
Q1. Does the Deferred Payment Agreement still allow for 12 weeks grace? 
Q2. What is the interest paid? 
Q3. Does that apply if a partner is living in the home? 
Q4. I presume that those people receiving an attendance allowance will be taken into 
account when the financial assessment is completed? 
Q5. A lot of people are going through critical changes and it is important that a care 
assessment is done as soon as possible.  However, care assessments are not being 
done in the timescales.  
Q6. This is a very complex system and will impact on people financially, what 
support is available for people when the framework comes into place? 
Q7. The points you are consulting on seem reasonable, is there an appeals 
procedure if people are not happy with the process? 
Q8. How many people are you supporting in BANES? 
Q9. Has everyone you support been contacted about the consultation?  
Q10. Will all existing clients be notified of the final changes? 

Page 251



Q11. Will that mean everyone will be reassessed? 
Q12. When will the changes for new service users come into place? 
Q13. Is there a transition period? 
Q14. The people currently in the system waiting for a care assessment, have they 
been notified of the changes? 
Q15. Are you open to changing the two week notice period? 
Q16. For people who are self-funding, is there any point in having to get a care 
assessment? 
Q17.Is there support for people to apply for benefits? 
Q18. Does this cover supported living? 
Q19. I don’t understand how the prepayment card will work? 
Q20.When someone has a financial assessment done, will the Council share this 
with anyone? 
Q21. What support do you have in place for people with Autism or Dementia to take 
part? 
Comments 

• Care assessments are taking much longer than 28 days, it is more like weeks 

and months. 

• This is a problem for Virgin. 

• Whether the care is for residential care or at home, the 12 month reviews are 

not being completed. 

• If you are failing the targets for care assessments why don’t you change the 

timescales. 

• With regards to benefits, there is a resource issue for support agencies to 

assist people in filling in forms.  It can take up to three months to get benefits 

sorted for various reasons. 

• The two week period seems too short. 

• If you are asking the local authority to pay out then there has to be 

assessment. 

• The presentation has to be simplified, people will not understand the 

proposals.  The information on each slide is too much.  We need to know 

what it means for individuals. It needs a headline for each one.  Don’t need to 

have all the details about Direct Payments. 

• In the rural areas, Direct payments are difficult to set up, however we would 

like to set up more. 

• New people coming through could be done before the policy is implemented. 

 
Midsomer Norton Council Chamber – 2nd October 2019 
Session 1 – 4.30pm – 6pm 
No of people 15 
Q1. My daughter is in supported living with a private company and doesn’t own her 
own home, will these changes impact on her and will her fees go up?  
Q2. Will the income thresholds change? 
Q3. Will any of the fees be back dated? 
Q4. What are the actual changes, what is the difference? 
Q5. What will be the new fees for the Deferred Payment Agreement? 

Page 252



Q6. With the new procedure for Deferred Payment Agreements, will the fees be 
annually? 
Q7. Will the fees go up for existing service users who have Deferred Payment 
Agreements? 
Q8. I don’t really understand what is meant by unregistered properties in relation to 
the Interim Funding Policy. 
Q9. Are you still going to include cleaning costs for a home? 
Q10. You are assuming people will be able to get Pension Tax Credit, I applied as I 
was told by someone I would be eligible, but I wasn’t.  How will you ensure that 
people will not be disallowed? 
Q11. When will the changes come into effect? 
Q12. Will the Council tell us in advance what the new charges will be before its 
implemented? 
Q13. Will people be notified even if there are no changes? 
Q14. Is the Government allowance affected? 
Q15. Are there changes to the financial assessment? 
Q16. So if the income hasn’t changed, will the amount change? 
Q17. What is the change to Direct Payments? 
 
Comments 

• I got the letter and thought I would have to wait until April. 

• She has a house manager and they arrange for the package.  They deal with 

the financial side of things and send through an invoice.  If they can’t go to 

work its bad.  Its their only income 

• If you sent a letter to my daughter asking for her to respond within two weeks, 

she would not be able to, she would not know what to do.  I think you need to 

review it.  Two weeks is a very short timescale.  It is a very stark. 

• You can’t assume that everyone will be eligible for these benefits. 

 
Midsomer Norton Council Chamber – 2nd October 2019 
Session 2 – 6.30pm – 8pm 
No of people 6 
Q1. My wife has been in a nursing home for seven years, will it be back dated? 
Q2. If an elderly couple lives in a home, one needs to go into a home, will the 
property be taken into account? 
Q3. We have a three bedroom house in joint name and I still live at home, my wife is 
in a care home.  If I wanted to move into a flat will the property be taken into 
account? 
Q4. If the situation arises, can we get advice from the Council regarding a Deferred 
Payment Agreement? 
Q5. If a house was sold for £200,000 and the care home fees were £400,000 would 
the Council pick up the difference? 
Q6. If you were topping up for an elderly person, what happens if you have financial 
difficulties? 
Q7. Will it be backdates if she moved to a bigger room years ago? 
Q8. Who can top up? 
Q9. Does there have to be a financial link with the individual? 
Q10. Why are you making a distinction, can’t the person pay it themselves? 

Page 253



Q11. Can we get advice directly about deferred payments? 
Q12. Are you able to confirm whether the mobility aspect of the allowance is not 
changed? 
Q13. How will people pay for the usage costs of their utility costs? 
Q14. If we do not bank on-line how would the pre-payment cards work?   
Q15. Will you still be able to send out statements to us (pre-payment cards)? 
Q16. If someone was already in receipt or had just had their financial assessment, 
will they be required to have a review? 
Q17. Do you have any idea of the extra amount that you will clawback from people? 
Q18. I’m assuming that once the policy is in place, service users will receive 
information. 
 
Comments 

• There is an expectation that we should do it (pre-payment cards) on-line and I 

feel quite strongly that this is not fair. 

• Note – all the final documents should be put in the One-stop-Shop and 

Libraries and use the Direct Payment champions to assist. 

• We just have to trust the system that it gets it right (in relation to benefits) 

 
Midsomer Norton Council Chamber – 3rd October 2019 
Session 1 – 2.30pm – 4pm 
No of people 6 
Q1. Will the Employment Support Allowance be taken into account?  
Q2. What about when you have a dependent son, what allowances will be made for 
that?   
Q3. Is the question really when you are supporting someone at home, will your 
household expenses be taken into account? 
Q4. Could you explain Disability Living Allowance? 
Q5.  My wife goes to the day centre, our funds are so low, is there a charge? 
Q6. Is there a feedback form on-line? 
Q7. You mentioned if you own your own home, if another family member is living at 
home how does that work?  This is a real worry if you have a dependent child? 
Q8.  My son moved from a Commissioned Service to Direct Payment (DP).  The DP 
service is not good.  On occasions the support is not given.  Does the council review 
this? 
Q9. If someone is already in receipt of a Direct Payment Agreement that it will not 
change? 
Q10. My son is receiving Mental Health Services, he has Downs syndrome and 
Dementia.  How does it work in relation to him? 
Q11. What is the difference between Direct Payments and Commissioned Services? 
Comments 

• At no state within my son’s assessment did they account for living at home 

and paying rent.  Nothing was allowed for. 

• So we have to make our son homeless then the Council will have to arrange 

for his care. 

• The benefits are squeezed, there isn’t enough to support him. 

Page 254



• They did allow a certain amount for housekeeping £60 to be taken into 

account.   

• They need to know the pressures we are at either end. 

• I have been told that if my pension is over a certain amount, I will not be able 

to receive certain benefits. 

• My wife is going into rest bite care for a week arranged by Alzheimers, we get 

charged for this, its quite a lot, I find that very difficult. 

• We do understand that there are pressures in getting good professional 

support workers. 

• I like the sound of the pre-payment cards – it will help with the paperwork. 

 
Midsomer Norton Council Chamber – 3rd October 2019 
Session 1 – 4.30pm – 6pm 
No of people 0 
 
Keynsham Community Space – 7th October 2019, 6.30pm – 8pm 
No of people 10 
Q1. What is the current situation in relation to the two weeks? 
Q2. Is it an arbitrary two weeks or is it based on other research with other 
organisations? 
Q3.  What would happen if there were no beds available in a care home within the 
price range, what would the Council do? 
Q4. What is a person’s set amount for daily living costs? 
Q5. Do you have to bank on-line to use pre-payment cards? 
Q6. You mentioned the allowance for people with Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease, why is 
this singled out? 
Q7. What if a person that doesn’t get DRE need transport costs, they just need to 
use a wheelchair friendly car, can they still get the costs paid? 
Q8. My son lives in a supported living accommodation, he goes to Day Centre and 
there is a charge, will this charge change? 
Q9. When we get the assessment will it tell us what we have to pay? 
Q10. Do they make allowances for rent? 
Comments 

• Is it legally binding the two weeks response time.  It does not seem 

reasonable, its not long enough. 

• Easy read version, a lot of people with learning difficulties don’t understand 

the word ‘assume’. 

• We needed to find a care home for my brother but they were expenses.  The 

only one we could find was 20 miles away and it was terrible.  The only toilet 

was on the floor below, this was not suitable.  In the end, we have decided to 

care for him at home.  

• The rate proposed for Deferred Payments seems rather high.  

• You shouldn’t need to send all the supporting paperwork for the pre-payment 

cards. 

Page 255



• I had PIP when I was 60 because my brother was 67 when he got ill, he 

wasn’t entitled to it. 

• Questions about your at the end of the questionnaire – need to make it clearer 

in the future about whether this is the person filling in the form or someone 

else. 

 
Compton Martin Village Hall – 8th October 2019, 10.30am – 12pm 
No of people 10 
Q1. My brother attends a Day Centre, will the costs of the transport be covered? 
Q2. A lot of what you have said is about elderly people, what about people with 
Learning Disabilities will they be affected? 
Q3. We have a 60 year old son who now lives in Bristol.  He has lived in different 
places over the years, and sometimes he has come home to live.  Which council 
would we have to deal with? 
 
 
YMCA building, Timsbury – 10th October 2019, 2.30pm – 4pm 
No of people 4 
Q1. My father has a care package, he goes to the Day Centre twice a week and 
singing for the brain.  Will this any of this change? 
Q2. How will the changes affect my situation regarding Direct Payments and care at 
home? 
Q3. Wil the pre-payment cards make it easier? 
 
BEMSCA, Fairfield House – 14th October 2019 
No of people 6 (3 services users & 3 staff) 
Q1. With the Introduction of a third party Top up Agreement, will this see “means 
tests” being carried out on the third party?  
Q2. How will the equity be valued when only part of the home is owned? 
Q3. When somebody identifies as in need of a care package, what is the timeframe 
that should be expected from the Council in providing the support? 
Q4. People try to manage on their own if they see a delay blocking them from going 
home. How can we avoid people being delayed in discharge from hospital when wait 
times for support is high?  
Q5. How can elderly people be helped when they experience difficulties with the 
technology that is involved with the use of pre-payment cards? 
Q6. Can it be made simple for the managing returns of paper receipts? 
Q7. Do the reports that are produced for pre-payment cards help with picking up on 
patterns that show that care is being missed out of a care package? 
Q8. What support would be available to support people who move to the use of pre-
payment cards? 
Q9. Can small amounts of cash be withdrawn using a direct payment card?  
Q10. How is the allowance for transport needs calculated?     
Q11. Do we have the information available on other languages? 
Q12. Can a translator be used to help with consultation? 
Q13. How can BEMSCA become a part of care plans used by social services? 
 
Carers Centre – 17th October 2019 

Page 256



No of people 10 (9 carers plus 1 officer) 
Q1. Will the financial assessment identity whether an individual could claim for 
benefits?  
Q2. Who will undertake the financial assessment? 
Q3. What is the procedure to get a social worker to visit? 
Q4. Are the financial costs worked out automatically? 
Q5. What about PIP? 
Q6. What do you mean by a short period? 
Q7.  If someone need to change rooms in a care home because they needed a 
bigger room for a hoist, will the third party top up apply? 
Q8. Is there interest charged on Deferred payments? 
Q9. Is NAFaO endorsed by the Department of Health and how do they advise 
councils?  
Q10. You have got the costs for gas and electricity but not for oil.  I have oil heating, 
what are the allowances for oil? 
Q11. What is NAFAO, how does it relate to this? 
Q12.  Does NAFAO have influence over the Council? 
Q13.  £250 for Deferred Payment agreement, what do other council’s charge? 
Q14. Is it possible for self-funders to ask the Council to pay the fees to the care 
home and then the individuals pay back the Council? 
Q15.  Could you not do it as a loan? 
Q16. As an alternative to care at home is live in care.  I arranged it some years ago 
for my parents. What is B&NES policy for live in care currently? 
Q17. Is there enough time for you to consider the result of the consultation? 
Q18. Will a letter be sent out to everyone to explain the changes? 
Q19. Does all the money get spent on Virgin? 
Comment:  

• It doesn’t always follow that you get a new care worker straight away. 

• I do have a big issue with Disability Related Expenditure.  This is statutory 

and any disability related expenditure should be taken into account.  It’s 

therefore not discretionary.   

• I have tried to find out about NAFO as they are not a publically accessible 

organisation. 

• You could make the DRE factsheet really simple by saying that everything is a 

disability related expenditure. 

• I have submitted a complaints to the team earlier this year about specialist 

shoes for my wife.  They cost £120 each and they would only allow funding for 

2 pairs.  Most people have more than 2 pairs of shoes.  I ended up paying for 

extra shoes for her.  This is a disability related expenditure. 

• The heating allowance rates on the DRE factsheet doesn’t seem correct.  I 

have a HIVE system at home so I know how my heating usage compares with 

others, these figures don’t seem to work. 

• The Council should ask people to change supplier so that they get a better 

rate.  They need to find out what they are paying and get them to provide 

evidence.  If they cant do it they should get a family member to help out. 

• Individuals need support to help with applying for the benefits they need.  The 

Council should support them to do this when the financial assessment is done 

Page 257



or from the initial meeting with the social worker.  They need support, some 

people are reluctant to apply for funding.  The support needs to be part of the 

process.  The problem is that too many people coming in, another new face, 

causes difficulties and concerns. 

• They have already taken £30 a month for my daughter for gluten free out of 

her benefits.  They have stopped it completely.  Her medication has made her 

put on weight, she is going to weightwatchers.  I had to go to the bank and get 

a statement of expenditure and then pay the balance.  It took a lot of time.   

• My wife has MS, I saw an article about the amount of additional monies 

needed for people with MS which was £420 per month.  This needs to be 

widely accepted by government. 

• Sometimes small things get on my nerves, why should VAT be included in the 

fee for self funders as disabled people are excluded from paying VAT. 

• We had to wait 7 months for care, if the Council doesn’t respond in two weeks 

then the social workers should be charged. 

• Its all the services.  OT as an example, we wanted to get some grips and a 

stall it takes weeks.  We didn’t get a response so I brought them. 

• Very personal feeling.  Self funders are taken advantage of as they are 

charged more for the care, it is not fair. 

• I have dealt with a number of local authorities and B&NES is far far better 

than most. 

 

NOTE the Carers Centre can send out the details of the final decision and 

changes. 

 
SWALLOW Management Committee – 21st October 2019 
No of people 14 (11 service users, 2 staff plus 1 trustee) 
Q1. If you don’t have anyone to help you in relation to a deferred payment, who can 
help?  
Q2. What do I do if I have an accident at home, I don’t have an alarm or if the alarm 
doesn’t work? 
Q3. Will we still get our disability allowance benefits? 
Q4. Who will help with Direct Payments? 
Comments 

• I have seen on the television about people claiming money they shouldn’t.  

There are some 

• The Council are the worst people to get hold of. 

• A lot of people are being bullied in care homes. 

• I have a Community Alarm for my epilepsy.  Some people have it around their 

arm or leg. 

• I cannot use my bus pass on the dial a ride bus.  My dad takes me 

everywhere. 

• I am looking into doing a Makaton training course. 

• I have booked a holiday and don’t want to go on my own. 

Page 258



 
Brunswick Room, Guildhall, Bath - 21st October 2019  
Session 1 – 14 people (4.30pm – 6pm) 
Q1. Can you clarify what you mean by ‘if circumstances change in the future’ in 
relation to the Third Party Top Up Agreement? 
Q2. Do you have set response times for new assessments or financial 
assessments?  It is currently taking a long time. 
Q3. What about the financial assessment? 
Q4. If it does not happen in the timeframe, what is the process? 
Q5. I don’t understand the difference between the social worker/finance routes. 
Q6. Who does the actual financial assessment? 
Q7. Who decides how much the Council will pay? 
Q8. What if it is a direct payment? 
Q9. So, the social worker does the assessment for need and the financial 
assessment prepares the care plan.   
Q10. So, it’s not a case of yes or no to care but what people can afford to contribute. 
Q11. When people are self-funding, can they get a direct payment? 
Q12. How much of the house is taken into consideration when someone receives 
care at home? 
Q13. What about their spouse? 
Q14. What about short term measures if someone becomes suddenly incontinent? 
Q15. Who decides what is discretionary – the finance team? 
Q16. Are you suggesting that people give examples of other disabilities as part of the 
consultation? 
Q17 How are you dealing with utilities at the moment? 
Q18. Is there any discretion going to be applied? 
Q19. Are you asking for an honest reckoning? 
Q20. Would the figures show utilities on the financial statement? 
Q21. Is the £300 fee (Fee for self funders) the same figure for those on direct 
payment? 
Q22. (Direct Payments and pre-payment cards) Do you consult with banks?  My son 
is autistic and cannot read, write or count.  There is no point asking him to sign 
something.  We understand that the bank has to follow procedures, his signature 
looks different each time and this caused issues.  Also, there was money coming in 
from the Council at a different times.  It all became too stressful.  Can you pick a 
couple of banks and work with them to simplify things? 
Q23. What is the £300 charge for self-funders for? 
Q24. Is this a new service that was not there before? 
Q25. I was told that the Council did not provide this service for self-funders? 
Q26. What is the rationale for the Direct Payment policy? 
Q27. How has the Direct Payment Policy been updated?  I don’t see any clarity, 
flexibility or transparency yet. 
Q28. What are the benefits of the pre-payment card? 
Q29.  Are there any other ways the pre-payment cards can be used, can they be 
used for day to day expenditure? 
Q30. You mentioned DLA – what about PIP – my son gets this now. 
Q31. You said you are going to take into account any benefits – what about 
attendance allowance? 
Q32. Will attendance allowance be taken into account? 
Q33. The £5 for laundry and extra bedding – is this a new amount? 

Page 259



Q34. What is the monthly allowance? 
Comments 

• Letters from the Council take up to a week to arrive so two weeks is not long 

enough.  You must use a private company to deliver them. 

• That’s not been my experience (implied that financial assessments are carried 

out by social workers). 

• I have been through the process and it wasn’t clear. 

• I have had a very difference experience, it is over complicated process as self 

funders are getting letters. 

• It depends what other benefits the person can get, a self funder may not get it.   

• I wanted to get the telecare service and went to the Council and social worker 

but no-one could tell me if we could have it. 

• More information about what is discretionary in the DRE is needed within the 

information. 

• It is not clear who makes that decision (about DRE) its difficult to know who to 

go to 

• The system is falling apart – we don’t know who to contact.  There is no co-

ordination and it can take months.  It took three months to organise pads. 

• In one of the documents the average costs for utilities are very high.  £1,300 

is a lot for a single person in a flat. 

• We had a similar problem we have deputyship and had three different bits of 

advice. It doesn’t help when the Court of Protection is behind in their work 

with lots of parents not being able to quickly resolve the issue.  There is such 

disparity of the response from the Court of Protection. 

• We found Smile Bank the best as they were flexible. 

• Q25. I was told that the Council did not provide this service for self-funders? 

• You need to make people aware (internally) of the service for self-funders  

• It is good for the Council to work with people to help shape this service.  

There could be a lot more rules that make it harder. 

• If you have a young person with a lifelong disability it is a lifetime of battles 

with criteria. 

• The Direct Payment Policy was finalised 9 months ago. 

• It says it was approved in January (Direct Payment Policy).  It sounds 

reasonable until you put it into practice. 

• Removing something small may not seem important but it can be.  We’ve had 

four social workers in six weeks. 

• It sounds like we are always complaining, there are some very good officers in 

the Council who have been very helpful. 

• The Direct Payment policy implies that we will employ carers rather than using 

self employed carers. 

• So you are penalising people who choose not to apply for the benefits. 

• So, if you have ascertained that some is eligible for Pension Credit, this will be 

treated as income.   

Page 260



 
Brunswick Room, Guildhall, Bath - 21st October 2019  
Session 2 – 2 people (6.30pm – 8pm) 
Q1. Who is likely to be eligible for pension credit? 
Q2. What assets are connected to deferred payments? 
Q3. I was on the CCG Community Champions Group and looked at the Direct 
Payment Policy, have you changed it since then? 
Q4. What about disposal of capital? 
Q5. You wouldn’t take into account a car then – I need my car. 
Q6. What if the house is part-owned? 
Q7. What happens when the consultation closes? 
Comments 

• Two weeks is a short time frame.  Someone supports me with my finances but 

if they are not available, two weeks is not long enough. 

• The term ‘serve notice’ is quite alarming for people. 

• Everyone has different disability needs and expenditure will vary according to 

their lifestyle.  Life doesn’t fit into these neat boxes. 

• Something available to the public is not being treated as a disability 

expenditure but it may be that the person has more needs.  For example, my 

electricity bill is very high as I have to charge a lot of things and I use more 

water.  I allow £300 a month for these.  The law says £189 per week is 

sufficient to live on.  I cannot increase my income. 

• I find it hard to use cards as have difficulty putting in a pin number so prefer to 

use cheques. 

 
Keynsham Community Space- 22nd October 2019  
11 people (6.30pm – 8pm) 
Q1. Is it a BANES Policy? 
Q2. Do you know how big a problem it is in BANES (unclaimed benefits)? 
Q3. Is ESA also included? 
Q4. Is it a nominal charge for deferred payments? 
Q5. Minimum Income Guarantee is the annual income set by Government, do the 
Government call it something different? 
Q6. Is there a different rate for disabled people Minimum income guarantee? 
Q7. Is DLA now called PIP? 
Q8. Are there any changes proposed to personal budgets? 
Q9. Is the Deferred Payment agreement fee an annual charge? 
Q10. If someone is in a care home will they have a financial assessment? 
Q11. Is the financial assessment chargeable? 
Q12. The two weeks response time, are you stuck with that time? 
Comments 

• Is that one of the most under-claimed benefits (Pension Tax Credit).  You 

should advertise the fact that this has not been claimed. 

• If you know the process (claiming benefits) it helps, My mum was looking into 

it, she gave up and has not done anything about it since.  It was difficult at the 

Page 261



time as my mum didn’t want to go down with route.  If that has an impact that 

makes it a horrible situation and makes it worse. 

• Not only getting the bit of the cherry for the Council (claiming benefits). 

• If you know the process (claiming benefits) it helps.  My mum was looking into 

it, she gave up and has not done anything about it since.  It was difficult at the 

time as my mum didn’t want to go down that route.  If it happens it makes it a 

horrible situation and makes it worse. 

• It’s ironic that the benefit changes should mean that it can all be done I one 

go. 

• Can I tell everyone that B&NES figures are right at the bottom end.  The isle 

of Wight is £2,100 per year. For self-funders BANES is proposing £300, they 

charge £900.  BANES pay the highest rates for agency staff outside of 

London.  B&NES spends 83p in the £1 for adult and social care.  BANES are 

under a lot of pressure.  If we are not claiming all the benefits from Central 

Government it places pressure on the Council.  BANES pay the highest 

charge for its care homes. 

• Direct Payment policy includes information about employing people.  You 

have a hub to help with that.  These things are likely to change.  I thought it 

might be simpler to direct people to the hub rather than the policy. 

• I have to say that Annemarie presents the information really well and there 

are very complex questions that she responds to.  Please pass on our thanks 

to her for her efforts and explanation on a difficult subject. (Commented after 

the presentation) 

 
Alkmaar Room, Guildhall, Bath – 6th November, 2.30pm 
Session 1 – 17 people  
Q1. Why Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease? 
Q2. Regarding the additional benefits, does that mean when they come to retirement 
they get less pension? 
Q3. That is quite detrimental to move people Care Homes, why can’t they pay 
themselves? 
Q4. Aren’t Third Party Top Up agreements going on already? 
Q5. Why is there a difference between the age groups for Minimum Income 
Guarantee? 
Q6. If you have expensive heating bills, will it be considered if it’s a health need? 
Q7. Is it as result of the Care Act that you are able to charge these specific 
amounts?  It does seem very unfair for self-funders, they worked got their own 
property and have to use it for their care. 
Q8. Would this proposal change if we had a change in government?  You started by 
saying in the consultation document that the Government has reduced funding.  Will 
the costs saved be given to disabled people?  Effectively some of us will be hit, with 
extra costs some may have to go without extra care, increase care and fuel costs. 
Q9. Does the third party top up affect those people already in care homes? 
Q10. Who do we refer into? 
Q11. Transport and Education costs, in what context do you mean? 
 

Page 262



Comments 

• Two weeks for a disabled person is a short period of time.  It makes no 

attempt to understand disabled people.  I often get stranded at my mothers.  

Why two weeks?  Who was consulted, did anyone ask disabled people about 

this timeframe.  I would say for lots of impairments that it should be altered to 

be beneficial to disabled people.   

• It is the same with DWP if you don’t respond.  That is why many people have 

been made homeless.  You can’t get back into the system.  Central 

Government is very harsh in terms of its timeframes. 

• We had a patient who had no support.  She needed domestic help she was 

put in touch with someone and it was the wrong person.  She was lucky 

enough to have friends who supported her but they had to travel.  Social 

services are not visiting.  There was no social worker at the hospital to help 

set up before leaving hospital.  

• Each time my mum has left hospital recently the nurses don’t tell you about 

social workers.  It’s the nurses that block it.  They don’t want to refer to social 

workers as it blocks the bed.  I haven’t had the time to take this up with the 

RUH.  50% - 60% you don’t get what you need. 

• I need to say many of us Disabled People would be affected by this.   Virgin 

Care don’t employ people who are qualified social workers.  Whoever 

designed the factsheet didn’t include all impairments.  DRE is massive and 

the DRE factsheet only includes a small element of things.  Many people don’t 

have access to a social worker.  Its not based on people with disability and 

has not been produced by disabled people. 

• My annual review as not undertaken by a social worker, it was a review 

officer. 

• I can talk about it in more detail, my care package reduced as a result of the 

reviewing officer.  I want to be reviewed by a social worker.   

• Does sound like they are being persecuted if they can’t manage themselves 

(Self-funders). 

• The support for direct payments is currently rubbish. 

• We worked with the Council to update the policy.  We wanted choice over pre-

payment.  A lot of us are confused with the information on Virgin Care 

website.  We did have some input but its not working well for us. 

• When the system goes wrong its very hard to access. 

• Pre-payment cards isn’t included, although I am not going to go for it. 

• Want more discussion about pre-payment cards. 

• In your hand out you say that SWAN and Your say provide advocacy support.  

I am a trustee of SWAN and We don’t run this service any more. 

• Initial reaction was shocked at the number of people in BANES 189,000 and 

you are looking at a small amount.  This doesn’t represent the number of 

disabled people that are most vulnerable group.  Most of them don’t have a 

Page 263



property or savings.  BANES is looking after 2,100 people, there are likely to 

be more people. 

 
Alkmaar Room, Guildhall, Bath – 6th November, 2.30pm 
Session 2 – 12 people  

• Before the Care Act came in, did you consider take into account attendance 

allowance? 

• Do you mean Universal Credit? 

• If you have a disagreement about DRE then can you go to appeal? 

• Is the appeals process the same for Virgin Care? 

• This is all great news, it is separate from Virgin Care.  Will it always remain 

the same? 

• Dietary needs are not included in DRE Factsheet, is this one of the grey 

areas?  It used to be on the list. 

• Dietary needs need to be mentioned.  Should have a list of things that are 

grey.  It was on the list and it does seem strange it is not now. 

• Will the social workers have same training? 

Comments 

• If a vulnerable person who is not in receipt of any benefits, that would be the 

failing of the system. 

• I can see what you are saying a vulnerable disabled person should not have 

any income. 

• All energy suppliers are vastly different. 

• Confused why the government makes assumption that seniors have higher 

heating costs.  Who makes that decision in government presumably they have 

a disability expert.  Really strange can’t get head around it. 

• Some Direct Payment Users are meeting with the commissioners, there are 

problems we are experiencing.  Need a lot more explanation of service users 

basically on various aspects. 

 
Preparing for Adulthood - Bath College Event – 14th November 
23 People  
Comments 

• Policy needs to take account of parents living costs particularly if the child is 

still living at home. 

• Questions asked about transitioning from children’s to adult services. 

 
Dimensions – 22nd November 
2 service users  
Comments 

• Questions about transitioning service users  

Page 264



• Explanation given about minimum income guarantee that this is met by 

central government 

 
Action on Hearing Loss – 25th November 
18 service users  
 

1. Not sure how the amount payable is calculated as seems to be unfair. 

2. Not sure how benefits are taken into account and if this varies depending on 

the individual. 

3. Are allowances made for additional hearing support. 

Comments 

• Further events, such as this, giving an explanation and assistance to users 

would be very helpful. 

• It is a very complex area and people are confused the ability to ask questions 

and have an answer would be really helpful. 

 
BASS event – 27th November, 2pm 
No of people 4 (2 service users plus 2 support workers) 

1. Not sure of eligibility because I have some finance. 

2. When you say we, is that the council will contact? 

3. If a call is made from a withheld no, that could be an issue, people should 

know who is calling. 

4. Need to do email as well as telephone call. 

5. Reminder in two weeks, how often will the reminders be? 

6. Experience with Autism, promoting is very helpful. 

7. Will it be recorded in the care assessment to show that a person has Autism? 

8. Will it be the social worker’s responsibility to argue for the allowance? 

9. Disabilities Expenditure - what about buying more clothes, and travel and 

what about sound proofing for sensory issues. 

10. Will the framework change things even if you get support?  

 
Comments 

• I use Brain in Hand specifically to help me as I don’t have anyone that can 

support me.  I am going to hopefully get it funded through social care.  It costs 

between £60 - £120, the top end provides 24 hours support.  It is cheaper 

than having a care worker.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 265



Appendices 2 – FAQ’s 

 
Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 
consultation 
24th September – 3rd December 2019 
 
Frequently Asked Questions 
 
About the consultation 
 
How many people are you supporting in BANES? 
There are approximately 2,100 people receiving care and support services either 
within residential care or at home. 
 
Will it be possible for service users to help shape the framework? 
Definitely. Whilst some areas within the framework are set out in the Care Act, we do 
have discretion for others and these are the areas we are consulting on. We want to 
hear from people about our proposals as we aim to provide a fair and consistent 
process for everyone. 
 
The points you are consulting on seem reasonable, is there an appeals 
procedure if people are not happy with the process? 
Yes, the appeals process will not change. 
 
What are the actual changes proposed? 
There are 10 areas within the Framework that the council is consulting on. These are 
explained more fully in the consultation document – found here 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cascharging-consultation. 
 
Have you contacted everyone who is affected by these proposals? 
Yes. Everyone receiving care and support has received a letter. These letters were 
sent out two weeks prior to the consultation starting. 
 
What support do you have in place for people with Autism or Dementia to take 
part? 
There are a number of public events planned throughout the consultation including 
specific events with Dimensions and the Carers Centre. In addition, Swan and Your 
Say Advocacy organisations will provide assistance to anyone that requires support 
with participating in the consultation. 
 
Where can I get help to take part in the consultation if I need support with this? 
Swan and Your Say Advocacy organisations will provide assistance to anyone that 
requires support with participating in the consultation. To arrange please contact us 
by email cafaconsultation@bathnes.gov.uk or by telephone on 01225 477810. 
 
When will the changes for new service users come into place? 
The changes will come into effect from the 6th April for existing and new service 
users. 
 
 

Page 266



Is there a feedback form on-line? 
You can take part by completing an on-line survey which is available via the 
following address: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cas-charging-consultation or you can 
request a paper copy of the survey, by contacting us by email 
cafaconsultation@bathnes.gov.uk or by telephone on 01225 477810. 
 
Do you have the information available on other languages? 
We will arrange translation for anyone that requires the information in other 
languages. To arrange please contact us by email cafaconsultation@bathnes.gov.uk 
or by telephone on 01225 477810 
 
What happens when the consultation closes? 
We will review all the consultation results and make amendments to framework, 
where necessary. The final decision made by Full Council in early 2020. The policy 
will be implemented from the 6th April 2020 
 
I’m assuming that once the policy is in place, service users will receive 
information. 
Yes, everyone will be contacted prior to the policy being put into place. 
 
Will all existing clients be notified of the final changes and what support is 
available for people? 
Yes. The Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework, if 
approved by Full Cabinet in early 2020 will allow a transition period of around 3 
months where we will be able to apply the policies to existing people and notify them 
of any alteration to their assessed weekly charge. Advocacy support will be offered 
to people including support from their social workers. 
 
Process for Financial assessments 
 
Are there changes to the financial assessment? 
No, the way in which financial assessment will be carried out will not change but the 
amount payable may change. 
 
If someone was already in receipt or had just had their financial assessment, 
will they be required to have a review? 
No, not everyone will require a re-assessment. If there is a need for a re-assessment 
the Council will notify you. 
 
Will that mean everyone will be reassessed? 
No, we will contact any person who requires a re-assessment but not everybody will. 
 
If someone is in a care home will they have a financial assessment? 
Yes, everyone receiving care and support who wants financial assistance from the 
Council will require a financial assessment. 
 
When somebody identifies as in need of a care package, what is the timeframe 
that should be expected from the Council in providing the support and what is 
the process if those timescales are not met? 

Page 267



The usual timeframe for the care and support assessments is 28 days from the date 
of request. The usual timeframe for the Care Finance Officer to contact the person is 
within a few days of the referral form the social worker requesting the financial 
assessment. How long it then takes for the financial assessment to be completed will 
depend on individual circumstances. If the timeframes are not met this will be 
reviewed with the teams. 
 
Who does the actual financial assessment? 
A Care Finance Officer will carry out the financial assessment. 
 
I don’t understand the difference between the social worker and the finance 
routes. 
The assessments are carried out separately and by separate people. The first 
assessment is carried out by the social worker who will visit the person who is in 
need of care to identify the person’s care needs. This is called a Care Needs 
Assessment. A Care Finance officer will then visit the person and undertake a 
financial assessment. 
 
Who decides how much the Council will pay? 
This will depend on a number of factors including what income the person receives 
including any benefits and property, savings and other assets they own. 
 
So, it’s not a case of yes or no to care but what people can afford to 
contribute. 
The council has a duty under the Care Act and is required to identify what care is 
needed and work out how much that care will cost. The Care Assessment and the 
financial assessment are provided free of charge and the care will be provided even 
if the financial assessment shows the person cannot afford to contribute anything. 
 
Are you open to changing the two week notice period? 
We will consider all the feedback we receive during the consultation and where 
necessary we will amend the proposals. 
 
Is it an arbitrary two weeks or is it based on other research with other 
organisations? 
We have done research looking at timeframes other local authorities allow. Most 
other authorities local allow 2 weeks. 
 
DRE 
 
Are you still going to include cleaning costs for a home? 
This will depend on the financial assessment and the care and support needs. The 
Disability Related Expenditure Factsheet will explain what rates are proposed to be 
applied in the future. More information is found here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cas-
chargingconsultation. 
 
What about short term measures if someone becomes suddenly incontinent? 
This is a health need and the social workers will be able to assist by signposting you 
to the correct health provider. 
 

Page 268



Who decides what is discretionary? 
The social workers will need to evidence any disability related expenditure in the 
care and support plan, depending on the nature of the need this may then have to be 
signed off by their manager. 
 
Are you suggesting that people give examples of other disabilities as part of 
the consultation? 
We are keen to hear from anyone who has any suggestions about what other areas 
that should be included. 
 
How are you dealing with utilities at the moment? 
Utilities are an allowance within the non-residential assessment this Care and 
Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework is looking to make it very 
clear what the allowed rates are. The water allowance will depend on if your water if 
provided by Wessex Water or Bristol Water and if you are on a meter or not: 
 
Service Provider Price per annum 2019/20 
Metered Non Metered 
Wessex Water Fresh Water £24.00  £7.00 
Wessex Water Sewerage £56.00   £7.00 
 
Total Standing Charge £80.00   £14.00 
Service Provider 
 
Price per annum 2019/20 
Metered Non Metered 
Bristol Water Fresh Water £41.00  £33.00 
Wessex Water Sewerage £56.00   £7.00 
Total Standing Charge £97.00  £40.00 
 
This rate will be reviewed every April in line with the water companies possible 
annual increase date. Gas and Electricity will be the actual amount paid for the 
standing charge as shown on your bill. If you are a current service user and we have 
not had sight of your bill we will allow the standard tariff British Gas Rate of £1.83 per 
week for gas and £1.83 per week for electricity until such time as you provide us 
information of your current actual charges. 
 
Would the figures show utilities on the financial statement? 
Yes, this is set out within the financial statement. 
 
The £5 for laundry and extra bedding – is this a new amount? 
This is an increase to the current allowance of £3.75 per week 
 
How is the allowance for transport needs calculated? 
This will be for the social worker to evidence in the Care and Support and plan, the 
Care Finance Officer will then confirm the cost when the financial assessment if 
carried out. 
 
How will people pay for the usage costs of their utility costs? 

Page 269



The Government allows £189 per week (the minimum income guarantee) for those 
aged over 60 this is to cover daily living costs including usage of utilities. 
 
What is a person’s set amount for daily living costs? 
The Government allows £189 per week (the minimum income guarantee) for those 
aged over 60. This figure is review annually by the Government in April. 
 
Is there a different rate for disabled people Minimum income guarantee? 
No, there is a different rate for those aged 18-25 and 25-60. 
 
My wife goes to the day centre, our funds are so low, is there a charge? 
This will depend on the service and your Care and Support plan. 
 
My brother attends a day centre, will the costs of the transport be covered? 
This will depend on the Care and Support plan and what benefits the person 
receives. 
 
Do you have any idea of the extra amount that you will clawback from people? 
The Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework is about 
creating transparency and an equitable procedure for all not about costs savings. 
 
Are there many self-funders who ask the Council to arrange for their care? 
No, it is a relatively small number. 
 
Is this a new service that was not there before? 
No the council currently offers this but does not charge. The Care Act allows 
Councils to make and administrative charge to cover the costs of carrying out the 
work but B&NES have not done this to date. 
 
Will any of the fees be back dated? 
No. Any changes will come into effect from the 6th April. 
 
Additional benefits 
 
Do you know how big a problem unclaimed benefits area across BANES? 
We do not know within B&NES and it is not possible for us to obtain this information 
from our systems. 
 
Will there be support for service users applying for the additional benefits? 
Yes, the Council’s benefits team can assist as well as Age UK and the Citizen’s 
Advice Bureau. 
 
I presume that those people receiving an attendance allowance will be taken 
into account when the financial assessment is completed? 
Yes attendance allowance is taken into account in the financial assessment. 
 
You are assuming people will be able to get Pension Tax Credit, I applied as I 
was told by someone I would be eligible, but I wasn’t. How will you ensure that 
people will not be disadvantaged? 

Page 270



The new system will use the same parameters as the DWP so should only identify 
those people who should be entitled but if we thought someone was entitled and 
they turned out not to be if they let us know we wold not take the benefit into 
account. 
 
Who is likely to be eligible for pension credit? 
Pension Credit is a benefit entitlement for retired people with an income within 
certain parameters set by the DWP. It is a means tested benefit but this means test 
is limited. 
 
Will the Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) be taken into account? 
ESA is being phased out and if you apply now you would apply for universal credit. If 
you are currently in receipt of ESA this is taken into account. 
 
If you support someone at home will your household expenses be taken into 
account? 
That will depend on the individual’s personal circumstances. 
 
Could you explain Disability Living Allowance? 
Disability Living Allowance is money for people who have extra care needs or 
mobility needs as a result of a disability. You can no longer make a new claim for 
DLA if you are 16 or over. You may be able to claim Personal Independence 
Payment (PIP) instead. 
 
Are you able to confirm whether the mobility aspect of the allowance is not 
changed? 
This will depend on the care and support package and assessment carried out by 
the DWP. 
 
You mentioned the allowance for people with Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease, why 
is this singled out? 
This decision was made by the Government. 
 
Agreements for Third Party Top Up 
 
Is the Third Party Top Up agreement compulsory? 
Yes. Where a family member or friend is requesting a placement that requires extra 
funding, they will be required to agree and sign the Third Party Top Up agreement. 
 
Is the third party top up agreement new? 
No, we are putting in place more formal arrangements. 
 
Presumably the agreement will also offer a safety net for service users? 
The agreement will ensure that all parties understand their commitments. 
 
Is that why the light touch financial assessment is required? 
The financial assessment is necessary to ensure the family member or friend 
understands fully their financial commitment. 
 

Page 271



If you were topping up for an elderly person, what happens if you have 
financial difficulties? 
The agreement will set out clearly what is expected from the person who has agreed 
to pay the addition fees and the council will undertake a light touch assessment to 
see if they can afford to pay. If circumstances change then the placement would be 
reviewed by a Social Worker and the service user may be moved depending on the 
outcome of the review by the Social Worker. 
 
Who can top up? 
Anyone, a family member, friend, or organisation. 
 
Does there have to be a financial link with the individual? 
No, however they will need to agree to a light touch financial assessment being 
undertaken. 
 
Amendment to Q5 
The details of the fees proposed set out in Question 5 were incorrect. It should read: 
 
The council is proposing that the annual fee will increase from £30 to £105 and 
the set-up fee will not change. 
 
Deferred Payments 
 
What was the original fee for Deferred Payments? 
We are proposing to increase the fee from £30 to £105. This is an annual charge 
until the home is sold. This is an average of other local authorities in the area. 
 
With the new procedure for Deferred Payment Agreements, will the fees be 
annually? 
Yes the fee is an annual fee and will be added to the statement and paid when the 
agreement ends. 
 
Will the fees go up for existing service users who have Deferred Payment 
Agreements? 
No, any agreement completed before the 6th April 2020 will incur the fee of £30 per 
annum. 
 
If the situation arises, can we get advice from the Council regarding a Deferred 
Payment Agreement? 
Yes, you can contact the council the details of who to contact can be provided by the 
Care Finance Officer. However, we can only advise on the procedure we cannot 
provide legal advice and would always encourage you to seek independent legal 
advice. 
 
If you don’t have anyone to help you in relation to a deferred payment, who 
can help? 
If you do not have capacity your social worker will make a referral to the B&NES 
Deputyship team who may, depending on your circumstances become your deputy, 
or they may ask the Court to appoint a solicitor as your deputy. If you have capacity 
you can if you wish appoint a solicitor to act for you. 

Page 272



Does the Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA) still allow for 12 weeks grace? 
Yes the Care Act requires the property to be disregarded for the first 12 weeks from 
the date the person first resides in a residential placement. If a person is resident in 
a care home as a self-funder for more than 12 weeks before a request for funding 
from the Council is made then the 12 week disregard does not apply as they have 
already had this time. 
 
What is the interest paid on DPA? 
Interest is payable and is currently set at 0.15% above the gilt rate and is currently 
1.45% until the 31st December 2019. All fees are added to the debt. A six-month 
statement is sent to service users. 
 
What assets are connected to deferred payments? 
For the purposes of deferred payments, assets are defined as your property. the 
charge secured by the deferred payment agreement is secured against the property. 
 
If a house was sold for £200,000 and the care home fees were £400,000 would 
the Council pick up the difference? 
The equity limited is estimated in the Deferred Payment Agreement, this is then 
reviewed annually once the equity limit is reached the Council will pay the costs that 
were being deferred and service user will continue to pay there assessed weekly 
charge based on their income. 
 
What would happen if there were no beds available in a care home at the fairer 
price of care rate, what would the Council do? 
The Council must fund the placement at the rate available on the day, so if on the 
day only a home a higher rate was available the Council would fund this placement 
subject to the service user’s financial assessment. if however a person wants a more 
expensive home than a home available on the day the difference between the 
available rate and the higher rate would need to be paid via a top up. 
 
Does the deferred payment agreement come into play if a couple lives in the 
house? 
If one of the couple will remain at the property and is aged over 60 or in receipt of 
incapacity benefits then the property will not be taken into account, if both people go 
into residential care then the property will be taken into account 50% for each person 
(subject to any different percentage spilt being noted on the Land Registry). 
 
If an elderly couple lives in a home, one needs to go into a home, will the 
property be taken into account? 
If one of the couple remains at the property and is aged over 60 or in receipt of 
incapacity benefits then the property will not be taken into account, if both people go 
into residential care then the property will be taken into account 50% for each person 
(subject to any different percentage spilt being noted on the Land Registry). 
 
We have a three-bedroom house in joint name and I still live at home, my wife 
is in a care home. If I wanted to move into a flat will the property be taken into 
account? 
If you sold the property, the 50% of the proceeds of sale would go to your wife and 

Page 273



depending on how much that was she may becoming self-funding for a period of 
time, you could then use your 50% share of the sale proceeds to buy another 
property. 
 
My daughter is in supported living with a private company and doesn’t own 
her own home, will these changes impact on her and will her fees go up? 
With a private company they will determine the fees and rent charged. Whether the 
changes will impact on the amount of her weekly assessed care charge will depend 
on her individual circumstances. 
 
If someone was a self-funder can the debt be attached to their home? 
If the person is a self-funder then the Council would not be funding and there would 
be no debt. 
 
You mentioned if you own your own home, if another family member is living 
at home how does that work? This is a real worry if you have a dependent 
child? 
This would depend on the circumstances, but if an adult child was resident in the 
home and in receipt of disability benefits it is probable that the property would be 
disregarded. 
 
Some people put their property in Trust for family members. Does it have to be 
put in place for 7 years? 
No the Trust can be put in place at any time. The 7-year rule does not apply to 
funding for care and support. 
 
If a person is already in care, can they then put their property in Trust? 
This may be considered as a deprivation of assets. This means that someone has 
made a gift or transfer of assets to a third party, usually a relative, to avoid or reduce 
their liability to pay for care. 
 
Interim Funding Policy 
 
I don’t really understand what is meant by unregistered properties in relation 
to the Interim Funding Policy. 
If a property is not registered with the land registry it is unregistered, since 1992 on 
sale it has been compulsory to register your property but there are still some 
properties that are unregistered and if you want to apply for a deferred payment 
agreement you will need to apply to the land registry for first registration of the 
property. 
 
Pre-payment Cards 
 
I don’t understand how the prepayment card will work? 
The pre-payment cards are not compulsory. They can be used to pay personal 
budgets to people who have been assessed as eligible for direct payments. 
 
If we do not bank on-line how would the pre-payment cards work? 
You do not need to bank on-line for prepayment cards to work as far as we know but 
the plan to introduce pre-payment is at a very early stage so once we have further 

Page 274



information we can let people know. 
 
What are the benefits of the pre-payment card? 
They should reduce the amount of paperwork that the person administering the 
direct payment needs to send into the Council so the account can be audited. 
 
Are there any other ways the pre-payment cards can be used, can they be 
used for day to day expenditure? 
Yes they can be used like a bank card so any day to day costs of the care can be 
paid for using the card. 
 
What support would be available to support people who move to the use of 
prepayment card? 
The implementation is at a very early stage but one we have more information we 
will let people know. 
 
Can small amounts of cash be withdrawn using a pre-payment card? 
Yes, it will work in the same way as a bank card. 
 
What if a person that doesn’t get the mobility element of the relevant benefits 
needs transport costs, they just need to use a wheelchair friendly car, can they 
still get the costs paid? 
This will depend on the care and support plan. 
 
Direct Payments Policy 
 
What is the change to Direct Payments? 
There are no changes to the way in which Direct Payments are paid, we have 
updated our policy and provided some more detailed guidance. The Council is 
exploring introducing pre-payment cards the details of which are currently being 
drawn up, however this will not be compulsory. 
 
Does this impact on direct payments? 
Yes, the Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework will 
apply to anyone in receipt of funding for care and support. 
 
Who will help with Direct Payments? 
The social worker, together with Virgin Hub will provide support. 
 
When people are self-funding, can they get a direct payment? 
No, self-funders are not eligible for direct payments as they are not receiving 
financial support from the Council. 
 
My son moved from a commissioned service to direct payment (DP). On 
occasions the support is not given. Does the council review this? 
Yes. The council would like to hear from any service user or their representative if 
there are any problems with the care and support they are receiving. 
 
What is the difference between Direct Payments and Commissioned Services? 

Page 275



A commissioned service is when the Council arranges the care and a direct payment 
is when the Council give the person money to arrange the care themselves. 
 
My son moved from a Commissioned Service to Direct Payment (DP). The DP 
service is not good. On occasions the support is not given. Does the council 
review this? 
Yes the Council does undertake reviews. If you have concerns, we do need to know 
about this, please do let us know and we can investigate it. 
 
If someone is already in receipt of a Direct Payment Agreement that it will not 
change? 
No there will not be any changes to the policy just clarifies what should be happening 
anyway. However, dependent upon the care and support plan there may be some 
changes and this will be subject to the Care and Support and Financial Assessment 
Framework being approved by Full Council. 
 
Are there any changes proposed to personal budgets? 
The level of the personal budget would not change as this is set by the care and 
support plan but the amount of the weekly assessed care charge may change 
dependant on the financial assessment in line with the Care and Support Charging 
Financial Assessment Framework. 
 
Please note the final Direct Payment Policy will include the following:- 
Special Educational Needs and Disability Personal Budget 
SEND Personal budgets, which can be paid as Direct Payments, are an allocation of 
the agreed funding made for children and young people with an Education, Health 
and Care Plan, after an assessment of their needs and will be outlined in the Plan. It 
should be noted that the allocation of an educational personal budget needs the 
agreement from the parents/young person, council and educational placement to 
release the allocated funding. Parents or young people can request a Personal 
Budget as part of an EHCP Needs assessment, once the decision has been made to 
issue an Education, Health and Care Plan. An educational and healthcare plan can 
remain in place up to the age of 25, provided that it is agreed by the council and they 
remain in education and make progress. A personal budget will cover aspects of the 
support outlined in the Plan and will not cover the cost of a named educational 
placement or any social care element which would be covered by any social care 
Direct Payment allocation. 
 
Families can decide how they want it to be managed: As a direct payment. (set out in 
‘Personal Budget Direct Payment Agreement) 
 
The funding is paid direct to the family who will manage it to deliver support as set 
out in the EHCP. 
 
As a ‘commissioned budget’ where the council manages the notional budget for 
the family. By a provider (for example a school or voluntary service). 
Or as a combination of the three options above. 

 

Page 276



Appendices 3 – Equality Impact Assessment 

 
Equality Impact Assessment / Equality Analysis 
 
 

 
Title of service or policy  
 

Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework    

 

Name of directorate and service 
 

Adult Social Care, Complex & Specialist Commissioning 

 
Name and role of officers completing the EIA 
 

Annemarie Strong; 

Louise Murphy 

 

Date of assessment  
 

 
December 2019 

 
 
Equality Impact Assessment (or ‘Equality Analysis’) is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy or service to 
identify what impact or likely impact it will have on different groups within the community.  The main aim is to identify 
any discriminatory or negative consequences for a particular group or sector of the community, and also to identify areas where 
equality can be better promoted.  Equality impact Assessments (EIAs) can be carried out in relation to service delivery as well as 
employment policies and strategies. 

This toolkit has been developed to use as a framework when carrying out an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) or Equality Analysis 
on a policy, service or function.   It is intended that this is used as a working document throughout the process, with a final version 
(including the action plan section) being published on the Council’s and NHS Bath and North East Somerset’s websites.     
 

P
age 277



1.  
 
Identify the aims of the policy or service and how it is implemented. 
 

 Key questions Answers / Notes 

1.1 Briefly describe purpose of the service/policy e.g 

• How the service/policy is delivered 
and by whom 

• If responsibility for its 
implementation is shared with other 
departments or organisations 

• Intended outcomes  

This EIA relates to the consultation and implementation of the draft Care 
and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework which sets 
out the charges for both residential and non-residential care and support 
services.  Care. The ability to charge has been in place since the 1990s.  
Local authorities are required to carry out a financial assessment to 
calculate what an individual can afford to pay towards their care and 
support.  The Care Act 2014 provides the Councils charging basis 
however some decisions are discretionary. 
 
The proposed draft Care and Support Charging and Financial 
Assessment Framework will ensure that there is transparency and 
equality for those people in need. It aims to:- 
 

• Provide consistency in the Council’s decision making regarding 
individual care and support packages; 

• Ensure that people are not charged more or less than is 
statutorily permissible for them to pay for care and support; 

• Offers a transparent and equitable process for all; 

• Bring in line with other local authorities. 
 

1.2 Provide brief details of the scope of the policy or 
service being reviewed, for example: 

• Is it a new service/policy or review 
of an existing one?   

• Is it a national requirement?). 

• How much room for review is 
there? 

The Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 
proposals are: 
 

• All financial assessments will take into account Pension 
Guaranteed Credit this does not require the service user to have 
an individual financial assessment even if they are not currently 
being claimed.   

P
age 278



• New charging rates will be used for Disability Related 
Expenditure eg cleaning.  The Council will use the National 
Association of Financial Assessment Officers based guidance.  

• There will be a standing charge only allowed as part of the 
financial assessment for gas, electricity and water and sewerage. 

• Transport and education costs will be included subject to need. 

• A fixed deadline to reduce unreasonable delays from clients 
responding to requests.  This is proposed to be two weeks. 

• A new Interim Funding Policy for Deferred Payment Agreements 
for those properties that are unregistered with Land Registry and 
for those who are waiting on obtaining deputyship to allow them 
to act on the client’s behalf. The policy may also be implemented 
in other situations subject to assessment 

• A new third party Top Up agreement will be implemented for 
families/friends/organisations who wish to make a top up payment 
on behalf of a service user. 

• The administration fees charged to those who enter into a 
deferred payment agreement will be reviewed and amended. 

• Arrangement fees would be charged to self-funders who ask the 
Local Authority to arrange their care and support and those who 
wish the Local Authority to obtain a solicitor’s undertaking whilst a 
property is sold. 

• It is proposed that the Appeals Procedure will remain the same. 
 

This Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 
only relates to care and support packages for individuals 18 and over.   
 
If approved, implementation will be undertaken by April 2020. 
 
 

1.3 Do the aims of this policy link to or conflict with 
any other policies of the Council? 

No 

P
age 279



 
2. Consideration of available data, research and information 
 

 
Monitoring data and other information should be used to help you analyse whether you are delivering a fair and equal service.  Please 
consider the availability of the following as potential sources:  
 

• Demographic data and other statistics, including census findings 

• Recent research findings (local and national) 

• Results from consultation or engagement you have undertaken  

• Service user monitoring data (including ethnicity, gender, disability, religion/belief, sexual orientation and age)  

• Information from relevant groups or agencies, for example trade unions and voluntary/community organisations 

• Analysis of records of enquiries about your service, or complaints or compliments about them  

• Recommendations of external inspections or audit reports 
 

  
Key questions 
 

 
Data, research and information that you can refer to  

2.1 What is the equalities profile of the team delivering 
the service/policy?  

Social workers are key in developing and implementing the Care 
and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework.  It will 
be essential to engage managers and their teams at the start of the 
process to seek their views and input prior to wider engagement.  
Social workers will play an important role in supporting clients 
through the engagement period as well as during the 
implementation. 
 

2.2 What equalities training have staff received? New staff undertake an Induction programme which includes 
equality and diversity.  There is also an equality and diversity course 
for staff which is part of the corporate training programme.    

2.3 What is the equalities profile of service users?   The Council currently supports around 2,100 individuals, of which 
740 are currently in care homes and 1,350 are in receipt of non-

P
age 280



residential care packages.  Note, these figures do fluctuate and are 
subject to change 

2.4  What other data do you have in terms of service 
users or staff? (e.g. results of customer satisfaction 
surveys, consultation findings). Are there any gaps?  

Reports from ContrOCC and Liquid Logic. 

2.5 What engagement or consultation has been 
undertaken as part of this EIA and with whom? 
What were the results? 

A full consultation process took place from 24 Sept and 3rd 
December 2019. A full description of the consultation process and 
findings is contained within the main report (Consultation Results 
Final Report).  Equality related issues raised within the consultation 
have been added to this template in section 3.  
 
In advance of the public consultation, the council’s Independent 
Equality Advisory Group (IEAG) was consulted at a meeting on 31st 
July.  This meeting focused on the consultation plan (to check it was 
as inclusive as possible and to identify any potential barriers in 
taking part for different groups of people). Some of the issues raised 
by IEAG included: 
  

• a request for a factsheet for organisations and agencies to 
assist them in supporting people. 

• a briefing sheet for Council staff (including those in the One 
Stop Shops and Council Connect) who often get enquiries 
when big issues are consulted on like this.   

• a briefing to be held for staff and service users of BEMSCA 
(Bath Ethnic Minority Senior Citizen’s Association) where staff 
will be available to interpret.   

• a request to review the current consultation questions to 
simplify and provide a glossary of terms or jargon-buster. 

• a request that helpers are available at consultation events to 
assist in completing surveys.  

• some updates to the Easy Read version to make it clearer.  

• Some clarity over how many attempts at contact will be made 

P
age 281



and that different methods will be used.   

2.6 If you are planning to undertake any consultation in 
the future regarding this service or policy, how will 
you include equalities considerations within this?  

The consultation process was designed to enable as wide a group 
as possible to take part (service users, carers, providers, B&NES 
residents etc).  There were a number of different ways to take part 
(by paper survey; by online survey via the Council’s E-consult 
process; by attending one of several consultation events taking 
place across B&NES).  Advocacy and/or communication support 
was made available for people who needed assistance to take part. 
The consultation documents were available in paper and 
electronically.  Easy Read format versions were available. 
Documents could also be made available in other formats on 
request. For full details of the attempts to make the consultation 
process as accessible as possible, see the Consultation Results 
Final Report 

 

3. Assessment of impact: ‘Equality analysis’ 

 

 Based upon any data you have considered, or the results of consultation or research, use the spaces below to demonstrate 
you have analysed how the service or policy: 

• Meets any particular needs of equalities groups or helps promote equality in some way.   

• Could have a negative or adverse impact for any of the equalities groups   

• Any ways that adverse impact might be mitigated 

   
Examples of what the service has 
done to promote equality 
 

Examples of actual or potential negative or adverse 
impact and what steps have been or could be taken 
to address this 

3.1 Reducing Health 
inequalities - health 
inequalities are the 
preventable and unfair 

In B&NES, as with other areas of the 
country, people living in the least 
deprived areas live longer in good 
health than people in the most 

Charges will increase for some day care service users 
and residents of residential care.  Charges may 
decrease for some. For Adult Social Care, people are 
assessed to make a payment on the basis of their 

P
age 282



differences in health status 
between groups, 
populations or individuals 
that arise from the unequal 
distribution of social, 
environmental and 
economic conditions within 
societies, which determine 
the risk of people getting 
ill, their ability to prevent 
sickness, or opportunities 
to take action and access 
treatment when ill health 
occurs. 
 

deprived areas.  

The aim of the policy is to ensure we 
have a fair charging system for all, 
that gives everyone the opportunity to 
lead a healthy life, no matter where 
they live or who they are 
 
The changes may raise extra income 
which could benefit all client groups. 
 
Cases of individual hardship can be 
considered on a case by case basis. 
In certain exceptional cases 
discretion can be applied with senior 
management approval. 
 

income and assets and within nationally defined 
guidelines. Therefore, no-one will be asked to pay more 
than their assessed weekly care charge.   
 
Attempts were made to engage with as wide a group as 
possible within the consultation phase, in order to draw 
out any potential issues within the proposals that could 
have an impact upon health inequalities 
 

3.2 Sex – identify the impact 
or potential impact of the 
policy on women and men.   

 
No issues identified 

 
As women slightly outlive men, it is possible that 
women are more likely to be affected by these changes 
than men 
 

3.3 Pregnancy and maternity  
 
 

No issues identified No issues identified 

3.4 Gender reassignment – 
identify the impact/ 
potential impact of the 
policy on transgender 
people 

No issues identified 
 
 

No issues identified 

3.5 Disability - identify the The consultation documents, Some service users affected by the Care and Support 

P
age 283



impact/potential impact of 
the policy on disabled 
people (ensure 
consideration both 
physical, sensory and 
mental impairments and 
mental health) 

including Information about the 
changes (and the wider charging 
policy) were made available in Easy 
Read format.  The consultation 
documents were also made available 
in different formats (e.g. Braille) and 
other languages on request.   
 
It was possible to respond online or 
via completion of a paper survey.  
 
Documents were checked for 
accessibility in terms of font size, 
contrast etc.  Online versions were 
available in HTML format for those 
who use screen readers. 
 
Anyone wishing to attend a 
consultation event who had 
access/communication support was 
asked to notify organisers in advance 
who tried to arrange necessary 
support. 
 
Advocacy support was available to 
anyone who wished to take part in the 
consultation event or return a survey 
(but needed support to do so). 
 
Consultation meetings were held in 
accessible venues. 
 

Charging and Financial Assessment Framework are 
likely to have some form of disability (including 
Learning Disability).  There are changes within the 
proposals that relate to Disability Related Expenditure 
(DRE) – and clear criteria have been put in place about 
what can and cannot be treated as DRE.  This may 
mean that certain expenditure that has been deemed 
as DRE in the past will no longer be deemed as 
disability related under the new guidance.  
 
At one consultation event the hearing loop was not 
working.  The individual who needed it said that they 
could manage without it if the speaker spoke a little 
louder. An additional separate consultation event was 
also held at Action on Hearing Loss. 
 
Within the consultation, some concerns were raised 
about proposal 2 (allowing a two-week period for a 
response).  This two-week period has been extended to 
four weeks, in part to allow for additional time that 
some disabled people may need (e.g. if they are 
unwell).   
 
Within the consultation concerns were raised about 
proposal 9 (to allow for only the standing charge for 
utilities to be taken into account). Concerns were raised 
about the extra heating costs that might be incurred by 
some disabled people. However, disabled people who 
need additional heating due to their disability could, 
subject to their care and support plan confirming 
eligibility, have this added to their assessment as 
Disability Related Expenditure, along with other higher 

P
age 284



A range of disability support 
organisations took part in the 
consultation (see Consultation 
Response Final Report). 
A clear communication strategy will 
be needed to make sure disabled 
people fully understand the results of 
the consultation and how the changes 
will affect them as individuals.  

utility costs that might be incurred due to disability 
(additional electricity for more than average washing 
machine costs etc).  
 
Cases of individual hardship can be considered on a 
case by case basis. In certain exceptional cases 
discretion can be applied with senior management 
approval. 
 

3.6 Age  – identify the 
impact/potential impact of 
the policy on different age 
groups 
 

Advocacy support was available to 
anyone who wished to take part in the 
consultation event or return a survey 
but needed support to do so. 

Service users affected by the proposed change to 
charging policy are likely to be predominantly older 
people. Also, adults with Learning Disability. 
 
If there are increases in the assessed weekly care 
charge people are required to make towards the cost of 
care – could this result in them choosing to cancel 
services which are contributing to their wellbeing?  
Social Workers will need to be mindful of this – and to 
continue to consider what options are appropriate to 
combat loneliness and social isolation  
 
Cases of individual hardship can be considered on a 
case by case basis. In certain exceptional cases 
discretion can be applied with senior management 
approval. 
 

3.7 Race – identify the 
impact/potential impact on 
different black and minority 
ethnic groups  
 

Communication of the changes will 
be especially important. For those 
who do not have English as a first 
language, there was an option to 
request documents to be made 
available in alternative languages via 

No adverse impacts in respect of race were identified in 
respect of the proposals.  
 
A clear communication strategy will be needed to 
ensure that service users and carers who do not read 
English are able to understand how any changes will 

P
age 285



the council’s commissioned 
interpreting and translation service 
Oncall.  
 
An additional consultation event was 
scheduled in with the staff and 
service users of BEMSCA (Bath 
Ethnic Minority Senior Citizen’s 
Association).  BEMSCA interpreting 
staff were present at  this meeting, 
and were also paid for the additional 
time they spent with a number of 
clients who needed the proposals to 
be interpreted into their language.   
 

affect them. 

3.8 Sexual orientation - 
identify the 
impact/potential impact of 
the policy on  
lesbian, gay, bisexual, 
heterosexual people 

No issues identified No issues identified 

3.9 Marriage and civil 
partnership – does the 
policy/strategy treat 
married and civil partnered 
people equally? 

No issues identified No issues identified 

3.10 Religion/belief – identify 
the impact/potential impact 
of the policy on people of 
different religious/faith 
groups and also upon 
those with no religion. 

No issues identified No issues identified 

P
age 286



3.11 Socio-economically 
disadvantaged* – identify 
the impact on people who 
are disadvantaged due to 
factors like family 
background, educational 
attainment, 
neighbourhood, 
employment status can 
influence life chances 
(this is not a legal 
requirement, but is a 
local priority). 

The aim of the policy is to ensure we 
have a fair ASC charging system for 
all, that gives everyone the 
opportunity to lead a healthy life, no 
matter where they live or who they 
are 
 
The changes should raise extra 
income which could benefit all client 
groups. 
 
 
 

Charges will increase for some day care service users 
and residents of residential care.  Charges may 
decrease for some. For Adult Social Care, people are 
assessed to make a payment on the basis of their 
income and assets and within nationally defined 
guidelines Therefore, no-one will be asked to pay more 
than their assessed weekly care charge.   
 
Cases of individual hardship can be considered on a 
case by case basis. In certain exceptional cases 
discretion can be applied with senior management 
approval. 
 

3.12 Rural communities* – 
identify the impact / 
potential impact on people 
living in rural communities 
 

Consultation events were held across 
the B&NES area including the Hollies 
in Midsomer Norton.  
 
Within the proposal, transport costs 
could be allowed for people in rural 
areas to access services. 

Anyone from a rural area who wished to attend but 
could not do so was able to do so because of 
disability/age was able to request advocacy support to 
enable them to attend a consultation event.  

 
*There is no requirement within the public sector duty of the Equality Act to consider groups who may be disadvantaged due to 
socio economic status, or because of living in a rural area.  However, these are significant issues within B&NES and have therefore 
been included here.   
 
4. Bath and North East Somerset Council & NHS B&NES 
Equality Impact Assessment Improvement Plan 
 
Please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment/analysis.  These actions should be based upon the analysis 
of data and engagement, any gaps in the data you have identified, and any steps you will be taking to address any negative 
impacts or remove barriers. The actions need to be built into your service planning framework.  Actions/targets should be 
measurable, achievable, realistic and time framed. 

P
age 287



 

Issues identified Actions required Progress milestones 
Officer 
responsible 

By when 

The need for clear and 
accessible information on the 
proposals 
 
 

Easy read format version of 
the policy and the consultation 
documents 
Alternative formats available 
on request 

Easy Read versions complete 
and ready 
 
Strapline telling people to ask for 
alternative versions on 
documents. 

AS 
LH and 
consultation 
team 

Sept 19 

 
Consultation process – the need 
to design a consultation process 
that is as accessible as possible  

 
Variety of methods to take part 
in the consultation (online, 
paper survey) or by attending 
an event (several being held 
across B&NES at different 
times of the day/evening to fit 
in with other commitments.  
 
Advocacy support available to 
anyone wishing to take part 
who needs support to do so 
 

 
Consultation timetable set up 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SWAN and YOUR SAY Advocacy 
commissioned 
 

AS 
LH and 
consultation 
team 

Sept 19 

Signposting to advice and 
support for those who may be 
affected by the changes 
 

Sign posting was done via 
social workers, easy read 
document and consultation to: 
 
Bath & North East Somerset 
Council   
01225 477000 (Benefits 
department)  
www.bathnes.gov.uk/contact-
us 

 AS 
LH and 
consultation 
team 

Sept 2019 

P
age 288



 
Citizens Advice   
0344 848 7919 
www.citizensadvice.org.uk 
 
Age UK 
01225 466135 (BANES)    
0800 055 6112 

The need for a clear and 
accessible communication 
strategy to notify individuals of 
any changes that will affect them 
during implementation.  

Existing clients will all receive 
a letter informing them of the 
results of the consultation.  
Within this initial letter, all 
clients who may be affected by 
notional capital will be 
informed and referred to the 
agencies listed in the box 
above for advice and support.  
 
Individual letters to clients will 
go out in April, combined with 
the annual uplift letter. 
 
Agencies such as Healthwatch 
and other organisations that 
provide support (e.g. Age UK, 
BEMSCA) will be given a 
briefing on the consultation 
findings so that they are 
equipped to advise their 
service users.   
 
 

 
Initial letters sent out 
 
Copies of the Consultation Report 
available online and also within 
One Stop Shops 
 
Easy read version with a 
summary of the consultation and 
decision.   
 
 
Briefings offered to key 
organisations 
 
 

AS 
LH and 
consultation 
team 

Jan 2019 

P
age 289

http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/


 
5. Sign off and publishing 
Once you have completed this form, it needs to be ‘approved’ by your Divisional Director or their nominated officer.  Following this 
sign off, send a copy to the Equalities Team (equality@bathnes.gov.uk), who will publish it on the Council’s and/or NHS B&NES’ 
website.  Keep a copy for your own records. 
 

Signed off by:      

 
 
(Nominated senior officer: Lesley Hutchinson) 
 
Date: 08.01.2020 

P
age 290

mailto:equality@bathnes.gov.uk


 

 

Appendices 4 – Profile information  

 

About the respondents  
Care and Support Charging Framework – December 2019 
 

 

 

Page 291



 
 

 
 

Page 292



 
 

 
Respondents were able to select more than one answer to this question.   
Other included: Zap, Support worker, BASS, Action on Hearing Loss. Staff, Team Manager, 
information from outreach meeting, Percy House, BEMSCA. 
 
 

Page 293



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 294



1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3

1 Lesley Hutchinson 1 5 Medium Lesley Hutchinson 

2 Lesley Hutchinson 2 5 Medium Lesley Hutchinson 

3 Lesley Hutchinson 4 2 High Lesley Hutchinson 

4 Lesley Hutchinson 5 2 High Lesley Hutchinson 

RISK OWNER

Implement the Framework and ensure the public consultation is carried out robustly to enable 

implementation by 06.04.2020. 

ACTION PLAN LEAD OFFICER

RISK REGISTER LITE - QUARTER 'No.'  - 'Financial Year' 

Ensure robust and fully inclusive engagement. 

N
u

m
b

e
r

Increased staff workload across multiple teams 

particularly (but not limited to) Control and Performance 

Team, social work team, Exec Office 

There is a risk caused by not implementing the Care and 

Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework. 

Failure to not implement will risk continued inconsistency, 

inequality, complaints and possible referral to the 

Ombudsman and Judicial Review leading to reputational 

and financial burden.

There is a risk caused by implementing the Framework 

resulting in increased complaints as some service users 

will be adversely affected by the change in their care 

charge.

There is a risk caused by no or poor consultation 

resulting in an inability to implement the Framework and 

adversely affect the Councils reputation (including 

potential judicial review).

PERIODS 

AGO

SERVICE / TEAM RISK DESCRIPTION

(Description of 'event' & 'implication')

COMMENTARY ON ACTION PLAN

(e.g. actions implemented /outstanding; implementation of actions 

to timescales)

Likelihood Impact 

CURRENT 

RISK 

STATUSScore Score

In order to carry out the consultation there will be increased staff time this will be mitigated by time 

of in lieu; managing the backfill may need to take place and is being discussed with Head of 

Service. 

Ensure robust and fully inclusive engagement. Ensure social work and advocacy staff are aware of 

the changes in advance and can prepare service users. Ensure services users are sign posted 

appropriately for correct benefits. Ensure Complaints Team are fully briefed.

P
age 295



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 296



Printed on recycled paper 

 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Children, Adults, Health & Wellbeing Panel 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

28th January 2020 

 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 
PLAN REFERENCE: 

  

TITLE: Transforming Maternity Services Together – outcome and next steps 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 

Transforming Maternity Services Together – summary slide deck 

 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 This update provides a summary of the Maternity Service Reconfiguration programme, 
which has been running for the past three years across BaNES, Swindon and Wiltshire 
(BSW). It includes an update on the decision made by BSW Governing Body on January 
16th 2020 and next steps. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Committee is asked to;  

2.1 Note the update and next steps 

3 THE REPORT  

In 2016, a Local Maternity System (LMS) was created across the BaNES, Swindon and Wiltshire 

(BSW) geography to standardise and improve experience for mums and families and support 

delivery of the national Better Births recommendations. 

In parallel to this, the Royal United Hospital in Bath had begun conducting a review of place of birth 
options for women within its services. This review was then extended to facilitate an assessment of 
place of birth options for all women across BSW.  
 
Engagement activities were then held across our area to better understand the reasons for these 
changes and the views of women and families in relation to place of birth. More than 2,000 women 
and families were involved in this work along with our staff and proposals for change were co-
created. Listening to feedback during this process, our proposals were extended to also include a 
review of postnatal community beds, home birth services and antenatal and postnatal community 
care. 

 

Page 297

Agenda Item 12



Printed on recycled paper 

This service transformation programme has followed the NHSE seven step assurance process. 
Our clinical case for change was approved by the South West Clinical Senate in June 2018 and a 
15 week public consultation was undertaken with more than 2,480 interactions and 1,800 survey 
responses received. These responses were independently and academically analysed by the 
University of Bath. 
 

A set of final recommendations based on the thematic outcomes of the consultations were 
presented to an independent Expert Panel in September 2019 prior to the completion of the 
Decision Making Business Case, which was approved in full by the BSW Governing Body on 
January 16th 2020. 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 A full Integrated Impact Assessment has been undertaken and included in the 
Decision Making Business Case 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

5.1 This is detailed in the Decision Making Business Case. There remains a risk 
around securing capital funds for the creation of the Alongside Midwifery Unit at 
the RUH. 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been undertaken, in 
compliance with the CCGs decision making risk management guidance. 

 

7 CLIMATE CHANGE 

7.1 The new Alongside Midwifery Unit at RUH is planned to be a sustainable building. 

 

8 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

8.1 None 

9 CONSULTATION 

9.1 More than 4,000 mums, families and staff have been involved in the engagement and 
consultation process. 

 

Contact person  Lucy Baker – Director of Service Delivery – BSW CCGs 

Background 
papers 

The full Decision Making Business Case and associated appendices are 
available 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 298



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Our recommendations for change

P
age 299



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Future Vision

P
age 300



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Our journey so far
• We began talking to women about 

their maternity experiences in 2017

• We have now worked with over 4,000 
women and families, plus our staff 
and partner organisations 

• Their feedback, together with national 
guidance such as ‘Better Births’, has 
led to these recommendations for 
future maternity services across the 
BSW region

• Partner organisations include Great 
Western Hospital Trust, Salisbury 
District Hospital, Royal United 
Hospital Bath, and B&NES, Swindon 
and Wiltshire CCGs

P
age 301



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Assurance process
• NHSE - 7 stages of assurance & 5 Key 

Tests for consultation

• Clinical Senate Review 

• Independent Travel Impact Analysis by 
NHS South Central & West CSU

• Independent analysis of public 
consultation responses by Bath 
Centre for Healthcare Innovation 
and Improvement (CHI2) School of 
Management, University of Bath

• Independent Expert Panel Review

Test 

1

Strong public and patient 

engagement

Test

2

Consistency with current and 

prospective need for patient choice

Test 

3
Clear clinical evidence base

Test 

4

Support for proposals from clinical 

commissioners

Test 

5
Bed changes

P
age 302



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Case for change

• 11,200 births in B&NES, Swindon and 
Wiltshire

• Increasing pressure on services in our 
obstetric units at Royal United Hospital 
and Salisbury District Hospital

• Less women choosing our Freestanding 
Midwife Lead Units

• Lack of parity across the Local Maternity 
System

Complexity in obstetric care:
• Increase in complexity 

• Impact of safety improvements

• Patient choice and expectation

• AMU provide opportunities for more 

women to access midwife led care

• Enables obstetric focus 

• Decrease in transfer times

Benefits of midwifery led birth:
• Safe for mothers and babies

• Significantly fewer interventions No 

difference in caesarean birth rates 

between AMU and FMU

• Clinical evidence shows that a low risk 

woman birthing in an obstetric unit has a 

higher probability of an assisted birth

P
age 303



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Staff experience and satisfaction
• Low number of births in FMUs impacting on 

maintenance of clinical skills and confidence

• Reduced need for short notice 
redeployment of staff - Improved staff 
satisfaction

• Flexible workforce will help to support 
improvements in continuity of carer models

• Right staff, right place, right time

• Improved utilisations of staff resource

• Opportunity for enhanced multi-disciplinary 
working

Evidence:  Informal engagement, Staff Survey 2017, 2018, RCM 
Continuity of Carer 2017, Carter Review 2016

P
age 304



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Public Consultation - independent analysis

P
age 305



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Public Consultation - independent analysis
• 66% strongly agreed/agreed with 

creation of AMU

• 70% strongly disagreed/ disagreed 

with closure of postnatal beds

• 59% strongly disagreed/ disagreed 

with reduction in FMU. 40% Strongly 

agreed or agreed 

• Perceived advantages –

recognised need for change, 

supported enhancement of birth &   

postnatal care inc. breastfeeding

• Perceived disadvantages –

geographical barriers to accessing 

services, limiting choice

P
age 306



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Consultation feedback themes
• Improved infant feeding support. Particular focus on night time breast 

feeding support. More early identification of infant feeding issues and 

support

• Better screening and continuity of care for mental health both in pregnancy 

and postnatally

• People and staff to continue to be involved in co-design of community hubs 

and AMUs including parking provision at RUH

• More antenatal education for mums and families around choice of place of 

birth

• Development of clear information for mums and families 

• Development of continuity of carer models that are co-created with mums 

and families 

• Engagement work to understand potential location of community hubs

P
age 307



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Decision Making Process
Steps taken

• Review of independent analysis 
from public consultation

• Assessment against original case 
for change

• Recommendation for change 
agreed by Acute Maternity 
Steering Group

• Independent Expert Panel added 
as additional assurance step 

The Independent Expert Panel 
supported all 
Recommendations 

Changes proposed

• Closure of post-natal beds will 
need to align with enhanced 
model of post-natal support 
for women

• Panel recommended spatial 
analysis mapping exercise to 
identify bed locations for 
community hubs.

As a result of feedback, 
recommendation that 
closure of post-natal beds 
is phased 

P
age 308



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Recommendations for change
 

Create an Alongside Midwifery Unit at 
the Royal United Hospital 

 

 
Create an Alongside Midwifery Unit at 

Salisbury District Hospital 

   

Continue to support births in two, 
rather than four, of the Freestanding 

Midwifery Units.  
 

Improve and better promote                      
the Home Birth service 

   

Enhance current provision of antenatal 
and post-natal care 

 

Replace the five community post-natal 
beds in Paulton FMU and the four 

community post-natal beds in 
Chippenham FMU with support closer 

to, or in women’s homes. 

 

NB. Births would cease at Paulton and Trowbridge

P
age 309



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Risks and mitigations
Key Risks Mitigation

Capital funding for RUH AMU • STP priority for securing national capital funding

• RUH Charity campaign to support funding requirements

Public opinion on recommendations for 

change

• Clear assurance process and governance

• Communication plan 

Closure of FMUs before AMUs come on 

stream

• Average of 20 births per month across both Paulton and 

Trowbridge

• Robust capacity and demand modelling

• Full transition plan included in DMBC

Staff morale and impact on recruitment and 

retention

• Clear staff communication plan

• Recommendations create benefits in terms of staff competencies, 

reduction in staff moves, removes uncertainty of service change

Postnatal support provision following closure 

of  community postnatal beds

• Co-creation of new pathways to commence at pace post decision

• Interim pathways to be clarified as part of post decision 

engagement work 

• Community Hub pilot go live Dec 1st 2019 (Salisbury city)

• Continuity of Carer pilots 

P
age 310



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Postnatal Care 
• All FMUs to retain ante-natal and post-

natal care provision

• Clarity re offer of 24/7 support for 

mums following removal of post natal 

beds

• Co-creation of new integrated 

community hubs – pilot site go live in 

Salisbury Dec 2019

• Priority co-design for Paulton footprint 

– Continuity of carer pilot commenced 

in Paulton Dec 2019. New hub to be 

piloted from April 2020.

P
age 311



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

High level implementation plan
Proposed date

Step Description

- Sign off and communication Nov-Dec-19

1 Move to two FMUs supporting Births Mar-20

2 Reduce from nine to four community postnatal beds Mar-20

3 Staff resource released / estates costs reduced Mar-20

4 Improve birth environment in the two FMUs supporting births 2020/21

5 Improve home birth & FMUs and enhance antenatal and post-natal care 2020/21

6 Replace four community post-natal beds with care closer to home Mar-21

7 Secure capital funding for Alongside Midwifery Units -

8a Create AMU in Salisbury Sep-21

8b Create AMU in Bath 2022/23

9 Staffing model to be changed to reflect new services 2022/23

P
age 312



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Sign off process & Governance
The LMS Programme reports into the 
BSW Strategic Commissioning Board 
and STP Executive as part of broader 
assurance and oversight

Project groups will include staff, women 
& families and other key stakeholders.

Organisation Date

NHSE Assurance 

Review

9th October 2019

SFT Board 3rd October 2019

GWH Board Delayed to Jan 9th 

2019 ( purdah)

Somerset Governing 

Body 

30th Jan 2020

BSW Rapid HOSC 21st October 2019

RUH BoD 30th October 2019

BSW Governing 

Body (public)

Delayed to Jan 16th

2020 ( purdah)

P
age 313



Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon & Wiltshire

Local Maternity System

Any questions?

P
age 314



CHILDREN, ADULTS, HEALTH AND WELLBEING POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY PANEL

This Forward Plan lists all the items coming to the Panel over the next few months.

Inevitably, some of the published information may change; Government guidance recognises that the plan is a best 

assessment, at the time of publication, of anticipated decision making.  The online Forward Plan is updated regularly and 

can be seen on the Council’s website at:

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1

The Forward Plan demonstrates the Council’s commitment to openness and participation in decision making.  It assists the 

Panel in planning their input to policy formulation and development, and in reviewing the work of the Cabinet.

Should you wish to make representations, please contact the report author or, Democratic Services ().  A formal agenda will 

be issued 5 clear working days before the meeting.  

Agenda papers can be inspected on the Council’s website and at the Guildhall (Bath), Hollies (Midsomer Norton), Civic 

Centre (Keynsham) and at Bath Central, and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

P
age 315

A
genda Item

 14

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1


1

Ref
Date

Decision 
Maker/s Title Report Author

Contact  Director Lead

1ST OCTOBER 2019
1 Oct 2019 Children, 

Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Virgin Care - Performance Update Kirsty Matthews, 
Lesley Hutchinson
Tel: 01225 396339

1 Oct 2019 Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

LSCB Annual Report 2018/19 Dami Howard
Tel: 01225 396350

Corporate Director 
(People)

1 Oct 2019 Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

LSAB Annual Report 2018/19 Dami Howard
Tel: 01225 396350

Corporate Director 
(People)

1 Oct 2019 Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Annual Report 
2018/19 Sarah Hogan

Tel: 01225 39 6810

Corporate Director 
(People)

P
age 316



2

Ref
Date

Decision 
Maker/s Title Report Author

Contact  Director Lead

1 Oct 2019 Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Children's Services Complaints and Representations 
Annual Report 2018/19 Sarah Watts

Tel: 01225 477931

Corporate Director 
(People)

1 Oct 2019 Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Care and Support Financial Framework Annemarie Strong, 
Lesley Hutchinson
Tel: 01225 396339

Corporate Director 
(People)

5TH NOVEMBER 2019
5 Nov 2019 Children, 

Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Food Poverty Action Plan
Bruce Laurence, 
Denice Burton

Tel: 01225 39 4075, 
Tel: 01225 394061

Corporate Director 
(People)

5 Nov 2019 Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Mental Health Capacity - New Code of Practice Karyn YeeKing
Tel: 01225 477347

Corporate Director 
(People)

P
age 317



3

Ref
Date

Decision 
Maker/s Title Report Author

Contact  Director Lead

5 Nov 2019 Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Medium Term Financial Plan / Corporate Strategy
Andy Rothery, Andy 

Thomas
Tel: 01225 477103, 
Tel: 01225 394322

Corporate Director 
(People)

28TH JANUARY 2020
28 Jan 2020 Children, 

Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Youth Justice Plan Sally Churchyard
Tel: 01225 395442

Corporate Director 
(People)

FUTURE ITEMS
Children, 

Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Mental Health Strategy for B&NES, Swindon & Wiltshire Karyn YeeKing
Tel: 01225 477347

Corporate Director 
(People)

Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Review of B&NES Community Safety and Safeguarding 
Partnership

Dami Howard, 
Lesley Hutchinson
Tel: 01225 396350, 
Tel: 01225 396339

Corporate Director 
(People)

P
age 318



4

Ref
Date

Decision 
Maker/s Title Report Author

Contact  Director Lead

Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Care Home Commissioning Vincent Edwards
Tel: 01225 477289

Corporate Director 
(People)

Children, 
Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Policy 
Development 
and Scrutiny 

Panel

Green Paper on Adult Social Care Corporate Director 
(People)

The Forward Plan is administered by DEMOCRATIC SERVICES:     Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

P
age 319



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 320


	Agenda
	7 MINUTES - 10th March 2020
	9 Annual Report on Children's Services Complaints and Representations Procedure 2018 - 19
	Appdx1

	10 Food Poverty Action Plan
	11 Adult Social Care and Support Charging and Financial Assessment Framework
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3
	Annex 4

	12 Transforming Maternity Services Together
	Appdx1

	14 Panel Workplan

